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Corporate Governance Statement

Macquarie’s approach to Corporate Governance
Macquarie’s approach to corporate governance
aims to achieve superior and sustainable financial
performance and long-term prosperity, while meeting
stakeholders’ expectations of sound corporate
governance.
Macquarie’s corporate governance framework has
been developed to support Macquarie’s client focused
business operations, while providing clear guidance on
how authority is exercised within Macquarie, including
Board oversight of key controls. The Macquarie Board,
with the assistance of the Board Committees,
determines the most appropriate corporate governance
practices.
Members of the Board and staff are responsible for
upholding the goals and values to which Macquarie
aspires: Integrity, Client commitment, Strive for
profitability, Fulfilment for our people, Teamwork and
Highest standards.
Macquarie Group Limited (Macquarie) is listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) and is regulated
by the Australian prudential regulator, APRA, as a nonoperating holding company of a licensed Australian
Bank, Macquarie Bank Limited (Macquarie Bank).
Macquarie is also supervised by the Australian
corporate regulator, ASIC. A number of Macquarie’s
key operating subsidiaries are supervised by regulators
in the overseas jurisdictions in which they operate.

Macquarie monitors regulatory and corporate
governance developments that impact on Macquarie’s
businesses, adopting corporate governance practices
it considers are in the best interests of Macquarie and
its shareholders, consistent with Macquarie’s
responsibilities to other stakeholders including clients,
investors and staff. Macquarie considers that until
17 March 2011, its governance practices were
consistent with all but one of the ASX Corporate
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations (ASX
Recommendations), as set out below under the
description of the role of the Chairman. Macquarie
considers that since 17 March 2011, its governance
practices have been consistent with all the ASX
Recommendations. A summary of the ASX
Recommendations and reference to the applicable
Macquarie governance practice is available on
Macquarie’s website at macquarie.com.au
On 17 March 2011, Chairman David Clarke resigned
as a member of the Macquarie and Macquarie Bank
Boards due to illness, and the Lead Independent
Director, Kevin McCann, was appointed as Chairman
of both Boards. Other notable governance
developments during the year included the transfer
of oversight of Compliance from the Board Audit and
Compliance Committee, (since renamed the Board
Audit Committee (BAC)) to the Board Corporate
Governance Committee (BCGC) in June 2010 and a
review of Macquarie’s governance framework in the
context of amendments to the ASX Listing Rules and
ASX Recommendations. As a result of the review, a
summary of Macquarie’s diversity policy and objectives
has been included in the 2011 Macquarie Annual
Report (Annual Report) and a copy of Macquarie’s
Trading Policy was lodged with the ASX in
December 2010.

Corporate Governance framework
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Board oversight and management

—

The current composition of the Macquarie Board, as at
the date of this report, is set out in the table below.
Details of each Voting Director’s experience is
summarised in the Annual Report in Schedule 1 of the
Directors’ Report (Directors’ Report). Macquarie’s
Constitution includes requirements concerning the
setting of board size, meetings, election of directors
and powers and duties of directors. As at 31 March
2011, the Board had eight Voting Directors. Since year
end Macquarie has announced the appointment of Ms
Diane Grady as a new Independent Director taking the
Board to nine members effective from 19 May 2011.
The maximum Board size is currently nine.
A copy of the Constitution is available on Macquarie’s
website.
The Board has reserved certain matters for its approval
and has delegated speci c authorities to its various
Board Committees. The Managing Director, who is also
Macquarie’s Chief Executive Officer, has been granted
general authority for those matters not reserved for the
Board or Board Committees. Macquarie’s Executive
and Operations Review Committees operate as
management committees pursuant to the Managing
Director’s delegated authority.
Details of the Board’s relationship with management
and its role and responsibilities are contained within the
Board’s Charter which is available on Macquarie’s
website.
Macquarie has adopted a number of practices to
regulate the division of responsibilities between the
Board and management, including:
— having a majority of independent directors on
the Board
— the separation of the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer
— having the Non-Executive Directors meet in the
absence of management at least annually
— that the number of Non-Executive Directors
present at a meeting must be greater than the
number of Executive Voting Directors
Director
Kevin McCann, AM

Board membership
Independent Chairman

Nicholas Moore

Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent

Michael Hawker, AM
Peter Kirby
Catherine Livingstone, AO
John Niland, AC
Helen Nugent, AO
Peter Warne
1

—

that the Board Risk, Remuneration, Audit and
Corporate Governance Committees be chaired by
Independent Directors
providing the Board and Board Committees with
the ability to seek advice from independent
experts to carry out their duties.

Chairman
David Clarke was the Non-Executive Chairman of
Macquarie until 17 March 2011. Given Mr Clarke’s role
as Executive Chairman of Macquarie Bank from its
formation until 31 March 2007, he was not considered
to be an Independent Director.
APRA’s Governance Standard, APS 510 Corporate
Governance, requires that regulated entities have an
independent chairman. Notwithstanding this
requirement, APRA confirmed that it would allow Mr
Clarke to continue as Chairman. The ASX
Recommendations also include a recommendation that
the Chairman be independent. The Board believed that
Mr Clarke was the most appropriate Director to be
Macquarie’s Chairman because of his relevant nancial
and industry experience, record of leadership and deep
understanding of Macquarie’s operations which are
diverse and highly specialised. The Board appointed a
Lead Independent Director to act as a conduit to the
Chairman for issues that the Independent Directors had
as a group.
Kevin McCann was Macquarie’s Lead Independent
Director until he was appointed Chairman of Macquarie,
effective 17 March 2011.
Having been appointed a Director of Macquarie in
August 2007 and Macquarie Bank in December 1996,
Mr McCann has a strong knowledge of Macquarie’s
complex operations and activities, both in terms of the
products and services Macquarie offers and the
geographical areas in which it operates. Mr McCann
also has a solid understanding of the regulatory
framework under which Macquarie operates and was
Acting Chairman during Mr Clarke’s leave of absence
between 27 November 2008 and 30 August 2009.

Date of appointment
March 2011 (Chairman)1
August 2007 (Director)
May 2008
February 2008 (Director)
March 2010
August 2007
August 2007
August 2007
August 2007
August 2007

Effective 17 March 2011, David Clarke resigned as Chairman and a Voting Director of Macquarie due to ill health and
Kevin McCann, Macquarie’s Lead Independent Director, was appointed Chairman.
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Lead Independent Director

Board performance

Whilst Mr Clarke was Chairman, Mr McCann acted
as the Lead Independent Director. In this capacity
Mr McCann chaired meetings of the Independent
Directors as a group and provided feedback to the
Chairman on any issues raised by them. Given Mr
McCann’s appointment as Independent Chairman,
Macquarie no longer requires a Lead Independent
Director.

The Board reviews its performance and the
performance of each director on an annual basis with a
focus on directors standing for re-election. The process
for conducting the review is agreed by the Board and
typically includes individual interviews by the Chairman
with each director and the use of a questionnaire to
cover matters such as:

Independent Directors
Macquarie recognises that independent directors are
important in assuring shareholders that the Board is
able to act in the best interests of Macquarie and
independently of management. Seven of the Macquarie
Board’s eight members are independent directors.
The independence of directors is determined annually
by the BCGC. Based on Macquarie’s criteria for
assessing director independence, each independent
director is asked to confirm whether they have any
interests or relationships that may impact either on their
ability to act in the best interests of Macquarie or
independently of management. Disclosed interests are
reviewed by the BCGC to determine whether their
interest would materially interfere with the exercise of a
non-executive director’s independent judgement.
Materiality is assessed having regard to each individual
director’s circumstances, the circumstances of the
supplier, customer or advisor and any other significant
relationships with Macquarie or its subsidiaries.
At its meeting in February 2011, the BCGC confirmed
that Helen Nugent, Catherine Livingstone, Kevin
McCann, Peter Kirby, Peter Warne, John Niland and
Michael Hawker continued to be Independent Directors.

—

the Board’s contribution to developing strategy
and policy
— the Board’s performance relative to its objectives
— interaction between the Board and management
and between Board members
— the Board’s oversight of business performance
and compliance, control risks and management
— Board composition, including consideration of
relevant skills and structure
— the operation of the Board, including the conduct
of Board meetings and group behaviours.
An Independent Director is nominated to provide
feedback to the Chairman on the Chairman’s
performance based on discussion with the other
Independent Directors.
A written report summarising the results, issues for
discussion and recommendations is presented to the
Board and discussed at a Board meeting. Regular
Board education sessions are held during the year in
response to business awareness needs, as identified
by the Non-Executive Directors.
In 2011, the Board’s review is being undertaken
internally following the process described above.

Directors are also able to consult independent experts
at Macquarie’s expense, subject to the estimated costs
being approved by the Chairman in advance as being
reasonable, and have unlimited access to senior
management of Macquarie.

Each Board Committee undertakes a periodic review
of its performance, at least biennially. The process
for the review also includes use of a questionnaire
and discussion of the outcomes, including
recommendations, led by the Chairmen of the Board
Committees. During the year, three Board Committees
undertook an evaluation of their performance.

The criteria used to assess independence, including
materiality thresholds, are reviewed annually and are
available on Macquarie’s website.

A summary of the processes adopted by Macquarie
for Board and Key Executive Performance Review is
available on Macquarie’s website.
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Performance of key executives
Formal processes, summarised below, have been
adopted by Macquarie to review the performance of
Macquarie’s most senior executives. As part of the
review, the Non-Executive Directors meet as a group
to approve the remuneration of the Managing Director
and Executive Committee members.
Every year the Managing Director presents to the NonExecutive Directors as part of the formal review of the
Managing Director. The Non-Executive Directors review
performance by considering a range of indicators
including financial performance measures, strategic
initiatives, risk management, governance and
compliance, staff and human resources indicators,
reputation management and monitoring, and
community and social responsibility matters. A similar
process is also followed to review the performance of
the Managing Director of Macquarie Bank.
The Managing Director evaluates, at least annually, the
performance of the Deputy Managing Director and the
Operating Group Heads, including the Head of Risk
Management and the Chief Financial Officer.
Performance criteria vary according to the individual’s
role. Factors relevant to assessing performance include
(as appropriate) relative contributions to profits, capital
usage, how business is done, including risk
management, governance and compliance, people
leadership and upholding Macquarie’s Goals and
Values. The Managing Director reports to the Board
Remuneration Committee (BRC) on the performance of
these key executives.
Current Standing Board
Committee Membership11
Independent Directors
Kevin McCann, AM
Michael Hawker, AM
Peter Kirby
Catherine Livingstone, AO
John Niland, AC
Helen Nugent, AO
Peter Warne
Executive Directors
Nicholas Moore
Richard Sheppard2
1

2

The Board and Management seek to ensure that
remuneration for the Head of the Risk Management
Group is determined in a way that preserves the
independence of the function and maintains
Macquarie’s robust risk management framework.
A performance evaluation for senior executives has
taken place during the year in accordance with the
process described above. Further detail on the
remuneration policy for Key Executives is found in
the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report.
Board Committees
The Board has delegated specific authorities to its
five standing Board Committees to assist it with the
execution of its responsibilities. All Board members
are sent Board Committee meeting agendas and may
attend Board Committee meetings. Subsequent to
each Board Committee meeting, the minutes are
included in the Board papers and presented to the
Board by the respective Board Committee Chairmen.
The current membership of each Board Committee is
set out below. Details of each Director’s experience is
summarised in Schedule 1 of the Directors’ Report.
Members’ attendance at Board and Board Committee
meetings is set out at the beginning of the Directors’
Report.

Audit

Corporate
Governance

Nominating

Member

Chairman

Chairman

Member
Chairman

Member
Member
Member

Member
Member

Member

Member

Remuneration

Risk

Member
Chairman
Member

Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Chairman
Member
Member

On 17 March 2011 David Clarke resigned due to ill health. Until this time he was Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a
member of the Remuneration and Risk Committees.
In accordance with the Macquarie Risk Committee Charter, the Committee’s membership includes the Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Macquarie Bank, Richard Sheppard. Mr Sheppard is not a Voting Director of Macquarie Group Limited.
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Allocation of responsibilities between Board
Committees
Five standing Board Committees assist the Board in its
oversight role as follows:
Board Nominating Committee
The Board recognises the importance of undergoing a
regular process of renewal via changes in membership.
The Board Nominating Committee assists the Board in
maintaining a diverse board that has an appropriate mix
of skills and experience to be an effective decisionmaking body, contributing to the successful oversight
and stewardship of Macquarie.
The Committee considers the desirable competencies
for a new Board member as well as the depth and
range of skills and the diversity of the Board. It engages
external consultants to assist with the selection of new
candidates to the extent it considers it necessary to
carry out its duties and to ensure that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.
Macquarie’s Policy on Board Renewal and
Appointment of Directors sets out the steps taken and

Board Audit Committee
The BAC is responsible for exercising oversight over
compliance of the financial statements with legal
requirements and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements and advising the Board on
these matters. All members of the BAC, including the
Chairman, are independent. The BAC is chaired by
Catherine Livingstone, a Chartered Accountant with
significant and relevant finance and accounting
experience.
Further information on the role of the BAC is provided
under the heading Financial Reporting in this statement.
Board Remuneration Committee
The BRC makes recommendations to the Board that
promote appropriate remuneration policies and
practices for Macquarie. It also has responsibility to
liaise with the Board Risk Committee, the BCGC and
the BAC in relation to remuneration related disclosures
in the financial statements and the Remuneration
Report. All members of the BRC are independent,
including the Committee Chairman, Helen Nugent.

fundamental factors relevant to the selection and
appointment of new directors and is available on
Macquarie’s website.

Further information on the role of the BRC is provided
in the Remuneration Report.

New Independent Directors are appointed for the
longer of 12 years or the end of their final three year
term. In addition to providing an induction program for
new Directors, regular board education sessions are
held during the year in response to business awareness
needs, as identified by the Non-Executive Directors.

The BCGC assists the Board in adopting the most
appropriate corporate governance policies for
Macquarie, meeting Macquarie’s corporate governance
requirements and fulfilling its responsibility for oversight
of Macquarie’s Compliance practices. All members and
the Chairman of the BCGC, Kevin McCann, are
Independent Directors.

In accordance with the Committee’s Charter, the
Chairman of the Board must be the Chairman of the
Board Nominating Committee. Currently, all members
of the Board Nominating Committee are Independent
Directors, including the Chairman Kevin McCann.

Board Corporate Governance Committee

The Board Committee Charters, which set out the
responsibilities of each Committee and how they
exercise their authority, are available on Macquarie’s
website.

Board Risk Committee
The primary responsibility of the Board Risk Committee
is to ensure Macquarie has an appropriate risk
management framework including the establishment
of policies for the control of risk. The Board Risk
Committee receives information on the risk profile of
Macquarie, any breaches of the policy framework and
external developments which may have some impact
on the effectiveness of the risk management framework.
It also approves significant changes to the risk
management policies and framework. The Chairman
of the Board Risk Committee, Peter Warne, is an
Independent Director. He is also a member of the
BAC, BCGC and BRC.
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Ethical and responsible decision making

Dealing with potential conflicts

Code of Conduct

Failure to identify a conflict of interest before entering
into a transaction, undertaking any dealing (either
directly with clients or otherwise), or undertaking any
fiduciary role, can give rise to considerable harm to
Macquarie’s relationship with clients and its reputation.

Macquarie has adopted a Code of Conduct, which
incorporates Macquarie’s Code of Ethics (What We
Stand For). The Code of Conduct is also reflected in,
and supported by, a broad range of Macquarie’s
internal policies and practices.
The Code of Conduct, which is endorsed by the Board,
is intended to help staff to understand their
responsibility to uphold the following goals and values
to which Macquarie aspires: Integrity, Client
commitment, Strive for profitability, Fulfilment for our
people, Teamwork and Highest standards. It also
details standards and expectations around conflicts of
interest, disclosure and corruption, to ensure that the
highest standards are maintained and Macquarie’s
reputation enhanced.
A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on
Macquarie’s website.
Integrity office
Macquarie staff are expected to uphold, and are
supported in maintaining the highest standards.
Macquarie established the position of Integrity Officer
in 1998. The Integrity Officer acts as an independent
point of contact for staff on integrity issues and works
to ensure that all Macquarie business is conducted in
accordance with sound ethical practices and the
Goals and Values of the organisation. The Integrity
Officer reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer
and provides an annual report on the activities and
developments of the Integrity Office to the BCGC.
Macquarie’s Corporate Citizenship statement is
available on Macquarie’s website.
Further information about the role of the Integrity Officer
and activities of the Integrity Office is provided in the
Sustainability section of the Annual Report.

Macquarie has systems and protocols in place to
identify a conflict of interest and a framework for
managing conflicts. It is the responsibility of each
business head to ensure that conflicts of interest are
adequately managed and that their business is
conducted in accordance with applicable laws,
regulations, rules and statements of regulatory policy.
Macquarie has adopted a variety of measures to
manage conflicts of interest, including Macquarie-wide
and Divisional policies, systems, lists, information
protocols and appropriate disclosures. The appropriate
mechanism to manage a conflict will depend on the
circumstances and nature of the conflict. Conflict
management arrangements at Macquarie are subject
to the oversight function of Macquarie Compliance.
The Board has guidelines for its members for declaring
and dealing with potential conflicts of interest which
include:
—

Board members declaring their interests as
required under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth),
ASX Listing Rules and general law requirements
— Board members with a material personal interest
in a matter not receiving the relevant Board paper
and not being present at a Board meeting during
the consideration of the matter and subsequent
vote, unless the Board (excluding the relevant
Board member) resolves otherwise
— Board members with a conflict not involving
a material personal interest may be required to
absent themselves from the relevant deliberations
of the Board.
Macquarie Bank is a subsidiary of Macquarie, and
the Macquarie Bank Board is ultimately responsible
for the sound and prudent management of Macquarie
Bank, with due consideration for the interests of
deposit holders.
The Macquarie Bank Board also has processes in
place to ensure that decisions made by them are done
so at arm’s length. Where potential conflicts arise,
management will ensure that Directors of the relevant
Board have sufficient information to manage conflicts
appropriately.
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Staff and Director trading
Macquarie’s personal dealing policies apply to
Directors and all Macquarie staff. They identify the
principles by which Macquarie balances the personal
investment interests of staff against Macquarie’s
responsibility to ensure that the personal dealing and
investment activities of its staff in any financial product
are conducted appropriately. Key aspects of
Macquarie’s policies in relation to staff and Director
trading include:
pre-clear securities trading: Directors and staff
must pre-clear their securities trading with
Macquarie
— trading windows: Generally, Directors and staff
may only trade in Macquarie securities and related
derivatives during designated trading windows.
These are typically of three to five weeks duration
and follow Macquarie’s announcement of its
interim and full year profits and after the Annual
General Meeting (AGM)
— excluded dealings: Certain types of transactions
such as acquisition of securities under an
employee share plan or participation in the
dividend reinvestment plan may be effected
outside a trading window without pre-clearance
— trading prohibition while in possession of
material non-public price-sensitive information:
In all cases Macquarie prohibits Directors and staff
from dealing in any security, including a Macquarie
security, if they possess non-public price-sensitive
information about or affecting the relevant security
— unvested options, retained shares and
minimum shareholding requirements cannot be
hedged: Staff are not permitted to undertake any
action that is designed to limit their exposure to
Macquarie shares which are subject to retention
arrangements, or their unvested Macquarie
options. Non-Executive Directors may also not
enter into a transaction that operates to limit the
economic risk of their Macquarie shareholding
below their minimum shareholding requirement
— net short positions not permitted: Directors and
employees are not permitted to take net short
positions in Macquarie shares or any securities in
Macquarie-managed funds.
Macquarie has lodged its Trading Policy, which sets
out the restrictions that apply to dealing in Macquarie
securities by Macquarie staff, including Key
Management Personnel, with ASX.
—

Each member of the Board is encouraged to consider
positions in a Macquarie-related security as a long term
investment and is not permitted to trade derivatives
without the prior approval of the Chairman (or the
Managing Director in the case of the Chairman). Board
members and Executive Committee members are also
required to annually disclose to Macquarie any
financing arrangements relating to their Macquarie
securities and manage their financing arrangements
in accordance with Macquarie’s policies.
Sustainability, diversity and the community
Macquarie has a robust framework of policies,
underpinned by its Goals and Values and Code of
Conduct, relevant to environmental, occupational
health and safety, diversity, social and governance
responsibilities.
Macquarie’s approach to sustainability is included
in the Sustainability section of this Annual Report.
A Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) index is also
provided. In 2010 Macquarie met its commitment
to become carbon neutral across its office energy
use and business air travel.
Macquarie also invests continually in the development
and training of its staff and is committed to workforce
diversity. Our approach to diversity is detailed in the
Annual Report in the section headed Diversity at
Macquarie.
Macquarie engages in the wider community through
the Macquarie Group Foundation (the Foundation).
In the year to 31 March 2011, the Foundation and
Macquarie staff contributed $A27.3 million to more
than 1,300 community organisations globally.
There are also a number of Foundation volunteer
programs. Through volunteer activities, staff can
directly help community organisations and also build
sustainability in the not-for-profit sector by transferring
their business skills, providing mentor support, serving
as board members and giving pro bono advice. The
Foundation works closely with its community partners
to assess how volunteer support can be best utilised.
Details of Macquarie staff community initiatives and
organisations supported by the Foundation are
available on Macquarie’s website.

A copy of Macquarie’s Trading Policy is available on
its website.
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Financial reporting
On behalf of the Boards of Macquarie and Macquarie
Bank, the BAC monitors:
—

the integrity of Macquarie’s financial reporting and,
as part of this role, the operation of the financial
reporting processes. The processes are aimed at
providing assurance that the financial statements
and related notes are complete, in accordance
with applicable legal requirements and accounting
standards, and give a true and fair view of
Macquarie’s financial position. During its review of
Macquarie’s interim and year-end financial reports
the BAC meets with the external auditor in the
absence of management
— the external auditor engagement. The BAC
reviews the appointment, the terms of the
engagement and the performance of the external
auditor, prior to making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and removal of the
external auditor
— the operation of the Internal Audit Division. The
BAC reviews the appointment and performance
of the Head of the Internal Audit Division (IAD),
as well as the remuneration arrangements in
place, to maintain the objectivity of the Internal
Audit function. It also monitors the scope and
implementation of the IAD annual plan.
The BAC monitors Macquarie’s APRA regulatory
reporting control framework and other banking
regulatory reporting as relevant.
Auditor independence
The BAC reports to the Board, prior to the approval
of the interim and year-end financial report, on its
monitoring of the independence of the external
auditors in accordance with its obligations under the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Macquarie’s Auditor
Independence Policy and the BAC Charter.
Macquarie’s Auditor Independence Policy requires
BAC approval, or between meetings the approval
of the BAC Chairman, for material non-audit work
performed by its auditors. Also in accordance with
the Policy, Macquarie’s audit engagement partner
and review partner must be rotated every five years.
Macquarie’s lead audit engagement partner rotated at
the conclusion of the 2008 financial reporting period.

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
declaration
The Macquarie and Macquarie Bank Boards receive
written confirmation from their Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer that:
—

their statement given to the Board on the integrity
of the financial statements is founded on a sound
system of risk management and internal
compliance and control which implements the
policies adopted by the Board; and
— Macquarie’s risk management and internal
compliance and control system is operating
effectively in all material respects.
Macquarie’s senior management has reported to the
Boards of Macquarie and Macquarie Bank on the
effectiveness of the management of material business
risks for the year ended 31 March 2011. The Boards
have received the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer declarations described above for this
financial year.
Commitment to shareholders and an informed
market
Macquarie believes that shareholders, regulators,
ratings agencies and the investment community should
be informed of all major business events and risks that
influence Macquarie in a factual, timely and widely
available manner. Macquarie has a Continuous
Disclosure Policy which is incorporated in the
External Communications Policy.
It is Macquarie’s policy that any price-sensitive material
for public announcement, including annual and interim
profit announcements, release of financial reports,
presentations to investors and analysts, and other
prepared investor briefings for Macquarie and
Macquarie Bank, will be:
—
—

factual and reviewed internally before issue
timely and expressed in a clear and objective
manner
— lodged with the ASX as soon as practical.
An External Communications Policy summary is
available on Macquarie’s website.

The BAC Charter and an External Auditor Policy
Statement contain key aspects of Macquarie’s Auditor
Independence Policy and external auditor selection
process and are available on Macquarie’s website.
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Shareholder meetings

Macquarie’s website

Macquarie typically holds its AGM in July of each year.
Macquarie encourages shareholders to participate in
general meetings and aims to choose a date, venue
and time considered convenient to the greatest number
of its shareholders. For shareholders who are unable to
attend in person, Macquarie provides a webcast of its
AGM and any other general meetings. The results of all
meetings are also lodged with ASX after the meeting as
soon as they are available.

Macquarie’s website contains recent announcements,
past and current reports to shareholders, including
summaries of key financial data, and copies of recent
notices of meeting. There is also a link allowing
investors to register to receive significant Macquarie
announcements electronically by email as soon as
practicable after they have been lodged with the ASX.

This year Macquarie’s AGM will be held in Sydney and
the Macquarie Bank AGM will be held on the same day,
after the Macquarie AGM. Other general meetings may
be held as required during the year.
Macquarie’s auditor is required to attend each AGM
and be available to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, and the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report. Notices of meeting are
accompanied by explanatory notes on the items
of business and together they seek to clearly and
accurately explain the nature of the business of the
meeting.
Shareholders, if unable to attend the meeting, are
encouraged to vote on the motions proposed by
appointing a proxy. The proxy form included with a
notice of meeting will clearly explain how the proxy
form is to be completed and submitted.
Online proxy voting is also available to shareholders.
Unless specifically stated in a notice of meeting, all
holders of fully paid ordinary shares are eligible to vote
on all resolutions. Holders of Macquarie Income
Securities have the right to attend the Macquarie Bank
AGM, at which they have limited voting rights, as set
out in the terms of their issue, which is available on
Macquarie’s website.
A Shareholder Calendar is available on Macquarie’s
website.

The AGM webcast, year-end and half year-end results
presentations and operational briefing presentations
are also available on Macquarie’s website.
Oversight of risk management
Risk management is sponsored by the Board and is
a top priority for senior managers, starting with the
Chief Executive Officer. Macquarie’s approach to risk
management is embedded across all business units.
The Board, through the Board Risk Committee,
oversees the risk appetite and profile of Macquarie
and ensures that business developments are
consistent with the risk appetite and goals of
Macquarie. All members of the Board and the
Managing Director of Macquarie Bank are members
of the Board Risk Committee to focus appropriate
attention on the oversight of risk.
The Head of the Risk Management Group (RMG),
as Macquarie’s Chief Risk Officer, is a member of
Macquarie’s Executive Committee and reports directly
to the Chief Executive Officer of Macquarie. The Head
of RMG has a secondary reporting line to the Board
Risk Committee which approves the replacement,
appointment, reassignment or dismissal of the
Head of RMG. He presents on risk matters at
each Board/ Board Risk Committee meeting.
At the executive management level, the Macquarie
and Macquarie Bank Executive Committees and
Operations Review Committee focus on strategic
and operational issues, material transactions and
review the performance of Macquarie on a monthly
basis. Beneath this level, there are other committees
where senior specialists focus on speci c risks as
appropriate (e.g. Market Risk Committee, Asset and
Liability Committee).
Macquarie’s approach to risk management is detailed
in the Risk Management Report and is available on
Macquarie’s website.
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Remuneration
The Board of Directors oversees Macquarie’s
remuneration arrangements, including executive
remuneration and the remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors. The Board is assisted by the BRC. The BRC
annually reviews the remuneration strategy to ensure it
delivers the best outcomes for Macquarie and
shareholders.
Non-Executive Directors are not granted equity, nor
do they receive bonus payments. They do not receive
termination payments on their retirement from office
other than payments accruing from superannuation
contributions comprising part of their remuneration.
Details of Macquarie’s approach and the amount of
remuneration paid to Non-Executive Directors are
contained in the Remuneration Report.
Details of the nature and amount of remuneration
(including non-monetary components such as equity
grants) for each Executive Voting Director and the
members of the Executive Committee as well as
Macquarie’s remuneration policies and practices
are also set out in the Remuneration Report.

Corporate Governance in Macquarie-managed
funds
The Macquarie-managed funds’ (Funds) governance
standards provide an alignment of interests between
the manager and investors in the Funds and adopt
an appropriate governance framework to ensure
protection of security holder interests.
The key elements of Macquarie’s corporate
governance framework for Funds are:
—

Appropriate management of conflicts of
interest arising between a Fund and its related
parties. Related party transactions should be
identified clearly, conducted on arm’s length terms
and tested by reference to whether they meet
market standards. Decisions by listed Funds about
transactions with Macquarie or its affiliates should
be made by parties independent of Macquarie.
— Appropriate resourcing of funds management
businesses. In particular:
— staff involved in managing a Fund should be
dedicated to the relevant funds management
business, rather than to advisory or other
activities
— all recommendations to Fund boards (and
supporting information) should be prepared
or reviewed by funds management staff
— each listed Fund that invests in operating
assets or businesses should have its own
managing director or chief executive officer
— Chinese Walls operate to separate
Macquarie’s corporate finance, advisory and
equity capital markets businesses from its
funds management businesses.
Macquarie’s expertise in managing fund assets and
sourcing new value-adding opportunities is a key
attraction for investors in Macquarie-managed funds.
While Macquarie exercises general oversight of its
funds management subsidiaries as set out above,
decision-making relating to transactions by Funds are
made by the directors of the responsible entities of,
and companies within, the Funds.
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Risk Management Report

Introduction – Macquarie's risk management
framework
Macquarie Group’s (Macquarie) risk management
framework is well established and proven. The core
principles that drive this framework are:
Ownership of risk at the business level: Operating
Group heads are responsible for identifying risks within
their businesses and ensuring that they are managed
appropriately. Before taking decisions, clear analysis of
the risks is sought to ensure risks taken are consistent
with the risk appetite and strategy of Macquarie.
Business ownership of risk is an essential element
in understanding and controlling risk.
Understanding worst case outcomes: Macquarie's
risk management approach is based on examining
the consequences of worst case outcomes and
determining whether these are acceptable. This
approach is adopted for all material risk types and is
often achieved by stress testing. In particular,
Macquarie's market risk framework is based primarily
on the application of stress tests, rather than statistical
models. This approach was tested over the recent past.
Shocks observed in the markets generally remained
within Macquarie's stress scenarios, resulting in very
few of our worst case loss scenarios being exceeded.
Whilst Macquarie operates a number of sophisticated
quantitative risk management processes, the
foundation of its risk management approach is the
informed consideration of both quantitative and
qualitative inputs by highly experienced professionals.
Requirement for an independent signoff by risk
management: Macquarie places significant
importance on having a strong independent Risk
Management Group (RMG) which is charged with
signing off all material risk acceptance decisions. It is
essential RMG has the capability to do this effectively
and hence RMG has invested in recruiting skilled
professionals, many with previous trading or
investment banking experience. For all material
proposals, RMG's opinion is sought at an early stage
in the decision making process and independent input
from RMG on risk and return is included in the
approval document submitted to senior management.
Macquarie determines its overall appetite for risk with
reference to earnings and not just capital. Aggregate
risk is expressed by setting a Global Risk Limit
designed to ensure that in a prolonged and severe
downturn, losses will be covered by earnings and
surplus capital. In line with this, during the recent global
financial crisis, write-downs were more than covered
by the earnings generated by Macquarie.

Macquarie’s risk culture is well established
Macquarie recognises that an effective risk
management framework involves more than just robust
controls. Macquarie's risk culture, which is less
tangible, is equally as important and at Macquarie the
risk culture remains strong, and controls are respected
by staff. Key aspects supporting this culture include:
— Macquarie's businesses are fundamentally
client based. Therefore, across Macquarie, greater
emphasis is placed on fostering long-term
relationships with our clients and building franchise
businesses as opposed to short-term profits from
proprietary trading.
— Consideration of worst-case scenarios is part of
everyday risk controls rather than
supplementary to them. Even though the worst
case scenarios are often in excess of what has
been historically observed, they play a major role in
actually influencing and limiting positions particularly
for ‘tail risks’.

For example, we apply limits to contingent
losses from a 40 per cent gap move in stock
prices. This effectively constrains trading
divisions from issuing well out of the money
options and encourages hedging of tail risks.
We have over 13,000 contingent loss limits
that consider a variety of worst case scenarios.

— The role of risk management staff is one of
active engagement in risk-taking decisions.
In accordance with the principle of risk ownership,
the primary risk analysis and initial decisions to
reject or accept a transaction are taken by
Operating Groups. In its review of a new proposal,
RMG focuses on providing an independent
confirmation of the risk acceptance decision.
RMG works closely with the deal team with the
shared goal of making the transaction successful
by requiring improvements to the transaction terms
where applicable. Strong emphasis is placed on
transferring knowledge to transaction teams so that
the same risk management principles are applied to
future proposals from an early stage.
— Macquarie’s remuneration policy for senior
management encourages a long-term view in
decision making. It discourages excessive risk
taking as incentives are aligned with the long-term
profitability of the firm through retention of
remuneration and equity participation. The
principles behind our current remuneration
structure have been in place for many years.
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Risk governance structure
Risk management is sponsored by the Macquarie
Group Board (Board), and is a top priority for senior
managers, starting with the Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer.
The Head of RMG, as Macquarie’s Chief Risk Officer,
is a member of Macquarie’s Executive Committee and
reports directly to the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer. The Chief Risk Officer has a
secondary reporting line to the Board Risk Committee
which approves the replacement, appointment,
reassignment or dismissal of the Chief Risk Officer.
The Board oversees the risk appetite and profile of
Macquarie and ensures that business developments
are consistent with the risk appetite and goals of
Macquarie.
All Board members are members of the Board Risk
Committee. The Board Risk Committee has
responsibility for ensuring an appropriate risk
management framework – including the establishment
of policies for the control of risk – is in place. The
Board Risk Committee receives information on the
risk profile of Macquarie, breaches of the policy
framework and external developments which may
have some impact on the effectiveness of the risk
management framework. It also approves significant
changes to risk management policies and framework
and approves Macquarie’s risk appetite. The Board
Risk Committee is assisted by the following
Committees:
— The Board Audit Committee (BAC) assesses the
effectiveness of internal controls in its role of
oversight of the quality and integrity of Macquarie’s
accounting, auditing and financial reporting. The
Board Audit Committee monitors and reviews the
effectiveness of the Internal Audit and Credit
Assurance functions
— The Board Remuneration Committee liaises with
the Board Risk Committee and the Chief Risk
Officer to ensure there is a properly integrated
approach to remuneration that appropriately
reflects risk
— The Board Corporate Governance Committee
(BCGC) reviews Macquarie’s corporate governance
arrangements and compliance matters.
Committees exist at the executive management level
to ensure that the necessary elements of expertise are
focused on specific risk areas. The Macquarie Group
and Macquarie Bank Limited (Macquarie Bank)
Executive Committees and the Macquarie
Operations Review Committee focus on strategic
issues, operational issues, material transactions and
review the performance of Macquarie on a monthly
basis. Beneath this level, there are other committees
where senior specialists focus on specific risks as
appropriate (e.g. Market Risk Committee and Asset
and Liability Committee).

While committees oversee Macquarie’s risk
appetite and acceptance process, risk
acceptance decisions are ultimately delegated
to individuals to ensure that approvers are
individually accountable when signing off on
risk acceptance decisions.

Risk Management Group
RMG’s oversight of risk is based on the following five
principles:
Independence
RMG, which is responsible for assessing and
monitoring risks across Macquarie, is independent of
the operating areas of Macquarie, and the Head of
RMG, as Macquarie’s Chief Risk Officer, reports
directly to the Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer with a secondary reporting line to the Board
Risk Committee. RMG approval is required for all
material risk acceptance decisions
Centralised prudential management
RMG’s responsibility covers the whole of Macquarie.
Therefore, it can assess risks from a Macquarie-wide
perspective and provide a consistent approach
across all operating areas
Approval of all new business activities
Operating areas cannot undertake new businesses
or activities, offer new products, or enter new
markets without first consulting RMG. RMG reviews
and assesses risk and sets prudential limits. Where
appropriate, these limits are approved by the
Executive Committee and the Board
Continuous assessment
RMG continually reviews risks to account for changes
in market circumstances and developments within
Macquarie’s operating areas
Frequent monitoring
Centralised systems exist to allow RMG to monitor
credit and market risks daily. RMG staff liaise closely
with operating and support divisions
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RMG structure and resourcing
While RMG is structured into specialist teams as detailed below, we employ an integrated approach to risk analysis and
management across risk classes. RMG’s assessment and monitoring of risks involves a collaborative effort across the
teams to ensure that a detailed analysis takes place both at the individual and aggregate risk level.
Board
Audit
Committee

RMG
Head of RMG
Chief Risk Officer

Prudential
Capital and
Markets

Credit

Market Risk

– Credit Risk
– Prudential
– Market Risk
– Country Risk
Regulation
– Economic
– Equity Risk
Capital
Investments
– Liquidity Risk
– Equity
Underwriting

Operational
Risk

Quantitative
Application
Division

– Independent – Operational
model
Risk
review

Compliance
AML/CTF
Risk

– Regulatory
Risk
– Reputation
Risk

Data Policy

Internal
Audit

– Data quality
and integrity

– Independent
assessment
of design
and
effectiveness
of control
framework

Growth in RMG has been consistent with overall Macquarie Group growth in previous years. During the year, Macquarie
Compliance was formed combining business-aligned compliance staff with RMG Compliance staff. Previously, RMG
acted in a risk oversight role of the business compliance function whereas business-aligned compliance teams now
report directly to RMG. RMG staff numbers increased over the past year by 2 per cent to 509 (FY10 headcount restated
for Macquarie Compliance).
Headcount of RMG vs Macquarie
RMG

Macquarie

3,000

0

FY11

100
FY10

6,000

FY09

200

FY08

9,000

FY07

300

FY06

12,000

FY05

400

FY04

15,000

FY03

500

FY02

18,000

FY01

600

Effective risk management is not only a
function of disciplined processes but also of
imaginative analysis by talented individuals.
RMG attracts high calibre candidates. It
recruits experienced individuals both from
within Macquarie and externally and is a
source of talent for Macquarie’s Operating
Groups when recruiting.

0

Note: Pre 2007 data shown excluding business-aligned
compliance staff.
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To ensure that, on a global basis, risks are managed in
a controlled manner, 51 per cent of total RMG staff as
at 31 March 2011 were based outside of Australia.
All offices are subject to the same risk management
controls and standards. This is supported by regular
staff communication and visits to international offices.
Consistent with the concept of Operating Groups
owning risk, specific day-to-day operations are more
appropriately discharged and embedded within the
Operating Groups. The majority of operational risk and
compliance functions are therefore discharged within
the Operating Groups. Business-aligned compliance
staff ensure that day-to-day compliance obligations
are discharged at the business level whilst Business
Operational Risk Managers (BORMs) are appointed by
the Operating Group Heads to be their representative
on operational risk management matters, and act as
their delegate in ensuring that operational risk and
standards are addressed appropriately within their
division. As at 31 March 2011, there were more than
220 staff performing such functions within the
Operating Groups in addition to the business-aligned
compliance staff now included in RMG. All businessaligned compliance staff have a reporting line to the
RMG divisional head of Compliance whilst divisional
operational risk staff have functional reporting lines to
the RMG divisional head of Operational Risk.
New business and acquisitions
Innovation is encouraged across Macquarie’s
businesses and activities. Therefore, it is important that
all elements of new business initiatives are well
understood before commencement.
All new business initiatives must be signed off by RMG
prior to commencement. The new business approval
process is a formal process whereby all relevant risks
(e.g. market, credit, equity, legal, compliance, taxation,
accounting, operational and systems issues) are
reviewed, to ensure that the transaction or operation
can be managed properly and will not create unknown
or unwanted risks for Macquarie in the future. The
approval of RMG, Finance Division, Taxation Division
and other stakeholders within Macquarie is obtained
prior to commencement.
For all material transactions, independent input from
RMG on the risk and return of the transaction is
included in the approval document submitted to senior
management.
The Operational Risk function within RMG oversees
the new product and business approval process and
ensures the necessary approvals are obtained.
RMG Internal Audit performs an audit of the operations
of any significant new businesses based on an
assessment of the associated risk faced by Macquarie.
The audit typically takes place within six to 12 months
following acquisition or launch and includes
confirmation that operations are in line with the
approved new product approval document.

Recent acquisitions have now been fully integrated
The new business approval process was closely
followed on the six major acquisitions undertaken by
Macquarie over the past two years. These firms have
now been fully integrated into Macquarie and operate
across a range of activities including:
— energy trading
— energy advisory
— equity derivatives and cash equities
— funds management
— wealth management
— financial advisory
Risk management and monitoring
The risk management framework incorporates active
management and monitoring of market, credit, equity,
liquidity, operational, compliance, regulatory and legal
risks. It is designed to ensure policies and procedures
are in place to manage the risks arising within each
division. Application varies in detail from one part of
Macquarie to another, however, the same risk
management framework applies across all business
activities without exception.
Equity risk
Equity risk is the risk of loss arising from banking book
equity-type exposures. These exposures include:
— holdings in specialised funds managed by
Macquarie
— principal exposures taken by Macquarie Capital,
including direct investments in entities external to
Macquarie
— property equity, including property trusts and direct
property investments
— lease residuals
— other equity, including investments in resource
companies.
Equity Risk Limit
All of the above positions are subject to an aggregate
Equity Risk Limit (ERL). The ERL is set by the Board
with reference to the Risk Appetite Test which is
described further in the economic capital section. In
setting the limit, consideration is also given to the level
of earnings, capital and market conditions. The limit is
reviewed on a semi-annual basis by RMG and the
results of the review are reported to the Operations
Review Committee and the Board.
Concentrations within the equity portfolio are managed
by a number of additional limits approved by the
Executive Committee and/or the Board. These include
limits on:
— property equity investments
— investments in the resources sector
— lease residuals (by type of leased asset)
— co-investments and other assets of Macquarie
Capital.

60

Transaction review and approval process
The division executing the transaction is responsible for
due diligence and risk analysis of each equity
investment. For material deals, RMG undertakes
shadow due diligence and performs a comprehensive
analysis of all risks and potential losses associated with
the acquisition such as:
— market and credit risks
— regulatory, capital, liquidity and compliance
requirements
— business, operational and reputation risks.
All material equity risk positions are subject to approval
by RMG and by the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer, Executive Committee and the Board,
depending on the size and nature of the risk. RMG
ensures that the transaction is correctly represented to
the relevant approvers.
Credit risk
Credit Risk is defined as the risk of a counterparty
failing to complete its contractual obligations when
they fall due. The consequent loss is either the amount
of the loan not repaid, or the loss incurred in replicating
a trading contract with a new counterparty.
The RMG Credit team maintains a comprehensive and
robust framework for the identification, analysis and
monitoring of credit risks arising within each business.
Key aspects of this framework are discussed below.
Analysis and approval of exposures
The Macquarie Group and Macquarie Bank Boards are
responsible for establishing the framework for
approving credit exposures. The Boards delegate
discretions to approve credit exposure to designated
individuals within Macquarie whose capacity to
exercise authority prudently has been adequately
assessed.
Operating Groups are assigned modest levels of
credit discretions. Credit exposures above those levels
are assessed independently by RMG and approved
by senior RMG staff, the Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer and the Boards as required.
Macquarie enforces a strict 'no limit, no dealing' rule;
all proposed transactions are analysed and approved
by designated individuals before they can proceed.
All credit exposures are subject to annual review.
Independent analysis
The RMG Credit team provides independent analysis
of credit risk exposures. The teams work closely with
the Operating Groups to identify the risks inherent in
Macquarie’s businesses, and apply analysis
appropriate to the level and nature of risks.
Credit risk analysis is focused on ensuring that risks
have been fully identified and that the downside risk is
properly understood so that a balanced assessment
can be made of the worst case outcome against the

expected rewards. Downside analysis includes stress
testing and scenario analysis.
Macquarie does not rely on quantitative models to
assess credit risk but uses fundamental credit analysis
to make credit risk acceptance decisions.
Macquarie Group ratings
Macquarie relies on its own independent assessment
of credit risk. Third party credit assessments are
considered as an input into the analysis but are not
considered to be a sufficient basis for decision making.
Macquarie has established a proprietary internal credit
rating framework to assess counterparty credit risk.
Macquarie Group (MG) ratings are used to estimate the
likelihood of the rated entity defaulting on financial
obligations. The MG ratings system ensures a
consistent assessment of borrower and transaction
characteristics across Macquarie and provides the
mechanism for meaningful differentiation of credit risk.
All customer limits and exposures are allocated an
MG rating on a 1–13 scale which broadly correspond
with Standard & Poors and Moody's Investor
Services credit ratings. Each MG rating is assigned
a Probability of Default estimate. Credit limits and
exposures are also allocated a Loss Given Default
ratio reflecting the estimated economic loss in the
event of default occurring.
Macquarie has an independent Credit Assurance
function within RMG to provide assurance over the
effectiveness of credit risk management throughout
Macquarie.
Measuring and monitoring exposures
Credit exposures for loans are evaluated as the full
face value.
Credit exposures for derivatives are a function of
potential market movements and are assessed by
assuming that low probability stressed market
movements occur and that Macquarie has to go to
the market to replace a defaulting deal at the worst
possible time during the term of the transaction. The
level of stress that is applied to individual markets is
reviewed and approved by RMG periodically or when
volatility or market conditions dictate.
Where trading gives rise to settlement risk, this
exposure is assessed as the full face value of the
settlement amount.
All credit exposures are monitored regularly against
limits. Credit exposures which fluctuate through time
are monitored daily. These include off-balance sheet
exposures such as swaps, forward contracts and
options, which are assessed using sophisticated
valuation techniques.
To mitigate credit risk, Macquarie makes use of
margining and other forms of collateral or credit
enhancement techniques (including guarantees and
letters of credit, the purchase of credit default swaps
and mortgage insurance) where appropriate.
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On and off-balance sheet exposures are considered
together and treated identically for approval,
monitoring and reporting purposes.
A review of the credit portfolio analysing credit
concentrations by counterparty, country, risk type,
industry and credit quality is carried out and reported
to Macquarie’s Operations Review Committee
quarterly and Board semi-annually. Policies are in
place to manage credit risk and avoid unacceptable
concentrations to any economic sector, counterparty,
or country.
Loan impairment review
All exposures are subject to recurring review and
assessment for possible impairment. Provisions
for loan losses are based on an incurred loss model,
which recognises a provision where there is objective
evidence of impairment at each balance date, and is
calculated based on the discounted values of expected
future cash flows.

Specific provisions are recognised where specific
impairment is identified. The rest of the loans are
placed into pools of assets with similar risk profiles
and collectively assessed for losses that have been
incurred but not yet identified.
Impaired assets continue to decline from the past year,
driven by a combination of write-backs, write-downs
and foreign currency movements.
Country risk
The Country Risk policy guides the management of
Macquarie’s country risk. Countries are grouped into
categories based on the country’s risk profile. Before
any exposure is taken in a country which is considered
to be higher risk, a full review of the economic, political
and operating environment is undertaken to determine
the level of exposure that is considered to be
acceptable. Where appropriate, measures to mitigate
country risk are put in place.

Note:
1
Loan assets excludes securitised mortgages, securitised Macquarie Capital loans/leases, segregated future funds and
receivables in the form of fees.
2
Net impaired assets and net losses exclude investment securities.
3
Collective provision (as per note 10 of Financial Statements) is intended to cover losses inherent in the existing overall credit
portfolio which are not yet specifically identifiable.
4
Net credit losses represent total profit and loss impact in the stated period due to additional specific provisions and direct
write-offs net of any write-backs.
5
Please refer to note 10 of the Financial Statements for further information on impaired assets.
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Operational risk
Macquarie defines operational risk as the risk of
loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external
events. Macquarie has established procedures and
controls to manage market, credit, reputation and
strategic risks. The potential for failure or inadequacy
in these procedures and controls would be classified
as an operational risk. Operational risk failures could
lead to reputation damage, financial loss or regulatory
consequences.
RMG is responsible for ensuring an appropriate
framework exists to identify, assess and manage
operational risk and that resources are available
to support it. It is also responsible for Macquarie’s
operational risk capital measurement methodology.
In general, changes in Macquarie’s operational risk
profile are the net result of greater innovation and
growth. This is offset by constant gradual adaptation
and development of the control environment to
accommodate new risks.
Operational Risk Management framework
Macquarie’s Operational Risk Management Framework
(ORMF) is designed to identify, assess and manage
operational risks within the organisation. The key
objectives of the framework are as follows:
— risk identification, analysis and acceptance
— execution and monitoring of risk management
practices
— reporting and escalation of risk information on a
routine and exception basis.
Businesses carry out elements of the ORMF in a
manner that is tailored to their specific operational risk
profile. However, to ensure consistency and minimum
standards the framework includes the following
mandatory elements:
— a robust change management process to ensure
operational risks in new activities or products are
identified, addressed and managed prior to
implementation
— a semi-annual operational risk self assessment
process to identify operational risks at the business
level, assess controls and develop action plans to
address deficiencies
— recording of operational risk incidents into a
centralised reporting system. Incidents are analysed
to identify trends and establish lessons learnt on
the effectiveness of controls
— allocation of operational risk capital to all Macquarie
businesses as a tool to further encourage positive
behaviour in Macquarie’s day-to-day management
of operational risk

— Macquarie-wide policies which require a consistent
approach and minimum standards on specific
operational risk matters
— embedded operational risk representatives in
Operating Groups who act as delegates of the
business manager. These representatives ensure
operational risks are addressed appropriately and
that the ORMF is executed within their area.
Macquarie’s operational risk capital framework
Macquarie’s framework for operational risk capital
has two main elements:
— an annual scenario approach for modelling
operational risk losses and to determine
operational risk capital
— a quarterly scorecard analysis which is used to
update operational risk capital between scenario
analyses and as a basis for updating the allocation
of capital to businesses.
Operational risk scenarios identify key risks that, while
very low in probability, may result in very high impact
losses. In identifying the potential for such losses
consideration is given to individual statistical
distribution for each scenario, external loss data,
internal loss data, risk and control factors determined
by the operational risk self assessments, and the
contribution of expert opinion from businesses. Results
are then modelled to determine the operational risk
component of regulatory capital required to be held
by Macquarie at the 99.9th percentile level. Monte Carlo
techniques are used to aggregate these individual
distributions to determine a Macquarie-wide
operational risk loss distribution.
Over time operational risk capital changes to reflect:
— new business activity, businesses growth and
significant change in activity which may require
new or increased loss scenarios and/or an
increased loss probability
— as business changes bed down and the control
environment continues to mature, the probability
of loss decreases, reducing the capital requirement
— changes in the external environment such as new
regulations or movements in the economic cycle
can also influence scenario estimates.
Macquarie allocates capital to individual businesses.
The capital allocation effectively rewards positive risk
behaviour, and penalises increased risks. This is done
using scorecards which measure changes in a number
of key factors such as the size and complexity of the
business, risk and control assessments, incident and
exception management and governance.
The quarterly change in the sum of divisional capital
is also used as an estimate to update the Macquarie
capital requirement between annual assessments.
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Market risk
Market risk is the exposure to adverse changes in
the value of Macquarie’s trading portfolios as a result
of changes in market prices or volatility. Macquarie is
exposed to the following risks in each of the major
markets in which it trades:
— foreign exchange and bullion: changes in spot
and forward exchange rates and bullion prices and
the volatility of exchange rates and bullion prices
— interest rates and debt securities: changes in the
level, shape and volatility of yield curves, the basis
between different debt securities and derivatives
and credit margins
— equities: changes in the price and volatility of
individual equities, equity baskets and equity
indices, including the risks arising from equity
underwriting activity
— commodities and energy: changes in the price
and volatility of base metals, agricultural
commodities and energy products.
and to the correlation of market prices and rates within
and across markets.

All trading activities contain calculated
elements of risk taking. Macquarie is prepared
to accept such risks provided they are within
agreed limits, independently and correctly
identified, calculated and monitored by RMG,
and reported to senior management on a
regular basis.

Trading market risk
RMG monitors positions within Macquarie according
to a limit structure which sets limits for all exposures
in all markets. Limits are applied at a granular level to
individual trading desks and also, through increasing
levels of aggregation to divisions and Operating
Groups, ultimately, Macquarie. This approach removes
the need for future correlations or scenarios to be
precisely predicted as all risks are stressed to the
extreme, and accounted for within the risk profile
agreed for each business and Macquarie in aggregate.

Limits are approved by senior management with
appropriate authority for the size and nature of the risk,
and remain the ultimate responsibility of the business.
Macquarie adheres to a strict 'no limit, no dealing'
policy. If a product or position has not been authorised
by RMG, then it cannot be traded. Material breaches of
the approved limit structure are communicated
monthly to the Macquarie Bank and Macquarie Group
Boards. RMG sets three complementary limit
structures:
— contingent loss limits: worst case scenarios that
shock prices and volatilities by more than has
occurred historically. Multiple scenarios are set for
each market to capture the non-linearity and
complexity of exposures arising from derivatives
— position limits: volume, maturity and open position
limits are set on a large number of
market instruments and securities in order to
constrain concentration risk and to avoid the
accumulation of risky, illiquid positions
— Value-at-Risk (VaR) Limits: statistical measure
that determines the potential loss in trading value at
both a business and aggregate level.
The risk of loss from incorrect or inappropriate pricing
and hedging models is mitigated by the requirement
for all new pricing models to be independently tested
by the specialist Quantitative Applications Division
within RMG.
Aggregate measures of market risk
Aggregate market risk is constrained by two risk
measures, VaR and the Macro-Economic-Linkages
(MEL) stress scenarios. The VaR model predicts the
maximum likely loss in Macquarie’s trading portfolio
due to adverse movements in global markets over
holding periods of one and 10 days. The MEL scenario
utilises the contingent loss approach to capture
simultaneous, worst case movements across all major
markets. Whereas MEL focuses on extreme price
movements, VaR focuses on unexceptional changes in
price so that it does not account for losses that could
occur beyond the 99 per cent level of confidence. For
this reason, stress testing remains the predominant
focus of RMG as it is considered to be the most
effective mechanism to reduce Macquarie's exposure
to unexpected market events.

Macquarie has long favoured transparent
scenario analysis over complex statistical
modelling as the cornerstone of risk
measurement.

64

Macro-Economic-Linkages

Value-at-Risk

MEL calculates Macquarie’s total market risk exposure
to global market stress test scenarios extrapolated
from historical crisis events and global market
correlations. Each stress test scenario includes a
primary shock to either equity or energy markets as
well as cross-market effects in corporate margins,
metals, foreign exchange, interest rates and
commodities. MEL is Macquarie’s preferred internal
measure of aggregate market risk because of the
severity of the shocks applied and the ability for
scenarios to develop with changing market dynamics.
MEL is monitored and reported to senior management
daily and regularly reviewed by RMG to ensure the
measure remains appropriate for changing market
conditions and the risks to which Macquarie
is exposed.

VaR provides a statistically based summary of overall
market risk in Macquarie. The magnitude of VaR
reflects changes in positions as well as changes in
market volatility and correlations and enhancements
to the model. The integrity of the VaR model is tested
regularly against daily profit and loss.

The ‘Market Contagion’ scenario, typically the
most conservative of the MEL stress test scenarios,
accounts for all the significant markets to which
Macquarie is exposed. The assumptions in this
scenario are considerably more severe than the
conditions that have prevailed throughout the Global
Financial Crisis. The 'Market Contagion' scenario
measures the impact of an instantaneous equity
market crash of 15 to 30 per cent as well as additional
shocks to foreign exchange, metals, interest rate,
energy, agricultural commodity and credit markets.
Macquarie’s exposure to the ‘Market Contagion’
stress test scenario increased over the financial year
as trading business recovered from the low levels of
risk and activity observed during the Global Financial
Crisis. This was accompanied by the expansion of
trading businesses into new markets internationally.
The average exposure to the MEL stress test scenario
represents less than 4 per cent of total equity.

VaR remains modest in comparison to total
capital and earnings and continues to
represent less than 0.2 per cent of total equity.

The VaR model uses a Monte Carlo simulation to
generate normally distributed price and volatility paths
for approximately 1,400 benchmarks, using volatilities
and correlations based on three years of historical data.
Emphasis is placed on more recent market movements
to more accurately reflect current conditions. Each
benchmark represents an asset at a specific maturity,
for example one year crude oil futures or spot gold.
The benchmarks provide a high level of granularity
in assessing risk, covering a range of points on yield
curves and forward price curves, and distinguishing
between similar but distinct assets; for example crude
oil as opposed to heating oil, or gas traded in different
locations. Exposures to individual equities within a
national market are captured by specific risk modelling
incorporated directly into the VaR model.
Macquarie’s market risk, as measured by VaR
increased over the financial year as trading activity
expanded internationally. VaR remains modest in
comparison to capital and earnings and continues to
represent less than 0.2 per cent of total equity. The
graph below shows the daily VaR and the six month
average VaR as a percentage of total equity.
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VaR figures for year ended 31 March

Equities
Interest rates
Foreign exchange and bullion
Commodities and energy
Aggregate

2011
Average
$Am
9.53
5.83
3.61
11.64
16.00

2011
Maximum
$Am
19.30
10.72
10.55
16.34
23.50

2011
Minimum
$Am
4.35
3.67
1.08
7.63
11.04

2010
Average
$Am
6.66
4.34
3.59
10.95
14.26

2010
Maximum
$Am
20.92
6.65
10.50
16.98
26.70

2010
Minimum
$Am
2.80
3.09
0.57
5.37
6.06

Trading revenue

Non-traded market risk

The effectiveness of Macquarie’s risk management
methodology can be measured by Macquarie's daily
trading results. In light of expanded trading activity, the
small quantity and magnitude of daily losses incurred
by Macquarie are indicative both of an effective risk
management framework and business operations
focused on servicing client needs.

Macquarie also has exposure to non-traded interest
rate risk, generated by banking products such as loans
and deposits. Interest rate exposures, where possible,
are transferred into the trading books of Group
Treasury and managed under market risk limits.
However, some residual interest rate risks remain in
the banking book due to factors outside the interest
rate market or due to timing differences in
accumulating exposures large enough to hedge. These
residual risks in the banking book are not material but
are nevertheless monitored and controlled by RMG
and reported to senior management regularly.

As trading business grows, Macquarie's market risk
activities continue to be based on earning income from
spreads, franchise businesses and client flows. The
majority of trading income is derived from client
franchise activities rather than outright proprietary
trading activity.
Macquarie’s trading approach has shown consistent
profits and low volatility in trading results whilst allowing
growth in those markets where significant gains can be
realised. This is evident in the histogram below which
shows that Macquarie made a net trading profit on
206 out of the 261 trading days (2010 results: 217 out
of 260 trading days).

Macquarie’s trading activities generated a net
profit on 206 out of the 261 trading days in the
financial year to 31 March 2011.
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Economic capital
Macquarie has developed an economic capital model
that is used to quantify Macquarie's aggregate level of
risk.
The economic capital framework complements the
management of specific risk types such as equity,
credit, market and operational risk by providing an
aggregate view of Macquarie’s risk profile.
The economic capital model is used to support
business decision-making and has three main
applications:
— capital adequacy assessment
— risk appetite setting
— risk-adjusted performance measurement.
Capital adequacy assessment
Macquarie assesses capital adequacy for both
Macquarie Group and Macquarie Bank. In each case,
capital adequacy is assessed on a regulatory basis
and on an economic basis, with capital requirements
assessed as follows:
Economic

Regulatory

Macquarie Internal model,
Bank
covering just
exposures of the
Banking Group

Capital to cover
risk-weighted assets
and regulatory
deductions,
according to
APRA’s banking
prudential standards

Macquarie Internal model,
Group
covering all
exposures of
Macquarie Group

Bank regulatory
capital requirement
as above plus
economic capital
requirement of the
non-banking entities

Economic capital adequacy means an internal
assessment of capital adequacy, designed to ensure
Macquarie has sufficient capital to absorb potential
losses and provide creditors with the required degree
of protection.
Potential losses are quantified using the Economic
Capital Adequacy Model (ECAM). These potential
losses are compared to the capital resources available
to absorb loss, consisting of book equity and eligible
hybrid equity. Earnings are also available to absorb
losses, however only a fraction of potential earnings
is recognised as a buffer against losses.
The ECAM quantifies the following types of risk:
— equity risk
— credit risk
— operational risk
— traded market risk.
The ECAM also covers insurance underwriting risk,
non-traded interest rate risk and the risk on assets held
as part of business operations, e.g. fixed assets,
goodwill, intangible assets, capitalised expenses and
certain minority stakes in associated companies or
stakes in joint ventures.
The regulatory capital requirement of Macquarie’s
non-banking entities as agreed with APRA is
determined by the ECAM, as noted in the preceding
table. Macquarie’s regulatory capital position as at
31 March 2011 is set out below.
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Macquarie is currently well capitalised – a substantial
regulatory capital surplus exists. An element of this
surplus is set aside as a buffer against volatility in the
drivers of capital adequacy. The remaining capital
surplus is available to support growth and provide
strategic flexibility.
In order to reduce volatility in Macquarie’s capital
adequacy, Macquarie actively manages the sensitivity
of its capital position to foreign currency movements.
This is achieved by leaving specific investments in core
foreign operations exposed to foreign currency
translation movements. The resultant change in the
Australian dollar value of the foreign investment is
captured in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve,
a component of regulatory capital. This offsets the
corresponding movement in the capital requirements
of these investments.
The Tier 1 and total capital ratios for the Banking
Group as at 31 March 2011 were 10.7 per cent and
12.4 per cent respectively.
The capital adequacy results are reported to the Board
and senior management on a regular basis, together
with projections of capital adequacy under a range of
scenarios.
Risk appetite setting
Risk appetite is the nature and amount of risk that
the Group is willing to accept. At Macquarie, this is
expressed through the Board approved: 1. aggregate
and specific risk limits; 2. relevant policies; and
3. requirement to consider risk adjusted returns.
The Board reviews Macquarie’s risk appetite and
approves the Global Risk Limit as part of the annual
corporate strategy review process.

1 Limits
These consist of specific risk limits given to various
businesses and products or industry sectors and also
a Global Risk Limit which constrains Macquarie’s
aggregate level of risk. The Global Risk Limit is set to
protect earnings and ensure we emerge from a severe
downturn with sufficient capital to operate. The Risk
Appetite Test, which is discussed below, measures
usage against this limit.
In accordance with Macquarie’s ‘no limits, no dealing’
approach, individual credit and equity exposures must
also fit within approved counterparty limits. Market risk
exposures are governed by a suite of individual and
portfolio limits.

2

Relevant policies

There are numerous Macquarie-wide policies which
set out the principles that govern the acceptance and
management of risks. A key policy is the New Product
and Business Approval policy which ensures that the
proposed transaction or operation can be managed
properly and will not create unknown or unwanted
risks for Macquarie in the future.

3

Requirement to consider risk-adjusted returns

At Macquarie, proposals for all significant new deals,
products and businesses must contain an analysis of
risk-adjusted returns. These returns are considered
together with other relevant factors by RMG, the
Executive Committee and Board in assessing these
proposals. Achieving an appropriate return for the
additional risk that is proposed is a key focus in
deciding whether to accept the risk.
The Risk Appetite Test – an aggregate stress test
The key tool that the Board uses to quantify aggregate
risk appetite is the Risk Appetite Test. This is a
Macquarie-wide stress test which considers losses
and earnings under a severe economic downturn
scenario.
The Risk Appetite Test asserts that potential losses
must be less than the Global Risk Limit which
comprises underlying earnings that Macquarie can
achieve in a three year downturn (downturn forward
earnings capacity) plus surplus regulatory capital.

The Risk Appetite Test assumes:
¥ a drop in earnings more severe than what
was experienced during the global financial
crisis
¥ potential losses more severe than what was
experienced during the global financial
crisis.

Downturn forward earnings capacity is estimated by
the Operating Groups and divisions with reference to
a three year downturn scenario provided to them
by RMG.
Aggregate risk can be therefore broken down into two
categories:
— Business risk: meaning decline in earnings through
deterioration in volumes and margins due to market
conditions
— Potential losses: including potential credit losses,
write-downs of equity investments, operational risk
losses and losses on trading positions.
Business risk is captured by the difference in base
case and downturn forward earnings estimates.
Potential losses are quantified using a version of the
economic capital model.
A principal use of the Risk Appetite Test is in setting
the Equity Risk Limit (ERL). This limit constrains
Macquarie’s aggregate level of risk arising from
principal equity positions, managed fund holdings,
property equity investments, lease residuals and other
equity investments. Any changes to the ERL are sized
to ensure that even under full utilisation of this limit,
and allowing for growth in other risk types, the
requirements of the Risk Appetite Test will be met.
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Risk-adjusted performance measurement

Liquidity policy and principles

As well as measuring risk-adjusted returns for deals
as noted previously, risk-adjusted performance metrics
for each division are prepared on a regular basis and
distributed to Operations Review Committee, the
Board and the divisions. Risk-adjusted performance
metrics for each division are a significant input into
performance based remuneration.

MGL provides funding predominantly to the NonBanking Group. As such, the MGL liquidity policy
outlines the liquidity requirements for the Non-Banking
Group. The key requirement of the policy is that
MGL is able to meet all of its liquidity obligations on
a daily basis and during a period of liquidity stress: a
12 month period with no access to funding markets
and with only a limited impact on franchise businesses.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity management
The two primary external funding vehicles for
Macquarie are Macquarie Group Limited (MGL) and
Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL). MGL provides funding
principally to the Non-Banking Group and limited
funding to some MBL subsidiaries. MBL provides
funding to the Banking Group and provides an intragroup loan to MGL.
The high level funding relationships of Macquarie are
shown below.
Macquarie’s liquidity risk management framework
ensures that both MGL and MBL are able to meet their
funding requirements as they fall due under a range of
market conditions.

Reflecting the longer term nature of the Non-Banking
Group asset profile, MGL is funded predominantly with
a mixture of capital and long-term wholesale funding.
MGL has no short-term wholesale funding.
The MBL liquidity policy outlines the liquidity
requirements for the Banking Group. The key
requirement of the policy is that MBL is able to meet
all of its liquidity obligations on a daily basis and during
a period of liquidity stress: a 12 month period of
constrained access to funding markets and with only
a limited impact on franchise businesses.
MBL is funded mainly by capital, long-term liabilities
and deposits.

Liquidity management is performed centrally by Group
Treasury, with oversight from the Asset and Liability
Committee and RMG. MGL and MBL liquidity policies
are approved by the respective Boards after
endorsement by the Asset and Liability Committee.
The Asset and Liability Committee includes the
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, the
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Treasurer
and Operating Group Heads.
RMG provides independent prudential oversight of
liquidity risk management, including the independent
validation of liquidity scenario assumptions, liquidity
policies, and the required funding maturity profile.
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The liquidity management principles apply to both MGL
and MBL and include the following:

Liquidity and funding management
— all liquidity requirements are managed centrally by
Group Treasury
— liquidity risk is managed through setting limits on
the maturity profile of assets and liabilities
— a Liquidity Contingency Plan is approved by the
Board and reviewed periodically
— a funding strategy is prepared annually
— internal pricing incorporates liquidity costs, benefits
and risks to align risk-taking activities with liquidity
risk exposures
— diversity and stability of funding sources is a key
priority
— liquidity limits
— term assets must be funded by term liabilities
— cash and liquid assets are sufficient to cover a
12 month stress scenario
— cash and liquid assets held to meet stress
scenarios must be unencumbered, high quality
liquid assets and cash
— short-term assets exceed short-term wholesale
liabilities.
Scenario analysis
Scenario analysis is central to Macquarie's liquidity risk
management framework. Group Treasury models a
number of liquidity scenarios covering both marketwide crises and firm-specific crises. The objective of
this modelling is to ensure MGL and MBL’s ability to
meet all repayment obligations under each scenario
and determine the capacity for asset growth. The
modelling includes 12 month liquidity scenarios
significantly more severe than the conditions that have
been experienced since August 2007.
Scenarios are run over a number of timeframes and
a range of conservative assumptions are used with
regard to access to capital markets, deposit outflows,
contingent funding requirements and asset sales.
Liquid asset holdings
Group Treasury maintains a portfolio of highly liquid
unencumbered assets in both MGL and MBL to
ensure adequate liquidity is available in all funding
environments, including worst case conditions. The
minimum liquid asset requirement is calculated from
scenario projections and also complies with regulatory
minimum requirements.
To determine the minimum level of liquid assets,
reference is made to the expected minimum cash
requirement during a combined market-wide and firmspecific crisis scenario over a 12 month timeframe.
This scenario assumes no access to new funding
sources, a significant loss of deposits and contingent

funding outflows resulting from undrawn commitments,
market moves on derivatives and other margined
positions. The size of the liquid asset portfolio must
always exceed the minimum cash requirement as
calculated in this model.
The liquid asset portfolio contains only unencumbered
assets that can be relied on to maintain their liquidity in
a crisis scenario. At least 90 per cent of the liquid
assets portfolio held to meet the minimum liquid asset
requirement must be repo eligible with a central bank.
The remaining 10 per cent must be approved by
Group Treasury and RMG before inclusion in the liquid
asset portfolio. As at 31 March 2011, 98 per cent of
the liquid asset portfolio was eligible for repurchase
with central banks.
The liquid asset portfolio typically includes
unencumbered cash and central bank repo eligible
Government, Semi-Government, Supranational,
government guaranteed bank and unguaranteed bank
securities and AAA rated Australian residential
mortgage backed securities. In addition, the portfolio
includes other very short dated, high quality liquid
assets such as A-1+ rated Australian residential
mortgage backed commercial paper.
The liquid asset portfolio is largely denominated and
held in Australian dollars and to a lesser extent in
US dollars or other currencies where appropriate.
Liquidity contingency plan
Group Treasury maintains a liquidity contingency plan.
The liquidity contingency plan applies to the entire
Macquarie Group and defines roles and responsibilities
and actions to be taken in a liquidity event. This
includes identification of key information requirements
and appropriate communication plans with both
internal and external parties.
Specifically, the plan details factors that may constitute
a crisis, the officer responsible for enacting the
contingency management, a committee of senior
executives who would be responsible for managing a
crisis, the information required to effectively manage a
crisis, a public relations strategy, a high level check list
of actions to be taken, and contact lists to facilitate
prompt communication with all key internal and
external stakeholders. The liquidity contingency plan is
subject to regular review (at least annually) by both
Group Treasury and RMG and is submitted to the
Board for approval.
Funding transfer pricing
An internal funding transfer pricing framework is in
place which aims to align businesses with the overall
funding strategy of Macquarie. Under this framework
the costs of long- and short-term funding are charged
out, and credits are made to divisions that provide
long-term stable funding.
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Regulatory and compliance risk

Reputation risk

Macquarie actively manages regulatory and
compliance risks to its businesses globally, including
the risk of breaches of applicable laws, regulations,
rules, statements and regulatory policy.

All activities have embedded elements of reputation
risk. Managing reputation risk is an essential role of
senior management as it has the potential to impact
both earnings and access to capital. Macquarie seeks
to manage and minimise reputation risk through its
corporate governance structure and risk management
framework.

Regulatory and compliance risk are assessed from a
Macquarie-wide perspective to ensure regulatory and
compliance risks are identified and appropriate
standards are applied consistently to manage these
risks. The development of new businesses and
regulatory changes, domestically and internationally,
are key areas of focus within this role.
During the year, Macquarie Compliance was formed,
combining business-aligned compliance staff with
RMG Compliance staff. Previously, RMG acted in a
risk oversight role of the business compliance function.
All compliance teams now have direct reporting lines
into RMG.
Legal risk
Legal risk includes the risk that:
— transactions are not capable of being enforced
as expected
— business does not adequately understand the legal
and regulatory framework in which it operates, and
— the organisation may be found to be responsible
for a claim based on a breach of contract, law
or regulation.
Legal risk is managed through identification and
assessment of legal risk, and by minimising or
mitigating legal risk as far as reasonably practical.
Responsibility for legal risk lies with Macquarie’s
businesses in conjunction with Group Legal. The
head of Group Legal is the General Counsel who
is a member of Macquarie’s Operational Review
Committee and who reports directly to the Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer. The General
Counsel has access to the Board and any Board
committees. Each Macquarie Operating Group has
a General Counsel who reports directly to the Group
Legal General Counsel and to the relevant Operating
Group Head.

Macquarie operates under a strong corporate
governance structure consistent with the regulatory
requirements of various regulators including the
Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC)
and APRA. Goals and Values incorporating a clear
code of ethics are communicated to all staff and
Integrity Officers are in place to deal with potential
issues of integrity.
Operating Groups take ownership of risk, including
reputation risk. In addition, a robust, independent risk
management framework incorporates active
management and monitoring of risks arising within
Macquarie. The implementation of this framework by
RMG is a major mitigant to reputation risk.
The various policies, procedures and practices in place
aim to minimise reputation risk and regular reporting to
the Operation Review Committees and Boards
includes detail on reputation risk issues as appropriate.
The direct financial losses arising from reputation risk
(such as breach of mandates and regulatory fines) are
taken into account in the operational risk capital model.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit provides independent assurance to
senior management and the Board on the adequacy
and effectiveness of Macquarie’s risk management
framework. Internal Audit forms an independent and
objective assessment as to whether: risks have been
adequately identified; adequate internal controls are in
place to manage those risks; and those controls are
working effectively. Internal Audit is independent of
both business management and the activities it reviews.
The Head of Internal Audit is jointly accountable to the
BAC and the Chief Risk Officer; has free access at all
times to the BAC; and cannot be removed or replaced
without the approval of the BAC.
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Basel II
Macquarie Bank is accredited under the Foundation
Internal Ratings Based Approach (FIRB) for credit risk,
the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) for
operational risk, the internal model approach for
market risk1 and the internal model approach for
interest rate risk in the banking book.
These advanced approaches place a higher reliance
on a bank’s internal capital measures and therefore
require a more sophisticated level of risk management
and risk measurement practices.
1

Standard approach applied for specific risk on debt
securities.

Regulatory developments
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision released
the final text of the Basel III framework in December
2010. Basel III sets out revised capital rules, a new
liquidity framework, a minimum leverage ratio and two
new capital ‘buffers’ that oblige banks to hold
additional capital on top of the minimum capital ratios.
There are also significant regulatory changes in other
markets in which we operate. In the US the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act (Dodd-Frank) will result in significant changes to
the banking and financial markets in the US. Macquarie
does not have a banking presence in the US as
operations are conducted through non-banking
subsidiaries. The Dodd-Frank banking provisions
therefore do not apply to Macquarie. However,
Macquarie will be required to comply with Dodd-Frank
regulations relating to the reporting and central clearing
of swaps.
RMG is responsible for coordinating Macquarie’s
evaluation and response to both current and
forthcoming developments and provides updates to
the Board on a monthly basis.
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In accordance with a resolution of the Voting Directors
(the Directors) of Macquarie Group Limited (Macquarie,
MGL, Company), the Directors submit herewith the
income statements and statements of cash flows for
the year ended 31 March 2011 and the statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2011 of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the Consolidated Entity) at the end
of, and during, the financial year ended on that date
and report as follows:
Directors
At the date of this report, the Directors of Macquarie
are:
Independent Directors
H.K. McCann, AM, Chairman1
M.J. Hawker, AM
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone, AO
J.R. Niland, AC
H.M. Nugent, AO
P.H. Warne
Executive Director
N.W. Moore, Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer
1

Appointed as Chairman on 17 March 2011.

The Directors listed above each held office as a
Director of Macquarie throughout the financial year
ended 31 March 2011. Those Directors listed as
Independent Directors have been independent
throughout the period of their appointment.
Mr D.S. Clarke was the Non-Executive Chairman from
the beginning of the financial year until his resignation
which was effective on 17 March 2011.
Details of the qualifications, experience and special
responsibilities of the Directors and qualifications and
experience of the Company Secretaries at the date of
this report are set out in Schedule 1 at the end of this
report.
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Directors’ meetings
The number of meetings of the Board of Directors (the Board) and meetings of Committees of the Board, and the
number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of Macquarie during the financial year is summarised in the tables
below:
Board meetings
Monthly Board meetings
12
Eligible
to attend
Attended
11
11
12
11
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
11
12
12
12
12
12
12

D.S. Clarke1
H.K. McCann
N.W. Moore
M.J. Hawker
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne
1

Special Board meetings
3
Eligible
to attend
Attended
3
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

Mr Clarke ceased to be a Director on 17 March 2011.

Board Committee meetings
Board
Corporate
Governance
Committee
meetings
5

Board
Audit
Committee
meetings
7
Eligible
to
attend Attended

D.S. Clarke1
H.K. McCann
N.W. Moore
M.J. Hawker
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne
W.R. Sheppard2
1
2

–
7
–
–
7
7
–
–
7
–

–
5
–
–
7
7
–
–
7
–

Board
Nominating
Committee
meetings
3

Eligible
to
attend Attended

–
5
–
–
5
5
5
–
5
–

Board
Remuneration
Committee
meetings
12

Eligible
to
attend Attended

–
4
–
–
5
5
5
–
5
–

3
–
–
–
–
3
–
3
–
–

3
–
–
–
–
3
–
3
–
–

Eligible
to
attend Attended

11
–
–
–
–
–
12
12
12
–

7
–
–
–
–
–
12
12
12
–

Board
Risk
Committee
meetings
4
Eligible
to
attend Attended

3
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4

3
4
4
4
4
3
4
4
4
4

Mr Clarke ceased to be a Director on 17 March 2011.
Mr Sheppard is not a Voting Director of Macquarie Group Limited.
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Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company during the financial
year ended 31 March 2011 was to act as a non-operating
holding company (NOHC) for the Consolidated Entity. The
activities of the Consolidated Entity were those of a
financial services provider of banking, financial, advisory,
investment and funds management services. In the
opinion of the Voting Directors, there were no significant
changes to the principal activities of the Consolidated
Entity during the financial year under review not otherwise
disclosed in this report.
Result
The financial report for the financial years ended 31 March
2011 and 31 March 2010, and the results herein, have
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards.
The consolidated profit after income tax attributable to
ordinary owners for the financial year ended 31 March
2011 was $A956 million (2010: $A1,050 million).
Dividends and distributions
Subsequent to year end, the Directors have announced a
final ordinary dividend of $A1.00 per share unfranked, in
relation to the financial year ended 31 March 2011.
The final ordinary dividend is payable on 4 July 2011.
On 15 December 2010, MGL paid an interim ordinary
dividend of $A0.86 per share unfranked ($A296 million in
aggregate) in respect of the financial year ended 31 March
2011.
On 2 July 2010, MGL paid the final dividend of $A1.00 per
share unfranked ($A344 million in aggregate) in respect of
the financial year ended 31 March 2010.
No other ordinary dividends or distributions were declared
or paid during the financial year.
State of affairs
There were no other significant changes in the state of the
affairs of the Consolidated Entity that occurred during the
financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in this
report.
Review of operations and financial result
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
$A956 million for the year ended 31 March 2011
decreased nine per cent from $A1,050 million in the
prior year. Net profit for the second half of the year of
$A553 million increased 37 per cent from $A403 million
in the six months to 30 September 2010. Recently
acquired businesses, including Sal. Oppenheim,
Macquarie Private Wealth Canada and Delaware
Investments, contributed to increases in both
operating income and operating expenses.

Net operating income of $A7,644 million for the year
ended 31 March 2011 increased 15 per cent from
$A6,638 million in the prior year. The main drivers of this
increase were:
—

an 18 per cent increase in net interest income to
$A1,275 million for the year ended 31 March 2011
from $A1,080 million in the prior year driven by an
increase in corporate lending volumes, recent
acquisitions of leasing portfolios and improved
margins
— equity accounted income from investments in
associates and joint ventures of $A179 million for the
year ended 31 March 2011, up from a net loss of
$A230 million in the prior year driven by an
improvement in the underlying results of investments.
In addition, the prior year included equity accounted
losses of $A82 million relating to fees paid by MAp
Group, Southern Cross Media Group and Macquarie
Infrastructure Group to terminate management
agreements with Macquarie, and
— a 21 per cent increase in other operating income to
$A931 million for the year ended 31 March 2011 from
$A768 million in the prior year driven by a 76 per cent
increase in net operating lease income from
$A138 million in the prior year to $A243 million for
the year ended 31 March 2011 and a significant
increase in dividends/distributions received/receivable
on investment securities available for sale from
$A22 million in the prior year to $A126 million for
the year ended 31 March 2011. In addition, there was
a significant reduction in write-downs and impairment
charges from an expense of $A686 million for the
prior year to a net expense of $A258 million for the
year ended 31 March 2011.
Total operating expenses of $A6,373 million for the year
ended 31 March 2011 increased 19 per cent from
$A5,344 million in the prior year. The increase was largely
driven by:
—

a 25 per cent increase in employment expenses to
$A3,890 million for the year ended 31 March 2011
from $A3,101 million in the prior year, which was due
to the full year impact of acquisitions that contributed
to a 17 per cent increase in average headcount. The
increase in employment expenses resulted in a
compensation ratio of 47.3 per cent for the year
ended 31 March 2011, up from 42.9 per cent in the
prior year, and
— a 22 per cent increase in brokerage and commission
expenses to $A785 million from $A645 million in the
prior year mainly due to the full year contribution of
Delaware Investments.
Income tax expense for the year ended 31 March 2011 of
$A282 million increased 40 per cent from $A201 million in
the prior year mainly as a result of reduced levels of writedowns and impairment charges. The effective tax rate of
22.8 per cent for the year ended 31 March 2011 increased
from 16.1 per cent in the prior year.
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Review of financial position
The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk management
framework operated effectively throughout the year
ensuring funding requirements were met and sufficient
liquidity was maintained. Cash and liquid assets increased
from $A22 billion at 31 March 2010 to $A26 billion at
31 March 2011. Cash and liquid asset holdings represent
approximately 30 per cent of the Consolidated Entity’s net
funded assets.
As an Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA)
authorised and regulated NOHC, MGL is required to hold
adequate regulatory capital to cover the risks for the whole
Macquarie Group, including the Non-Banking Group.
Macquarie and APRA have agreed a capital adequacy
framework for MGL, based on Macquarie’s Boardapproved Economic Capital Adequacy Model (ECAM) and
APRA’s capital standards for ADIs.
MGL’s capital adequacy framework requires it to maintain
minimum regulatory capital requirements calculated as the
sum of the dollar value of:
—

The Banking Group’s minimum Tier 1 capital
requirement, based on a percentage of risk-weighted
assets plus Tier 1 deductions (using prevailing APRA
ADI Prudential Standards); and
— The Non-Banking Group capital requirement,
calculated using Macquarie’s ECAM.
The Consolidated Entity has satisfied its externally
imposed capital requirements throughout the year. At
31 March 2011, the Macquarie Banking Group had a
Tier 1 Capital Ratio of 10.7 per cent and a Total Capital
Ratio of 12.4 per cent. The Consolidated Entity remains
well capitalised with $A3.0 billion of eligible capital in
excess of the minimum regulatory capital requirements.
Events subsequent to balance date
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of
any matter or circumstance which has arisen that has
significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity
in the financial years subsequent to 31 March 2011 not
otherwise disclosed in this report.

Likely developments in operations and expected
outcomes
Continuing market uncertainty makes forecasting difficult.
The net profit contributions for Macquarie Securities,
Macquarie Capital, Fixed Income, Currencies and
Commodities and Corporate and Asset Finance for the
year ending 31 March 2012 are currently expected to be
up on the prior year. The net profit contributions for
Macquarie Funds and Banking and Financial Services for
the year ending 31 March 2012 are currently expected to
be broadly in line with the prior year.
The full year 2012 result for each operating group will vary
with market conditions, in particular for Macquarie Capital
and Macquarie Securities which are assuming better
market conditions. Movements in foreign exchange rates
will impact the contribution of each group.
The Group’s compensation ratio and effective tax rate are
expected to be consistent with historical levels. The
continued higher cost of funding is likely to reflect market
conditions and high liquidity levels.
Consequently, it is currently expected that the result for
the Macquarie Group for the year ending 31 March 2012
will be an improvement on the prior year. However, the
final result will be dependent upon market conditions,
particularly for Macquarie Capital and Macquarie Securities
which are assuming better market conditions. The full year
2012 result also remains subject to a range of other
challenges including increased competition across all
markets, the cost of a continued conservative approach to
funding and capital, and regulation, including the potential
for regulatory change.
Over the medium term, Macquarie’s businesses are
increasingly well positioned to benefit from future growth
due to its deep expertise in major markets, growing global
market share, strength in diversity, a balance sheet
positioned for growth and an effective risk management
culture.
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Executive summary
Through its remuneration approach, Macquarie’s
objective is to drive superior shareholder returns over
the long term, while managing risk in a prudent fashion.
Its aim is to do this by aligning the interests of staff and
shareholders, while attracting, motivating and retaining
high quality people. The consistency of this approach
has served shareholders well over the longer term.
The Board considers that, with incremental change,
it continues to be the appropriate approach.
Nonetheless, over the past year, Macquarie has faced
some remuneration challenges. Regulators in Australia
and some overseas jurisdictions have focused on
remuneration, causing adjustments to the structure
of remuneration. At the same time, competition for staff
has intensified. Some peers have sought to rebuild their
business after the Global Financial Crisis. Other firms
are not constrained by regulator pay guidelines and are
able to offer attractive remuneration packages to target
staff.
Macquarie has sought to address these twin and
conflicting challenges by making further incremental
changes to its remuneration structure within its broad
overarching remuneration approach. In so doing, the
focus continues to be on aligning the interests of
shareholders and staff, while attracting and retaining
our most valuable asset, namely our staff.
–
For some staff, more profit share is being deferred
and delivered in Macquarie equity, with less profit
share being delivered as cash.
–
‘Malus’1 is to be introduced for some staff for
FY2012 in line with regulatory requirements. Such
an approach is consistent with Macquarie’s existing
ability to ‘clawback’ deferred profit share from those
staff who leave and breach specific guidelines.
–
For some staff, to meet regulatory guidance and
market practice, a shift has occurred in the mix
between fixed and variable remuneration. Such
shifts are most notable in risk and finance staff, as
well as in the structure of senior executive
remuneration.
Notwithstanding these shifts to increased fixed
remuneration, the proportion and level of fixed
remuneration for senior staff remain relatively low
compared to comparable roles in other Australian
corporations. The Board of Directors considers this
is appropriate because it encourages a performance
orientation. In 2011, fixed remuneration for Macquarie’s
twelve Executive Committee members comprised, on
average, 12 per cent of current year total remuneration.
The balance of their remuneration remains at risk.

1

Macquarie remains committed to a performancebased approach to remuneration that is aligned with
shareholders’ interests. This is evidenced by the way
the profit share pool is created using the twin measures
of net profit after tax (NPAT) and return on equity (ROE),
measures which are known to be drivers of returns to
shareholders. For a given level of capital employed,
total profit share rises or falls with NPAT. Macquarie’s
total profit share pool increases with performance
and no maximum ceiling is imposed. This aligns
shareholder and staff interests and provides the
strongest incentive to staff to continuously strive to
maximise long-term profitability.
Performance-based profit share is allocated to
Macquarie’s businesses and, in turn, to individuals
based on performance. Performance is primarily
assessed based on relative contribution to profits
while taking into account capital usage and risk
management. This results in businesses and individuals
being motivated to increase earnings and to use
shareholder funds efficiently, consistent with prudent
risk-taking. In addition, other qualitative measures are
used to assess individual performance. For the
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
of Macquarie Group and the Managing Director and
CEO of Macquarie Bank, the Non-Executive Directors
annually and specifically assess each Managing
Director’s performance by considering a range of
indicators, including risk management, governance
and compliance, financial performance measures,
strategic initiatives, staff and human resources
indicators, reputation management and monitoring,
community and social responsibility matters and
efforts in respect of diversity. The approach adopted
motivates staff to work co-operatively given that their
profit share will reflect Macquarie’s overall performance,
the relative performance of their business and their
individual contribution.
The Board and management also seek to ensure that
remuneration for staff whose primary role is risk and
financial control, including the Chief Risk Officer (CRO)
and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), preserves the
independence of the function and maintains
Macquarie’s robust risk management framework.
Profit share is delivered in ways that encourage a
longer-term perspective and ensures alignment with
shareholders’ longer-term interests and staff retention.
In turn, this encourages staff to maximise profit without
exposing Macquarie to risk or behaviours that
jeopardise long-term profitability or reputation.

Malus is an ex-post risk adjustment to deferred unvested
remuneration.
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For 2011, 70 per cent of the Managing Director and
CEO’s annual gross profit share allocation is retained,
up from 55 per cent in 2010. For Executive Committee
members and Designated Executive Directors1,
between 50 and 70 per cent of their profit share is
retained; whereas retained profit share for other
Executive Directors is between 40 and 70 per cent.
The 70 per cent upper limit represents an increased
deferral from prior years, reflecting market conditions.
After Performance Share Units (PSUs) are taken into
account, the effective deferral rate for the Managing
Director and CEO is 76 per cent and between 61 and
76 per cent for Executive Committee members. In
addition, retention rates for staff below Executive
Director have also been increased, dependent on
certain thresholds.
Retained profit share for the Managing Director and
CEO, other Executive Committee members and
Designated Executive Directors is released on a prorata basis between years three and seven. In the case
of other Executive Directors, it is released on a pro-rata
basis between years three and five. Retained amounts
are invested in a combination of Macquarie ordinary
shares and notionally in Macquarie-managed fund
equity dependent on an individual executive’s
responsibilities. Such an approach also strengthens
alignment with Macquarie shareholders and security
holders in Macquarie-managed funds.
All Executive Directors are subject to a minimum
shareholding requirement which is satisfied through
the delivery of equity under the current remuneration
arrangements.
PSUs, which are only allocated to the Managing
Director and CEO and Executive Committee members,
vest in three tranches after two, three and four years,
but only if challenging performance hurdles are met.
Macquarie prohibits staff from hedging any of the
following types of securities:
–
shares held to satisfy the minimum shareholding
requirement
–
shares to be delivered under the equity plan, the
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan
(MEREP), including PSUs
–
shares held under the Executive Committee Share
Acquisition Plan
–
unvested options.

In accordance with the 2009 shareholder approval,
a departing Executive Director’s unvested retained
profit share is only paid out in the case of genuine
retirement, redundancy or in certain other limited
exceptional circumstances, and is forfeited in stages if
a ‘disqualifying event’ occurs within two years of leaving.
For example, the payment of a departing Executive
Director’s retained profit share will be subject to
forfeiture if it is found that the individual has acted in a
way that damages Macquarie, including but not limited
to action or inaction that leads to a material financial
restatement, a significant financial loss or any significant
reputational harm to Macquarie or its businesses.
From 2012, the Board will have discretion to reduce
or eliminate unvested profit share amounts ‘Malus’
where it determines that an employee’s action or
inaction has caused Macquarie significant reputational
harm, a significant unexpected financial loss or a
material financial restatement. This will apply to the
Executive Committee, Designated Executive Directors,
Code Staff under the FSA Remuneration Code,
senior risk and financial control staff and any other
staff as determined by the Board Remuneration
Committee (BRC).
The remuneration approach is managed via strong
governance structures and processes. Conflicts
of interest are managed proactively and assiduously.
The BRC makes recommendations to the NonExecutive Directors of the Board on key decisions.
Non-Executive Director fees are set in line with
market rates for relevant Australian financial
organisations and reflect the time commitment and
responsibilities involved within the shareholder
approved aggregate limit.
This overall approach to remuneration has over
the long haul, contributed to creating value for
shareholders.

Executives can only trade Macquarie ordinary shares
during designated trading windows.

1

Executive Directors who are members of Operations Review
Committee and others who have a significant management
or risk responsibility in the organisation.
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Introduction
Through its remuneration strategy, Macquarie aims to generate superior shareholder value over the long term and
to reward staff in line with the outcomes they achieve. This broad strategy has been in place since the inception of
Macquarie, evolving over time to ensure the system continues to meet its overriding objectives.
The Board of Directors (the Board) oversees Macquarie’s remuneration arrangements, including executive remuneration
and the remuneration of Non-Executive Voting Directors. The Board and the Board Remuneration Committee (BRC)
annually review the remuneration strategy to encourage the best possible outcomes for Macquarie and its shareholders
over the medium to longer term. Following this year’s review, the Board’s view is that:
While Macquarie’s underlying remuneration principles remain unchanged, Macquarie is continuing to enhance
its remuneration arrangements to even more strongly align staff and shareholders’ interests and to remain in
line with or ahead of market practice.
1 Macquarie’s remuneration framework remains sound and is continuing to deliver against objectives.
2 However, some remuneration-related challenges need to be addressed.
3 Therefore, Macquarie is enhancing its remuneration arrangements while ensuring its overall remuneration approach
remains in place.
These points are discussed in detail in sections one to three of this Remuneration Report.
This Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the Act). The Report
contains disclosures as required by Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures as permitted by
Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03.
Financial information is used extensively in this Report. Some long-term trend information is presented, although
accounting standards and practices have changed over time. In particular, throughout this Report:
–
financial information for Macquarie relating to the years ended 31 March 2006 through to 31 March 2011 has been
presented in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards
ensures compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). Consequently, this financial information has also been prepared in accordance with and
complies with IFRS as issued by the IASB
–
financial information for Macquarie relating to the year ended 31 March 2005 has been restated to comply with
revised Australian Accounting Standards, with the exception of AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which became effective from 1 April 2005
–
financial information for Macquarie relating to earlier periods has not been restated, and is, therefore, presented in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards prevailing at the time.
1

Macquarie’s remuneration framework remains sound and is continuing to deliver against objectives

1.1

Macquarie’s remuneration framework has undergone incremental changes

The Board considers that Macquarie’s underlying remuneration framework is robust and has contributed to Macquarie’s
long-term success in growing earnings. That approach, and its consistency over time, has served shareholders well
during recent externally difficult times, as well as over the longer term. The Board considers that this continues to be the
appropriate approach.
The overarching objective of Macquarie’s remuneration framework is to drive superior shareholder returns over the long
term, while managing risk in a prudent fashion. This is delivered through two key drivers. The first is to attract and retain
high quality people by offering a competitive performance-driven remuneration package that encourages both long-term
commitment and superior performance. The second key driver is to use remuneration to align the interests of staff and
shareholders by motivating staff through its remuneration policies to increase Macquarie’s NPAT and sustain a high
relative ROE while managing risk.
The principles that underpin Macquarie’s remuneration framework are unchanged:
–
emphasising performance-based remuneration with an appropriate balance between short and longer-term incentives
having regard to risk (refer section 3.1)
–
linking rewards to create sustainable shareholder value through the use of shareholder return drivers, namely profitability
and returns in excess of the cost of capital (refer section 3.2)
–
using equity to create alignment with shareholder interests (refer section 3.3)
–
designing retention mechanisms to encourage a long-term perspective and hence alignment with shareholders (refer
section 3.3.1 to 3.3.7)
–
using consistent arrangements over time to ensure staff are confident that efforts over multiple years will be rewarded
(refer section 3.3)
–
ensuring arrangements are competitive on a global basis with Macquarie’s international peers (refer discussion in
section 2.2 in regards to the competitive environment).
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Key elements of the remuneration framework

1.2

Remuneration arrangements continue to play a critical role in delivering results for shareholders

Macquarie’s performance is broadly in line with last year reflecting market conditions which have not yet recovered to normal levels.
Nonetheless, as shown in the following table, long-term growth is strong although off the highs of some years ago.
Performance over past ten years FY2002–2011

Years ended 31 March
Income statement ($A million)
NPAT attributable to ordinary
owners
Basic earnings per share (cents per
share)
ROE
Return on average ordinary
shareholders’ funds (p.a.)
Total shareholder returns (TSR)
Dividend – Interim and Final (cents
per share)
Dividend – Special (cents per share)
Share price at 31 March ($A)
Annual TSR1 (%)
10 Year TSR (%)
1

FY11

FY10

FY09

FY08

FY07

FY06

FY05

FY04

FY03

FY02

10 year
growth
%

956

1,050

871

1,803

1,463

916

812

494

333

250

282

282.5

320.2

309.6

670.6

591.6

400.3

369.6

233.0

164.8

132.8

113

8.8

10.0

9.9

23.7

28.1

26.0

29.8

22.3

18.0

18.7

186
–
36.60
(19.0)

186
–
47.25
79.6

185
–
27.05
(44.1)

345
–
52.82
(33.6)

315
–
82.75
32.6

215
–
64.68
40.2

161
40
48.03
39.0

122
–
35.80
52.8

93
93
50
–
24.70 33.26
(23.1)
23.7

10
102

Throughout this Report, TSR represents the accumulated share price return when all cash dividends are reinvested at the ex-dividend date.
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1.2.1

Change in NPAT relative to peers

Relative performance has been reasonably
strong but under pressure

One of the measures used to compare relative
performance is NPAT. The analysis below shows
that over the past year, Macquarie has performed in
the middle of its international peers in respect of
NPAT over one year and above all but one peer over
a 10 year period.

2011 has been a challenging year with NPAT declining
by nine per cent. However, relative to peers, Macquarie
has performed reasonably well, both in the short and
longer run.
The analysis set out below demonstrates that
Macquarie has overall, performed well relative to its
peers on the following key indicators of performance:
–
NPAT compound annual growth rate (CAGR) over
the short term and the longer term
–
ROE over the short term and the longer term
–
TSR since listing
–
Compensation ratio over the past three years.
The same global investment banking peer group as last
year has been used throughout the Remuneration
Report. They are, in alphabetical order: Barclays,
Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs,
Jefferies, JP Morgan Chase, Lazard, Merrill Lynch
(a subsidiary of Bank of America), Morgan Stanley and
UBS. Peers are only excluded from the analysis below
where relevant information is not available. Applicable
peers are set out below under each piece of analysis.
The BRC considers these firms to be appropriate peers
on the basis that they broadly operate in the same
markets and compete for the same people as
Macquarie.
Nonetheless, comparisons are complicated for the
following reasons:
–
each peer has a different business mix. Some peers
are or have become parts of larger organisations,
often with large retail operations which can distort
comparisons
–
where peer information is published, comparative
information may not include a share of central
overhead costs such as support functions
–
remuneration delivered as deferred equity is
amortised over the vesting period of the equity.
Different deferral levels and different vesting periods,
therefore, result in different accounting results, even if
the underlying quantum of remuneration is the same
–
the level and detail of disclosure differs amongst
peers. Segment data is particularly relevant where
the investment banking segment is part of a larger
organisation
–
the compensation expense to income ratio
(compensation ratio) is a non-GAAP measure,
allowing peers to adopt different definitions of
‘income’ used in the calculation of the ratio. For
example, some peers report the compensation ratio
using ‘net revenue’ on a ‘pre-impairment’ basis,
whereas others include impairments in net revenue,
as does Macquarie.
Where appropriate, segment information has been used
as disclosed throughout the Report. Peer information is
presented in the same order throughout the Report.
The same charts are presented as in previous years.
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Peer relative Growth in NPAT: FY2001–2011

Macquarie
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
1

1 year
CAGR
%
(9)
(62)
(24)
(54)
(38)
(13)
48
234
(20)
249
375

10 year
CAGR1
%
15
4
(1)
(16)
11
16
12
N/A
(0)
(1)
(0)

CAGR over the most recent 10 years, except in cases
where 10 years of continuous data is not available for a peer,
in which case the longest time period for which continuous
data is available for that peer has been used.

Source: Peer underlying data from Bloomberg.

Peers are disclosed under the next chart.
NPAT 10 year compound annual growth rate
Macquarie versus international investment banking
peers

Peers comprise Barclays, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank,
Goldman Sachs, Jefferies, JP Morgan Chase, Lazard,
Merrill Lynch (Bank of America subsidiary), Morgan
Stanley and UBS. The compound 10 year annual
growth rate cannot be calculated where the peer
has not continuously reported results over 10 years,
i.e. Lazard.

ROE is historically low, reflecting uncertain market conditions as well as a conservative approach to capital
and funding
ROE is at an historically low level, reflecting uncertain market conditions as well as Macquarie’s approach over recent
years to maintain a conservative balance sheet. This has had adverse remuneration consequences because the cost of
equity capital has not been met and, therefore, no amount of excess profit over the cost of equity capital has accrued to
the profit share pool. However, Macquarie’s 10 year average ROE is higher than all of its peers, reflecting that it has
been generally less volatile than peers over the same period.
Peer ROE over 10 years 2001–20111
Macquarie versus international investment banking peers
ROE
1 year average
%
8.8
12.2
7.3
14.4
5.4
11.5

Macquarie
Average of Peers
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
Peer
1

3 year average
%
9.6
2.2
14.8
4.0
3.0
12.7
(7.5)
6.8
(2.1)
5.2
(17.2)

10.3
34.7
9.0
17.2

5 year average
%
16.1
9.0
17.9
11.2
9.4
20.3
2.0
9.3

10 year average
%
19.5
10.7
18.0
7.3
7.5
18.2
7.7
8.4

9.7
(7.5)

13.1
5.8

Peer ROE is included where this information is publicly available. Average of most recent 10 years, except in cases where
10 years of continuous data is not available for a peer, in which case the longest time period for which continuous data is
available for that peer has been used.

Peers comprise Barclays, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, Jefferies, JP Morgan Chase, Lazard,
Morgan Stanley and UBS.
Source: Peer underlying data from Bloomberg.

10 Year ROE
Macquarie versus international investment banking peers

Macquarie
%
40
30
20
10
0
-10
-20
-30
-60

FY01

FY02

FY03

FY04

FY05

FY06

FY07

FY08

FY09

FY10

FY11
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TSR compares favourably
Macquarie’s shareholder returns over the long term have been positive and significantly higher than international
investment banking peers.
Total shareholder return since July 1996
Macquarie Group Limited, international investment banking peers, other top performing ASX 50 companies

1

International investment banking peers comprise Barclays, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank, JP Morgan Chase, Morgan Stanley and
UBS. Peers which have been included in comparative analysis elsewhere in this Report but which have not been continuously
listed since Macquarie Bank Limited’s date of listing (29 July 1996) have been excluded from this chart, i.e. Goldman Sachs,
Jefferies and Lazard because they were not publicly listed on 29 July 1996.

Macquarie’s TSR since listing is currently ranked fifth of all companies that were in the ASX Top 50 at the time that
Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL) listed in July 1996, and is significantly higher than the TSRs of the international investment
banking peers over the same period.
Similarly, Macquarie’s shareholder returns continue to outperform the All Ordinaries Accumulation Index since listing.

Macquarie total shareholder return versus the All Ordinaries Accumulation Index
29 July 1996 to 31 March 2011

Note: Indexed to 100 on 29 July 1996.
The All Ordinaries Accumulation Index line in the above chart is based on the S&P/ASX 500 Accumulation Index from
31 March 2000. Prior to this, it was based on the All Ordinaries Accumulation Index. Macquarie TSR calculations here
and throughout this Report assume continuous listing. Hence, they are based on Macquarie Bank Limited (ASX code:
MBL) data up to and including 2 November 2007, the last day of trading of Macquarie Bank Limited shares, and
Macquarie Group Limited (ASX code: MQG) data from the commencement of trading Macquarie Group Limited shares
on 5 November 2007 onwards.
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Compensation expense to income ratio is in line
with peers

Compensation ratio: 2009–20111

One guideline used to evaluate overall remuneration levels
is the organisation’s compensation expense to income
ratio (compensation ratio). The compensation ratio is
widely used within the investment banking industry to
broadly review comparative remuneration levels. It is not,
however, the basis on which Macquarie’s profit share
pool is created.
Macquarie’s compensation ratio is compared with that
of a group of peers in the following chart. Information
has been provided for the past three years.
While the compensation ratio effectively adjusts for
differences in size between organisations, it is not an
entirely satisfactory measure to use in assessing
compensation levels because it does not take into
account factors such as:
– differences in the way that remuneration is delivered
(delivery vehicle, amount deferred, vesting timeframe).
Different deferral levels and different vesting periods
result in different accounting results, even if the
underlying quantum of remuneration is the same
– differences in the business mix between comparator
organisations
– performance differences between organisations,
1
Peers comprise Barclays Capital, Credit Suisse (Investment
including such factors as capital usage and quality
Banking segment), Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, Jefferies,
of earnings
JP Morgan Chase (Investment Banking segment), Lazard,
– variations in accounting practices used by comparator
Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley and UBS (Investment Banking
organisations. The compensation ratio is a non-GAAP
segment).
measure, allowing peers to adopt different definitions of
* Compensation ratios have been excluded where reported net
‘income’ used in the calculation of the ratio. For example,
revenue was negative
some peers report the compensation ratio using ‘net
Data has been calculated by Macquarie. The information
revenue’ on a ‘pre-impairment’ basis, whereas others
is based only on publicly available information for the peer
include impairments in net revenue, as does Macquarie
firms.
– differences in the level and detail of disclosure amongst
Macquarie’s analysis shows that its overall compensation
peers. Segment data is particularly relevant where
ratio is in line with its peers for FY2011.
the investment banking segment is part of a larger
organisation. Some peers are, or have become parts
of larger organisations, often with large retail operations
which can distort comparisons
– the extent of outsourcing activities
– differences in appetite for risk and assumptions made
in regards to risk.
The adoption of different definitions of ‘income’ by peers
in the calculation of the compensation ratio restricts the
comparability of peer compensation ratios. In order to
show more comparable compensation ratios, impairments
have been consistently netted against net revenue in the
revised calculations for some peers.
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Compensation is in line with performance
Macquarie has to balance its goal of attracting, motivating
and retaining people through remuneration against
ensuring staff are paid commensurate with Macquarie’s
overall performance. This aligns staff and shareholder
interests and ensures the generation of shareholder value
over the medium and long term.
The analysis below shows that total compensation levels
are higher relative to the prior year, largely reflecting the
increase in headcount. Average headcount grew from
13,136 to 15,325 over the 12 months to 31 March 2011,
and is up from 4,589 in FY2002. FY2011 reflects:
–
on a comparable basis, fixed compensation represents
a higher proportion of total remuneration expense for
FY2011 than for the previous year
–
the full year impact, for the first time, of acquisitions of
businesses and associated teams in the second half of
FY2010. Approximately 1,280 staff joined Macquarie
through acquisitions made in the second half of
FY2010, mainly in higher cost jurisdictions. In addition,
approximately another 200 staff joined Macquarie as a
result of acquisitions made during FY2011. Headcount,
and therefore compensation, has also increased as a
result of Macquarie’s ongoing organic growth. During
FY2011, approximately 350 new senior hires were
recruited specifically for the purpose of developing
organic growth opportunities. Through these strategic
initiatives Macquarie is building its businesses for the
future, with the benefit of their activities yet to be fully
realised in income
–
base remuneration increases to realign the pay mix for
risk and finance staff in order to meet regulatory
guidance and market practice. Consistent with the
theme of remuneration demonstrating greater risk
alignment, regulators have been seeking a more
balanced mix between fixed and variable remuneration.
Reflecting a structural shift in the market, Executive
Committee members have also had base remuneration
increases although this has been largely compensation
neutral through the adjustment of profit share. This
allows greater balance between fixed and variable
remuneration and is consistent with regulatory guidance
and market practice. By way of background, prior to
this year, the current Executive Committee members
have not had base remuneration increases since either
joining the Executive Committee or for up to 10 years.

Whilst in recent years, Executive Key Management
Personnel (Executive KMP) remuneration has moved broadly
in line with profitability, it is significantly down on the preglobal financial crisis years demonstrating that Macquarie’s
remuneration system is working.
The following factors should also be considered when
reviewing the analysis below:
–
In FY2009 to FY2011, the Non-Executive Directors of
the Board have exercised their discretion to change the
quantum of the profit share pool to reflect internal and
external factors where they have considered it to be in
the interests of Macquarie and shareholders to do so.
In doing this, the Board considered shareholders’
interests, the employment environment and staff
retention requirements. It is critical that Macquarie has
the flexibility to remain competitive in the global markets
in which it operates while having due regard to
shareholder interests over the short and medium term
–
In FY2011, three new members were appointed to
Macquarie’s Executive Committee, increasing total
Executive KMP to 12 as at 31 March 2011. In addition,
FY2011 included the full year impact of one Executive
KMP who joined Executive Committee part of the way
through FY2010. To reflect the impact of changes in
the number of KMP across years, the analysis below
represents Executive KMP who were in the Executive
Committee for the full year in both FY2010 and FY2011
–
Compensation expense includes notional earnings on
prior year restricted profit share allocations which are
held under the Pre and Post-2009 DPS Plans. These
notional earnings or losses reflect the investment
performance of the assets in which the prior year
retained DPS amounts have been invested. Their
inclusion in the compensation expense, particularly
for KMP disclosed in the Remuneration Disclosure in
Appendix 2 may, therefore, cause distortions when
year-on-year remuneration trends are examined.
Compensation for comparable Executive KMP
included a gain of $A2.0 million for FY2010 and a
gain of $A5.1 million for FY2011
–
Even though Macquarie has ceased offering options
in FY2009, the accounting expense in regards to
previously granted options continues to be recognised
evenly over the vesting period. For FY2011, Macquarie
recorded an options expense of $A44 million (FY2010
$A109 million). The majority of these options are
currently out of the money and are unlikely to vest.
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Comparison of performance measures and executive remuneration measures: FY2010 – 2011

2011

2010

Increase/
(Decrease)
%

$Am

956

1,050

(9)

cents per share

282.5

320.2

(12)

Performance measures
NPAT
Basic EPS

Executive remuneration measures
Total Compensation Expense1

$Am

Average Staff headcount
2

1

2

3,612

2,848

27

15,325

13,136

17

Remuneration – Comparable Executive KMP

$Am

43.0

42.5

1

Remuneration excluding earnings on restricted profit share –
Comparable Executive KMP

$Am

37.9

40.5

(6)

Total Employment expenses, which also include other employment expenses such as on-costs, training and staff procurement
were $A3,890m for FY2011 and $A3,101m for FY2010, an increase of 25 per cent over the year.
Represents remuneration for Executive KMP who were on the Executive Committee for the full year in both FY2010 and FY2011.

1.2.2

This depth of experience continues outside of the
Executive Committee. As at 31 March 2011, 27 per cent
of Director level staff have at least 10 years’ experience
with Macquarie, and a further 27 per cent have between
five and 10 years’ experience3 with Macquarie:

Staff retention is increasingly challenging

A key goal of Macquarie’s remuneration arrangements
is to attract, motivate and retain high quality people and
ensure they are focused on generating shareholder value
by remunerating them commensurate with their
performance and Macquarie’s overall performance. The
Board’s view is that currently, Macquarie is attracting and
retaining the people it needs to meet its business goals.
However, there is growing pressure on staff retention,
particularly in some businesses, in response to an even
more competitive market than last year. Overall voluntary
Director level turnover has increased from 10 per cent in
FY2010, to approximately 11 per cent in FY2011, which
is still considered a good result in the current competitive
market. However, turnover in parts of the Group are much
higher than levels seen in the past. This is a challenge that
the Board is addressing and is discussed further in
section 2.2.
Macquarie continues to have a highly experienced senior
management team. The average tenure of Macquarie’s
Executive Committee is over 18 years.
Tenure of Executive Committee members
Number of years at Macquarie

Directors’ tenure as at 31 March 2011

3

Directors in the above chart include all Director-level staff,
being Associate Directors, Division Directors and Executive
Directors. This measure includes accumulated service at
acquired companies, for example ING’s Asian Equities
business.
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2
However, some remuneration-related challenges need to be addressed
Following on from 2010, there has been a continued focus on executive remuneration both in Australia and across the world.
The following table demonstrates the extent of global regulation:
2.1

Continued focus on governance by Governments and regulators

Jurisdiction

Regulator

Details of Review

Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision

– Basel Committee on Banking Supervision issued the Consultative Document – Pillar 3 disclosure
requirements for remuneration in December 2010

Australia

Australian Government

– In April 2010, Australian Government issued its response to the Final Productivity Commission
Report on Executive Remuneration in Australia (released December 2009)
– An Exposure Draft and amended Exposure Draft of the Corporations Amendment (Improving
Accountability on Director and Executive Remuneration) Bill 2011 were released in December 2010
and February 2011 respectively
– Treasury Discussion Paper on Clawback of Director and Executive Remuneration in the Event of a
Material Misstatement was issued in December 2010

Australia

APRA

– Implementation of final APRA Prudential Standard APS 510 in April 2010

Australia

Corporations and Markets
Advisory Committee
(CAMAC)

– CAMAC published an Information Paper on Executive Remuneration – the structure and content
of executive remuneration arrangements and reporting on executive remuneration arrangements

European
Economic Area

European Parliament

– The European Parliament approved amendments to the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) in
relation to bankers’ remuneration (CRD III)

European
Economic Area

European Banking Authority – In October 2010, the CEBS published draft guidelines on Remuneration Policies and Practices
(formerly Committee for
regarding the remuneration aspects of the CRD III legislative resolution on the implementation of
European Banking
the Basel III agreement on solvency
Supervisors (CEBS)

United Kingdom

Financial Services
Authority (FSA)

– The FSA published the draft Remuneration Code in August 2010
– In December 2010, the FSA published the Final Remuneration Code (the Code) including
prescriptive remuneration and governance principles to implement the CRD III and CEBS guidelines
– In April 2011, the FSA published further guidance on the implementation of the Code

Switzerland

Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority

– Draft circular setting minimum standards on the design, implementation and disclosure of
remuneration systems in financial institutions

France

French Government

– Parts of the CRD III incorporated into French law and the Ministry of Finance Regulations

Germany

German Government
and BaFin

– New federal legislation implementing the remuneration provisions in CRD III through the German
Remuneration Code

United States

United States Government

– The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act was signed into law. Provisions
relate to executive compensation and corporate governance – say on executive pay, new
compensation committee requirements, clawback, additional compensation disclosures and
enhanced corporate governance
– The Special Master for Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP) Executive Compensation announced
the conclusion of his review of executive pay, making voluntary proposals recommended for wide
adoption
– In January 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) adopted final rules implementing
Section 951 of the Dodd-Frank Act, relating to shareholder approval and disclosure of executive
compensation and ‘golden parachute’ compensation arrangements

United States

Seven US federal regulatory – Draft rules were proposed to implement s956 of the Dodd-Frank Act (prohibits incentive-based
agencies including the SEC
compensation arrangements that encourage inappropriate risk taking by covered financial
institutions and are deemed to be excessive, or that may lead to material losses)

Global
Global –
Member states
Australia

EMEA

United States

Asia
Hong Kong

Hong Kong Monetary
Authority

– Principles-based guidance on remuneration and governance was announced which follows the
Financial Stability Board (FSB) Standards closely

Singapore

Monetary Authority of
Singapore

– Consultation paper was issued incorporating the FSB principles for sound compensation practices

China

China Banking Regulatory
Commission

– Supervisory guidelines on compensation of commercial banks was proposed which is largely
compliant with FSB principles

Korea

Financial Supervisory
Service

– Compensation and corporate governance guidelines were issued which are broadly in line with
FSB principles

Japan

Financial Services Agency

– Indications are that Japan will follow FSB principles
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2.2

Strong competition for talent

As noted in section 1.2.2, the competition for key individuals in certain businesses is intense and has increased since
2010, and for parts of the Group, turnover is much higher than levels seen in the past. This has been particularly evident
outside Australia where some firms are actively building out parts of their businesses, many of which are not constrained
by regulator pay guidelines and can therefore offer highly attractive remuneration packages. As a result, many staff and
teams have been aggressively headhunted. This is disruptive for teams and detracts from efforts to develop and grow
businesses.
The next section of the Remuneration Report discusses how Macquarie has enhanced its remuneration arrangements
while ensuring its overall remuneration approach remains in place.
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Therefore, Macquarie is enhancing its remuneration arrangements while ensuring its overall remuneration
approach remains in place

Macquarie has maintained a consistent approach to remuneration, focused on delivering long-term shareholder returns
by ensuring continued alignment of the interests of staff and shareholders.
Building on changes to Macquarie’s remuneration arrangements approved by shareholders in December 2009,
Macquarie has further enhanced its remuneration arrangements to reflect global regulatory trends and to remain
competitive, while at the same time further aligning the interests of staff and shareholders. The changes are as follows:
–
For this year, more profit share is being deferred and delivered in Macquarie equity, with less profit share being delivered
as cash, including for:
–
the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. 70 per cent of his annual profit share is retained in FY2011,
up from 55 per cent in FY2010. When Performance Share Units (PSUs) are taken into account, the Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer effectively has 76 per cent of his performance-based remuneration deferred
–
Executive Directors. A minimum of 40 per cent (50 per cent for Executive Committee members and Designated
Executive Directors) up to a maximum of 70 per cent of their annual profit share will be retained, a change from a
flat 40 per cent (50 per cent for Executive Committee members and Designated Executive Directors) in FY2010.
–
‘Malus’1 is to be introduced for FY2012 in line with regulatory requirements and to incentivise staff to maintain a long-term
focus
–
Pay mix shift / realignment for select risk and financial control staff has been undertaken to meet regulatory guidance and
market practice.
Full details of Macquarie’s remuneration arrangements, including the above changes, are set out in the remainder of this
section.
1

Malus is an ex-post risk adjustment to deferred unvested remuneration.
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Link between the remuneration principles and the remuneration arrangements
The following table shows how Macquarie’s remuneration arrangements relate to its remuneration principles referred to
in section 1.1.
Principle
Features of the remuneration system
1

2

3

There is an emphasis
on performance-based
remuneration with an
appropriate balance
between short and longerterm incentives having
regard to risk
(Refer discussion in
section 3.1)

–
–

Rewards are linked to
sustainable shareholder
value through the use of
shareholder return drivers,
namely profitability and
returns in excess of the
cost of capital
(Refer discussion in
section 3.2)

–

Equity is used to provide
rewards to create alignment
with shareholder interests
(Refer discussion in
section 3.3)

–

–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–
–

4

Retention mechanisms
encourage a long-term
perspective and hence
alignment with shareholders
(Refer discussion in
section 3.3.1 to 3.3.7)

–

–
–
–
–

1

Profit share allocations are highly variable
Performance-based remuneration can comprise a high proportion of total remuneration in the
case of superior performance (approximately 93 per cent in the case of the Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer)
Profit share allocations and PSU grants for Executive Committee members provide substantial
incentives for superior performance, but low or no participation for less satisfactory performance
The CRO advises the BRC on risk management issues
The CRO and CFO advise the BRC on the risk input into the determination of the profit share pool,
such as the cost of equity capital to be used in the profit share pool calculation
The overall profit share pool is determined annually by reference to Macquarie’s after-tax profit and
its earnings over and above the estimated cost of capital
The allocation of the pool to individual businesses, and in turn to individuals, is based primarily, but
not exclusively, on relative contribution to profit, taking into account capital usage and other factors
including specific risk factors. Performance looks at a range of factors including risk management,
governance and compliance, teamwork, people leadership, people development, and upholding
Macquarie’s Goals and Values
Earnings per share and ROE are used as performance hurdles for Executive Committee PSUs
ROE is used as the performance hurdle for Executive Director options granted under the old
remuneration arrangements
For Executive Directors, retained profit share is invested in a combination of Macquarie shares and
notionally in Macquarie-managed fund equity. The investment mix varies depending on an
individual’s role
For most other staff, retained profit share is invested in Macquarie shares
PSU grants with performance hurdles are granted to Executive Committee members
Grants of Macquarie shares may be made to staff being hired or promoted
Executive Directors are required to acquire and hold a minimum number of shares calculated
based on their profit share. This is satisfied through the current equity arangements
Employee Share Plan is available to encourage broader staff equity participation
In 2011, 50-70 per cent (70 per cent for the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer)
of Executive Committee members annual profit share is retained. When PSUs are taken into
consideration, a range of 61 to 76 per cent of performance-based compensation is retained for
Executive Committee members (76 per cent for Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer)
For other Executive Directors, a minimum of 40 per cent of annual profit share is retained
(50 per cent for Designated Executive Directors1) up to a maximum of 70 per cent
Retained profit share for Executive Committee members and Designated Executive Directors
is released from years three to seven and from years three to five for other Executive Directors
PSUs for Executive Committee members vest from years two to four if performance hurdles are
achieved
For staff below Executive Director, between 25 and 70 per cent of annual profit share is retained
dependent on certain thresholds, vests and is released from years two to four

5

Arrangements provide
consistency over time
to ensure staff have the
confidence that efforts
over multiple years will
be rewarded
(Refer discussion in
section 3.3)

–

Macquarie’s remuneration approach has been in place since it was founded with incremental
changes over time as appropriate

6

Arrangements are
–
competitive on a global basis
with international peers
–
(Refer discussion in section 2)

The Board reviews the remuneration arrangements at least annually to ensure that they are
equitable and competitive
The compensation ratio is used as a general guide to consider the overall competitiveness of
remuneration levels but is not the basis on which the profit share pool is created

Executive Directors who are members of Operations Review Committee and others who have a significant management or risk
responsibility in the organisation.
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The primary focus of section 3 is on Executive Director remuneration, in particular, Executive Committee members.
However, comments are made in relation to other staff where relevant. Macquarie’s Executive Committee has
responsibility for the management of Macquarie as delegated by the Macquarie Board, and is made up of a central group
comprising the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy Managing Director, the Chief Risk Officer
(CRO), the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the heads of Macquarie’s major Operating Groups. The current members of
the Executive Committee are identified in Appendix 1.
The remainder of this section discusses the remuneration structure and its individual components in greater detail.
Specifically, it describes how the remuneration system:
–
emphasises performance-based remuneration (refer section 3.1)
–
links the quantum of an individual’s annual performance-based remuneration to the individual’s contribution to
shareholder return drivers (refer section 3.2)
–
delivers remuneration in a manner which ensures that employees have a direct long-term alignment with shareholder
interests which encourages appropriate management of risk (refer section 3.3).
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3.1

The remuneration structure continues to emphasise performance-based remuneration

To reflect a structural shift in the market and consistent with regulatory guidance, Executive Committee members
received base remuneration increases during the year. For many Executive Committee members, this is the first increase
in ten years, and for most, the first increase since joining the Executive Committee. These increases have largely been
total compensation neutral through the adjustment downwards of profit share.
In addition, as noted last year, the pay mix for certain risk and finance personnel was reviewed and where appropriate,
fixed remuneration was increased to ensure a more appropriate balance between fixed and variable remuneration, which
was reflective of regulatory and market guidance.
Despite these increases, the foundation of Macquarie’s remuneration structure continues to be an emphasis on
performance-based remuneration with an appropriate balance between short and longer-term incentives, as well as
aligning remuneration with prudent risk-taking. For front office Executive Directors, fixed remuneration can be relatively
low or modest compared with similar roles in non-investment banking organisations. Fixed remuneration generally
includes cash salary as well as non-cash benefits, primarily superannuation and nominated benefits, including those
provided on a salary sacrifice basis. (Salary sacrifice is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any fringe benefit
tax charges related to employee benefits).
The following table summarises FY2011 performance-based remuneration arrangements:
Executive Committee
(including Managing Director and
Staff other than
Chief Executive Officer) and
Key Area
Designated Executive Directors
Other Executive Directors
Executive Directors

1

2

Amount of
profit share
retained

50-70 per cent (70 per cent for the
A minimum of 40 per cent
Macquarie Group Managing Director and
up to a maximum of 70 per cent
Chief Executive Officer) for Executive
Committee members
A minimum of 50 per cent up to a maximum of
70 per cent for Designated Executive Directors

A minimum of 25 per cent
up to a maximum of
70 per cent dependent
on certain thresholds

How retained
profit share is
invested

Invested in a combination of Macquarie
shares and Macquarie-managed fund
equity notionally invested
Investment mix will vary depending on an
individual’s role

Invested in a combination of
Macquarie shares and Macquariemanaged fund equity notionally
invested
Investment mix will vary depending
on an individual’s role

Invested in Macquarie
shares1

Vesting and
release of
retained profit
share

All retained amounts vest and are released
from three to seven years after the year
retained (see also forfeiture below)

All retained amounts vest and are
released from three to five years after
the year retained (see also forfeiture
below)

All retained amounts vest
and are released from two
to four years after the year
retained

Forfeiture of
retained profit
share while
employed2

Board discretion to reduce or eliminate
unvested profit share amounts (Malus) in
certain circumstances

Board discretion to apply Malus to
certain Directors, as identified by the
BRC

Board discretion to apply
Malus to certain staff, as
identified by the BRC

Forfeiture of
retained profit
share on
leaving

Unvested amounts are forfeited except in the
case of death, permanent disability, genuine
retirement, redundancy and other limited
exceptional circumstances
Retained profit share is forfeited in stages if a
‘disqualifying event’ occurs within two years
of leaving

Unvested amounts are forfeited
except in the case of death,
permanent disability, genuine
retirement, redundancy and other
limited exceptional circumstances
Retained profit share is forfeited in
stages if a ‘disqualifying event’
occurs within two years of leaving

Unvested amounts are
forfeited except in the case
of death, permanent
disability, genuine retirement,
redundancy and other limited
exceptional circumstances

PSUs

Granted to Executive Committee members
only, which vest over two to four years

N/A

N/A

Minimum
Shareholding
Requirement

Required to hold the deemed after-tax
equivalent of 10 per cent of all of their profit
share allocations over the last 10 years (five
years for Designated Executive Directors)
in Macquarie shares (which is satisfied by
the above requirements)

Required to hold the deemed
after-tax equivalent of 10 per cent
of all of their profit share allocations
over the last five years in Macquarie
shares (which is satisfied by the
above requirements)

N/A

Invested in a combination of Macquarie shares and Macquarie-managed fund equity for a select group of directors whose primary
role relates to the management of the funds business.
Malus arrangements will take effect from 2012 in respect of profit share awards for the year ended 31 March 2012 and onwards.

1
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3.2

Remuneration is linked to the drivers of
shareholder returns

For most Executive Directors, the largest component of
their remuneration is delivered as an annual profit share
allocation, based on their performance over the year.
Macquarie’s approach to measuring performance for
the purpose of determining annual profit share is to utilise
financial performance measures which are known to be
drivers of long-term shareholder returns. They are NPAT
and ROE.
NPAT and ROE were selected as the most appropriate
performance measures for the following reasons:
–
they are correlated over time with total shareholder
returns
–
they provide an appropriate incentive because they are
elements of performance over which the executives can
exercise considerable control. TSR, on the other hand,
is influenced by many external factors over which
executives have limited control. Moreover, regulators do
not support the use of that measure
–
both measures can be substantiated using information
that is disclosed in audited financial accounts, providing
confidence in the integrity of the remuneration system
from the perspective of both shareholders and staff.
These two drivers motivate staff to expand existing
businesses and establish promising new activities.
The use of ROE to measure excess returns – ROE relative
to the cost of equity capital – creates a particularly strong
incentive for staff to ensure that capital is used efficiently,
while having regard to risk. Therefore, the use of these
two measures, in combination, results in appropriate
outcomes for shareholders.
Both measures are also enshrined in the performance
hurdles applicable on PSUs for Executive Committee
members (refer section 3.3.11.3).
Notwithstanding these factors, other qualitative measures
are used in assessing performance.

Determination of the profit share pool
The size of the pool is determined annually by reference
to Macquarie’s after-tax profit and its earnings over and
above the estimated cost of capital. A portion of
Macquarie’s profit earned accrues to the staff profit share
pool. Once the cost of equity capital is met, an additional
portion of excess profit is accrued to the profit share pool.
The methodology used to calculate the profit share pool
is reviewed at least annually by the BRC and the NonExecutive Directors of the Board, including:
–
the proportion of after-tax profit and the proportion of
earnings in excess of Macquarie’s cost of equity
capital used to calculate the pool
–
the cost of equity capital and the tax rate.
As part of this review, the CRO and the CFO advise the
BRC on the risk input into the calculation of the profit
share pool.
The Non-Executive Directors of the Board have
discretions:
–
to change the quantum of the pool to reflect internal
and external factors if deemed in the interests of
Macquarie and shareholders. In doing this, the Board
considers shareholders’ interests, the employment
environment and staff retention requirements. It is
critical that Macquarie has the flexibility to remain
competitive in the global markets in which it operates
while having due regard to shareholder interests over
the short and medium term
–
to defer the payment of profit share amounts to a
subsequent year at a Macquarie business or individual
level where it is in the interests of Macquarie and
shareholders to do so.
This year, the Non-Executive Directors of the Board
have exercised their discretion in relation to changing
the quantum of the pool. They have also done so in
prior years.

Overview of profit share arrangements
The profit share arrangements are designed to encourage
superior performance by motivating executives to focus
on maximising earnings and ROE, while having
appropriate regard for risk, thereby driving long-term
shareholder returns. A Macquarie-wide profit sharing
pool is created at the corporate level which is the basis of
creating substantial incentives for superior profitability but
low or no participation for less satisfactory performance.
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Allocation of the profit share pool
Allocation of the pool to businesses is based on
performance, primarily, but not exclusively, reflecting
relative contributions to profit (not revenue) while taking
into account capital usage. It also takes into account other
risk factors such as operational incidents, the risk profiles
of the businesses and compliance with regulatory
requirements as identified by the CRO to the BRC.
An individual’s profit share allocation is based on
performance, measured primarily through the performance
appraisal policy that requires staff have at least one formal
appraisal session with their manager each year.
Performance criteria vary according to an individual’s role.
Performance is linked where possible to outcomes that
contribute directly to NPAT and excess ROE. Capital
usage is important as it factors in the level of risk
associated with the income derived.
Performance also takes into consideration how business
is done. Superior performance looks at a range of
indicators that go beyond financial performance and
include risk management, governance and compliance,
teamwork, people leadership, people development,
and upholding Macquarie’s Goals and Values.
The CRO advises the BRC on risk management issues
including the return on economic capital by business,
the relationship between profitability and risk (as measured
by economic capital usage), losses by divisions and by
risk type and the contingent risks associated with large
transactions completed during the current financial year.
The performance of staff whose role is not linked to profit
contribution is measured according to criteria appropriate
to their position. Staff working in support areas may, for
example, be rewarded on the basis of their contribution
to Macquarie’s financial reporting, risk management
processes or information systems.
The Board and management seek to ensure that
remuneration for risk and financial control personnel,
including the CFO and the CRO, is structured so that
it does not compromise the independence of these
personnel in carrying out their functions and is
determined in a way that maintains Macquarie’s robust
risk management framework. For instance, an evaluation
of their performance occurs independently of the
business with which they are associated.
Profit share allocations for risk and financial control
personnel are reflective of their individual performance,
including the quality and integrity of the control functions.
The allocations to these staff are not directly linked to
the profit of Macquarie or the businesses in which
they operate.
The BRC reviews the allocation of the profit share pool
to the central Risk Management Group, the central
Finance function and Group Legal. It also annually
recommends to the Board remuneration for all risk
management and finance staff as a total category, in
addition to specific recommendations for the CFO, CRO,
General Counsel and other Executive Directors with a
risk management or financial control role.

For staff with specific fund responsibilities, the
performance of the relevant funds is important in
determining that individual’s profit share allocation.
For example, in the case of the Macquarie Funds
business, the following factors are relevant:
–
in evaluating each executive’s contribution to determine
their individual profit share allocation, the performance
of the fund or funds for which they are responsible,
and in particular, the underlying factors influencing fund
performance such as management and leadership,
the operational performance of the underlying assets,
and effective capital management
–
in the case of Executive Directors with fund
responsibilities (in particular Fund Chief Executive
Officers), retained profit share allocated to the Post2009 DPS Plan is notionally invested in the relevant
funds, as discussed in section 3.3.2, giving these
individuals a further ongoing incentive to seek to grow
the value of the fund.
Arrangements are also in place to ensure that
performance-based remuneration is appropriately
allocated to the individuals who contributed to particular
transactions. Therefore, businesses may further recognise
cross-divisional contributions by allocating part of their
profit share pool to individuals in other areas of Macquarie
who have contributed strongly to their success.
In summary, profit share allocations to each individual
generally reflect:
–
Macquarie-wide performance – which determines
the size of the overall profit share pool
–
the performance of their business – which determines
the profit share pool allocated to that business
–
their individual performance – which determines their
own share of the profit share pool for that business.
Profit share allocations to individuals are subject to
retention arrangements as discussed in section 3.3.1.
Commentary on allocation to the Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer of Macquarie and the
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of
Macquarie Bank
In approving the profit share and PSU grants to the
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of
Macquarie Group and the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Macquarie Bank, the Non-Executive
Directors annually and specifically assess each Managing
Director’s performance by considering a range of
indicators, including risk management, governance and
compliance, financial performance measures, strategic
initiatives, staff and human resources indicators,
reputation management and monitoring, community
and social responsibility matters and efforts in respect
of diversity.
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3.3

Direct long-term alignment with shareholder interests is emphasised

The remuneration arrangements are also structured to deliver remuneration in a manner which ensures that employees
have a direct long-term alignment with shareholder interests through:
–
retention arrangements which encourage long-term commitment to Macquarie, and therefore, to shareholders
–
the use of equity-based remuneration.
Retained Executive Director profit share is invested in a combination of Macquarie shares, under the Macquarie Group
Employee Retained Equity Plan (MEREP) and Macquarie-managed fund equity notionally invested under the DPS Plan
(Post-2009 DPS Plan).
A tailored approach is adopted to ensure that retention arrangements and equity-based remuneration are appropriate
given the seniority of the individual and their ability to influence results.
Some overarching rules apply to equity-based remuneration:
–
the following cannot be hedged:
– shares held to satisfy the minimum shareholding requirement
– awards under the MEREP
– shares held under the Executive Committee Share Acquisition Plan
– unvested options.
–
all shares and options must be dealt with in accordance with Macquarie’s Trading Policy, which is available on
Macquarie’s website, including that trading must be conducted within designated trading windows.
All Executive Committee members and Voting Directors are required at least annually to disclose to Macquarie their
financing arrangements relating to their Macquarie securities.
More generally, long-term alignment is encouraged through the emphasis on a degree of consistency over time in
remuneration arrangements. Whilst the profit share pool is based upon NPAT for the year, these profits may include
results from an initiative that has taken many years to come to fruition. Because the remuneration system is outcomes
driven, profit share allocations for transactions and business development activities that are ‘in progress’, are low.
Staff must, therefore, have confidence that when a transaction is completed – potentially some years later – the
remuneration system will recognise successful outcomes in the way the staff member anticipated at the outset of the
transaction. This requires broad consistency over time.
3.3.1

Profit share arrangements – delivery of profit share

A percentage of each employee’s annual gross profit share allocation is retained by Macquarie (retained profit share).
The Board has discretion to change the percentage of profit share allocations retained on an annual basis to meet
changing market conditions as well as to comply with regulatory and corporate governance guidance, provided that
the retention percentage is at least 30 per cent for Executive Directors. This is because:
–
regulatory and remuneration trends continue to evolve and change
–
Macquarie must have the ability to meet regulatory requirements
–
Macquarie must have the flexibility to remain competitive in the global markets in which it operates. The global
remuneration environment is a very important consideration when determining remuneration structures.
During the year, the Board has exercised discretion and increased retention rates. In doing this, the Board and the
BRC have considered peer organisations’ retention rates, the intense competition for certain talented staff, as well as
regulatory guidelines. As a result of these revised retention arrangements, less profit share is delivered as cash and more
profit share is deferred and delivered in equity, creating an increased alignment with shareholders and ensuring ongoing
staff retention.
The percentage is set for Executive Directors according to their role:
Executive Directors
2008
%

2009
%

2010
%

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer1

30

55

55

70

Executive Committee Members

30

50

50

50-70

Designated Executive Directors

20

50

50

50-70

Other Executive Directors

20

50

40

40-70

Role

1

2011
%

Refers to the percentage retained for Nicholas Moore in 2008 in his role as Group Head of Macquarie Capital.
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For staff below Executive Director, the revised retention arrangements reflect increasing retention percentages applying
to higher levels of profit share allocations, as follows:
Staff below Executive Director
Percentage retained – 20111

Profit Share Allocation
$A0 – $A50,000
$A50,001 – $A200,000
$A200,001 – $A500,000
Above $A500,000
1

Nil
25%
35%
40%

For certain staff, the percentage of profit share allocations that is retained is higher, up to a maximum of 70 per cent.

If the calculated retention is less than $A10,000, no amount will be retained.
The Board also has discretion to change the percentage of profit share allocation retained to meet exceptional
circumstances that may arise when a staff member moves between jurisdictions. The Board would consider
changing the retention level where local laws impact the application of the transitional arrangements.2 These
adjustments are to ensure that Executive Directors are in a similar situation and not disadvantaged due to local
restrictions, to the extent possible.

3.3.2

Investment of retained profit share

Executive Director retained profit share is invested in a combination of Macquarie shares under the equity plan (MEREP),
and Macquarie-managed fund equity notionally invested under the Post-2009 DPS Plan. For most other staff, retained
profit share is invested in Macquarie shares under the MEREP. The following table shows the current percentage
allocation of retained profit share that is invested in the Post-2009 DPS Plan and the MEREP, depending on the staff
member’s role:

Role
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, Deputy
Managing Director, CFO and CRO, General Counsel
Group Head, Macquarie Funds Group
Other Executive Committee members
Executive Directors with Funds responsibilities
Other Executive Directors
Staff other than Executive Directors3
3

Post-2009 DPS Plan (notional
investment in Macquariemanaged fund equity)

MEREP (Macquarie shares)

20%

80%

50%
50%
10%
90%
Minimum of 50% to a maximum Minimum of 25% to a maximum of
of 75% depending on role
50% depending on role
10%
90%
Nil
100%

Invested in a combination of Macquarie shares and Macquarie-managed fund equity for a select group of directors whose primary
role relates to the management of the funds business.

Both the MEREP and the DPS Plan are fundamental tools in Macquarie’s retention and alignment strategies,
encompassing both long-term retention arrangements and equity holding requirements.
The Board or the BRC has discretion to review the percentage allocated to the Post-2009 DPS Plan and the MEREP
on an annual basis to reflect an individual Executive Director’s responsibilities and to strengthen shareholder alignment
for Macquarie and the Macquarie-managed funds.
In limited circumstances, and only with the approval of the BRC, the allocation of retained profit share may be in other
than the Post-2009 DPS Plan or the MEREP. An example might include investment in funds or products of a specific
business group where there is a view to directly align the interests of employees with those of their clients.

2

Under the remuneration arrangements approved by shareholders in December 2009, Executive Directors were given the choice of
leaving their pre-2009 retained profit share in the pre-2009 DPS Plan, or move some of these amounts into the new
arrangements (Transitioned Amounts).
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Post-2009 DPS Plan
The Post-2009 DPS Plan comprises exposure to a
notional portfolio of Macquarie-managed funds. These
retained amounts for Executive Directors are notionally
invested over the retention period. This investment is
described as ‘notional’ because Executive Directors do
not directly hold securities in relation to this investment.
However, the value of the retained amounts will vary as if
these amounts were directly invested in actual securities,
giving the Executive Directors an effective economic
exposure to the performance of the securities.
The notional portfolio is set for each Executive Director
according to their role, as determined by the BRC. The
BRC makes an annual determination as to how each
Executive Director’s retained profit share that is invested in
Macquarie-managed fund equity (retained DPS in the DPS
Plan) for that year should be notionally invested by
Macquarie. The Executive Director has no input into that
decision or its timing. The following general principles are
used in making this decision:
–
retained DPS in the DPS Plan for Executive Directors
who are involved in the management of a particular
fund (e.g. the Chief Executive Officer of a fund), will be
100 per cent notionally invested in that particular fund
–
retained DPS in the DPS Plan for Executive Directors
who are involved more generally in the management of
one of Macquarie’s funds businesses, including certain
Operating Group Heads, will be notionally invested in a
portfolio of funds managed by that particular business
–
retained DPS in the DPS Plan for other Executive
Committee members will be notionally invested in a
general portfolio of Macquarie-managed fund equity
–
retained DPS in the DPS Plan for all other Executive
Directors will be notionally invested in a general portfolio
of Macquarie-managed fund equity.

MEREP
Retained profit share invested in Macquarie shares is held
under the equity plan, the MEREP. The MEREP has a flexible
plan structure that offers different types of equity grants
depending on the jurisdiction in which the participating
employees are based. In most cases, the equity grants are
in the form of units comprising a beneficial interest in a
Macquarie share held in a trust for the staff member
(Restricted Share Units or RSUs). An RSU comprises a
beneficial interest in a Macquarie share held on behalf of a
MEREP participant by the Trustee. The participant is entitled
to receive dividends on the share and direct the Trustee how
to exercise voting rights in the share. The participant also has
the right to request the release of the share from the Trust,
subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions of the
MEREP. RSUs are the primary form of award under the
MEREP. Where legal or tax rules make the grant of RSUs
impractical, due to different tax rules for employee equity and
different securities laws, equity grants will be in the form of:

–

–

shares held by the staff member subject to restrictions
(Restricted Shares). A Restricted Share comprises a
Macquarie share transferred from the MEREP Trust and
held by a MEREP participant subject to restrictions on
disposal, vesting and forfeiture rules. The participant is
entitled to receive dividends on those Restricted Shares
and to vote those Restricted Shares; or
the right to receive Macquarie shares in the future
(Deferred Share Units or DSUs). A DSU comprises the
right to receive on exercise of the DSU either a share
held in the Trust or a newly issued share (as determined
by Macquarie in its absolute discretion) for no cash
payment, subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions
of the MEREP. A MEREP participant holding a DSU has
no right or interest in any share until the DSU is
exercised. Macquarie may issue shares to the Trustee
or procure the Trustee to acquire shares on-market for
potential future allocations to holders of DSUs.
Generally DSUs provide for cash payments in lieu of
dividends paid on Macquarie shares before the DSU is
exercised. Further, the number of shares underlying a
DSU will be adjusted upon any bonus issue or other
capital reconstruction of Macquarie in accordance with
the ASX Listing Rules, so that the holder of a DSU does
not receive a benefit that holders generally of Macquarie
shares do not receive. These provisions are intended to
provide the holders of DSUs, as far as possible, with
the same benefits and risks as provided to holders of
Restricted Shares or RSUs. However, holders of DSUs
have no voting rights as to any underlying Macquarie
share.

These different types of equity grants enable Macquarie
through the MEREP to offer substantially similar economic
benefits to staff across multiple jurisdictions.
3.3.3

Income on invested retained profit share

Notional returns on retained profit share invested in the
Post-2009 DPS Plan may be paid annually to Executive
Directors. These amounts are required to be disclosed
as remuneration for Executive KMP. The notional returns
are calculated based on total shareholder return. If the
notional investment of retained profit share results in a
notional loss, this loss will be offset against any future
notional income until the loss is completely offset.
Employees with retained profit share invested in the
MEREP are entitled to receive either dividends or cash
payments or additional equity in lieu of dividends paid
on Macquarie shares.
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3.3.4

Release of retained profit share – normal
vesting
The vesting period is established for each retained profit
share allocation by the BRC, according to the prevailing
market conditions and having regard to regulatory and
remuneration trends at the time of allocation (refer to
section 3.3.1 above for further commentary). The BRC
established the following release schedule for retained
profit share invested in the Post-2009 DPS Plan and the
MEREP:

Role

Release schedule

Executive Committee Members
(including Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer), Designated
Executive Directors
Other Executive Directors

one-fifth in each of
years 3–7

Staff other than Executive Directors

one-third in each of
years 3–5
one-third in each of
years 2–4

For each year’s allocation, once the vesting period has
been determined it will remain fixed for that allocation.
Retained profit share is released immediately after it vests.
3.3.5

Forfeiture of retained profit share whilst
employed – ‘Malus’
From 2012, the Board will have discretion to reduce or
eliminate unvested profit share amounts (Malus) where
it determines that an Employee’s action or inaction has
caused Macquarie significant reputational harm, caused
a significant unexpected financial loss or caused it to
make a material financial restatement.
For the purposes of Malus, ‘Employee’ includes Executive
Committee and Designated Executive Directors or other
such Directors as the BRC identifies from time to time
as being material risk takers, Code Staff under the FSA
Remuneration Code and senior risk and financial control
staff, as identified by the BRC.
A significant unexpected financial loss is defined as
an impairment charge or provision or other loss as
determined by the BRC, over and above the ordinary
course of business, directly attributable to the relevant
employee, having regard to factors such as Return on
Economic Capital or profitability as determined by the
BRC.
In considering whether to exercise the discretion to
reduce or eliminate an Employee’s unvested profit share,
the Board will take the following matters, events or
circumstances into account:
–
the quantum of the actual loss or damage and any
impact on Macquarie’s financial soundness
–
whether there has been a breach of internal risk
management requirements and/or regulatory or legal
requirements and if so, the extent of the breach
–
whether Macquarie’s directions, policies, protocols,
practices and/or guidelines have been breached
–
whether the individual has exhibited recklessness
or wilful indifference
–
whether any known information at the time of the
action or inaction was deliberately withheld; and
–
the individual’s level of responsibility/accountability for
the action or inaction.

Macquarie has always had, and continues to have, the ability
to terminate staff for such circumstances, at which time any
unvested profit share would have been forfeited in full.
3.3.6

Early vesting and release of retained profit
share

As approved by shareholders in December 2009, the
Board, the BRC or the Executive Committee under
delegation from the BRC has discretion to accelerate the
vesting of retained profit share and/or reduce the retention
period, including where an Executive Director’s
employment ends on the grounds of genuine retirement or
redundancy (subject to the disqualifying events provisions).
In considering whether discretion should be exercised in a
particular case of genuine retirement, factors including,
but not limited to, the following matters, events or
circumstances may be taken into account:
–
whether the Executive Director demonstrates that
he/she is genuinely retiring from the industries within
which Macquarie operates and competes
–
whether the Executive Director is likely to work at any
time in the future within the industries within which
Macquarie operates and competes
–
whether the Executive Director is likely to work full-time
in any capacity, including directorships or consultancy
–
whether the Executive Director has facilitated an
appropriate succession strategy
–
the Executive Director's length of service with
Macquarie reflecting a sustained contribution and
commitment to Macquarie, with an expectation of at
least 10 years of service as an Executive Director.
If an Executive Director dies or becomes wholly and
permanently unable to work while employed by Macquarie,
100 per cent of their retained profit share will vest and
(subject to the disqualifying event provisions) be released
to the Executive Director or, in the case of death or
incapacity, to the Executive Director's legal personal
representative.
In certain other limited exceptional circumstances,
discretion may be exercised to accelerate the vesting
of retained profit share and reduce the retention period
on the grounds of business efficacy. If the discretion is
exercised, all relevant factors will be considered on a
case by case basis and will include consideration as to
whether exercise of the discretion is in the best interests
of Macquarie.
In all cases where discretion is exercised, the Board, the
BRC or the Executive Committee under delegation from
the BRC may impose such other conditions as it
considers appropriate.
Under the current remuneration arrangements, in the
year to 31 March 2011, discretion has been exercised
in relation to six executives who transferred employment
for the following reasons:
–
internalisation of the management of the Fund for
which they provided services
–
sale of some or part of the business for which they
provided services
–
transfer of employment to the joint venture for which
they provided services.
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3.3.7

Disqualifying events

On leaving Macquarie, an Executive Director will not
be entitled to receive any of their unvested Transitioned
Amounts or retained profit share from 2009 and future
years if the Board, the BRC or the Executive Committee
under delegation from the BRC determines, in its absolute
discretion, that the Executive Director has during the
period of employment with Macquarie or since leaving:
(a) committed an act of dishonesty (including but not
limited to misappropriation of funds and deliberate
concealment of a transaction)
(b) committed a significant and wilful breach of duty that
causes material damage to Macquarie
(c) joined a competitor of Macquarie Group
(d) taken staff to a competitor or been instrumental
in causing staff to go to a competitor or
(e) otherwise acted, or failed to act, in a way that
damages Macquarie, including but not limited to
situations, where the action or inaction leads to
a material financial restatement, a significant
financial loss or any significant reputational harm
to Macquarie or its businesses.
If an Executive Director leaves Macquarie and the
discretion to release unvested retained amounts is
exercised as described in section 3.3.6 ‘Early vesting
and release of retained profit share’, the release will occur
over the period from six months to two years after the
Executive Director leaves. Different disqualifying event
provisions will apply at the six month, one year and two
year timeframes as follows:
–
retained profit share from all but the last two years
– released on the expiry of six months following the
end of employment (the ’First Period’) provided the
Executive Committee has determined that none of the
disqualifying events (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) set out above
occurred during the First Period
–
retained profit share from the second year prior to
the end of employment – released on the expiry of
a further six months following the end of the First
Period (the ’Second Period’) provided the Executive
Committee has determined that no disqualifying event
occurred during the First Period and disqualifying
events (a), (b), (d) and (e) set out above have not
occurred during the Second Period
–
retained profit share from the year prior to the end
of employment – released on the expiry of a further
12 months following the end of the Second Period (the
’Third Period’) provided the Executive Committee has
determined that no disqualifying event occurred during
the First Period, disqualifying events (a), (b), (d) and (e)
set out above have not occurred during the Second
Period and disqualifying events (a), (b) and (e) set out
above have not occurred during the Third Period.

3.3.8

Tax events

The Board or its delegate has discretion to change the
terms of the MEREP awards, including the vesting date,
to avoid situations of undue hardship or to maintain
business efficacy. The Board, the BRC or the Executive
Committee under delegation from the BRC, may exercise
discretion to early release MEREP awards where an
employee terminates employment and, as a result, this
triggers a tax liability in respect of any unvested equity
award. Where this occurs, the employee has not received
the underlying shares and may not receive the full number
of shares on which they are being taxed for a considerable
time due to continued vesting conditions and other
restrictions beyond cessation of employment (for example,
the two year clawback period described in section 3.3.7).
The number of shares released would be limited to
the number with an aggregate value equal to the tax
liability (see below). The employee would be required
contractually to agree to repay an amount equal to the
value of the shares released in the event that the BRC
deem a disqualifying event has occurred. Approval for
early release of Macquarie shares under these
circumstances for Executive Committee members will
reside with the BRC.
Where an employee terminates employment, and a tax
liability arises in respect of retained MEREP awards,
Executive Committee and/or the BRC will determine
whether to allow early release after, considering,
amongst other things, the possibility of the operation
of the forfeiture rules. For example, if there is a high risk
of forfeiture, early release would not be made.
If a decision to allow early release is made, sufficient
shares will be released to the employee to fund the
estimated tax liability. Subject to the Trading Policy, the
employee is then able to sell these shares and use the
cash to fund the tax liability. The remaining MEREP
awards will be held within the MEREP until the posttermination retention period ends.
3.3.9

Minimum shareholding requirement for
Executive Directors

The retention arrangements also impose on Executive
Directors a requirement to hold Macquarie ordinary shares
equivalent to the aggregate of five per cent (being the
deemed after-tax equivalent of 10 per cent) of their annual
gross DPS allocation for the past five years (for the wider
Executive Director population) or 10 years (for Executive
Committee members). These shares cannot be hedged.
This requirement remains but is satisfied through the
equity retention arrangements.
Macquarie does not seek retention beyond this period
because it considers that executives who are unable to
diversify their personal portfolio may seek to leave, thereby
creating an unintended consequence.
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3.3.10

Staff share plans encourage broader staff
equity participation – Employee share plan

Macquarie has the Macquarie Group Employee Share
Plan (ESP) that encourages share ownership by
employees. The ESP substantially replicates the terms
of the Macquarie Bank Employee Share Plan which
was approved by Macquarie Bank Limited’s shareholders
in 1997. Eligible employees in Australia are offered up to
$A1,000 worth of Macquarie ordinary shares funded from
pre-tax available profit share.
Shares issued under the ESP cannot be sold until the
earlier of three years after issue or the time when the
participant is no longer employed by Macquarie or a
subsidiary of Macquarie. In all other respects, shares
issued rank equally with all other fully paid ordinary shares
then on issue.
The number of shares each participant receives is
$A1,000 divided by the weighted average price at which
Macquarie Group Limited’s shares are traded on the
ASX on the seven days up to and including the date
of allotment, rounded down to the nearest whole share.
In 2011, 1,347 eligible Australian employees elected to
participate in the ESP (2010: 1,635).
3.3.11

Performance share units (PSUs)

Executive Committee members are the only group of staff
eligible to receive PSUs. Since their introduction, PSUs
have been structured as DSUs with performance hurdles.
Holders have no right to dividend equivalent payments
before the PSUs vest. In all other respects, holders of
these PSUs will have the same rights as holders of DSUs.
Unlike options, there is no exercise price for PSUs.

3.3.11.1

Determination and allocation of the PSUs

The Board approves the number of PSUs to be allocated
to each Executive Committee member each year as part
of the annual remuneration review process. This
determination has regard to Macquarie’s overall
performance, the extent to which the Executive
Committee members have fulfilled their roles, and the long
term value delivered to shareholders. The allocation to
individual executives is broadly in the same manner as
annual profit share allocations i.e. it is performance based.

3.3.11.2

Vesting Schedule

The PSUs vest in three equal tranches after two, three
and four years from the deemed vesting commencement
date (typically 1 July in the year of grant), giving an
average vesting period of three years. As a general rule,
unvested PSUs will lapse on termination. However, the
Board or the BRC has the authority to accelerate the
vesting of PSUs. The Board or the BRC may consider
exercising this authority where, for example, a staff
member dies, is totally and permanently disabled, gives
notice of their intention to enter into genuine retirement
or a staff member’s employment ends on the grounds
of redundancy, illness or in other limited exceptional
circumstances, such as hardship or where business
efficacy justifies exercising the discretion.

3.3.11.3

Performance hurdles for Executive
Committee PSUs

PSUs issued under the MEREP are released or become
exercisable upon the achievement of certain performance
hurdles. There are two performance hurdles and each
applies individually to 50 per cent of the total number of
PSUs awarded.
The BRC periodically reviews the performance hurdles,
including the reference group, and has discretion to
change the performance hurdles in line with regulatory
and remuneration trends.
Description of performance hurdles:

Hurdle 1: 50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on the
relative average annual ROE over the vesting period
compared to a reference group of domestic and
international financial institutions. Vesting is on a sliding
scale with 50 per cent vesting above the 50th percentile
and 100 per cent vesting at the 75th percentile. For
example, if ROE achievement is at the 60th percentile,
70 per cent of the award would vest.
The reference group comprises significant Australian
financial companies within the ASX100 as well as
Macquarie’s major international investment banking peers
with whom Macquarie competes and frequently compares
its performance. The reference group comprises ANZ
Group, Commonwealth Bank, National Australia Bank,
Westpac, Suncorp, Bank of America, Citigroup, Credit
Suisse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP Morgan,
Morgan Stanley and UBS.

Hurdle 2: 50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on
compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in EPS over the
vesting period. Awards vest on a sliding scale with 50 per
cent vesting at EPS CAGR of 9 per cent and 100 per cent
vesting at EPS CAGR of 13 per cent. For example, if
EPS CAGR was 11 per cent, 75 per cent of the award
would vest.
Under both performance hurdles, the objective is
examined once only, effectively at the calendar quarter
end immediately before vesting. If the condition is not met
when examined, the PSUs due to vest expire.
Rationale for selection of performance hurdles:
–
ROE and EPS are considered appropriate measures
of performance as they are regarded as the drivers of
longer term shareholder returns and are broadly similar
to the performance measures Macquarie uses for
determining annual profit share
–
EPS provides closer alignment with the interests of
shareholders as it is a measure with which they are
directly concerned. In addition, such a measure is
particularly appropriate for the Executive Committee
who are at a level within Macquarie where they can
affect its achievement without being highly impacted
by factors, including market sentiment, over which
other executives have reduced control
–
ROE and EPS can be substantiated using information
that is disclosed in audited financial statements,
providing confidence in the integrity of the remuneration
system from the perspective of both shareholders
and staff
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–

–

–

the use of a sliding vesting scale diversifies the risk
of not achieving the hurdle for executives, provides
rewards proportional to performance for shareholders
and replaces the all-or-nothing test which some have
argued could, in the current climate, promote excessive
risk taking. Sliding vesting scales are also more widely
used and supported by governance agencies
use of a reference group of significant Australian
financial companies and international peers provides
an appropriate reference. This also recognises that,
following the significant changes in global financial
markets, regulated financial institutions will likely face
increased regulatory requirements, which other
companies will not. The inclusion of international peers
recognises the extent of Macquarie’s
internationalisation. At 31 March 2011, over half
of Macquarie’s income and over half of Macquarie’s
staff were offshore. Also, international ownership
of Macquarie’s shares remains significant with
non-Australian ownership averaging approximately
34 per cent over the three years to 31 March 2011
the approach is consistent with that advocated by
APRA in not using TSR as a measure.

Performance level required to meet hurdles:
–
being two, three or four year average measures aligned
with the vesting period, Macquarie’s performance
hurdles reward sustained strong performance and are
relatively well insulated from short-term fluctuations
–
the ROE hurdle has vesting only commencing if the
mid-point of peers’ performance has been exceeded
and 100 per cent vesting is only achieved if the 75th
percentile has been reached
–
the use of an absolute EPS hurdle requires Macquarie
to deliver increased business results before awards are
vested, lessening the chance that awards could vest
when results are negative as with the use of a relative
measure
–
the chosen EPS CAGR hurdle is considered
appropriate having regard to a range of factors
including historical average market EPS CAGR figures.
The table below shows the five year historical mean
and 75th percentile EPS CAGRs for some relevant
market sectors.

5 year EPS CAGR (per cent per annum)1

Mean
75th percentile
1

S&P/ASX 100 ex
Resources

S&P/ASX Banks

S&P/ASX Financials ex
Property Trusts

MSCI Financials

4.7
14.0

5.9
8.9

3.0
8.9

(0.3)
8.5

Data provided by Macquarie Research Equities as at 31 March 2011. MSCI refers to the MSCI All Countries World Index.

Macquarie’s EPS CAGR over the same five year period was (6.7) per cent per annum and since listing in 1996 has been
10.8 per cent per annum.
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3.3.12

Options, while discontinued, remain outstanding

Options were previously granted to approximately the most senior 20 per cent of staff based on performance and
promotion. As previously noted, Macquarie has ceased offering options.
This section explains the options arrangements that were in place for previous option grants, some of which are
currently unvested. These arrangements are no longer in place. However, background information is provided to assist
in understanding the relevant option disclosures in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3. Final tranches will vest in October 2013.

3.3.12.1

General terms of option arrangements

The Plan and key option terms
Plan

Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP)

History

Macquarie has had an employee option plan in place since 1995, with only minor amendments
to the Plan rules being made over that time.

Eligible staff

Associate Director, Division Director and Executive Director

Options over

Fully paid unissued ordinary shares in Macquarie Group Limited

Term of options

Five years

Consideration

Nil

Exercise price

Set at the prevailing market price: the exercise price will generally be the weighted average price
of shares traded on ASX during one week up to and including the date of grant of the options
(adjusted for cum-dividend trading and excluding certain special trades)

Vesting schedule

Options vest in three tranches after two, three and four years. However, vested options can only
be exercised by Executive Directors if the relevant performance condition is also satisfied

Hedging

Staff are not permitted to hedge unvested options.

3.3.12.2

Performance hurdles for Executive Committee options

Description of performance hurdles for Executive Committee options
Applicability

Performance conditions are imposed as summarised below on options granted to Executive
Committee members

Description of
performance hurdle

The performance hurdle requires that Macquarie’s three year average ROE exceeds the three year
average ROE of companies in the S&P/ASX 100 Index at the 65th percentile. This hurdle operates
in addition to both the vesting rules and the embedded share price hurdle

Application of retesting

No retesting for option grants has applied since June 2006. The performance hurdle is tested
once only (at time of vesting)

Calculation methodology

In assessing whether Macquarie’s performance is above these hurdles, Macquarie obtains data
from external sources and, where required, supplements this with data published by the individual
companies. The percentile ranking of Macquarie, based on the three year average annual ROE
against all companies in the applicable reference index, is determined quarterly.

The majority of unvested options are currently out of the money and are unlikely to vest.
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3.3.13

No special contractual termination payments

The following table summarises key features of the employment contracts for Executive Committee members including
the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer:

1

Length of contract

Permanent open ended

Remuneration review
period

1 April to 31 March annually

Directors’ profit share
participation

All Executive Directors are eligible to be considered for a DPS allocation, referred to in section
3.3.1, which ensures that a large part of their remuneration is ‘at risk’. The DPS terms are set
out in the Macquarie Group Executive Directors’ Remuneration Booklet (also known as the
Grey Book). A departing Executive Director’s retained DPS will only be released early on a
discretionary basis in the case of genuine retirement, redundancy and certain other limited
exceptional circumstances and will be subject to forfeiture provisions. Upon retirement from
Macquarie, Executive Directors may be entitled to the vested retained DPS held under the
Pre-2009 DPS Plan scheme provided that it is determined that no disqualifying events have
occurred

Option participation

Executive Directors are no longer eligible for options (five year options over ordinary unissued
Macquarie ordinary shares). Subject to discretions able to be exercised by the Board or its
delegates, on termination from Macquarie, all Executive Directors continue to remain entitled to
retain options which are vested at the termination date

PSU participation

Executive Committee are eligible to receive PSUs which are DSUs with performance hurdles and
are a replacement for options grants

Termination of
employment

Termination of employment by Macquarie or the Executive Director requires four weeks notice.1
Depending on the jurisdiction, Executive Directors may also receive a payment in lieu of any
accrued but untaken leave and entitlements. Aside from notice (for which a payment or part
payment may be made in lieu of being required to work the notice subject to legislative
restrictions on termination benefits), no other solely contractual termination benefits exist

Subject to compliance with local regulatory and legal requirements. In Australia, Executive Directors given notice by Macquarie
may receive an additional week’s notice if they are over 45 years of age and have more than two years’ continuous service at
the time of termination.

Subject to variations arising from local employment,
transmission of business and other laws in the jurisdictions
in which Macquarie operates, these contractual
arrangements generally apply to all staff at Executive
Director level.
Executive Directors who chose to keep some or all
pre-2009 profit share in the Pre-2009 DPS Plan and
leave Macquarie are eligible to receive the vested portion
(subject to there being no disqualifying events in the
period of up to six months following their departure) under
the Pre-2009 DPS Plan. Executive Directors who leave
Macquarie may also retain any vested but unexercised
options (which will lapse if they are not exercised in the
six months following departure).

3.4

Strong governance has been exercised

Effective governance is central to Macquarie’s
remuneration strategy and approach. The Board aims
to ensure that Macquarie’s remuneration system is sound
in the following ways:
–
strong Board and Board Remuneration Committee
(BRC) oversight
–
assessment of risk as part of the profit share allocation
process
–
independent remuneration review.
These key elements of Macquarie’s approach are
described below.
3.4.1

Strong Board oversight exists to ensure
sound overall remuneration governance

The Board of Directors has oversight of Macquarie’s
remuneration arrangements. The Board has a BRC
whose objective is to assist the Macquarie Board and
the Board of Macquarie Bank Limited (Macquarie Bank
or MBL), a key operating subsidiary, with Macquarie’s
remuneration policies and practices.
The BRC currently comprises three Independent
Non-Executive Directors:
Helen Nugent

BRC Chairman

John Niland

BRC Member

Peter Warne

BRC Member
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The BRC members have the required experience and
expertise in both human resources and risk to achieve
effective governance of Macquarie’s remuneration system.
All members of the BRC are also members of the Board
Risk Committee, with Mr Warne being the Chairman since
27 August 2009. In addition, all members of the BRC have
extensive experience in remuneration, either through their
professional background or as members of the
remuneration committees of other boards.
The BRC has a regular meeting cycle and held a
significant number of additional meetings this year in order
to address the various remuneration issues arising from
the changing remuneration environment. The BRC met
12 times over the last financial year. Attendance at the
meetings is set out in the Directors’ Report.
The Board pays serious, sustained attention to the design
and the operation of remuneration practices for all of
Macquarie, not just for the most senior executives.
The responsibilities of the BRC are set out in a formal
charter which is available on Macquarie’s website.
Board oversight of the approval framework for
remuneration recommendations can be summarised
as follows:
Executive Remuneration Policy and Framework
Recommendations
The Macquarie Board is responsible for approving the
remuneration policy on the recommendation of the BRC.
This includes the following:
–
assessing the effectiveness of the remuneration policy
and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
–
material changes to the remuneration policy, including
remuneration structure, retention and termination
policies for all staff
–
material changes to the recruitment policies and
procedures for Macquarie’s senior management
team (Executive Committee and other Operating
Group Heads)
–
appropriate levels of delegated responsibility from
Macquarie’s Board to management for remunerationrelated policies and practice decisions, and
–
the continued application of the profit share
methodology and any adjustments.
The BRC has the authority to review and approve the
following on behalf of the Macquarie Board:
–
changes to remuneration, recruitment, retention and
termination policies and procedures not requiring Board
approval
–
material changes to superannuation/pension
arrangements
–
the percentage of Executive Directors’ retained profit
share allocated to Macquarie shares and Macquariemanaged fund equity, and
–
the specific notional portfolio allocations of retained
profit share amounts for individual Executive Directors.
The BRC also has the authority to monitor the
implementation of the executive remuneration policy,
including an annual review of compliance with the
Executive Director minimum shareholding requirements.

Executive Remuneration Recommendations
The Boards of Macquarie and Macquarie Bank,
as appropriate, approve the following on the
recommendation of the BRC:
–
all individual remuneration and profit share
recommendations for members of the respective
Executive Committees and other Executive Voting
Directors (including the Managing Director),
Designated Executive Directors and other persons
whose activities may, in the BRC’s opinion, affect
the financial soundness of Macquarie and MBL
(Specific Remuneration Recommendations)
–
all individual PSU grants to members of the respective
Executive Committees, with the proviso that grants to
Executive Voting Directors (including the Managing
Director) must be approved by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting
–
other remuneration recommendations relating to
individuals or groups of individuals which are disclosed
or are significant because of their sensitivity or
precedent implications, or because they are specifically
covered by regulatory standards (Significant
Remuneration Recommendations), and
–
determination of the total PSU pool available for
Executive Committee Members.
The BRC has the authority to review and approve the
following on behalf of the Boards:
–
all individual remuneration and profit share
recommendations for Executive Directors, other than
those required to be approved by the Non-Executive
Directors of Macquarie and MBL. This review is to
include consideration of the performance of the
Executive Directors, other than those covered by the
Specific Remuneration Recommendations and the
Significant Remuneration Recommendations referred
to above
–
remuneration recommendations made outside of policy
relating to individuals or groups of individuals, subject to
the Specific Remuneration Recommendations and the
Significant Remuneration Recommendations referred to
above, and
–
all individual Director promotion equity grants to staff
other than those designated above.
Non-Executive Director Remuneration
The BRC is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Macquarie Board in relation to:
–
the remuneration framework for the Non-Executive
Directors of Macquarie and MBL, and
–
remuneration recommendations for Non-Executive
Director fees.
The Board has adopted internal guidelines on declaring
and dealing with conflicts of interest. These are rigidly
followed by the BRC.
This remuneration governance framework ensures that
remuneration recommendations relating to staff at various
levels of seniority must be approved at an appropriate
level of authority.
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3.4.2

Risk is assessed as part of the profit share
allocation process

The Board considers that the effective alignment of
remuneration with prudent risk taking to be a fundamental
criteria for any successful remuneration system. The
Board’s approach to risk management is to make risk
decisions at multiple levels. The Board has always used
both executive judgement and quantitative risk measures
to determine the quantum of variable remuneration
allocations. The quantitative measures are as follows:
–
the profit share pool is determined by reference to both
profit (not revenue) and earnings over and above the
estimated cost of capital. The CRO and the CFO advise
the BRC on the risk input into the calculation of the
profit share pool
–
ROE is taken into account at a Macquarie-wide level
and economic and prudential capital usage at a
business group level for profit share pool allocation
–
the performance hurdle for existing Executive Director
options and Executive Committee PSUs to vest is
linked to ROE, not TSR.
The Board acknowledges that quantitative risk measures
have limitations and, therefore, overlays these measures
with executive judgement. Just as judgement is required
in managing Macquarie’s risk profile, significant judgement
is exercised when risk-adjusting profit share allocations.
When assessing the performance of businesses and
individuals, management and the BRC look at a range
of factors, including risk management, governance and
compliance, people leadership and upholding Macquarie’s
Goals and Values. The CRO reports to the BRC on the
following:
–
return on economic capital, by business
–
the relationship between profitability and risk
(as measured by economic capital usage)
–
losses by divisions and by risk type
–
the contingent risks associated with large transactions
concluded during the current financial year
–
Information on significant losses and compliance
breaches by individual.
The BRC uses this information when considering the profit
share allocated to individual Operating Groups, and profit
share allocations to individuals.
In addition to this, the Non-Executive Directors of the
Board have discretion to change the quantum of the profit
share pool to reflect internal or external factors if deemed
in Macquarie’s and shareholders’ interests, and/or to defer
the payment of profit share amounts to a subsequent year
at a Macquarie-wide, business or individual level where it
is in the interests of Macquarie and shareholders to do so.

Remuneration outcomes must be consistent with risk
outcomes
Profit share allocations are truly variable. The profit share
component is variable upward and downward in response
to good or poor performance. The fact that the profit
share pool at a Macquarie-wide level is determined by
reference to both profit and earnings over and above the
estimated cost of capital means that there is generally no
available profit share in the event of a loss at a Macquarie
Group level other than via the Board’s discretion.
Remuneration payout schedules must be sensitive to
the time horizon of risks
Under the current remuneration arrangements, the
proportion of an Executive Director’s 2011 profit share
allocation that is deferred and subject to the time horizon
of risk ranges from 40 to 70 per cent, and 50 to 70 per
cent for Executive Committee members and Designated
Executive Directors (70 per cent for the Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer). When PSUs are taken into
consideration, the effective deferral rate is increased.
A departing Executive Director’s unvested retained profit
share is only paid out in the case of genuine retirement,
redundancy or in certain other limited exceptional
circumstances, and is forfeited in stages if a ‘disqualifying
event’ occurs within two years of leaving. For example, the
payment of a departing Executive Director’s retained profit
share will be subject to forfeiture if it is found that the
individual has acted in a way that damages Macquarie,
including but not limited to action or inaction that leads to
a material financial restatement, a significant financial loss
or any significant reputational harm to Macquarie or its
businesses.
From 2012, the Board will have discretion to reduce or
eliminate unvested profit share amounts ‘Malus’ where it
determines that an Employee’s action or inaction has
caused Macquarie significant reputational harm, caused a
significant unexpected financial loss or caused it to make
a material financial restatement. For the purposes of Malus,
‘Employee’ includes Executive Committee and Designated
Executive Directors, Code Staff under the FSA
Remuneration Code, senior risk and financial control staff
and any other staff as determined by the BRC. Consistent
with previous arrangements there are no ‘golden
handshake’ payments.
The mix of cash, equity and other forms of
remuneration should be consistent with risk alignment
Macquarie adopts a tailored approach to ensure that
the retention levels and equity-based remuneration is
appropriate given the seniority of the individual and their
ability to influence results.

The Board seeks to ensure that remuneration is sensitive
to risk outcomes in the following three ways:
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3.4.3

An independent remuneration review has
been undertaken

–

The BRC has access to Macquarie senior management
and has retained independent consultant, Pay
Governance, which was previously part of the business of
Towers Watson, for the use of the Board to obtain advice
on the appropriateness of remuneration packages and
other employment conditions as required.
The BRC, on behalf of the Non-Executive Directors of
Macquarie, commissioned an independent review of
Executive Director remuneration from a US office of Pay
Governance (the Pay Governance Review). The only
services that Pay Governance provides to Macquarie are
executive compensation consulting to the BRC. This year,
the Pay Governance Review considered the overall
approach to remuneration, peer organisations’ overall
approach to remuneration, the extent of alignment with
shareholder interests and a comparison of individual
remuneration for senior executives where relevant peer
information was available. In addition, the BRC
independently analysed global remuneration trends and
data. The cost of the Pay Governance Review was
approximately $US110,000. Pay Governance has not
provided any other kind of advice to Macquarie for the
FY2011.
Pay Governance has confirmed that their analyses and
observations have been made free from undue influence
by Macquarie’s Executive KMP.
Arrangements were made to ensure that the Pay
Governance Review was free from undue influence by
Executive KMP, including that:
–
the agreement for services was executed by the
Chairman of the BRC under delegated authority on
behalf of Macquarie
–
the Pay Governance Review was provided by Pay
Governance directly to the BRC only
–
Pay Governance attended two BRC meetings and
presented their findings
–
Pay Governance held a meeting with the BRC
Chairman, and
–
in relation to the Pay Governance Review, no senior
executives had separate, direct contact with Pay
Governance.
The Board is satisfied that the remuneration review
conducted by Pay Governance was made free from undue
influence by the Executive KMP for the reasons listed above.
Pay Governance’s findings were that:
–
Macquarie has used essentially the same remuneration
system since Macquarie’s founding, which has
incrementally evolved in response to the changing
market and regulatory environment
–
the objectives on which Macquarie’s remuneration
system are built are similar to those cited by other
leading global investment banks, including the need to
align the interests of management and shareholders,
the importance of attracting and retaining the right
talent, and that the remuneration structure does not
encourage excessive risks

–

–

Macquarie’s remuneration system:
–
has a paramount goal to encourage management
to drive shareholder returns over the short and
longer term
–
has assisted Macquarie’s strong shareholder
returns, consistent return on equity results, and
steady earnings growth over the past decade
–
has helped ensure that pay and performance are
linked tightly
–
has several means to align executive reward and
shareholder value creation
–
orients senior staff toward longer-term value
creation rather than short-term benefits
Macquarie’s remuneration governance structure is fairly
similar to that in place at Macquarie’s peer US
investment banks
Macquarie’s remuneration components support its
remuneration principles and are very much in line with
practices at peer global investment banks, including
that:
–
fixed remuneration is modest, although not
insignificant, relative to total compensation, the
bulk of which is delivered through variable means
(annual and long-term incentives)
–
the annual profit share is based on profit and
return on equity, which are recognised by most
peers as necessary to drive share price
–
individual profit share awards to executives are
highly differentiated by individual contribution and
results
–
a significant portion of profit share is invested in
both Macquarie equity and Macquarie-managed
fund equity and withheld for several years
–
executives must maintain an equity stake in
Macquarie
–
equity-based compensation (in the form of
Macquarie shares and Macquarie PSUs for
Executive Committee) is used as a long-term
incentive for executives
–
Macquarie imposes a long vesting period on the
portion of profit share deferred
–
Macquarie’s total remuneration as a percentage of
revenue and as a percentage of earnings is
centred slightly above the median relative to
investment banking peers.

An external review of Non-Executive Directors’
remuneration was also commissioned in early 2011 from
Guerdon Associates (refer section 3.5.2 for details).
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3.5

Non-Executive Directors continue to be
recognised for their role

Finally, Macquarie’s remuneration approach ensures that
the Non-Executive Directors are appropriately recognised.
The remuneration arrangements applicable to NonExecutive Directors, as outlined in this section, are
different from the arrangements applicable to executives,
reflecting their different role.
3.5.1

Non-Executive Director remuneration policy

The overall objective of Macquarie’s Non-Executive
Director remuneration policy is to ensure that NonExecutive Directors are remunerated appropriately. This
objective is achieved by:
–
setting Board and Board Committee fees in line with
market rates for relevant Australian financial
organisations for the time commitment and
responsibilities involved
–
delivering these fees in a form that is not contingent on
Macquarie’s performance
–
not providing termination or retirement benefits other
than payments relating to their accrued superannuation
contributions comprising part of their remuneration.

All Non-Executive Directors of Macquarie Group Limited
are also Non-Executive Directors of Macquarie Bank
Limited. This policy governs the remuneration of NonExecutive Directors of both Macquarie and Macquarie
Bank in aggregate.
3.5.2

Board and Committee fees

Non-Executive Directors are remunerated via Board and
Committee fees in line with market rates for relevant
Australian financial organisations for the time commitment
and responsibilities involved. These fees are reviewed
annually on the basis of a comparison to market rates. An
external review is conducted periodically both as
verification of the market comparison and also to provide
observations concerning the continuing validity of the
methodology.
Such an external review was completed in early 2011 to
ensure that the Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration
was in line with relevant benchmark organisations and
consistent with market trends, and to ensure that the
methodology and framework employed was appropriate.
The review was conducted by independent consultant,
Guerdon Associates, which received a fee of
approximately $A67,000.

Thus, Macquarie’s Non-Executive Director remuneration
arrangements are structured quite differently from the
executive remuneration arrangements. Executive Directors
are not remunerated for acting as Voting Directors.

The Board Remuneration Committee and the Board
critically evaluated the analyses and the conclusions
reached.

All Voting Directors are required to at least annually
disclose their financing arrangements relating to their
Macquarie securities to Macquarie.

The current per annum base and Committee fees outlined
below are consistent with the recommendations of this
review.

Macquarie and Macquarie Bank Fees
Macquarie fees
$A
$A
Chairman
Member
Board
Board Risk Committee
Board Audit Committee
Board Remuneration Committee
Board Corporate Governance Committee
Board Nominating Committee
1
2

3

585,000
70,000
70,000
70,000
70,000
N/A3

165,000
30,000
30,000
30,000
25,000
8,000

Macquarie Bank fees
$A
$A
Chairman
Member
240,000
N/A2
N/A2
N/A2
N/A2
N/A2

65,000
N/A2
N/A2
N/A2
N/A2
N/A2

Total fees1
$A
$A
Chairman
Member
825,000
70,000
70,000
70,000
70,000
N/A3

230,000
30,000
30,000
30,000
25,000
8,000

An additional annual travel allowance of $A40,000 is paid for any Non-Executive Director based in the United Kingdom.
Macquarie Bank Limited does not have separate committees. Macquarie Group Limited’s Audit Committee is a joint Committee
with Macquarie Bank and the Remuneration Committee also support both Boards.
No separate fee is paid for this role as it is filled by the Chairman.
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Base and Committee fees are paid quarterly. NonExecutive Directors may elect to receive their
remuneration, in part, in the form of superannuation
contributions.
Information on the frequency of Board and Committee
meetings is included on page 74 of the Directors’ Report.
There are no termination payments to Non-Executive
Directors on their retirement from office (and there never
have been in the case of both Macquarie Group Limited
and Macquarie Bank Limited) other than payments relating
to their accrued superannuation contributions comprising
part of their remuneration.
Macquarie’s Non-Executive Directors are remunerated for
their services from the maximum aggregate amount
(currently $A4,000,000 per annum) approved by
shareholders for that purpose. The current limit of
$A4,000,000 was approved by Macquarie Group Limited
shareholders at Macquarie Group’s 2010 AGM. Although
fees have been split between Macquarie Bank Limited and
Macquarie Group Limited, the Board ensures that NonExecutive Director remuneration for Macquarie Group
Limited and Macquarie Bank Limited taken together does
not exceed this shareholder approved maximum
aggregate amount.
3.5.3

Minimum shareholding requirement for NonExecutive Directors

To encourage long-term commitment and to more closely
align the interests of the Board with shareholders, the
Board has a minimum shareholding requirement for NonExecutive Directors. Non-Executive Directors are required
to have a meaningful direct shareholding in Macquarie.
Under the minimum shareholding requirement, NonExecutive Directors are required to acquire and maintain,
directly or indirectly, a holding of 4,000 Macquarie ordinary
shares, which they may accumulate over three years from
the date of appointment. They are required to extend this
holding by an additional 2,000 Macquarie ordinary shares
over the next two years, such that they then maintain a
holding of 6,000 Macquarie ordinary shares. Under
Macquarie’s Trading Policy, Non-Executive Directors are
forbidden from hedging shares held to meet this minimum
Macquarie shareholding requirement. Actual
shareholdings are set out in Appendix 3 below.
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Appendices: Key Management Personnel disclosures
Appendix 1: Key Management Personnel
The following persons were Voting Directors of Macquarie Group Limited for the period during the financial years ended
31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010, unless otherwise indicated:
Directors:
Changes during 2010 and 2011 (except as noted below)
Executive
N.W. Moore1

Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer

L.G. Cox, AO

Resigned 29 July 2009

Non-Executive
D.S. Clarke, AO
M.J. Hawker, AM
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone, AO
H.K. McCann, AM
J.R. Niland, AC
H.M. Nugent, AO
P.H. Warne

On leave of absence for part of FY2010 up to 30 August 2009.
Resigned on 17 March 2011
Appointed to the Board on 22 March 2010

Non-Executive Chairman

Acting Chairman in D.S. Clarke's leave of absence. Appointed
Chairman on 17 March 2011

Acting Chairman of the Board Risk Committee in
D.S. Clarke’s leave of absence and was appointed Chairman of the
Board Risk Committee on 27 August 2009

In addition to the Executive Directors listed above, the following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of Macquarie and its controlled entities during the financial years ended 31 March
2011 and 31 March 2010, unless otherwise indicated:
Executives:
S.D. Allen1
T.C. Bishop1
M. Carapiet1,3
A.J. Downe1
G.A. Farrell1
R.S. Laidlaw1,2,3
P.J. Maher1
N.R. Minogue
W.R. Sheppard1
S. Vrcelj1,3
G.C. Ward1
S. Wikramanayake1,2
1
2

3

Group Head, Risk Management Group (appointed 28 September 2009)
Country Head, United States of America (appointed 2 July 2010)
Executive Chairman, Macquarie Capital and Macquarie Securities Group
Group Head, Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities Group
Group Head, Corporate and Asset Finance Group (appointed 2 July 2010)
Group Head, Macquarie Securities Group and Macquarie Capital
Group Head, Banking and Financial Services Group
Former Group Head, Risk Management Group (resigned 30 November 2009)
Deputy Managing Director
Head of Global Cash and Equities (appointed 2 July 2010)
Chief Financial Officer
Group Head, Macquarie Funds Group

Member of Macquarie’s Executive Committee as at 29 April 2011
Mr Laidlaw’s and Ms Wikramanayake’s responsibilities increased during the year. Mr Laidlaw became Group Head of Macquarie
Capital, in addition to his existing role as Group Head of Macquarie Securities Group. Ms Wikramanayake’s role as Group Head of
Macquarie Funds Group broadened during the year following the merger of Macquarie Capital Funds with Macquarie Funds
Group
Subsequent to 31 March 2011, Mr Carapiet’s retirement was announced. Mr Laidlaw was appointed Executive Chairman of
Macquarie Securities Group and will continue as Group Head of Macquarie Capital. Mr Vrcelj was appointed Group Head of
Macquarie Securities.

The remuneration and other related party disclosures included in the Remuneration Report have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and in compliance with AASB 124 Related Party
Disclosures.
For the purpose of these disclosures, all the individuals listed above have been determined to be Key Management
Personnel, as defined by AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. Macquarie's Non-Executive Directors are specifically
required by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) to be included as Key Management Personnel for the purposes of the
disclosures in the Remuneration Report. However, the Non-Executive Directors do not consider themselves as part of
'management'.
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Appendix 2: Remuneration disclosures

Executive remuneration
The remuneration arrangements for all of the persons listed above as Executive Directors or Executives are described in
section 3 above.
In accordance with the requirements of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, the remuneration disclosures in the
remuneration tables for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010, only include remuneration relating to the
portion of the relevant periods that each individual was a Key Management Person.
While MEREP equity awards in respect of the current year’s performance will be granted in the following financial year,
Macquarie begins recognising an expense (based on an initial estimate) from 1 April of the current financial year in relation to
these future grants. The expense is estimated using the Macquarie share price as at 31 March 2011 (and for PSUs, also
incorporates a risk free interest rate of 5.71 per cent; expected life of four years; and a dividend yield of 5.2 per cent per
annum). In the following financial year, Macquarie will adjust the accumulated expense recognised for the final determination of
fair value for each MEREP award when granted, and will use this valuation for recognising the expense over the remaining
vesting period.
As explained in section 3.3.2 above, profit share amounts retained under the Post-2009 DPS Plan are notionally invested for
Executive Directors, providing them with an economic exposure to the underlying investments, typically Macquarie-managed
funds. This ensures that they are exposed to both the upside and downside of the underlying securities.
Executive Directors are each entitled to amounts equivalent to the investment earnings (dividends/distributions and
security price appreciation) on the underlying securities. Where these amounts are positive, they may be paid to
Executive Directors as additional remuneration and are included in the relevant remuneration disclosures below as part of
Long-Term Employee Benefits (refer to the ‘Earnings on prior year restricted profit share’ column in the tables on
pages 112 to 113. When these amounts are negative, they are deducted from ‘Long-Term Employee Benefits’
remuneration in the same column.
These earnings on restricted profit share amounts reflect the investment performance of the assets in which prior year
retained DPS amounts have been invested. Their inclusion in the individual remuneration disclosures below may therefore
cause distortions when year-on-year remuneration trends are examined. They do not reflect remuneration review
decisions made in relation to the individual’s current year performance.
The table below highlights the underlying remuneration trend by adjusting the disclosed remuneration to exclude these
earnings on retained DPS amounts for comparable Executive Key Management Personnel.
2011
$A

2010
$A

Increase/
(Decrease)%

43,006,634

42,485,428

1

5,116,094

2,023,569

37,890,540

40,461,859

Comparable Executive Key Management Personnel
Total disclosed remuneration
Less/(Add): Earnings/(Loss) on restricted profit share amounts
Total underlying remuneration

(6)
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Executive Key Management Personnel remuneration disclosure

Short-Term Employee Benefits

Salary
(including
superannuation
$A
Executive Directors
Managing Director and Chief
N.W. Moore
Executive Officer
Other Executives
M. Carapiet

A.J. Downe

R.S. Laidlaw

Executive Chairman, Macquarie
Capital and Macquarie Securities
Group
Group Head, Fixed Income,
Currencies and Commodities
Group
Group Head, Macquarie Securities
Group and Macquarie Capital

P.J. Maher

Group Head, Banking and
Financial Services Group

W.R. Sheppard

Deputy Managing Director

G.C. Ward

Chief Financial Officer

S. Wikramanayake

Group Head, Macquarie Funds
Group

Total Remuneration – Comparable Executive Key
Management Personnel
New Executives
S.D. Allen

Group Head, Risk Management
Group9

T.C. Bishop

Country Head, United States of
America10

G.A. Farrell

Group Head, Corporate and Asset
Finance Group10

S. Vrcelj

Head of Global Cash and
Equities10

Former Executive Directors and Executives
L.G. Cox
Former Executive Voting Director11
N.R. Minogue

Former Group Head, Risk
Management Group12

Total Remuneration – Executive Key Management
Personnel (including new and former members)

Performance Total short-term
employee
related
benefits
remuneration1
$A
$A

2011
2010

746,499
518,820

2,700,654
4,681,736

3,447,153
5,200,556

2011
2010

640,857
384,311

1,179,759
2,886,191

1,820,616
3,270,502

2011
2010

664,158
480,389

3,198,143
4,069,272

3,862,301
4,549,661

2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010

640,857
384,311
658,333
456,369
673,479
518,820
689,018
432,350
640,857
384,311
5,354,058
3,559,681

1,435,611
3,157,615
1,705,676
1,589,514
1,421,397
1,135,132
1,895,196
1,750,895
2,463,754
1,040,881
16,000,190
20,311,236

2,076,468
3,541,926
2,364,009
2,045,883
2,094,876
1,653,952
2,584,214
2,183,245
3,104,611
1,425,192
21,354,248
23,870,917

2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010

677,366
195,288
511,746
–
543,806
–
544,113
–

2,368,995
151,001
1,449,660
–
1,678,978
–
664,447
–

3,046,361
346,289
1,961,406
–
2,222,784
–
1,208,560
–

2011
2010
2011
2010
2011
2010

–
130,632
–
289,823
7,631,089
4,175,424

–
–
–
709,354
22,162,270
21,171,591

–
130,632
–
999,177
29,793,359
25,347,015

Note: For accompanying notes refer to page 114.
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Long-Term Employee Benefits

Restricted
profit
share2
$A

Earnings on
prior year
restricted
profit share3
$A

Total
long-term
employee
benefits
$A

Share Based Payments
Equity
Awards
including
shares4
$A

PSUs5,6
$A

Options7,8
$A

Total
sharebased
payments
$A

Percentage of
remuneration
that
consists
Total
of options
remuneration
and PSUs
$A

%

1,260,305
739,980

613,298
343,373

1,873,603
1,083,353

3,492,752
358,774

2,302,283
1,201,971

(2,422,387)
1,712,935

3,372,648
3,273,680

8,693,404
9,557,589

(1.38)
30.50

(774,723)
1,324,127

1,650,229
392,993

875,506
1,717,120

1,114,537
(181,230)

1,017,002
908,885

(1,941,858)
1,542,932

189,681
2,270,587

2,885,803
7,258,209

(32.05)
33.78

319,814
(488,520)

1,565,782
532,786

1,885,596
44,266

1,974,811
172,968

2,081,316
1,362,214

(1,423,018)
1,211,123

2,633,109
2,746,305

8,381,006
7,340,232

7.85
35.06

334,976
(68,017)
170,568
(58,531)
284,279
191,737

650,490
236,649
63,427
37,819
137,324
85,716

985,466
168,632
233,995
(20,712)
421,603
277,453

1,660,380
445,182
935,379
250,053
736,649
290,170

1,519,064
735,675
814,914
408,361
564,369
207,760

(655,463)
903,519
(448,915)
324,639
(603,835)
440,288

2,523,981
2,084,376
1,301,378
983,053
697,183
938,218

5,585,915
5,794,934
3,899,382
3,008,224
3,213,662
2,869,623

15.46
28.29
9.39
24.37
(1.23)
22.58

379,039
98,826
1,231,877
665,182
3,206,135
2,404,784

152,653
52,658
282,891
341,575
5,116,094
2,023,569

(491,328) 1,605,289
354,464 1,060,777
(322,373) 1,006,888
504,886
829,162
(8,309,177) 13,330,157
6,994,786 14,186,158

4,721,195
3,395,506
5,626,267
3,261,111
43,006,634
42,485,428

11.47
29.43
8.74
25.12

473,799
(46,610)
(194,439)
–
167,898
–
155,038
–

149,185
(10,845)
494,800
–
509,527
–
59,257
–

1,879,700
781,798
1,525,023
–
1,159,301
–
1,091,735
–

5,549,045
1,070,632
3,786,790
–
4,059,510
–
2,514,590
–

17.64
31.00
20.04
–
13.04
–
14.72
–

–
–
–
709,354
3,808,431
3,067,528

–
7,043
–
132,062
6,328,863
2,151,829

–
–
(57,082)
(57,082)
–
–
(312,722)
(312,722)
(7,191,050) 18,985,916
6,863,666 14,598,152

–
80,593
–
1,527,871
58,916,569
45,164,524

–
(70.83)
–
(20.47)

531,692 1,063,893 1,032,724
151,484
61,337
644,976
1,514,768
515,124
814,137
1,006,757
9,823
314,453
8,322,229 11,493,525 10,145,809
4,428,353 1,407,077 5,784,295

622,984
(57,455)
300,361
–
677,425
–
214,295
–

900,867
449,874
766,103
–
629,841
–
721,615
–

724,743
93,240
278,337
–
310,889
–
205,237
–

–
–
–
7,043
–
–
–
–
–
841,416
–
–
10,137,294 14,511,951 11,665,015
5,219,357 1,856,951 5,877,535

254,090
238,684
480,583
–
218,571
–
164,883
–
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Notes on elements of executive remuneration
1

2

3

4

5

Performance related remuneration represents the current
portion of each individual’s profit share allocation in relation
to the reporting period. For 2010, these amounts also
include an adjustment to reflect the difference between the
percentage of 2009 profit share that was reported as
current in the 2009 Executive remuneration disclosure and
the actual percentage of 2009 profit share that is current, as
per the remuneration arrangements approved by
shareholders on 17 December 2009.
This is the amount of retained profit share which is deferred
to future periods and held as a notional investment in
Macquarie managed-fund equity, as described in
section 3.3.2. For 2011, this amount also includes an
adjustment to reflect reallocations of 2010 retained profit
share between the Post-2009 DPS Plan and the MEREP.
For 2010, this amount also includes an adjustment to reflect
the difference between the percentage of 2009 retained
profit share notionally invested in Macquarie-managed fund
equity as reported in the 2009 Executive remuneration
disclosure and the actual percentage of 2009 retained profit
share notionally invested in Macquarie-managed fund equity,
as per the remuneration arrangements approved by
shareholders on 17 December 2009.
This is the notional earnings / (loss) on prior year restricted
profit share allocations described on page 113 to 114 in this
Appendix.
This is the current year amortisation, calculated on the basis
as described in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the
2011 Financial Statements in respect of:
– retained profit share, which is deferred to future periods
and invested in Macquarie ordinary shares as described
in section 3.3.2.
– the discount to the fair value per share at grant date for
Transitioned Amounts (as defined in section 3.3.1).
For 2010, this amount also represents the write back of
100 per cent of 2009 profit share which was allocated to
invest in fully vested Macquarie ordinary shares under the
Executive Committee Share Acquisition Plana. This is an
adjustment because this was delivered as Macquarie equity
under MEREP, which is expensed over the vesting period
from 1 April 2009 which is up to seven years for the most
senior group.
This amount has been calculated on the basis as described
in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the 2011 Financial
Statements. PSU grants for each individual have been
measured at their grant date based on each grant’s fair
value, and this amount is recognised evenly over the
relevant vesting period for each tranche of PSUs granted.
For grants in respect of the 2011 performance year which
have not yet been granted, the Macquarie share price as at
31 March 2011 is used to estimate the expense.

6

7

8

Performance hurdles attached to the PSUs issued to the
Executive Committee allow for PSUs to become exercisable
upon vesting only when the relevant performance hurdles
are met. Performance hurdles for PSUs issued in respect of
the 2009 performance year and vesting at 1 July 2011 are
not expected to be achieved and therefore the PSUs are
not expected to vest. The related expense previously
recognised to 31 March 2010 has been reversed in the
current financial year and results in a reduction in total 2011
remuneration for the impacted individuals.
This amount has been calculated on the basis as described
in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the 2011 Financial
Statements. Prior option grants for each individual have
been measured at their grant dates based on each grant’s
fair value, and this amount is recognised evenly over the
relevant vesting period for each tranche of options granted,
regardless of whether the options are in or out of the money.
For 2011, the amount is based on options granted in
August 2006 (exercise price of $A61.79), August 2007
(exercise price of $A71.41) and August 2008 (exercise price
of $A53.91).
If an option lapses in a reporting period, amounts previously
recognised as remuneration in relation to the lapsed options
are deducted from remuneration in the reporting period. For
2010, in the case of Mr Cox, 9,083 options lapsed during
FY 2010 when he resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009,
and in the case of Mr Minogue, 87,502 options lapsed
during FY2010 when he resigned from executive
responsibilities on 30 November 2009. The reversal of the
amounts previously recognised in relation to these options
exceeded the amounts recognised in relation to their
options which vested during the year, resulting in a negative
balance in the table above for 2010 for Mr Cox and Mr
Minogue.
Performance hurdles attached to the options issued to the
Executive Committee and Executive Voting Directors allow
for options to become exercisable upon the relevant
performance hurdles being met. Performance hurdles for
options issued on or after 30 June 2006 and vesting at
1 July 2010 were not achieved and therefore the options
did not to vest. The related expense previously recognised
for these option grants has been reversed in the current
financial year and results in a reduction in total 2011
remuneration for the impacted individuals. Performance
hurdles for options issued on or after 30 June 2006 and
vesting at 1 July 2011 are not expected to be achieved and
therefore the options are not expected to vest. The related
expense previously recognised to 31 March 2010 has been
reversed in the current financial year and results in a
reduction in total 2011 remuneration for the impacted
individuals.

Notes on individuals
9

a

Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on
28 September 2009.
10
Mr Bishop, Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the
Executive Committee on 2 July 2010.
11
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009.
12
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on
30 November 2009.
Remuneration arrangements for Executive Committee members were changed in 2008 whereby 10 per cent of pre-tax annual
profit share was allocated to invest in fully vested Macquarie ordinary shares for at least three years. In 2009, this was to be
increased to 35 per cent pre-tax for the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and 20 per cent pre-tax for other Executive
Committee members. As the shares were fully vested, 100 per cent of the allocation was expensed in the year of grant.
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Non-Executive Director remuneration
The remuneration arrangements for all of the persons listed below as Non-Executive Directors are described in
section 3.5.2 above.
Directors Fees
Other Benefits1 Total Compensation
$A
$A
$A
2011
825,000
–
825,000
D.S. Clarke2
2010
570,793
–
570,793
2011
257,500
30,000
287,500
M.J. Hawker3
2010
6,720
–
6,720
2011
310,750
–
310,750
P.M. Kirby
2010
291,250
–
291,250
2011
355,050
–
355,050
C.B. Livingstone4
2010
321,250
7,700
328,950
2011
370,000
7,500
377,500
H.K. McCann5
2010
514,489
–
514,489
2011
310,750
–
310,750
J.R. Niland
2010
290,000
–
290,000
2011
335,500
29,250
364,750
H.M. Nugent
2010
321,250
29,250
350,500
2011
377,050
–
377,050
P.H. Warne6
2010
336,500
–
336,500
Total Remuneration – Non-Executive
2011
3,141,600
66,750
3,208,350
Key Management Personnel
2010
2,652,252
36,950
2,689,202
1

2

3
4
5

6

Other benefits for Non-Executive Directors include an additional annual travel allowance of $A40,000 for Mr Hawker effective 1
July 2010 as a Non-Executive Director based in the United Kingdom; 2010 Annual General Meeting Chairman fee for Mr McCann
of $A7,500; BRC related per diem fees for Dr Nugent of $A29,250 (2010: $A29,250); and due diligence committee fees paid to
Ms Livingstone of $A7,700 in 2010.
Mr Clarke sought and was granted leave for part of FY2010 up to 30 August 2009 and resigned from the Board on 17 March
2011.
Mr Hawker was appointed to the Board and the Board Risk Committee on 22 March 2010.
Ms Livingstone was appointed to the Board Corporate Governance Committee on 15 June 2010.
Mr McCann was appointed Acting Chairman in Mr Clarke’s absence (for part of FY2010 up to 30 August 2009) and Chairman on
17 March 2011.
Mr Warne was appointed Acting Chairman of the Board Risk Committee in Mr Clarke’s absence and was appointed Chairman on
27 August 2009. Mr Warne was appointed to the Board Corporate Governance Committee on 15 June 2010.
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Appendix 3: Share and option disclosures

Shareholding of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following table sets out details of Macquarie fully paid ordinary shares held during the year by the Key Management
Personnel including their related parties.
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Name and position

Number of
shares held at
1 April 20101

Shares received
on withdrawal
from the
MEREP

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

1,245,745

–

–

1,245,745

13,485
4,103
23,198
12,000
10,122
21,176
15,821

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
2,000
–
–
–
–
–

13,485
6,103
23,198
12,000
10,122
21,176
15,821

Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop4
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell4
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj4
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

38,205
–
587,616
78,878
148,646
39,035
74,175
249,309
–
15,345
326,867

13,290
6,074
–
–
–
13,159
9,832
14,799
9,341
8,106
8,485

(13,290)
(6,074)
–
(20,779)
(16,963)
(50,329)
(75,270)
(35,925)
(9,341)
(14,515)
–

38,205
–
587,616
58,099
131,683
1,865
8,737
228,183
–
8,936
335,352

Former
D.S. Clarke5

273,717

–

(213,464)

60,253

Non-Executive Directors
H.K. McCann
M.J. Hawker
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne

1
2
3
4

5

Other
changes2

Number of
shares held at
31 March 20113

Minimum shareholding requirements for Executive Key Management Personnel are met by the RSUs they hold through MEREP.
Or date of appointment if later.
Includes on-market acquisitions and disposals.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Bishop, Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on 1 April
2010 represents holdings at the date of their appointment.
Mr Clarke resigned from the Board on 17 March 2011. Balance at 31 March 2011 represents holdings at date of resignation.
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Shares

Shareholding of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the year ended 31 March 2010
Number of
shares held at
1 April 20091

Shares issued
on exercise
of options

Other
changes2

Number of
shares held at
31 March 20103

1,197,411

48,334

–

1,245,745

Non-Executive Directors
D.S. Clarke4
M.J. Hawker5
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
H.K. McCann
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne

704,914
4,103
18,996
8,980
11,359
9,559
20,613
15,821

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(431,197)
–
4,202
3,020
2,126
563
563
–

273,717
4,103
23,198
12,000
13,485
10,122
21,176
15,821

Executives
S.D. Allen6
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

38,205
680,750
124,102
38,475
106,175
267,790
15,345
326,867

–
–
–
–
–
–
13,334
–

–
(93,134)
(45,224)
560
(32,000)
(18,481)
(13,334)
–

38,205
587,616
78,878
39,035
74,175
249,309
15,345
326,867

Former
L.G. Cox7
N.R. Minogue8

269,812
136,620

–
–

–
–

269,812
136,620

Name and position
Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

1
2
3
4
5

6

7
8

Or date of appointment if later.
Includes on-market acquisitions and disposals.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Clarke sought and was granted leave for part of FY2010 up to 30 August 2009.
Mr Hawker was appointed to the Board on 22 March 2010. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents holdings at the date
of appointment.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents
holdings at the date of appointment.
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of resignation.
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on 30 November 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at
date of resignation.
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MEREP RSU Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following tables set out details of the MEREP RSU awards associated with Macquarie shares held during the year for
the Key Management Personnel including their related parties, on a consolidated entity basis. PSUs are disclosed in a
separate table.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Name and position

1
2

3
4

5

6

7

RSU awards
Number of
granted
RSU awards
during the
held at
financial
1 April 20101
year2

Vested RSU
Number of
Value of RSU
awards
Number of
RSU awards granted as
withdrawn from RSU awards
awards
part of
the MEREP
held at
vested at remuneration and
during the
31 March
31 March that vested during
financial year
20113
2011 the financial year

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

466,460

105,362

–

571,822

58,567

2,206,219

Executives
S.D. Allen4
T.C. Bishop5
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell6
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj6
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake7

113,565
159,242
34,661
80,877
60,508
126,778
88,468
108,729
104,379
92,688
69,028

40,304
–
45,715
97,961
–
71,266
36,245
21,769
–
38,313
13,605

(13,290)
(6,074)
–
–
–
(13,159)
(9,832)
(14,799)
(9,341)
(8,106)
(8,485)

140,579
153,168
80,376
178,838
60,508
184,885
114,881
115,699
95,038
122,895
74,148

–
6,002
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

500,634
454,903
–
–
–
495,700
370,371
557,478
351,875
305,353
319,630

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the Financial Statements, RSUs are granted in the financial year
following the year of the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, RSUs disclosed as granted above
relate to 2010.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
At 31 March 2011, 88,406 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Mr Allen does not have a legal or beneficial interest
in the underlying Macquarie shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU award held in the
MEREP.
Mr Bishop was appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on 1 April 2010 represents holdings
at the date of appointment. As at 31 March 2011, 60,382 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Mr Bishop does not
have a legal or beneficial interest in the underlying shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU
award held in the MEREP.
Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on 1 April 2010
represents holdings at the date of their appointment.
At 31 March 2011, 47,603 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Ms Wikramanayake does not have a legal or
beneficial interest in the underlying Macquarie shares however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU held in
the MEREP.
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MEREP RSU Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Number of
RSU awards
held at
1 April 20091

Vested RSU
awards
withdrawn from
the MEREP
during the
financial year

Number of
RSU
awards
held at
31 March
20103

Number
of RSU
awards
vested at
31 March
2010

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

–

466,460

–

466,460

–

–

Executives
S.D. Allen4
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake5

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

113,565
34,661
80,877
126,778
88,468
108,729
92,688
69,028

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

113,565
34,661
80,877
126,778
88,468
108,729
92,688
69,028

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Former
L.G. Cox6
N.R. Minogue7

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Name and position

1
2

3
4

5

6
7

Value of RSU
awards granted as
part of
remuneration and
that vested during
the financial year

RSU
awards
granted
during the
financial
year2

$A

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the Financial Statements, RSUs are granted in the financial year following
the year of the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, RSUs disclosed as granted above relate to
2009 and include pre-2009 in relation to transition awards.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents
holdings at the date of appointment. 88,406 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Mr Allen does not have a legal or
beneficial interest in the underlying Macquarie shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU award
held in the MEREP.
49,330 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Ms Wikramanayake does not have a legal or beneficial interest in the
underlying Macquarie shares however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU held in the MEREP.
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of resignation.
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on 30 November 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at
date of resignation.
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MEREP Performance Share Unit (PSU) Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following tables set out details of MEREP PSU awards held during the year for the Key Management Personnel including their
related parties, on a consolidated entity basis.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011

1
2

3

Number of
Number of
PSU awards
Number of
granted PSU awards PSU awards PSU awards PSU awards
vested
vested at
during the exchanged
held at
during the
31 March
financial
during the
31 March
20113
year2 financial year
20113 financial year

Value of PSUs
granted as
part of
remuneration
and that are
exercised or
sold during
the financial
year

Name and position

Number of
PSU awards
held at
1 April 20101

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

38,300

108,225

–

146,525

–

–

–

Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

–
–
34,300
53,500
–
20,700
13,000
3,900
–
26,700
11,500

29,906
–
69,624
99,567
–
72,510
36,796
24,927
–
44,011
24,927

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

29,906
–
103,924
153,067
–
93,210
49,796
28,827
–
70,711
36,427

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

$A

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the Financial Statements, PSUs are granted in the financial year following the year of
the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, PSUs disclosed as granted above relate to 2010.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
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MEREP Performance Share Unit (PSU) Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Name and position

1
2

3
4

5
6

Number of PSU awards
PSU awards granted during
the financial
held at
year2
1 April 20091

PSU awards
exchanged
during the
financial year

Number of
Number of
PSU awards PSU awards
held at vested during
31 March
the
20103 financial year

Number of
PSU awards
vested at
31 March
20103

Value of PSUs
granted as
part of
remuneration
and that are
exercised or
sold during the
financial year
$

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

–

38,300

–

38,300

–

–

–

Executives
S.D. Allen4
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
34,300
53,500
20,700
13,000
3,900
26,700
11,500

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
34,300
53,500
20,700
13,000
3,900
26,700
11,500

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Former
L.G. Cox5
N.R. Minogue6

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Share based payments to the Financial Statements, PSUs are granted in the financial year following the year
of the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, PSUs disclosed as granted above relate to 2009.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents holdings
at the date of appointment.
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of resignation.
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on 30 November 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date
of resignation.
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Details of PSUs granted and their fair value at grant date
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Name and position

1
2

Number of
PSUs
Date PSUs
granted
granted1

PSUs
exercise
price
$A

Fair
value at
grant
date2
$A

Value of
PSUs
granted as
part of
remuneration
during the
year
$A

Date first
tranche
can be
exercised

Expiry date

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

13 August 2010

108,225

–

34.63

3,747,832 1 July 2012 13 August 2018

Executives
S. D Allen
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

13 August 2010
13 August 2010
13 August 2010
13 August 2010
13 August 2010
13 August 2010
13 August 2010
13 August 2010

29,906
69,624
99,567
72,510
36,796
24,927
44,011
24,927

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

34.63
34.63
34.63
34.63
34.63
34.63
34.63
34.63

1,035,645
2,411,079
3,448,005
2,511,021
1,274,245
863,222
1,524,101
863,222

1 July 2012
1 July 2012
1 July 2012
1 July 2012
1 July 2012
1 July 2012
1 July 2012
1 July 2012

13 August 2018
13 August 2018
13 August 2018
13 August 2018
13 August 2018
13 August 2018
13 August 2018
13 August 2018

This is the grant date for accounting purposes.
Refer to notes on fair value below.

Macquarie has adopted the fair value measurement provisions of AASB 2 Share-Based Payment for all PSUs granted to Key
Management Personnel. The fair value of such grants is being amortised and disclosed as part of each KMP remuneration on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period.
The 2010 PSU allocation has been determined based on a valuation of a PSU at 13 August 2010. The fair value at this date has
been estimated using a discounted cash flow method. For the purpose of calculating the PSU related compensation in Appendix 2
above, Macquarie has assumed that all PSUs will vest, except where it is known that a PSU lapsed during the period.
The following key assumptions were adopted in estimating the value of the PSUs granted:
–
risk free interest rate:
5.20 per cent per annum
–
expected life of PSU:
4 years
–
forecast dividend yield: 3.47 per cent per annum
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Details of PSUs granted and their fair value at grant date continued
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Name and position

1
2
3

Number of
PSUs
Date PSUs
granted
granted1

PSUs
exercise
price
$A

Fair
value at
grant
date2
$A

Value of
PSUs
granted as
part of
remuneration
during the
year3
$A

Date first
tranche
can be
exercised

Expiry date

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

17 December 2009

38,300

–

43.85

1,679,455

1 July 2011

4 March 2018

Executives
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

17 December 2009
17 December 2009
17 December 2009
17 December 2009
17 December 2009
17 December 2009
17 December 2009

34,300
53,500
20,700
13,000
3,900
26,700
11,500

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

43.85
43.85
43.85
43.85
43.85
43.85
43.85

1,504,055
2,345,975
907,695
570,050
171,015
1,170,795
504,275

1 July 2011
1 July 2011
1 July 2011
1 July 2011
1 July 2011
1 July 2011
1 July 2011

4 March 2018
4 March 2018
4 March 2018
4 March 2018
4 March 2018
4 March 2018
4 March 2018

This is the grant date for accounting purposes.
Refer to notes on fair value below.
Values restated based on corrected fair value at grant date.

Macquarie has adopted the fair value measurement provisions of AASB 2 Share-Based Payment for all PSUs granted to Key
Management Personnel. The fair value of such grants is being amortised and disclosed as part of each KMP remuneration on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period.
The 2009 PSU allocation has been determined based on a valuation of a PSU at 17 December 2009, being the day on which
MEREP was approved by shareholders. The fair value at this date has been estimated using a discounted cash flow method.
For the purpose of calculating the PSU related compensation in Appendix 2 above, Macquarie has assumed that all PSUs will
vest, except where it is known that a PSU lapsed during the period.
The following key assumptions were adopted in estimating the value of the PSUs granted in respect of the 2009 year:
–
risk free interest rate:
5.24 per cent per annum
–
expected life of PSU:
4 years
–
forecast dividend yield: 3.47 per cent per annum
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Options

Option holdings of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following table sets out details of options held during the year for the Key Management Personnel including their related
parties. The options are over fully paid unissued ordinary shares of Macquarie Group Limited.
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Name and position

1
2

3
4
5
6

Number of
options
Options
outstanding exercised
at during the
1 April
financial
20101
year

Options not
able to be
exercised
due to
performance
hurdles not
met2

Number of
options
outstanding
at
Other
31 March
changes3
20114

Number of
options
vested
during the
financial
year

Number of
options
vested at
31 March
20114

Value of
options
granted as
part of
remuneration
and that are
exercised or
sold during the
financial year5
$A

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

623,501

–

(186,100)

(170,000)

267,401

–

53,333

–

Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop6
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell6
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj6
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

218,725
355,219
460,781
341,334
211,595
347,925
103,334
161,000
108,000
123,500
178,275

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
(156,454)
(116,000)
–
(45,000)
(34,999)
(47,000)
–
(37,833)
(26,666)

(69,750)
(24,414)
(81,207)
(50,000)
(33,500)
(52,320)
(16,667)
(50,000)
–
(30,000)
(23,000)

148,975
330,805
223,120
175,334
178,095
250,605
51,668
64,000
108,000
55,667
128,609

49,659
–
–
–
–
53,536
–
–
–
–
25,092

98,112
181,470
47,786
28,333
113,767
134,816
10,000
15,000
57,333
10,000
60,211

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Or date of appointment if later.
Performance hurdles for options issued on or after 30 June 2006 and vesting at 1 July 2010 were not achieved and therefore the options
did not vest. These options were not exercisable and the related expense previously recognised on these option grants was reversed during
the year. The value of those options that lapsed calculated on 1 July 2010 was $nil. Such options have been excluded from the table above.
Includes vested options lapsed during the financial year.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Includes options that were granted as part of remuneration in prior financial years.
Mr Bishop, Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on 1 April 2010
represents holdings at the date of their appointment.
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Option holdings of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
The following table sets out details of options held during the year for the Key Management Personnel including their related
parties. The options are over fully paid unissued ordinary shares of Macquarie Group Limited.
For the year ended 31 March 2010

2

3
4
5
6

7
8

56,668

223,333

595,475

218,725
460,781
341,334
347,925
103,334
161,000
123,500
178,275

–
40,604
16,668
70,974
8,334
16,668
10,000
36,591

90,303
128,993
78,333
133,600
26,667
65,000
40,000
58,119

–
–
97,752
75,792
115,739
66,668
90,538
–

–
46,666

–
11,668

–
46,666

–
42,535

Options
exercised
during the
financial
year

Options not
able to be
exercised
due to
performance
hurdles not
met2

Other
changes3

776,634

(48,334)

(104,799)

–

623,501

Executives
S.D. Allen6
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

218,725
550,567
426,334
372,374
135,001
224,334
156,834
178,275

–
–
–
–
–
–
(13,334)
–

–
(89,786)
(56,666)
–
(18,333)
(30,000)
(20,000)
–

–
–
(28,334)
(24,449)
(13,334)
(33,334)
–
–

Former
L.G. Cox7
N.R. Minogue8

32,265
170,834

–
–

(6,081) (26,184)
(23,332) (100,836)

Number of
options
outstanding
at
1 April
20091

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

Name and position

1

Number of
options
vested at
31 March
20104

Value of options
granted as
part of
remuneration
and that are
exercised or
sold during the
financial year5
$A

Number of
Number of
options
options
outstanding
at vested during
31 March the financial
year
20104

Or date of appointment if later.
Performance hurdles for options issued on or after 30 June 2006 and vesting at 1 July 2009 were not achieved and therefore the options
did not vest. These options were not exercisable and the related expense previously recognised on these option grants were reversed in
the prior year. The value of those options that lapsed calculated on 1 July 2009 was $nil. Such options have been excluded from the table
above.
Includes vested options sold under facility provided by an external party, unless otherwise noted.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Includes options that were granted as part of remuneration in prior financial years.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance at 1 April 2009 represents holdings at
date of appointment.
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of resignation.
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on 30 November 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of
resignation.

Ordinary shares issued as a result of the exercise of options by Key Management Personnel during the year
There were no options exercised by Key Management Personnel during the year ending 31 March 2011.
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Name and position
Executives
N.W. Moore
G.C. Ward

Number of options
exercised during
the financial year
48,334
13,334

Number of shares
issued on exercise
of options

48,334
13,334

Exercise price
paid in full
per share
$A
32.26
33.11
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Appendix 4: Loan disclosures
Loans to Key Management Personnel

Details of loans provided by Macquarie to Key Management Personnel and their related parties are disclosed in
the following tables:

Total for Key Management
Personnel and their related
parties
Total for Key Management
Personnel

2011
2010

Opening
balance at
1 April
$A’000
31,691
42,861

Interest
charged
$A’000
1,290
3,045

2011
2010

12,422
22,729

693
863

Write-down
$A’000
–
–

Closing
balance at
31 March
$A’000
5,532
31,691

Number in
group
31 March
n/a
n/a

–
–

5,532
12,422

3
5

Loans and other financial instrument transactions are made by Macquarie in the ordinary course of business with related
parties.
Certain loans are provided under zero cost collar facilities secured over Macquarie Group Limited shares under normal
terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees.

Key Management Personnel including their related parties with loans above $A100,000 at any time
during the financial year:
For the year ended 31 March 2011

1

2
3

Highest
balance
Balance at
during
31 March
20112 financial year
$A’000
$A’000

Name and position

Balance at
1 April 2010
$A’000

Interest
charged1
$A’000

Write-down
$A’000

Executive Directors
N.M. Moore

5,274

304

–

5,274

5,274

Executives
R.S. Laidlaw

238

14

–

238

238

Former
D.S. Clarke3

26,160

971

–

5,757

26,526

All loans provided by Macquarie to Directors and Executives are made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s-length
basis and are entered into under normal terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. There have been
no write-downs or allowances for doubtful debts.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Clarke resigned from the Board on 17 March 2011. Balance at 31 March 2011 represents the balance at date of resignation.

126

Key Management Personnel including their related parties with loans above $A100,000 at any time
during the financial year continued:
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Name and position
Executive Directors
N.M. Moore
Non-Executive Directors
D.S. Clarke3
Executives
R.S. Laidlaw
1

2
3

Balance at
Highest
31 March balance during
20102
financial year
$A’000
$A’000

Balance at
1 April 2009
$A’000

Interest
charged1
$A’000

Write-down

5,313

330

–

5,274

5,313

37,290

2,700

–

26,160

38,975

238

14

–

238

238

$A’000

All loans provided by Macquarie to Directors and Executives are made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s-length
basis and are entered into under normal terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. There have been
no write-downs or allowances for doubtful debts.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Clarke sought and was granted leave for part of FY2010 up to 30 August 2009.
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Appendix 5: Other disclosures
Other transactions and balances of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
Certain Key Management Personnel and their related parties have acquired Infrastructure Bonds and similar products
from subsidiaries within the consolidated entity, which have been financed with limited recourse loans and are subject to
forward sale agreements. The loan repayments and proceeds arising from the forward sale agreements are subject to a
legal right of set–off and as such are not recognised for financial reporting purposes. The only amounts recognised by
the consolidated entity in respect of these transactions are the annual payments from the relevant Key Management
Personnel which are brought to account as fee revenue. These transactions have been undertaken on terms and
conditions consistent with other customers and employees.
Consolidated Consolidated
2010
2011
$A’000
$A’000
Total annual contributions from Key Management Personnel and their related parties in
13,892
respect of Infrastructure Bonds and similar products
10,123
The annual contributions in respect of Infrastructure Bonds and similar products relate to the following
Key Management Personnel:
Executive Directors
N.W. Moore
Non-Executive Directors
P.M. Kirby
Executives
S.D. Allen, M. Carapiet, A.J. Downe, G.A. Farrell (2011 only) R.S. Laidlaw, P.J. Maher, W.R. Sheppard, S. Vrcelj
(2011 only), G.C. Ward, S. Wikramanayake
Former
L.G. Cox (2010 only), N.R. Minogue (2010 only)
The following Key Management Personnel (including related parties) have entered into zero cost collar transactions with
Macquarie and other non related entities in respect of Macquarie ordinary shares. This has the effect of acquiring cashsettled put options against movements in the Macquarie share price below nominated levels and disposing of the benefit
of any share price movement above the nominated level.
Number of
Number of
shares
shares
20102
20111
Name and position
Description
Executives
A.J. Downe
Matured August 2010
21,905
–
Matured July 2010
–
21,905
Former
D.S. Clarke
Matured June 2010
–
213,517
1

2

Mr Downe entered into a zero cost collar for the period 4 June 2010 to 2 August 2010. There was no loan associated with this
collar and the shares were not sold upon maturity on 2 August 2010. Mr Downe subsequently sold these shares in August 2010.
The collar and the loan reported for Mr Clarke and the collar reported for Mr Downe for the year ending 31 March 2010 were
unwound on 31 May 2010 and 1 June 2010 respectively. The shares and the loan (where applicable) were repaid on those dates.

All other transactions with Key Management Personnel (including their personally related parties) were conducted on an
arm’s-length basis in the ordinary course of business and under normal terms and conditions for customers and
employees. These transactions were trivial or domestic in nature and consisted principally of normal personal banking
and financial investment services.

This is the end of the Remuneration Report.
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Voting Directors’ equity participation
At 29 April 2011, the Voting Directors have relevant interests, as notified by the Voting Directors to the Australian
Securities Exchange in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the Act), in the following shares and share
options of Macquarie:

N.W. Moore
M.J. Hawker
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
H.K. McCann
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne
1

2

Fully paid
ordinary shares
held at
29 April 2011
1,245,745
2,000
23,198

Share options
held at
29 April 20111
558,300
–
–

12,000
13,485
10,122
13,006
15,821

–
–
–
–
–

RSUs held in
the MEREP2
571,822
–

PSUs held in
the MEREP2
146,525
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

These share options were issued pursuant to the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan and are subject to the exercise
conditions applying to grants of options to Executive Directors, as described in note 36 – Employee equity participation.
These RSUs and PSUs were issued pursuant to the Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan and are subject to the
vesting, forfeiture and other conditions applied to grants of awards to Executive Directors, as described in note 36 – Employee
equity participation.

During the financial year, Voting Directors received dividends relating to their shareholdings in Macquarie at the same rate
as other shareholders.
The relevant interests of Voting Directors as at 29 April 2011 in managed investment schemes made available by
subsidiaries of Macquarie and contracts that confer a right to call for or deliver shares in Macquarie are listed on
page 131.
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Directors’ and officers’ indemnification and
insurance
Under Macquarie Group’s Constitution, Macquarie
indemnifies all past and present Directors and
Secretaries of Macquarie (including at this time the Voting
Directors named in this report and the Secretaries), and
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, against certain liabilities
and costs incurred by them in their respective capacities.
The indemnity covers the following liabilities and legal
costs (subject to the exclusions described below):
– every liability incurred by the person in their respective
capacity
– all legal costs incurred in defending or resisting (or
otherwise in connection with) proceedings in which the
person becomes involved because of their respective
capacity, and
– legal costs incurred by the person in good faith in
obtaining legal advice on issues relevant to the
performance and discharge of their duties as an officer
of Macquarie or of a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Macquarie, if that has been approved in accordance
with Macquarie policy.
This indemnity does not apply to the extent that:
– Macquarie is forbidden by law to indemnify the person
against the liability or legal costs, or
– an indemnity by Macquarie of the person against the
liability or legal costs, if given, would be made void by
law.
Macquarie has also entered into a Deed of Access,
Indemnity, Insurance and Disclosure (Deed) with each of
the Voting Directors. Under the Deed, Macquarie, inter
alia, agrees to:
– indemnify the Voting Director to the full extent of the
indemnity given in relation to officers of Macquarie
under its Constitution in force from time to time
– take out and maintain an insurance policy against
liabilities incurred by the Voting Director acting as an
officer of Macquarie or a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Macquarie, or acting as an officer of another company
at the specific request of Macquarie or a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Macquarie. The insurance policy must be
in an amount and on terms and conditions appropriate
for a reasonably prudent company in Macquarie
Group’s position. The insurance policy must also be
maintained for seven years after the Voting Director
ceases to be a Voting Director or until any proceedings
commenced during that period have been finally
resolved (including any appeal proceedings), and
– grant access to the Voting Director to all company
papers (including Board papers and other documents)
of Macquarie or a subsidiary.

In addition, Macquarie made an Indemnity and Insurance
Deed Poll on 12 September 2007 (Deed Poll). The
benefit of the undertakings made by Macquarie under
the Deed Poll have been given to each of the Directors,
Secretaries, persons involved in the management and
certain other persons, of Macquarie, its wholly-owned
subsidiaries and other companies where the person is
acting as such at the specific request of Macquarie or a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Macquarie. The Deed Poll
provides for the same indemnity and insurance
arrangements for those persons with the benefit of the
Deed Poll as for the Deed of Indemnity, Access,
Insurance and Disclosure described above. However, the
Deed Poll does not provide for access to company
documents of Macquarie or any subsidiary of Macquarie.
The indemnities and insurance arrangements provided
for under the Macquarie Constitution, the Deed and the
Deed Poll, are broadly consistent with the corresponding
indemnities and insurance arrangements provided under
the Macquarie Bank Constitution and deeds entered into
by Macquarie Bank, and were adopted by Macquarie
upon the Consolidated Entity restructure, under which
Macquarie replaced Macquarie Bank as the parent
company of the Group.
Macquarie maintains a Directors’ and Officers’ insurance
policy that provides cover for each person in favour of
whom such insurance is required to be taken out under
the Deed and the Deed Poll and for Macquarie in
indemnifying such persons pursuant to the Deed and the
Deed Poll. Relevant individuals pay the premium
attributable to the direct coverage under the policy and
Macquarie pays the premium attributable to the company
reimbursement coverage under the policy. The Directors’
and Officers’ insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the
premium payable under the policy and the nature of the
liabilities insured.
Share options
Information on Macquarie Group’s share option scheme,
options granted and shares issued as a result of the
exercise of options during or since the end of the
financial year is contained in note 36 to the full financial
report – Employee equity participation.
No person holding an option has or had, by virtue of the
option, a right to participate in a share issue of any other
corporation. No unissued shares, other than those
referred to above, are under option as at the date of this
report.
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Directors’ relevant interests
The relevant interests of Directors on 29 April 2011 in managed investment schemes made available by subsidiaries of
Macquarie Group and other disclosable relevant interests are listed in the table below:
Name and position
Executive Director
N.W. Moore

Direct interests

Macquarie ordinary shares
Macquarie Employee Retained
Equity Plan (MEREP) Restricted
Share Units (RSUs)
Macquarie Group Employee
Share Option Plan (MGESOP)
Options
MEREP Performance Share
Units (PSUs)
Macquarie Global Infrastructure
Fund (GIF) (B) units
2006 Macquarie ReFleXion
Trusts units
2004 Macquarie Timber Land
Trust units
2006 Macquarie Timber Land
Trust units
Macquarie GIF III (B) units

Indirect interests

858,699
571,822

Macquarie ordinary shares
Macquarie GIF (B) units

387,046
64,177

558,300

Macquarie GIF III (B) units

362,382

146,525
483,674
5,000,000
50
75
1,637,618

Independent Voting Directors
M.J. Hawker

Macquarie ordinary shares

2,000

Macquarie Convertible
Preference Securities
Macquarie Wrap Cash Account
(MWCA) units

P.M. Kirby

C.B. Livingstone

H.K. McCann

Macquarie ordinary shares

Macquarie ordinary shares

Macquarie ordinary shares

23,198

646

11,922

450
50,921.66

MQ Capital-Asia Trust units

175,000

MQ Special Events Fund units

340,038

Macquarie ordinary shares

11,354

Charter Hall REIT units

3,762

Macquarie ordinary shares

1,563

No.1 Martin Place Trust units

103,000

J.R. Niland

Macquarie ordinary shares

2,309

Macquarie ordinary shares

7,813

H.M. Nugent

Macquarie ordinary shares

3,564

Macquarie ordinary shares

9,442

P.H Warne

Macquarie ordinary shares

2,744

Macquarie ordinary shares

13,077

Charter Hall REIT units

14,084
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Environmental regulations
The Consolidated Entity has policies and procedures in
place that are designed to ensure that, where operations
are subject to any particular and significant environmental
regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State
or Territory, those obligations are identified and
appropriately addressed.
The Voting Directors have determined that there has not
been any material breach of those obligations during the
financial year.
Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor of
the Consolidated Entity, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC),
and its related practices for non-audit services provided
during the year is disclosed in note 44 – Audit and other
services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
The Consolidated Entity’s external auditor policy, which is
discussed in the Corporate Governance Statement, states
that the external auditor is not to provide non-audit
services under which the auditor assumes the role of
management, becomes an advocate for the Consolidated
Entity, or audits its own professional expertise. The policy
also provides that significant permissible non-audit
assignments awarded to external auditors must be
approved in advance by the Board Audit Committee (BAC)
or the BAC Chairman, as appropriate.
The BAC has reviewed a summary of non-audit services
provided during the year by PwC and its related practices,
and has confirmed that the provision of non-audit services
is compatible with the general standard of independence
for auditors imposed by the Act. This has been formally
advised to the Board of Directors. Consequently, the
Voting Directors are satisfied that the provision of nonaudit services during the year by the auditor and its related
practices did not compromise the auditor independence
requirements of the Act.

Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration, as
required under section 307C of the Act, is set out in the
Directors’ Report Schedule 2 following this report.
Rounding of amounts
In accordance with Australian Securities & Investments
Commission Class Order 98/0100 (as amended), amounts
in the full Financial Report have been rounded off to the
nearest million dollars unless otherwise indicated.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the
Voting Directors.

H. Kevin McCann, AM
Independent Director and Chairman

Nicholas Moore
Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer
Sydney
29 April 2011
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Directors’ experience and special responsibilities
H Kevin McCann, AM, BA LLB (Hons) (Syd), LLM (Harv),
FAICD (age 70)

Independent Chairman since 17 March 2011
Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in
August 2007
Chairman – Board Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman – Board Nominating Committee since
1 April 2011
Member – Board Audit Committee
Member – Board Risk Committee
Kevin McCann joined the Board of Macquarie Group
Limited as an Independent Voting Director in August 2007.
Mr McCann was appointed as an Independent Voting
Director of Macquarie Bank Limited in December 1996
and continues to hold this position. Mr McCann was
appointed Macquarie's Lead Independent Director in
October 2007 and as the Chairman of the Macquarie
Group Limited and Macquarie Bank Limited Boards on
17 March 2011. He is currently Chairman of Origin Energy
Limited (since February 2000) and ING Management
Limited (since September 2010), a Director of BlueScope
Steel Limited (since May 2002) and a member of the
Council of the National Library of Australia, the University
of Sydney Senate and the Evans and Partners Advisory
Board. Mr McCann is also NSW President and a board
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Mr McCann was a Partner (from 1970 to 2004) and
Chairman of Allens Arthur Robinson, a leading firm of
Australian lawyers. He practiced as a commercial lawyer
specialising in Mergers and Acquisitions, Mineral and
Resources Law and Capital Markets Transactions. He was
previously Chairman of Triako Resources Limited (April
1999 to 2006) and Healthscope Limited (March 1994 to
October 2008).

Nicholas W Moore, BCom LLB (UNSW), FCA (age 52)

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
since May 2008
Executive Voting Director – joined the Board in
February 2008
Member – Board Risk Committee
Nicholas Moore joined the Board of Macquarie Group
Limited in February 2008 as an Executive Voting Director.
Mr Moore was appointed as an Executive Voting Director
of Macquarie Bank Limited in May 2008 and continues to
hold this position. Currently, Mr Moore is Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer of Macquarie Group
Limited. He is also Chairman of the Police and Community
Youth Clubs NSW Limited, a Director of the Centre for
Independence Studies and Chairman of the University of
NSW Business School Advisory Council.
Mr Moore joined Macquarie’s Corporate Services Division
in 1986. He led a range of transactions, including Hills
Motorway, which led the development of Macquarie’s
infrastructure business. In 1996, Mr Moore was appointed
Head of the Project and Structured Finance Division. In
1998 he was appointed Head of the Asset and
Infrastructure Group and then Head of the Investment
Banking Group (predecessor to Macquarie Capital) on its
inception in 2001. In this role, he oversaw significant
growth in Macquarie Capital’s net income through the
global growth of the advisory, fund management, financing
and securities businesses. He was previously a Director of
Macquarie Infrastructure Group (January 1996 to April
2008), Macquarie Capital Alliance Group (August 2003 to
April 2008) and Macquarie Media Group (September 2005
to April 2008).
Mr Moore is a resident of New South Wales.

Mr McCann is a resident of New South Wales.
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Michael J Hawker, AM, BSc (Sydney), FAICD, FAIM,
SF Fin (age 51)

Peter M Kirby, BEc (Rhodes), BEc (Hons) (Natal), MA
(Manch), MBA (Wits) (age 63)

Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in March
2010
Member – Board Risk Committee

Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in
August 2007
Member – Board Audit Committee
Member –Board Corporate Governance Committee
Member –Board Risk Committee

Michael Hawker joined the Board of Macquarie Group
Limited and Macquarie Bank Limited as an Independent
Voting Director in March 2010. Mr Hawker also serves as a
Director of Aviva Plc, the largest insurance provider in the
UK (since January 2010), the Australian Rugby Union, the
Sydney University Football Club Foundation and Chairman
of the George Institute for Global Health. He is also a
member of the board of trustees of the Giant Steps
Foundation and a member of the Advisory Board to GEMS,
a Hong Kong based private equity firm.
Mr Hawker was Chief Executive Officer and Managing
Director of Insurance Australia Group from 2001 to 2008.
From 1995 to 2001, he was with Westpac Banking
Corporation where his roles included Group Executive of
Business and Consumer Banking and General Manager of
Financial Markets. Prior to this, he held a number of roles
with Citibank, including Deputy Managing Director for
Australia and subsequently Executive Director, Head of
Derivatives, Europe. He has also been President of the
Insurance Council of Australia, Chairman of the Australian
Financial Markets Association, board member of the
Geneva Association, member of the Financial Sector
Advisory Council and is the founder of the Australian
Business in the Community Network.

Peter Kirby joined the Board of Macquarie Group Limited
as an Independent Voting Director in August 2007. Mr
Kirby was appointed as an Independent Voting Director of
Macquarie Bank Limited in June 2003 and he continues to
hold this position. He is also currently Chairman of
DuluxGroup Limited (since July 2010) and a Director of the
Beacon Foundation.
Mr Kirby was the Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer of CSR Limited from 1998 to March 2003. He was
a member of the Board of the Business Council of
Australia from 2001 to 2003. Mr Kirby received the
Centenary Medal in 2003. Prior to joining CSR, he was
with the Imperial Chemical Industries PLC group (ICI) for
25 years in a variety of senior management positions
around the world, including Chairman/CEO of ICI Paints,
responsible for the group’s coatings businesses worldwide,
and a member of the Executive Board of ICI PLC, with
responsibility for ICI Americas and the western hemisphere.
He is a former Chairman and Director of Medibank Private
Limited and a former Director of Orica Limited (from July
2003 to July 2010).
Mr Kirby is a resident of Victoria.

Mr Hawker is a resident of the United Kingdom.
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Catherine B. Livingstone, AO, BA (Hons) (Macquarie),
HonDBus (Macquarie), HonDSc (Murdoch), FCA, FTSE,
FAICD (age 55)

Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in
August 2007
Chairman – Board Audit Committee
Member – Board Corporate Governance Committee
Member – Board Nominating Committee
Member – Board Risk Committee
Catherine Livingstone joined the Board of Macquarie
Group Limited as an Independent Voting Director in
August 2007. Ms Livingstone was appointed as an
Independent Voting Director of Macquarie Bank Limited in
November 2003 and she continues to hold this position.
She is also currently Chairman of Telstra Corporation
Limited (Director since November 2000 and Chairman
since May 2009), a Director of WorleyParsons Limited
(since June 2007) and Future Directions International Pty
Ltd and a member of the New South Wales Innovation
Council and the Royal Institution of Australia.
Ms Livingstone was the Managing Director of Cochlear
Limited from 1994 to 2000. Prior to that she was the Chief
Executive, Finance at Nucleus Limited and before that held
a variety of finance and accounting roles including having
been with chartered accountants, Price Waterhouse, for
several years. Ms Livingstone was also previously
Chairman of CSIRO and a Director of Goodman Fielder
Limited and Rural Press Limited. Ms Livingstone was
awarded the Centenary Medal in 2003 for service to
Australian Society in Business Leadership and was elected
a Fellow of the Australian Academy of Technological
Sciences and Engineering in 2002.

John R. Niland, AC, BCom, MCom, HonDSc (UNSW),
PhD (Illinois), DUniv (SCU), FAICD (age 70)

Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in
August 2007
Member – Board Corporate Governance Committee
Member – Board Remuneration Committee
Member – Board Risk Committee
John Niland joined the Board of Macquarie Group Limited
as an Independent Voting Director in August 2007. Dr
Niland was appointed as an Independent Voting Director
of Macquarie Bank Limited in February 2003 and
continues to hold this position. Dr Niland is a Professor
Emeritus of the University of New South Wales (UNSW)
and was Vice-Chancellor and President of UNSW from
1992 to 2002. Before that he was the Dean of the Faculty
of Commerce and Economics. He is currently Chairman of
Campus Living Funds Management Limited and Deputy
Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Singapore
Management University.
Dr Niland is a former Chief Executive of the State Pollution
Control Commission and Executive Chairman of the
Environment Protection Authority. He has served on the
Australian Universities Council, the Prime Minister’s
Science, Engineering and Innovation Council, the boards
of the Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust,
realestate.com.au Limited, St Vincent’s Hospital, the
Sydney Symphony Orchestra Foundation, the Sydney
Olympic bid’s Building Commission and the University
Grants Committee of Hong Kong. He is a former President
of the National Trust of Australia (NSW).
Dr Niland is a resident of New South Wales.

Ms Livingstone is a resident of New South Wales.
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Helen M. Nugent, AO, BA (Hons)(Qld), PhD (Qld), MBA
(Harv), HonDBus (Qld) (age 62)

Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in
August 2007
Chairman – Board Remuneration Committee
Member – Board Nominating Committee
Member – Board Risk Committee
Helen Nugent joined the Board of Macquarie Group
Limited as an Independent Voting Director in August 2007.
Dr Nugent was appointed as an Independent Voting
Director of Macquarie Bank Limited in June 1999 and
continues to hold this position. She is currently Chairman
of Funds SA and a Director of Origin Energy Limited (since
March 2003) and Freehills. Dr Nugent is also Deputy
Chairman of the National Portrait Gallery and Chancellor of
Bond University.
Previously, Dr Nugent was involved in the financial services
sector as a Director of Strategy at Westpac Banking
Corporation (1994 to 1999) and a Non-Executive Director
of the State Bank of New South Wales (1993 to 1994) and
Mercantile Mutual (1992 to 1994). In addition, she was
previously Chairman of Hudson (Australia and New
Zealand) and Swiss Re Life and Health (Australia) Limited
and a Director of UNiTAB, Carter Holt Harvey and
Australia Post. She has also been a Partner at McKinsey
and Company. She has been actively involved in the arts
and education. In the arts, she was formerly Deputy
Chairman of the Australia Council, Chairman of the Major
Performing Arts Board of the Australia Council, Chairman
of the Ministerial Inquiry into the Major Performing Arts and
Deputy Chairman of Opera Australia. In education, Dr
Nugent was a member of the Bradley Review into Higher
Education and a Professor in Management and Director of
the MBA Program at the Australian Graduate School of
Management.
Dr Nugent is a resident of New South Wales.

Peter H. Warne BA (Macquarie) (age 55)

Independent Voting Director – joined the Board in
August 2007
Chairman – Board Risk Committee
Member - Board Audit Committee
Member - Board Corporate Governance Committee
Member - Board Remuneration Committee
Peter Warne joined the Board of Macquarie Group Limited
as an Independent Voting Director in August 2007. Mr
Warne was appointed as an Independent Voting Director
of Macquarie Bank Limited in July 2007 and continues to
hold this position. He is currently on the boards of other
listed entities as Chairman of ALE Property Group (since
September 2003) and Deputy Chairman of WHK Group
Limited (Director since May 2007). Mr Warne is also
Deputy Chairman of Capital Markets CRC Limited, a
Director of Next Financial Limited, Securities Research
Centre of Asia Pacific Limited and ASX Limited, and a
member of the Advisory Board of the Australian Office of
Financial Management.
Mr Warne was Head of Bankers Trust Australia Limited’s
(BTAL) Financial Markets Group from 1988 to 1999. Prior
to this he held a number of roles at BTAL. He is also a
former Director of Macquarie Capital Alliance Group
(February 2005 to June 2007) and a former Chairman and
Director of TEYS Limited (Director from October 2007 and
Chairman from July 2008 to June 2009). Mr Warne was a
Director and Deputy Chairman of the Sydney Futures
Exchange (SFE) from 1995 to 1999 and a Director from
2000 to 2006. When the SFE merged with the Australian
Securities Exchange in 2006 he became a Director of ASX
Limited.
Mr Warne is a resident of New South Wales.
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Company secretaries’ qualifications and experience
Dennis Leong, BSc BE (Hons) (Syd), MCom (UNSW),
CPA, FCIS

Company Secretary since 12 October 2006
Dennis Leong is an Executive Director of Macquarie and
Head of the Group’s Company Secretarial Division, which
is responsible for the Group’s company secretarial
requirements, professional risks and general insurances
and employee equity plans. He has had over 17 years
company secretarial experience and 12 years experience
in corporate finance at Macquarie and Hill Samuel Australia
Limited.
Paula Walsh, ACIS

Assistant Company Secretary since 29 May 2008
Paula Walsh is a Division Director of Macquarie. She has
over 23 years company secretarial experience, with 24
years service at British Telecommunications PLC where,
amongst other roles, she was most recently Head of
Corporate Governance, Asia Pacific, until joining
Macquarie in May 2007.
Nigel Donnelly BEc LLB (Hons) (Macquarie)

Assistant Company Secretary since 30 October 2008
Nigel Donnelly is a Division Director of Macquarie and has
over 11 years experience as a solicitor. Nigel joined
Macquarie in April 2006, and was previously a Senior
Associate at Mallesons Stephen Jaques with a general
corporate advisory and corporate governance focus.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
As lead auditor for the audit of Macquarie Group Limited for
the year ended 31 March 2011, I declare that to the best of
my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a)

no contraventions of the auditor independence
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
in relation to the audit; and

b)

no contraventions of any applicable code of
professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Macquarie Group Limited
and the entities it controlled during the period.

DH Armstrong
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Sydney
29 April 2011

Liability is limited by scheme approved under Professional
Standards Legislation
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Consolidated
2011
Notes
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

2

5,304
(4,029)
1,275

4,591
(3,511)
1,080

521
(593)
(72)

453
(456)
(3)

Fee and commission income
Net trading income
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and
joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method
Other operating income and charges
Net operating income

2
2

3,891
1,368

3,721
1,299

–
–

–
–

2
2

179
931
7,644

(230)
768
6,638

–
635
563

–
385
382

Employment expenses
Brokerage and commission expenses
Occupancy expenses
Non-salary technology expenses
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

2
2
2
2
2

(3,890)
(785)
(483)
(316)
(899)
(6,373)

(3,101)
(645)
(482)
(283)
(833)
(5,344)

(3)
–
–
–
(14)
(17)

(3)
(5)
–
–
(20)
(28)

1,271
(282)

1,294
(201)

546
27

354
9

989

1,093

573

363

(4)
(26)
(3)
(33)

(8)
(21)
(14)
(43)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

956
1,050
Cents per share
282.5
320.2
317.4
275.9

573

363

Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges
Net interest income/(expense)

Operating profit before income tax
Income tax (expense)/benefit

4

Profit after income tax
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests:
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities
Macquarie Income Securities
Other non-controlling interests
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

5
5

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of Macquarie Group Limited
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

6
6

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Income statements
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Consolidated
2011
Notes
$m
Profit after income tax for the financial year
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Available for sale investments, net of tax
32
32
Cash flow hedges, net of tax
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures, net of tax
32
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations, net of tax
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income for
the financial year
Total comprehensive income for the financial year
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the
financial year is attributable to:
Ordinary equity holders of Macquarie Group
Limited
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities holders
Macquarie Income Securities holders
Other non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the financial year

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

989

1,093

573

363

256
2

129
178

–
–

–
–

27

36

–

–

(503)

(242)

–

–

(218)
771

101
1,194

–
573

–
363

741
–
26
4
771

1,107
73
21
(7)
1,194

573
–
–
–
573

363
–
–
–
363

The above statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Statements of comprehensive income
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Consolidated
2011
Notes
$m
Assets
Due from financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and
reverse repurchase agreements
Trading portfolio assets
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Other financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Derivative financial instruments – positive values
Other assets
Investment securities available for sale
Intangible assets
Life investment contracts and other unitholder
investment assets
Due from subsidiaries
Interests in associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Deferred income tax assets
Non-current assets and assets of disposal
groups classified as held for sale
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities lent and
repurchase agreements
Trading portfolio liabilities
Derivative financial instruments – negative values
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost
Other financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
Other liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Life investment contracts and other unitholder
liabilities
Due to subsidiaries
Provisions
Deferred income tax liabilities
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held
for sale
Total liabilities excluding loan capital
Loan capital
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Subordinated debt at amortised cost
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit
or loss
Total loan capital
Total liabilities
Net assets

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

7

9,817

8,251

–

–

8
9
10

8,790
14,898
46,016

7,149
12,138
44,267

–
–
–

–
–
–

12
40
13
14
15

11,668
21,185
12,646
17,051
1,317

9,172
21,561
11,801
18,221
1,456

–
–
3
–
–

–
–
104
–
–

16
34

5,059
–

4,846
–

–
9,530

–
11,643

17
18
19
20

2,790
5,007
–
1,245

3,927
1,900
–
1,124

–
–
13,605
183

–
–
13,322
56

21

79
157,568

127
145,940

–
23,321

–
25,125

22

7,810

9,927

4,451

6,922

23
24
40

6,617
5,808
21,572
35,338
41,177

7,490
5,432
21,706
22,484
42,614

–
–
–
52
4,116

–
–
–
54
3,154

4,339
14,327
197

4,413
12,679
119

–
–
92

–
–
9

5,055
–
215
287

4,864
–
191
235

–
1,951
3
–

–
2,357
–
–

–
142,742

9
132,163

–
10,665

–
12,496

595
1,832

593
916

–
–

–
–

467
2,894
145,636
11,932

499
2,008
134,171
11,769

–
–
10,665
12,656

–
–
12,496
12,629

25
26
27

34
28
20
21

30

Statements of financial position
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Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

7,140
(731)
104
310
4,581

6,990
(443)
137
280
4,268

9,944
(726)
–
604
2,834

9,806
(438)
–
359
2,902

11,404

11,232

12,656

12,629

63
391
74
11,932

67
391
79
11,769

–
–
–
12,656

–
–
–
12,629

Consolidated
2011
Notes
$m
Equity
Contributed equity
Ordinary share capital
Treasury shares
Exchangeable shares
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total capital and reserves attributable to ordinary
equity holders of Macquarie Group Limited

31
31
31
32
32

Non-controlling interests
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities
Macquarie Income Securities
Other non-controlling interests
Total equity

32
32
32

The above statements of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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for the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Contributed
equity
Notes
$m

Retained
Reserves earnings
$m
$m

Noncontrolling
Total interests
$m
$m

Total
equity
$m

Consolidated
Balance at 1 April 2009
Total comprehensive income for the
financial year
Transactions with equity holders in
their capacity as equity holders:
Contributions of equity, net of
transaction costs
Issue of shares to MEREP Trust
Dividends paid
Non-controlling interests:
Distributions of equity, net of
transaction costs
Cancellation of Macquarie Income
Preferred Securities
Distributions paid or provided
Other equity movements:
Net movement on exchangeable
shares
Share based payments
Net purchase of treasury shares

Balance at 31 March 2010
Total comprehensive
(expense)/income for the financial
year
Transactions with equity holders in
their capacity as equity holders:
Contributions of equity, net of
transaction costs
Issue of shares to MEREP Trust
Purchase of shares by MEREP
Trust
Dividends paid
Non-controlling interests:
Distributions of equity, net of
transaction costs
Distributions paid or provided
Other equity movements:
Net movement on exchangeable
shares
Share based payments

Balance at 31 March 2011

5,020

17

3,627

8,664

896

9,560

–

57

1,050

1,107

87

1,194

31
31
5

2,066
(438)
–

–
–
–

–
–
(409)

2,066
(438)
(409)

–
–
–

2,066
(438)
(409)

32

–

–

–

–

(7)

(7)

32

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(396)
(43)

(396)
(43)

31

21
18
(3)

–
206
–

–
–
–

21
224
(3)

–
–
–

21
224
(3)

1,664

206

(409)

1,461

(446)

1,015

6,684

280

4,268

11,232

537

11,769

–

(215)

956

741

30

771

117
(19)

–
–

–
–

117
(19)

–
–

117
(19)

(269)
–

–
–

–
(643)

(269)
(643)

–
–

(269)
(643)

32

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(6)
(33)

(6)
(33)

31

(33)
33
(171)

–
245
245

–
–
(643)

(33)
278
(569)

–
–
(39)

(33)
278
(608)

6,513

310

4,581

11,404

528

11,932

31

31

5
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Contributed
equity
Notes
$m

Reserves
$m

Noncontrolling
Total interests
$m
$m

Retained
earnings
$m

Total
equity
$m
Company

Balance at 1 April 2009
Total comprehensive income for the
financial year
Transactions with equity holders in
their capacity as equity holders:
Contributions of equity, net of
transaction costs
Issue of shares to MEREP Trust
Dividends paid

31
31
5

Other equity movements:
Share based payments

Balance at 31 March 2010
Total comprehensive income for the
financial year
Transactions with equity holders in
their capacity as equity holders:
Contributions of equity, net of
transaction costs
Issue of shares to MEREP Trust
Purchase of shares by MEREP
Trust
Dividends paid
Other equity movements:
Share based payments

Balance at 31 March 2011

31

5

7,729

153

2,946

10,828

–

10,828

–

–

363

363

–

363

2,059
(438)
–

–
–
–

–
–
(407)

2,059
(438)
(407)

–
–
–

2,059
(438)
(407)

18
1,639

206
206

–
(407)

224
1,438

–
–

224
1,438

9,368

359

2,902

12,629

–

12,629

–

–

573

573

–

573

105
(19)

–
–

–
–

105
(19)

–
–

105
(19)

(269)
–

–
–

–
(641)

(269)
(641)

–
–

(269)
(641)

33
(150)

245
245

–
(641)

278
(546)

–
–

278
(546)

9,218

604

2,834

12,656

–

12,656

The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statements of cash flows
for the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received
Interest and other costs of finance paid
Dividends and distributions received
Fees and other non-interest income
received/(paid)
Fees and commissions paid
Net (payments for)/receipts from trading portfolio
assets and other financial assets/liabilities
Payments to suppliers
Employment expenses paid
Income tax paid
Life investment contract income/(expense)
Life investment contract premiums received and
other unitholder contributions
Life investment contract payments
Net loan assets (granted)/repaid
Loan facility repaid to a subsidiary
Recovery of loans previously written off
Net increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
other financial institutions, deposits and other
borrowings
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Net payments for financial assets available for sale
and at fair value through profit or loss
Payments for interests in associates
Proceeds from the disposal of associates
Payments for the acquisition of assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale, net of
cash acquired
Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
and disposal groups classified as held for sale, net
of cash disposed
Net proceeds from/(payments for) the acquisition
of subsidiaries, excluding disposal groups, net of
cash acquired
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses excluding disposal groups, net of cash
deconsolidated
Payments for life investment contracts and other
unitholder investment assets
Proceeds from the disposal of life investment
contracts and other unitholder investment assets
Payments for property, plant and equipment,
leased assets, and intangible assets
Proceeds from the disposal of management rights
Injection of capital to a subsidiary
Return of capital from a subsidiary
Net cash flows used in investing activities

33

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

5,097
(4,060)
366

4,275
(3,672)
572

521
(594)
635

453
(461)
380

4,855
(771)

4,470
(624)

–
–

(5)
–

(3,857)
(1,489)
(3,724)
(204)
126

2,626
(1,300)
(2,862)
(288)
(137)

–
(8)
(3)
(21)
–

–
(12)
(3)
(62)
–

2,575
(2,411)
(1,550)
–
12

2,295
(3,226)
336
–
19

–
–
2,548
(512)
–

–
–
404
(2,551)
–

7,414
2,379

(8,443)
(5,959)

(1,513)
1,053

2,637
780

(721)
(522)
246

(8,141)
(887)
622

–
–
–

–
–
–

(22)

–

–

–

–

12

–

–

1,378

(309)

–

–

92

437

–

–

(6,371)

(5,717)

–

–

6,145

6,850

–

–

(2,130)
14
–
–
(1,891)

(398)
428
–
–
(7,103)

–
–
(770)
550
(220)

–
–
(1,805)
–
(1,805)
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Consolidated
2011
Notes
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

1
(4)

1,312
(238)

1
–

1,312
–

932
(598)
(269)
62

(406)
(328)
–
340

–
(565)
(269)
(833)

–
(287)
–
1,025

550

(12,722)

–

–

11,773

24,495

–

–

12,323

11,773

–

–

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares
Payments to non-controlling interests
Proceeds from/(repayment) of subordinated
debt
Dividends and distributions paid
Financing of treasury shares
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
financial year

33

The above statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Notes to the financial statements

Note 1
1

Summary of significant accounting policies
(i) Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of this financial report and that of the previous
financial year are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless
otherwise stated.
This financial report is a general purpose financial report
which has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (which includes Australian
Interpretations by virtue of AASB 1048 Interpretation
and Application of Standards) and the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
Compliance with IFRS as issued by the IASB
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures
that the financial report complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Consequently, this
financial report has also been prepared in accordance with
and complies with IFRS as issued by the IASB.
Historical cost convention
This financial report has been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investment securities available for sale and certain other
assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair
value.
Critical accounting estimates and significant
judgements
The preparation of the financial report in conformity with
Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The notes to the financial statements
set out areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions are significant to
the Company and its subsidiaries (Consolidated Entity) and
the consolidated financial report such as:
– fair value of financial assets and liabilities (note 43);
– impairment of loan assets held at amortised cost,
investment securities available for sale, interests in
associates and joint ventures and held for sale
investments (notes 1(xii), 1(xiii), 11 and 41.1);
– acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures and assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale (notes 1(ii), 1(xii), 17, 21
and 45);
– distinguishing between whether assets or a business is
acquired (note 1(iii));
– determination of control of Special Purpose Entities
(SPEs) (notes 1(ii), 10 and 25);
– recoverability of deferred tax assets and measurement of
current and deferred income tax liabilities (notes 1(vii),
4 and 20); and
– the impairment of goodwill and other identifiable
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (notes 1(xvi)
and 15).

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including reasonable expectations of future events.
Management believes the estimates used in preparing the
financial report are reasonable. Actual results in the future
may differ from those reported and therefore it is
reasonably possible, on the basis of existing knowledge,
that outcomes within the next financial year that are
different from our assumptions and estimates could require
an adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities reported.
New Accounting Standards and amendments to
Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not
yet effective
When a new Accounting Standard is first adopted,
any change in accounting policy is accounted for in
accordance with the specific transitional provisions (if any),
otherwise retrospectively.
The Company’s and Consolidated Entity’s assessment of
the impact of the key new Accounting Standards,
amendments to Accounting Standards and Interpretations
is set out below:
AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements
Project
AASB 2010-3 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and confirms that:
– contingent consideration arising in a business
combination that had been accounted for in accordance
with AASB 3 (2004) that has not been settled or
otherwise resolved at the adoption date of AASB 3
(2008) continues to be accounted for in accordance with
AASB 3 (2004);
– the accounting policy choice to measure non-controlling
interests (NCI) upon initial recognition either at fair value
or at the NCI’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets is limited to instruments that give
rise to a present ownership interest and which currently
entitle the holder to a share of net assets in the event of
liquidation. The accounting policy choice does not apply
to other instruments, such as written options classified
as equity instruments or options granted under sharebased payment arrangements – these are generally
measured at fair value or otherwise in accordance with
the relevant Standards;
– AASB 3 (2008) application guidance applies to
unreplaced and voluntarily replaced share-based
payment awards; and
– consequential amendments to AASB 121, AASB 128
and AASB 131 as a result of the issue of AASB 127
(2008) relating to disposals of all or part of a foreign
operation and accounting for a loss of significant
influence/joint control is applied prospectively.
The Consolidated Entity will apply the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2011. Initial application is not
expected to result in any material impact.
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AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian

Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project
AASB 2010-4 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 and makes
amendments to various disclosure requirements relating to
AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, AASB 101
Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 134 Interim
Financial Reporting. The Consolidated Entity will first apply
the Standard in the financial year beginning 1 April 2011.
Initial application is not expected to result in any material
impact.
AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial
Assets
AASB 2010-6 was issued by the AASB in November 2010
and is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2011. The Standard adds and amends
disclosure requirements about transfers of financial assets,
including in respect of the nature of the financial assets
involved and the risks associated with them. The
Consolidated Entity will first apply the Standard in the
financial year beginning 1 April 2012. Systems are yet to be
put in place to capture all the necessary information
therefore it is not possible to disclose the impact of initial
application on the Consolidated Entity’s financial statement
disclosures.
AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting

Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)
In December 2010, the AASB re-issued AASB 9 Financial
Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Early adoption is
permitted if all the requirements are applied at the same
time. The revised AASB 9 includes the classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities, and the
recognition and derecognition requirements for financial
instruments, in addition to the classification and
measurement requirements for financial assets that
appeared in the December 2009 version of the Standard.
Under the new guidance, a financial asset is to be
measured at amortised cost only if it is held within a
business model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows and the contractual terms of the asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are payments solely of
principal and interest (on the principal amount outstanding).
All other financial assets are to be measured at fair value.
Changes in the fair value of investments in equity securities
that are not part of a trading activity may be reported
directly in equity, but upon realisation those accumulated
changes in value are not recycled to the income statement.
Changes in the fair value of all other financial assets carried
at fair value are reported in the income statement. The
Consolidated Entity is currently assessing the impact of the
new Standard, and it is likely that some financial assets:
– carried at fair value through profit or loss (e.g. quoted
bonds outside of trading book) will change to be carried
at amortised cost;

– carried at amortised cost (e.g. beneficial interests) will
change to be carried at fair value through profit or loss;
and
– containing embedded derivatives (e.g. capital protected
products) will no longer be separated, and the entire
product will change to be carried at fair value through
profit or loss.
In respect of financial liabilities, the change in fair value (for
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss) due to changes in an entity’s own credit risk is to be
presented in other comprehensive income, unless such
presentation would create an accounting mismatch. If a
mismatch is created or enlarged, all changes in fair value
(including the effects of changes in the credit risk of the
liability) are presented in profit or loss. All other key
requirements for classification and measurement of financial
liabilities have been carried forward unamended from AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
The recognition and derecognition requirements in AASB
139 have also been retained and relocated to the revised
AASB 9 unamended. The Consolidated Entity will first apply
AASB 9 in the financial year beginning 1 April 2013. The
impact of AASB 9 on the Consolidated Entity’s financial
statements on initial application has not yet been assessed.
(ii) Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial report comprises the financial
report of the Consolidated Entity. Subsidiaries are all those
entities (including SPEs) over which the Company has the
power to govern (directly or indirectly) decision-making in
relation to financial and operating policies, so as to require
that entity to conform to the Company’s objectives. The
effects of all transactions between entities in the
Consolidated Entity are eliminated in full. NCI in the results
and equity of subsidiaries, where the Company owns less
than 100 per cent of the issued capital, are shown
separately in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of financial position, respectively.
Where control of an entity was obtained during the financial
year, its results are included in the consolidated income
statement from the date on which control commenced.
Where control of an entity ceased during the financial year,
its results are included for that part of the financial year
during which control existed.
The Company and Consolidated Entity determine the dates
of obtaining control (i.e. acquisition date) and losing control
(i.e. disposal date) of another entity based on an
assessment of all pertinent facts and circumstances that
affect the ability to govern the financial and operating
policies of that entity. Facts and circumstances that have
the most impact include the contractual arrangements
agreed with the counterparty, the manner in which those
arrangements are expected to operate in practice and
whether regulatory approval is required to complete.
The acquisition or disposal date does not necessarily occur
when the transaction is closed or finalised under law.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2011
continued

Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies continued
ii) Principles of consolidation continued
Subsidiaries continued
Subsidiaries held by the Company are carried in its
separate financial statements at cost in accordance with
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements.
Impairment of subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed annually for
indicators of impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the investment’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount (which is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use). At each balance
date, investments in subsidiaries that have been impaired
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment.
Securitisations
Securitised positions are held through a number of SPEs.
These are generally categorised as Mortgage SPEs and
Other SPEs, and include certain managed funds and
re-packaging vehicles. As the Consolidated Entity is
exposed to the majority of the residual risk associated with
these SPEs, their underlying assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses are reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position and consolidated income statement.
When assessing whether the Consolidated Entity controls
(and therefore consolidates) an SPE, judgement is required
about whether the Consolidated Entity has the risks and
rewards as well as the ability to make operational decisions
for the SPE. The range of factors that are considered in
assessing control include whether:
– the majority of the benefits of the SPE’s activities are
obtained;
– the majority of the residual ownership risks related to the
SPE’s assets are obtained;
– the decision-making powers of the SPE vest with the
Consolidated Entity; and
– the SPE’s activities are being conducted on behalf of the
Consolidated Entity and according to its specific
business needs.
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method
Associates and joint ventures are entities over which the
Consolidated Entity has significant influence or joint control,
but not control, and are accounted for under the equity
method except those which are classified as held for sale
(see note 1(xii)). The equity method of accounting is applied
in the consolidated financial report and involves the
recognition of the Consolidated Entity’s share of its
associates’ and joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or
losses in the consolidated income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in reserves.

The Company and Consolidated Entity determine the dates
of obtaining or losing significant influence or joint control of
another entity based on an assessment of all pertinent facts
and circumstances that affect the ability to significantly
influence or jointly control the financial and operating
policies of that entity. Facts and circumstances that have
the most impact include the contractual arrangements
agreed with the counterparty, the manner in which those
arrangements are expected to operate in practice, and
whether regulatory approval is required to complete. The
acquisition/disposal date does not necessarily occur when
the transaction is closed or finalised under law.
Associates and joint ventures held by the Company are
carried in its separate financial statements at cost in
accordance with AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements.
(iii) Business combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
all business combinations (excepting business
combinations involving entities or businesses under
common control) which occurred before 1 April 2010. From
1 April 2010, business combinations are accounted for
using the acquisition method. Cost is measured as the
aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of
assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange plus, for business
combinations occurring before 1 April 2010, any costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Transaction costs
arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised
directly in equity, and those arising on borrowings are
capitalised and included in interest expense using the
effective interest method.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
at their fair value on the acquisition date. The Consolidated
Entity can elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure any NCI either at fair value or at the NCI’s
proportionate share of the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Consolidated Entity’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
the cost of acquisition is less than the Consolidated Entity’s
share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement, but only after a
reassessment of the identification and measurement of the
net assets acquired. For contingent consideration given in
business combinations occurring from 1 April 2010, the
amount is subsequently remeasured to its fair value with
changes recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present values as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions.
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As a result of applying the revised AASB 3 from
1 April 2010, the definition of a business is now modified: a)
to require inputs and processes to always exist, but not
necessarily include all inputs or processes that the seller
used; b) to clarify the meanings of inputs and processes;
and c) for the integrated activities and assets to only be
capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose.
Distinguishing between whether assets or a business is
acquired therefore involves more judgement. Some of the
factors that the Consolidated Entity uses in identifying a
business combination are:
– the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s industry and
business model, which affects the nature of an input,
process or output;
– whether the acquisition included at least a majority of the
critical inputs (e.g. tangible or intangible assets, and
intellectual property) and a majority of the critical
processes (e.g. strategic processes, skilled and
experienced workforce);
– the relative ease of replacing the critical processes not
acquired by either integrating within the Consolidated
Entity’s existing processes or sub-contracting them to
third parties; and
– the presence of goodwill.
Application of the revised Standards in the current period
has resulted in the recognition of a gain in the income
statement as a result of the re-measurement of the
Consolidated Entity’s retained ownership interests to fair
value, on the loss of control of investments in subsidiaries
and the loss of significant influence on investments in
associates. These retained interests have been accounted
for as available for sale investments.
(iv) Segment reporting
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports to senior management about components of the
Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by senior
management who have been identified as the chief
operating decision makers, in order to allocate resources to
the segment and to assess its performance. Information
reported to the senior management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance is
specifically focused on core products and services offered,
comprising eight reportable segments as disclosed in
note 3. Information about products and services and
geographical segments are based on the financial
information used to produce the Consolidated Entity’s
financial statements.

(v) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of foreign
operations are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the foreign operation
operates (the functional currency). The Company’s and
Consolidated Entity’s financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars (the presentation currency), which is also
the Company’s functional currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred
in equity as a result of meeting cash flow hedge or net
investment hedge accounting requirements (see note 1(xi)).
Translation differences on non-monetary items (such as
equities) held at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the income
statement. Translation differences on non-monetary items
(such as equities) classified as available for sale financial
assets are included in the available for sale reserve in equity,
unless they form part of fair value hedge relationships in
which case the translation differences are recognised in the
income statement (see note 1(xi)).
Subsidiaries and other entities
The results and financial position of all foreign operations
that have a functional currency other than Australian dollars
are translated into Australian dollars as follows:
– assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
exchange rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;
– income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at actual exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions; and
– all resulting exchange differences are recognised in a
separate component of equity – the foreign currency
translation reserve.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign operations and
of borrowings and other foreign currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is disposed of or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, such exchange
differences are recognised in the income statement as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entities and translated at the closing
rate.

151

Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries

2011 Annual Report

macquarie.com.au

Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2011
continued

Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies continued
(vi) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for each
major revenue stream as follows:
Interest income
Interest income is brought to account using the effective
interest method. The effective interest method calculates
the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocates
the interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or liability. Fees and transaction costs
associated with loans are capitalised and included in the
effective interest rate and recognised in the income
statement over the expected life of the instrument.
Interest income on finance leases is brought to account
progressively over the life of the lease consistent with the
outstanding investment balance.
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income and expenses that are integral
to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability
are capitalised and included in the effective interest rate
and recognised in the income statement over the expected
life of the instrument.
Other fee and commission income, including fees from fund
management, brokerage, account servicing, corporate
advisory, underwriting and securitisation arrangements is
recognised as the related services are performed. Where
commissions and fees are subject to clawback or meeting
certain performance hurdles, they are recognised as
income at the point when those conditions can no longer
affect the outcome.
Fees charged for performing a significant act in relation to
funds managed by the Consolidated Entity are recognised
as revenue when that act has been completed.
Net trading income
Net trading income comprises gains and losses related to
trading assets and liabilities and include all realised and
unrealised fair value changes, dividends and foreign
exchange differences.
Dividends and distributions
Dividends and distributions are recognised as income when
the Consolidated Entity becomes entitled to the dividend or
distribution. Dividends from subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures are recognised in the income statement when
the Company’s right to receive the dividend is established.
(vii) Income tax
The income tax expense for the year is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the national
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted for changes
in deferred tax assets and liabilities and unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when temporary
differences arise between the tax base of assets and
liabilities and their respective carrying amounts which give
rise to a future tax benefit, or where a benefit arises due to
unused tax losses. In both cases, deferred tax assets are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences or tax losses. Deferred tax liabilities are
recognised when such temporary differences will give rise
to taxable amounts being payable in future periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at the tax
rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or
the liabilities are settled.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
and an intention to either settle on a net basis, or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current and
deferred taxes attributable to amounts recognised directly
in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
The Company and Consolidated Entity exercise judgement
in determining whether deferred tax assets, particularly in
relation to tax losses, are probable of recovery. Factors
considered include the ability to offset tax losses within the
tax consolidated group in Australia or groups of entities in
overseas jurisdictions, the nature of the tax loss, the length
of time that tax losses are eligible for carry forward to offset
against future taxable profits and whether future taxable
profits are expected to be sufficient to allow recovery of
deferred tax assets.
The Consolidated Entity undertakes transactions in the
ordinary course of business where the income tax
treatment requires the exercise of judgement. The
Consolidated Entity estimates its tax liability based on its
understanding of the tax law.
Tax consolidation
The Consolidated Entity’s Australian tax liabilities are
determined according to tax consolidation legislation.
The Company together with all eligible Australian resident
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company comprise a tax
consolidated group with the Company as the head entity.
As a consequence, the relevant subsidiaries are not liable
to make income tax payments and do not recognise any
current tax balances or any deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses. Under the terms and conditions of a tax
funding agreement, the Company charges each subsidiary
for all current tax liabilities incurred in respect of their
activities and reimburses each subsidiary for any tax assets
arising from unused tax losses.
Should the Company be in default of its tax payment
obligations, or a default is probable, the current tax
balances of the subsidiaries will be determined in
accordance with the terms and conditions of a tax sharing
agreement between the Company and entities in the tax
consolidated group.
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(viii) Cash collateral on securities borrowed/lent and
reverse repurchase/repurchase agreements
As part of its trading activities, the Consolidated Entity
borrows and lends securities on a collateralised basis. The
securities subject to the borrowing or lending are not
derecognised from the statements of financial position of
the relevant parties, as the risks and rewards of ownership
remain with the initial holder. Where cash is provided as
collateral, the cash paid to third parties on securities
borrowed is recorded as a receivable, while cash received
from third parties on securities lent is recorded as a
borrowing.
Reverse repurchase transactions, where the Consolidated
Entity purchases securities under an agreement to resell,
and repurchase transactions, where the Consolidated
Entity sells securities under an agreement to repurchase,
are also conducted on a collateralised basis. The securities
subject to the reverse repurchase and repurchase
agreements are not derecognised from the statements of
financial position of the relevant parties, as the risks and
rewards of ownership remain with the initial holder. Where
cash is provided as collateral, the cash paid to third parties
on the reverse repurchase agreement is recorded as a
receivable, while cash received from third parties on the
repurchase agreement is recorded as a borrowing.
The Consolidated Entity continually reviews the fair values
of the securities on which the above transactions are based
and, where appropriate, requests or provides additional
collateral to support the transactions, in accordance with
the underlying agreements.
(ix) Trading portfolio assets and liabilities
Trading portfolio assets (long positions) comprise debt and
equity securities, bank bills, treasury notes, bullion and
commodities purchased with the intent of being actively
traded. Trading portfolio liabilities (short positions) comprise
obligations to deliver assets across the same trading
categories, which the Company and Consolidated Entity
have short-sold and are actively traded.
Assets and liabilities included in the trading portfolio are
carried at fair value (see note 43). Realised gains and losses,
and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the
fair value of the trading portfolio are recognised as net
trading income in the income statement in the period in
which they arise. Dividend income or expense on the
trading portfolio is recognised in the income statement as
net trading income.

The Consolidated Entity uses trade date accounting when
recording regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets. At the date the transaction is entered into (trade
date), the Consolidated Entity recognises the resulting
financial asset or liability and any subsequent unrealised
profits or losses arising from revaluing that contract to fair
value in the income statement. When the Consolidated
Entity becomes party to a sale contract of a financial asset,
it derecognises the asset and recognises a trade receivable
from trade date until settlement date.
(x) Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments entered into by the Consolidated
Entity include futures, forwards and forward rate
agreements, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign
exchange, commodity and equity markets. These derivative
instruments are principally used for the risk management of
existing financial assets and financial liabilities.
All derivatives, including those used for statement of
financial position hedging purposes, are recognised on the
statement of financial position and are disclosed as an
asset where they have a positive fair value at balance date
or as a liability where the fair value at balance date is
negative.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and subsequently
remeasured to their fair value. Fair values are obtained from
quoted market prices in active markets including recent
market transactions, and valuation techniques including
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as
appropriate. Movements in the carrying amounts of
derivatives are recognised in the income statement in net
trading income, unless the derivative meets the
requirements for hedge accounting.
The best evidence of a derivative’s fair value at initial
recognition is its transaction price, unless its fair value is
evidenced by comparison with other observable current
market transactions in the same instrument, or based on a
valuation technique for which variables include only data
from observable markets. Where such alternative evidence
exists, the Consolidated Entity recognises profits
immediately when the derivative is recognised.
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Summary of significant accounting policies continued
(xi) Hedge accounting
The Consolidated Entity designates certain derivatives or
financial instruments as hedging instruments in qualifying
hedge relationships. On initial designation of the hedge, the
Consolidated Entity documents the hedge relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as
its risk management objectives and strategies. The
Consolidated Entity also documents its assessment, both
at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether
hedging relationships have been and will continue to be
highly effective. Derivatives or financial instruments can be
designated in one of three types of hedge relationships:
Cash flow hedges
For a derivative or financial instrument designated as
hedging the variability in cash flows attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability
(or a highly probable forecast transaction), the gain or loss
on the derivative or financial instrument associated with the
effective portion of the hedge is initially recognised in equity
in the cash flow hedging reserve and subsequently released
to the income statement when the hedged item affects the
income statement. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in
the income statement.
Fair value hedges
For a derivative or financial instrument designated as
hedging the change in fair value of a recognised asset or
liability (or an unrecognised firm commitment), the gain or
loss on the derivative or financial instrument is recognised
in the income statement immediately, together with the loss
or gain on the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to
the hedged risk.
Net investment hedges
For a derivative or borrowing designated as hedging a net
investment in a foreign operation, the gain or loss on
revaluing the derivative or borrowing associated with the
effective portion of the hedge is recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve and subsequently released to
the income statement when the foreign operation is
disposed of. The ineffective portion is recognised in the
income statement immediately.

(xii) Investments and other financial assets
With the exception of trading portfolio assets, derivatives
and investments in associates and joint ventures, which are
classified separately in the statement of financial position,
the remaining investments in financial assets are classified
into the following categories: loans and receivables (loan
assets held at amortised cost and amounts due from
subsidiaries), other financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, investment securities available for sale and
non-current assets and assets of disposal groups classified
as held for sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial asset was acquired, which is
determined at initial recognition and, except for other
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, is reevaluated at each balance date.
Loans and receivables
Loan assets held at amortised cost and amounts due from
subsidiaries are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category includes only those financial assets which
have been designated by management as held at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition.
The policy of management is to designate a financial
asset as such if: the asset contains embedded
derivatives which must otherwise be separated and carried
at fair value; it is part of a group of financial assets
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis; or doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise.
Interest income on debt securities designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised in the income
statement in interest income using the effective interest
method as disclosed in note 1(vi).
Investment securities available for sale
Investment securities available for sale comprise securities
that are not actively traded and are intended to be held for
an indefinite period. Such securities are available for sale
and may be sold should the need arise, including purposes
of liquidity, or due to the impacts of changes in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates or equity prices.

The fair values of various financial instruments used for
hedging purposes are disclosed in note 40. Movements in
the cash flow hedging reserve in equity are shown in
note 32.
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(xii) Investments and other financial assets continued

(xiii) Impairment

Investment securities available for sale continued
Investment securities available for sale are initially carried at
fair value plus transaction costs. Gains and losses arising
from subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
directly in the available for sale reserve in equity until the
asset is derecognised or impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement. Fair values of quoted investments in active
markets are based on current bid prices.
If the relevant market is not considered active (or the
securities are unlisted), fair value is established by using
valuation techniques, including recent arm’s length
transactions, discounted cash flow analysis and other
valuation techniques commonly used by market
participants.
Interest income on debt securities available for sale is
recognised in the income statement in interest income
using the effective interest method as disclosed in
note 1(vi).

Loan assets held at amortised cost
Loan assets are subject to regular review and assessment
for possible impairment. Provisions for impairment on loan
assets are recognised based on an incurred loss model
and re-assessed at each balance date. A provision for
impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence
of impairment, and is calculated based on the present value
of expected future cash flows, discounted using the original
effective interest rate.
Specific provisions for impairment are recognised where
impairment of individual loans are identified. Where
individual loans are found not to be impaired, they are
placed into pools of assets with similar risk profiles and
collectively assessed for losses that have been incurred but
are not yet specifically identifiable.
The Consolidated Entity makes judgements as to whether
there is any observable data indicating that there is a
significant decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified
with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may
include observable data indicating that there has been an
adverse change in the payment status of the borrowers in a
group, or national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management
uses estimates based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics and objective
evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio
when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology
and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience. Changes in assumptions used for estimating
future cash flows could result in a change in the estimated
provisions for impairment on loan assets at the end of the
reporting period.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment losses
decrease and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses were
recognised, the previously recognised impairment losses
are reversed through the income statement to the extent of
what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as
held for sale
This category includes interests in associates and joint
ventures for which their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing
use, and subsidiaries held exclusively with a view to sale.
These assets are classified as held for sale when it is highly
probable that the asset will be sold within 12 months
subsequent to being classified as such. Where there is a
planned partial disposal of a subsidiary resulting in loss of
control, all of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are
classified as held for sale.
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held
for sale are presented separately on the face of the
statement of financial position.
Non-current assets and assets of disposal groups classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. These assets are
not depreciated.
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write down of the asset to fair value less costs
to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increase in
fair value less costs to sell, limited by the cumulative
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not
previously recognised by the date of sale is recognised at
the date of sale.

Investment securities available for sale
The Consolidated Entity performs an assessment at each
balance date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that available for sale financial assets have been
impaired. Impairment exists if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events (loss event)
which have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
For equity securities classified as available for sale, the main
indicators of impairment are: significant changes in the
market/economic or legal environment and a significant or
prolonged decline in fair value below cost.
In making this judgement, the Consolidated Entity evaluates
among other factors, the normal volatility in share price and
the period of time for which fair value has been below cost.
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Recognition and Measurement, and AASB 1038 Life
Insurance Contracts which apply to investment contracts

Summary of significant accounting policies continued

and assets backing insurance liabilities, respectively. These
amounts represent the total life insurance business of the
subsidiary, including underlying amounts that relate to both
policyholders and shareholders of the life insurance
business.
Investment assets
Investment assets are carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Fair values of quoted investments in active markets
are based on current bid prices. If the relevant market is not
considered active (and for unlisted securities), fair value is
established by using valuation techniques, including recent
arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis,
option pricing models and other valuation techniques
commonly used by market participants. Changes in fair
values are recognised in the income statement in the period
in which the changes occur.
Restriction on assets
Investments held in the Life Funds can only be used within
the restrictions imposed under the Life Insurance Act 1995.
The main restrictions are that the assets in a fund can only
be used to meet the liabilities and expenses of the fund,
acquire investments to further the business of the fund or
pay distributions when solvency and capital adequacy
requirements allow. Shareholders can only receive a
distribution when the capital adequacy requirements of the
Life Insurance Act 1995 have been met.

(xiii) Impairment continued
Investment securities available for sale continued
In the case of debt securities classified as available for sale,
observable data that relates to loss events are considered,
including adverse changes in the payment status of the
issuer and national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on those assets.
In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is
evidence of deterioration in the financial condition of the
investee, industry and sector performance, operational and
financing cash flows or changes in technology.
When the fair value of an available for sale financial asset is
less than its initial carrying amount and there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss
recognised directly in equity is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement for
equity securities classified as available for sale are not
subsequently reversed through the income statement.
However impairment losses recognised for debt investment
securities classified as available for sale are subsequently
reversed through the income statement if the fair value
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an
event after the impairment loss was recognised in the
income statement.

Policy liabilities
Life insurance liabilities are measured as the accumulated
benefits to policyholders in accordance with AASB 139 and
AASB 1038, which apply to investment contracts and
assets backing insurance liabilities, respectively.
(xv) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment annually. Historical cost
includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Property, plant and equipment includes assets
under operating leases.
Depreciation on assets is calculated on a straight-line basis
to allocate the difference between cost and residual values
over their estimated useful lives, at the following rates:
Furniture and fittings
10 to 20 per cent
20 per cent
Leasehold improvements1
Communication equipment
33 per cent
Computer equipment
33 to 50 per cent
Infrastructure assets
5 to 20 per cent
Aviation
3 to 4 per cent
Other operating lease assets
2 to 50 per cent

Interests in associates and joint ventures
The Consolidated Entity performs an assessment at each
balance date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that its interests in associates and joint ventures
are impaired. The entire carrying amount of each
investment in associate and joint venture is considered in
the assessment. The main indicators of impairment are as
for equity securities classified as available for sale,
disclosed above.
If there is an indication that an investment in an associate or
joint venture may be impaired, then the entire carrying
amount of the investment in associate or joint venture is
tested for impairment by comparing the recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to
sell) with its carrying amount. Impairment losses recognised
in the income statement for investments in associates and
joint ventures are subsequently reversed through the
income statement if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine recoverable amount since the
impairment loss was recognised.
(xiv) Life insurance business
The life insurance business is comprised of insurance
contracts and investment contracts as defined in
AASB 4 Insurance Contracts. The following are key
accounting policies in relation to the life insurance business:
Disclosure
The consolidated financial statements include the assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of the life insurance
business conducted by a subsidiary of the Company in
accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments:

1

Where remaining lease terms are less than five years, leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the remaining lease term.
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Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and
reassessed in light of commercial and technological
developments. If an asset’s carrying value is greater than its
recoverable amount due to an adjustment to its useful life,
residual value or an impairment, the carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
Adjustments arising from such items and on disposal of
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the
income statement.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
proceeds with the asset’s carrying amount and are
recognised in the income statement.

for indications of impairment. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

(xvi) Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets

(xvii) Financial liabilities

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Consolidated Entity’s share of the
identifiable net assets of the acquired entity at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising from business combinations is
included in intangible assets on the face of the statement of
financial position. Goodwill arising from acquisitions of
associates is included in the carrying amount of
investments in associates.
Other identifiable intangible assets
An intangible asset is considered to have an indefinite
useful life where it is expected to contribute to the
Consolidated Entity’s net cash inflows indefinitely.
Licences and trading rights are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. These assets are not
amortised because they are considered to have an
indefinite useful life.
Management rights have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of management rights over the
estimated useful life, usually a period not exceeding
20 years.
Customer and servicing contracts acquired with a finite
useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
based on the timing of projected cash flows of the
relationships over their estimated useful lives.
Customer and servicing contracts with an indefinite useful
life are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Software
Certain internal and external costs directly incurred in
acquiring and developing certain software are capitalised
and amortised over the estimated useful life, usually a
period of three years. Costs incurred on software
maintenance are expensed as incurred.
Impairment
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. For intangible assets that have a finite
useful life, an assessment is made at each reporting date

The Consolidated Entity has on issue debt securities and
instruments which are initially recognised at fair value net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss
This category includes only those financial liabilities which
have been designated by management as held at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition. The policy of
management is to designate a financial liability as such if:
the liability contains embedded derivatives which must
otherwise be separated and carried at fair value; the liability
is part of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis; or doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise.
Interest expense on such items is recognised in the income
statement in interest expense using the effective interest
method.
(xviii) Provisions
Employee benefits
A liability for employee benefits is recognised by the entity
that has the obligation to the employee. Generally, this is
consistent with the legal position of the parties to the
employment contract.
Liabilities for unpaid salaries, salary related costs and
provisions for annual leave are recorded in the statement of
financial position at the salary rates which are expected to
be paid when the liability is settled. Provisions for long
service leave and other long-term benefits are recognised
at the present value of expected future payments to be
made.
In determining this amount, consideration is given to
expected future salary levels and employee service histories.
Expected future payments are discounted to their net
present value using discount rates on high quality corporate
bonds, except where there is no deep market, in which
case rates on Commonwealth Government securities are
used. Such discount rates have terms that match as closely
as possible the expected future cash flows.
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Summary of significant accounting policies continued
(xviii) Provisions continued
Employee benefits continued
Provisions for unpaid employee benefits are derecognised
when the benefit is settled, or is transferred to another
entity and the Company and Consolidated Entity are legally
released from the obligation and do not retain
a constructive obligation.
Dividends
Provisions for dividends to be paid by the Company are
recognised on the statement of financial position as a
liability and a reduction in retained earnings when the
dividend has been declared.
(xix) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
Consolidated Entity’s profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
Consolidated Entity’s profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
that would be issued on the exchange of all the dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
Refer to note 6 for information concerning the classification
of securities.
(xx) Performance based remuneration
Share based payments
The Consolidated Entity operates share-based
compensation plans, which include options granted to
employees and shares (including those delivered through
the Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan
(MEREP)) granted to employees under share acquisition
plans. Information relating to these schemes is set out in
note 36. The Consolidated Entity recognises an expense
(and equity reserve) for its shares and options granted to
employees. The shares and options are measured at the
grant dates based on their fair value and using the number
of equity instruments expected to vest. This amount is
recognised as an expense evenly over the respective
vesting periods.
Performance hurdles attached to options, and Performance
Share Units (PSUs) under the MEREP, that are issued to
the Executive Officers are not taken into account when
determining the fair value of the options and PSUs at grant
date. Instead, these vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest.

The fair value of each option granted in prior years was
estimated on the date of grant using standard option
pricing techniques based on the Black-Scholes theory. The
following key assumptions were adopted for grants made in
the prior financial year:
–
–
–
–

risk free interest rate: 6.77 per cent (weighted average);
expected life of options: four years;
volatility of share price: 24 per cent; and
dividend yield: 3.47 per cent per annum.

In December 2009, the Consolidated Entity established a
new equity plan, MEREP. Restricted Share Units
(RSUs)/Deferred Share Units (DSUs) and PSUs for
Executive Committee members, have been granted in the
current year in respect of 2010. The fair value of each of
these grants is estimated using the Company’s share price
on the date of grant, and for each PSU also incorporates a
discounted cash flow method using the following key
assumptions:
– risk free interest rate: 5.20 per cent (weighted average);
– expected life of PSU: four years; and
– dividend yield: 3.47 per cent per annum.
While RSUs/DSUs, and PSUs for Executive Committee
members, in respect of the current year’s performance will
be granted in the following financial year, the Consolidated
Entity begins recognising an expense (based on an initial
estimate) from 1 April of the current financial year related to
these future grants. The expense is estimated using the
Company’s share price as at 31 March 2011 (and for PSUs,
also incorporates a risk free interest rate of
5.71 per cent; an expected life of four years; and a dividend
yield of 5.20 per cent per annum) and the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. In the following financial year,
the Consolidated Entity will adjust the accumulated
expense recognised for the final determination of fair value
for each RSU/DSU and PSU to be granted when granted,
and will use this valuation for recognising the expense over
the remaining vesting period.
Where options and shares are issued by the Company to
employees of subsidiaries and the Company is not
subsequently reimbursed by those subsidiaries, the
Company recognises the equity provided as a capital
contribution to the subsidiaries. Where the Company is
reimbursed, the Company recognises any amount received
in advance (of the share-based payment to be recognised
as an expense over the future vesting period) as a liability to
those subsidiaries.
Executive Directors’ retained profit share that is no longer
to be paid in cash is reversed in the current year and
recognised in profit, and the RSUs/DSUs granted are
accounted for as a share-based payment from the grant
date.
The Consolidated Entity annually revises its estimates of the
number of shares (including those delivered through
MEREP) and options that are expected to vest. Where
appropriate, the impact of revised estimates are reflected in
the income statement over the remaining vesting period,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share based
payments reserve in equity.
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Profit share remuneration
The Consolidated Entity recognises a liability and an
expense for profit share remuneration to be paid in cash,
based on a formula that takes into consideration the
Consolidated Entity’s profit after income tax and its
earnings over and above the estimated cost of capital.
(xxi) Cash and cash equivalents

(xxv) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
(xxvi) Changes in ownership interests

(xxii) Leases

From 1 April 2010, when acquiring additional interests of a
financial asset (such that it becomes an associate, joint
venture or subsidiary) or an investment in an associate or
joint venture (such that it becomes a subsidiary), previously
held interests are revalued to their current fair value and any
gain or loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss. In
prior years, previously held interests were not revalued for
such transactions.

Where finance leases are granted to third parties, the
present value of the lease receipts is recognised as a
receivable and included in loan assets held at amortised
cost. The difference between the gross receivable and the
present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned
interest income. Lease income is recognised over the term
of the lease using the effective interest method, which
reflects a constant rate of return.

Similarly, from 1 April 2010, when selling ownership
interests of a subsidiary (such that control is lost), or an
investment in associate or joint venture (such that it
becomes a financial asset), retained ownership interests are
revalued to their current fair value and any gain or loss is
immediately recognised in the income statement. In prior
years, retained ownership interests were not revalued for
such transactions.

Leases entered into by the Company and Consolidated
Entity as lessee are primarily operating leases. The total
fixed payments made under operating leases are charged
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

From 1 April 2010, when increasing or decreasing the
ownership interests of a subsidiary that remains a
subsidiary afterwards, the consideration exchanged is
recognised directly in equity. In prior years, transactions
with NCI were recognised using the parent-entity approach,
which resulted in a gain recognised in the income
statement when securities held by NCI were acquired by
the Consolidated Entity at a price less than their carrying
amount.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
– cash and balances with central banks and short-term
amounts included in due from financial institutions; and
– trading portfolio assets and debt securities with
remaining contractual maturity of three months or less.

Purchased assets, where the Consolidated Entity is the
lessor under operating leases, are carried at cost and
depreciated over their useful lives which vary depending on
each class of asset and range from 3 to 50 years.
Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more appropriate. Assets under operating leases
are included in property, plant and equipment.
(xxiii) Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported on the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or realise the financial asset and settle the
financial liability simultaneously.
(xxiv) Loan capital

(xxvii) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been
restated to conform with changes in presentation in the
current year.
(xxviii) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order
98/0100 (as amended), relating to the rounding off of
amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial
report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class
Order to the nearest million dollars unless otherwise
indicated.

Loan capital is debt issued by the Consolidated Entity with
terms and conditions that qualify for inclusion as capital
under APRA Prudential Standards. Loan capital debt issues
are initially recorded at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs and thereafter at either amortised cost
using the effective interest method (for convertible
preference securities and subordinated debt at amortised
cost) or at fair value through profit or loss (for subordinated
debt at fair value through profit or loss).
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

5,304
–

4,591
–

–
521

–
453

(4,029)
–
1,275

(3,511)
–
1,080

(502)
(91)
(72)

(363)
(93)
(3)

950
36
931
1,137
754

926
57
1,085
1,077
532

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

83
3,891

44
3,721

–
–

–
–

392
553
192
231
1,368

590
665
145
(101)
1,299

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

179

(230)

–

–

Note 2
2

Profit for the financial year
Net interest income
Interest and similar income received/receivable:
Other entities
Subsidiaries (note 34)
Interest expense and similar charges paid/payable:
Other entities
Subsidiaries (note 34)
Net interest income/(expense)
Fee and commission income
Base fees
Performance fees
Mergers and acquisitions, advisory and underwriting fees
Brokerage and commissions
Other fee and commission income
Income from life investment contracts and other
unitholder investment assets (note 16)
Total fee and commission income
Net trading income1
Equities
Commodities
Foreign exchange products
Interest rate products
Net trading income
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the equity method
1

Included in net trading income are fair value gains of $259 million (2010: $288 million loss) relating to financial assets and financial
liabilities designated as held at fair value through profit or loss. This includes $9 million loss (2010: $255 million loss) as a result of
changes in own credit spread on issued debt and subordinated debt carried at fair value. Fair value changes relating to derivatives
are also reported in net trading income which partially offsets the fair value changes relating to the financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value. This also includes fair value changes on derivatives used to hedge the Consolidated Entity's
economic interest rate risk where hedge accounting requirements are not met – refer to note 1(xi) – Summary of significant
accounting policies.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

229
(38)

96
(77)

–
–

–
–

19

50

–

–

(69)
(16)

(357)
–

–
–

–
–

96
129
(7)
14
–
243

393
–
(36)
428
55
138

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

126
–

22
–

–
635

–
380

5

2

–

–

(94)
(9)
16
13
(71)
12
333
931
7,644

(177)
(45)
37
17
(69)
19
272
768
6,638

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
635
563

–
–
–
–
–
–
5
385
382

Note 2
Profit for the financial year continued
Other operating income and charges
Net gains on sale of investment securities available for sale
Impairment charge on investment securities available for sale
Net gains on sale of associates (including associates held for
sale) and joint ventures
Impairment charge on investments in associates and joint
ventures1
Impairment charge on disposal groups held for sale
Gain on acquiring, disposing and change in ownership
interest in subsidiaries, associates and businesses held for
sale
Gain on re-measurement of retained investments2
Impairment charge on non-financial assets
Sale of management rights3
Gain on repurchase of subordinated debt
Net operating lease income4
Dividends/distributions received/receivable:
Investment securities available for sale
Subsidiaries (note 34)
Collective allowance for credit losses written back during the
financial year (note 10)
Specific provisions:
Loan assets provided for during the financial year
(note 10)
Other receivables provided for during the financial year
Recovery of loans previously provided for (note 10)
Recovery of other receivables previously provided for
Loan losses written off
Recovery of loans previously written off
Other income
Total other operating income and charges
Net operating income
1
2

3

4

Includes impairment reversals of $10 million (2010: $43 million).
Includes gains on re-measurement of retained ownership interests to fair value on the loss of control of investments in subsidiaries
and the loss of significant influence on investments in associates.
Sale of management rights to Macquarie Airports, Macquarie Media Group and Macquarie Infrastructure Group as part of the
internalisation of the management of these funds in the year ended 31 March 2010.
Includes rental income of $401 million (2010: $370 million) less depreciation of $158 million (2010: $232 million) in relation to
operating leases where the Consolidated Entity is the lessor.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

(3,269)
(306)
(29)
(8)
(3,612)

(2,595)
(224)
(21)
(8)
(2,848)

(3)
–
–
–
(3)

(3)
–
–
–
(3)

(278)
(3,890)

(253)
(3,101)

–
(3)

–
(3)

(583)
(202)
(785)

(501)
(144)
(645)

–
–
–

–
(5)
(5)

(295)

(287)

–

–

(118)
(70)
(483)

(124)
(71)
(482)

–
–
–

–
–
–

(145)
(50)
(121)
(316)

(128)
(50)
(105)
(283)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(276)
(20)
(184)
(72)
(49)
(74)
(6)
(218)
(899)
(6,373)

(265)
(22)
(160)
(51)
(41)
(32)
(7)
(255)
(833)
(5,344)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(14)
(14)
(17)

–
(1)
–
–
–
–
–
(19)
(20)
(28)

Note 2
Profit for the financial year continued
Employment expenses
Salary and salary related costs including commissions,
superannuation and performance-related profit share
Share based payments
Provision for annual leave
Provision for long service leave
Total compensation expense
Other employment expenses including on-costs, staff
procurement and staff training
Total employment expenses
Brokerage and commission expenses
Brokerage expenses
Other fee and commission expenses
Total brokerage and commission expenses
Occupancy expenses
Operating lease rentals
Depreciation: furniture, fittings and leasehold
improvements (note 18)
Other occupancy expenses
Total occupancy expenses
Non-salary technology expenses
Information services
Depreciation: computer equipment (note 18)
Other non-salary technology expenses
Total non-salary technology expenses
Other operating expenses
Professional fees
Auditor’s remuneration (note 44)
Travel and entertainment expenses
Advertising and promotional expenses
Communication expenses
Amortisation of intangibles
Depreciation: communication equipment (note 18)
Other expenses
Total other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
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Note 3
3

Segment reporting
(i) Operating segments
For internal reporting and risk management purposes, the Consolidated Entity is divided into six operating groups,
one operating division and a corporate group. These segments have been set up based on the different core products and
services offered.
Since 31 March 2010, there have been the following restructures of operating groups and divisions:
– Macquarie Infrastructure and Real Assets (formerly Macquarie Capital Funds) – this division of Macquarie Capital was
transferred to Macquarie Funds Group.
– Real Estate Structured Finance – this division of Real Estate Banking Division was transferred to Corporate and Asset
Finance.
All restructures are effective from 1 April 2010. Segment information has been prepared in conformity with the Consolidated
Entity's segment accounting policy. In accordance with AASB 8 Operating Segments, comparative information has been
restated to reflect current reportable operating segments.
Macquarie Securities Group activities include institutional and retail derivatives, structured equity finance, arbitrage trading,
synthetic products, capital management, collateral management and securities borrowing and lending. It is a
full-service institutional cash equities broker in the Asia Pacific region and South Africa, and offers specialised services
in other regions. It also provides an equity capital markets service through a joint venture with Macquarie Capital Advisers.
Macquarie Capital comprises the Consolidated Entity’s corporate advisory, equity underwriting and debt structuring and
distribution businesses, private equity placements and principal products.
Macquarie Funds Group is the Consolidated Entity's funds management business. It is a full-service asset manager,
offering a diverse range of capabilities and products including investment management, infrastructure and real asset
management and fund and equity based structured products.
Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities provides a variety of trading, research, sales and financing services across
the globe with an underlying specialisation in interest rate, commodity or foreign exchange related institutional trading,
marketing, lending, clearing or platform provision.
Corporate and Asset Finance is the lending and leasing business of the Consolidated Entity.
Banking and Financial Services Group is the primary relationship manager for the Consolidated Entity’s retail client base.
The group brings together the retail banking and financial services businesses providing a diverse range of wealth
management products and services to financial advisers, stockbrokers, mortgage brokers, professional service industries
and the end consumer.
Real Estate Banking Division activities include real estate investment, development management and asset management.
Corporate includes Group Treasury, head office and central support functions. Costs within Corporate include unallocated
head office costs, employment related costs, earnings on capital, non-trading derivative volatility,
income tax expense and certain expenses attributable to NCI. Corporate is not considered an operating group.
Any transfers between segments are determined on an arm’s length basis and eliminate on consolidation.
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Macquarie
Securities
Group
$m

Macquarie
Capital
$m

Macquarie
Funds
Group
$m

Note 3
Segment reporting continued
(i) Operating segments continued
The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results by reportable segment for the financial year:

Revenues from external customers
Inter-segmental revenue/(expense)1
Interest revenue
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Reportable segment profit/(loss)
Reportable segment assets

Revenues from external customers
Inter-segmental revenue/(expense)1
Interest revenue
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Reportable segment profit/(loss)
Reportable segment assets
1

1,423
4
250
(127)
(10)

1,309
(251)
41
(64)
(92)

1,690
(142)
186
(58)
(26)

1
175
25,583

47
281
5,742

112
602
12,678

1,515
132
235
(167)
(16)

1,439
(260)
70
(75)
(73)

2,428
(139)
167
(34)
(23)

2
580
20,926

(22)
(56)
4,076

(170)
813
11,113

Internal reporting systems do not enable the separation of inter-segmental revenues and expenses. The net position is disclosed
above. The key inter-segmental item is internal interest and funding costs charged to businesses for funding of their business net
assets.
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Fixed Income,
Currencies and
Commodities
$m

Corporate
and Asset
Finance
$m

Banking and
Financial
Services Group
$m

Real Estate
Banking
Division
$m

1,984
(225)
652
(362)
(20)

1,571
(563)
1,453
(187)
(108)

2,530
764
1,587
(1,658)
(37)

85
(37)
16
–
–

1,410
450
1,119
(1,573)
(113)

12,002
–
5,304
(4,029)
(406)

15
575
43,154

9
501
18,315

1
275
28,604

(5)
(42)
448

(1)
(1,411)
23,044

179
956
157,568

1,977
(74)
651
(383)
(109)

1,100
(337)
1,066
(185)
(109)

2,233
122
1,494
(1,054)
(32)

113
(63)
13
(4)
(2)

923
619
895
(1,609)
(81)

11,728
–
4,591
(3,511)
(445)

11
827
42,388

(5)
255
15,539

2
261
29,843

(41)
(148)
610

(7)
(1,482)
21,445

(230)
1,050
145,940

Corporate
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2011

Consolidated 2010
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Note 3
Segment reporting continued
(ii) Products and services
For the purposes of preparing a segment report based on products and services, the activities of the Consolidated Entity
have been divided into four areas:
Asset and Wealth Management: distribution and manufacture of funds management products;
Financial Markets: trading in fixed income, equities, currency, commodities and derivative products;
Capital Markets: corporate and structured finance, advisory, underwriting, facilitation, broking and property development;
and
Lending: banking activities, mortgages and leasing.
Asset and
Wealth
Management
$m

Financial
Markets
$m

Capital
Markets
$m

Lending
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2011
Revenues from external customers

2,372

3,478

2,494

3,658

Revenues from external customers

3,145

3,417

2,534

2,632

12,002

Consolidated 2010
11,728

(iii) Geographical areas
Geographical segments have been determined based on where the transactions have been booked. The operations of the
Consolidated Entity are headquartered in Australia.
Revenues from
external customers
$m

Non-current
assets1
$m
Consolidated 2011

Australia
Asia Pacific
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Americas
Total

6,445
928
1,906
2,723
12,002

2,194
178
4,361
2,887
9,620
Consolidated 2010

Australia
Asia Pacific
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Americas
Total
1

6,438
1,436
1,859
1,995
11,728

3,844
186
738
3,087
7,855

Non-current assets consist of intangible assets, interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method,
property, plant and equipment and property held for sale and development.

(iv) Major customers
The Consolidated Entity does not rely on any major customer.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

(379)
97
(282)

(154)
(47)
(201)

(100)
127
27

321
(312)
9

30
67
97

184
(231)
(47)

127
–
127

(312)
–
(312)

(381)

(388)

(164)

(106)

174

257

2

2

1
(22)
(54)
–
(282)

3
(34)
(39)
–
(201)

–
(1)
–
190
27

–
–
–
113
9

(104)
(3)
91

(3)
(77)
(151)

–
–
–

–
–
–

(12)

(15)

–

–

(28)

(246)

–

–

Note 4
4

Income tax expense
(i) Income tax (expense)/benefit
Current tax (expense)/benefit
Deferred tax benefit/(expense)
Total
Deferred income tax benefit/(expense) included in
income tax (expense)/benefit comprises:
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax assets
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax liabilities
Total
(ii)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense
to prima facie tax payable
Prima facie income tax expense on operating profit1
Tax effect of amounts which are (not deductible)/nonassessable in calculating taxable income:
Rate differential on offshore income
Distribution provided on Macquarie Income Preferred
Securities and related distributions
Share-based payments expense
Other items
Intra-group dividend
Total income tax (expense)/benefit
(iii) Tax (expense)/benefit relating to items of other
comprehensive income
Available for sale reserves
Cash flow hedges
Foreign currency translation reserve
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and
joint ventures
Total tax expense relating to items of other
comprehensive income
1

Prima facie income tax on operating profit is calculated at the rate of 30 per cent (2010: 30 per cent). The Australian tax
consolidated group has a tax year ending on 30 September.

Revenue authorities undertake risk reviews and audits as part of their normal activities. The Group has assessed these and
other taxation claims, including seeking advice where appropriate, and considers that it holds appropriate provisions.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

296
344
3
643

287
122
–
409

295
343
3
641

286
121
–
407

Note 5
5

Dividends and distributions paid or provided for
(i) Dividends paid or provided for
Ordinary share capital and exchangeable shares
Interim dividend paid ($0.86 (2010: $0.86) per share)1
2010 final dividend paid ($1.00 (2009: $0.40) per share)2
Dividends provided for3
Total dividends paid or provided for (note 32)
1

2

3

Interim dividend paid by the Consolidated Entity includes $1 million (2010: $1 million) of dividends paid to holders of the
exchangeable shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of Orion Financial Inc. as described in note 31 – Contributed equity.
Final dividend paid by the Consolidated Entity includes $1 million (2010: $1 million) of dividends paid to holders of the
exchangeable shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of Orion Financial Inc. as described in note 31 – Contributed equity.
Dividends provided for by the Consolidated Entity relates to the dividend on the exchangeable shares issued as consideration for
the acquisition of Tristone Capital Global Inc. as described in note 31 – Contributed equity. The dividends are payable within
60 days following the second anniversary of the closing date of acquisition.

The final dividend paid during the financial year was unfranked (full year to 31 March 2010: 60 per cent franked at
30 per cent corporate tax rate). The interim dividend paid during the financial year was unfranked (half year to 31 March
2010: unfranked). The dividends paid to holders of exchangeable shares were not franked.
The Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) remains activated. The DRP is optional and offers ordinary shareholders
in Australia and New Zealand the opportunity to acquire fully paid ordinary shares, without transaction costs. A shareholder
can elect to participate in or terminate their involvement in the DRP at any time. Details of fully paid ordinary shares issued
pursuant to the DRP are included in note 31 – Contributed equity.
(ii) Dividends not recognised at the end of the financial year
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors have recommended the payment of the 2011 final dividend of
$1.00 per fully paid ordinary share, unfranked. The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on
4 July 2011 from retained profits at 31 March 2011, but not recognised as a liability at the end of the financial year, is
$347 million (including $2 million to be paid by a subsidiary to the holders of the exchangeable shares – refer to note 31 –
Contributed equity for further details of these instruments). This amount has been estimated based on the number of
shares eligible to participate as at 31 March 2011.
Consolidated
2011

Consolidated
2010

Company
2011

Company
2010

Dividend per ordinary share
Cash dividends per ordinary share
(distribution of current year profits)

Franking credits available for the subsequent financial
year at a corporate tax rate of 30 per cent
(2010: 30 per cent)

$1.86

$1.86

$1.86

$1.86

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

49

15

49

15

The above amounts represent the balances of the franking accounts as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:
– franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax payable as at the end of the financial year, and
– franking debits that will arise from the receipt of tax receivables as at the end of the financial year.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

6
2
8

–
–
–

–
–
–

Note 5
Dividends and distributions paid or provided for continued
(iii) Distributions paid or provided for
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities
Distributions paid (net of distributions previously provided for)
Distributions provided for
Total distributions paid or provided for (note 32)

2
2
4

The Macquarie Income Preferred Securities (MIPS) represent the NCI of a subsidiary. Accordingly, the distributions paid or
provided for in respect of the MIPS are recorded as movements in NCI, as disclosed in note 32 – Reserves, retained
earnings and non-control interests. Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL) can redirect the payments of distributions under the
convertible debentures to be paid to itself. For each debenture 500 MBL preference shares may be substituted at MBL's
discretion at any time, in certain circumstances (to meet capital requirements), or on maturity. Refer to note 32 – Reserves,
retained earnings and non-controlling interests for further details on these instruments.
Macquarie Income Securities
Distributions paid (net of distributions previously provided for)
Distributions provided for
Total distributions paid or provided for

20
6
26

16
5
21

–
–
–

–
–
–

The Macquarie Income Securities (MIS) represent the NCI of a subsidiary. Accordingly, the distributions paid or provided for
in respect of the MIS are recorded as movements in NCI, as disclosed in note 32 – Reserves, retained earnings and noncontrolling interests. No dividends are payable under the preference shares until MBL exercises its option to receive future
payments of interest and principal under the other stapled security. Upon exercise, dividends are payable at the same rate,
and subject to similar conditions, as the MIS. Dividends are also subject to MBL Directors' discretion. Refer to note 32 –
Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests for further details on these instruments.
6
Consolidated
2011

Consolidated
2010

Note 6
7

Earnings per share
Cents per share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Reconciliation of earnings used in the calculation of basic and diluted
earnings per share
Profit after income tax
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests:
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities
Macquarie Income Securities
Other non-controlling interests
Total earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share
Add back adjusted interest expense on Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Total earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share

282.5
275.9

320.2
317.4

$m
989

$m
1,093

(4)
(26)
(3)
956
35
991

(8)
(21)
(14)
1,050
32
1,082
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Consolidated
2011

Consolidated
2010

Note 6
Earnings per share continued
Number of shares
Total weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
of basic earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share
Weighted average fully paid ordinary shares
Potential ordinary shares:
Weighted average options
Weighted average MEREP awards
Weighted average retention securities and options
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Total weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary
shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share

338,359,374

327,908,104

338,359,374

327,908,104

158,315
3,717,229
205,609
16,808,205

268,277
275,888
153,375
12,237,648

359,248,732

340,843,292

Options
Options granted to employees under the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP) are considered to be
potential ordinary shares and have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they
are dilutive. The issue price, which is equivalent to the fair value of the options granted, and exercise price used in this
assessment incorporate both the amounts recognised as an expense up to the reporting date as well as the fair value of
options yet to be recognised as an expense in the future.
Included in the balance of weighted average options are 21,720 (2010: 85,318) options that were converted, lapsed or
cancelled during the period. There are a further 30,452,745 (2010: 42,643,151) options that have not been included in the
balance of weighted average options on the basis that their adjusted exercise price was greater than the average market
price of the Company’s fully paid ordinary shares for the financial year ended 31 March 2011 and consequently, they are
not considered to be dilutive.
The Company has suspended new offers under the MGESOP under remuneration arrangements which were the subject of
shareholder approvals obtained at a General Meeting of Macquarie Group Limited (MGL) in December 2009. The last grant
of options under the MGESOP was on 8 December 2009. Currently the Company does not expect to issue any further
options under the MGESOP.
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan
In December 2009, the Company’s shareholders approved the implementation of the MEREP. Awards granted under MEREP
are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share to the
extent they are dilutive. Included in the balance of weighted average shares are 469,059 (2010: nil) MEREP awards that were
converted, lapsed or cancelled during the period. As at 31 March 2011, a further 3,847,042 (2010: nil) MEREP awards have
not been included in the balance of weighted average awards on the basis that they are not considered to be dilutive.
Exchangeable shares
The exchangeable shares on issue (refer to note 31 – Contributed Equity) are considered to be ordinary shares and have
been included in the determination of basic and diluted earnings per share from their date of issue.
Retention securities and options
Retention securities and options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the
determination of diluted earnings per share from their date of issue. The fair value of these securities and options are
amortised over the vesting period.
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities (Macquarie CPS) (refer to note 30 – Loan Capital) have the potential to be
ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share from their date of issue to the
extent to which they are dilutive. These securities have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

5,497
2,920
1,155
245
9,817

3,572
3,046
1,207
426
8,251

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Note 7
8

Due from financial institutions
Cash at bank1
Overnight cash at bank2
Other loans to banks
Due from clearing houses3
Total due from financial institutions
1
2
3

Included within this balance is $137 million (2010: $13 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions.
Included within this balance is $6 million (2010: $126 million) provided as security over payables.
Included within this balance is $nil (2010: $9 million) provided as security over payables.

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity.

Note 8
9

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse
repurchase agreements
Governments1
Financial institutions
Other
Total cash collateral on securities borrowed
and reverse repurchase agreements
1

43
8,691
56

28
7,061
60

–
–
–

–
–
–

8,790

7,149

–

–

Governments include federal, state and local governments and related enterprises.

The Consolidated Entity enters into stock borrowing and reverse repurchase transactions with counterparties which require
lodgement of non-cash collateral. The fair value of collateral held as at 31 March 2011 is $9,038 million (2010: $7,293
million). Under certain transactions, the Consolidated Entity is allowed to resell or repledge the collateral held.
The above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.

Note 9
10

Trading portfolio assets
Equities1
Listed
Unlisted
Corporate bonds
Commodities
Commonwealth government bonds1
Foreign government bonds1
Promissory notes
Other government securities
Treasury notes
Bank bills
Certificates of deposit1
Total trading portfolio assets2
1

2

6,771
71
2,915
2,002
1,818
517
508
197
58
40
1
14,898

5,212
28
2,699
131
2,455
305
1
1,063
73
89
82
12,138

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Included within these balances are assets provided as security over issued notes and payables to other external investors and
financial institutions. The value of assets provided as security is $8 million (2010: $200 million).
Included within this balance are trading assets of $3,779 million (2010: $4,403 million) pledged as collateral to secure liabilities
under repurchase agreements and stock lending agreements.

The above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

1,894
593

2,288
336

–
–

–
–

39,931
(332)
39,599
4,159
(2)
43,756

38,482
(347)
38,135
3,742
(5)
41,872

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

46,243
(227)
46,016

44,496
(229)
44,267

–
–
–

–
–
–

Note 10
11

Loan assets held at amortised cost
Due from clearing houses
Due from governments1
Due from other entities
Other loans and advances
Less specific provisions for impairment
Lease receivables
Less specific provisions for impairment
Total due from other entities
Total loan assets before collective allowance for
credit losses
Less collective allowance for credit losses
Total loan assets held at amortised cost2, 3
1
2

3

Governments include federal, state and local governments and related enterprises in Australia.
Included within this balance are loans of $13,390 million (2010: $15,998 million) held by consolidated SPEs, which are available as
security to note holders and debt providers.
Included within this balance are other loans of $658 million (2010: $710 million) provided as security over issued notes and
payables to other external investors and financial institutions.

Of the above amounts, $11,716 million (2010: $11,379 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the
balance date by the Consolidated Entity.

Specific provisions for impairment
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Provided for during the financial year (note 2)
Loan assets written off, previously provided for
Recovery of loans previously provided for (note 2)
Attributable to foreign currency translation
Balance at the end of the financial year
Specific provisions as a percentage of total gross
loan assets
Collective allowance for credit losses
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Written back during the financial year (note 2)
Loan assets written off, previously provided for
Attributable to acquisitions during the financial year
Attributable to foreign currency translation
Balance at the end of the financial year

352
94
(79)
(16)
(17)
334

431
177
(143)
(37)
(76)
352

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

0.72%

0.78%

–

–

229
(5)
(5)
9
(1)
227

225
(2)
–
11
(5)
229

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

The collective allowance for credit losses is intended to cover losses in the existing overall credit portfolio which are not yet
specifically identifiable.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

117
(86)

143
(115)

–
–

–
–

31

28

–

–

792
(415)

1,090
(443)

–
–

–
–

377
408

647
675

–
–

–
–

8,290
3,378

4,552
4,620

–
–

–
–

11,668

9,172

–

–

Note 11
12

Impaired financial assets
Impaired debt investment securities available for sale
before specific provisions for impairment
Less specific provisions for impairment
Debt investment securities available for sale after specific
provisions for impairment
Impaired loan assets and other financial assets with
specific provisions for impairment
Less specific provisions for impairment
Loan assets and other financial assets after specific
provisions for impairment
Total net impaired assets

Note 12
13

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investment securities
Loan assets
Total other financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss1
1

Included within this balance is $1,803 million (2010: $2,173 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions.

Of the above amounts, $2,264 million (2010: $2,687 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the
balance date by the Consolidated Entity.

Note 13
14

Other assets
Debtors and prepayments
Security settlements1
Property held for sale and development
Other
Total other assets2
1
2

6,328
5,693
506
119
12,646

5,670
5,480
572
79
11,801

3
–
–
–
3

104
–
–
–
104

Security settlements are receivable within three working days of the relevant trade date.
Included within this balance is $88 million (2010: $92 million) of assets which are provided as security over amounts payable
to other financial institutions.

In the year ended 31 March 2010, $1,295 million (2009: $1,999 million) of assets under operating leases were included
in Other assets. These balances are now included in Property, plant and equipment and are disclosed in note 18.
The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity and by the Company.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

1,969
572
14,510
17,051

1,001
344
16,876
18,221

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Note 14
15

Investment securities available for sale
Equity securities
Listed1
Unlisted
Debt securities2, 3, 4
Total investment securities available for sale5
1
2

3

4
5

Included within this balance is $2 million (2010: $1 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions.
Included within this balance are debt securities of $235 million (2010: $316 million) which are recognised as a result of total return
swaps which meet the pass through test of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Consolidated
Entity does not have legal title to these assets but has full economic exposure to them.
Includes $2,314 million (2010: $2,382 million) of Negotiable Certificates of Deposits (NCD) due from financial institutions and $43
million (2010: $20 million) of bank bills.
Included within this balance is $238 million (2010: $232 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions.
Included within this balance is $136 million (2010: $182 million) pledged as collateral to secure liabilities under repurchase
agreements and stock lending agreements.

Of the above amounts, $5,915 million (2010: $6,228 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the
balance date by the Consolidated Entity.

Note 15
16

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Customer and servicing contracts
Intangible assets with indefinite lives
Other identifiable intangible assets
Total intangible assets

767
231
262
196
1,456

665
186
259
207
1,317

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated
Entity.
Reconciliation of the Consolidated Entity’s movement in intangible assets:

Balance at the beginning of the
financial year
Acquisitions during the financial year
Reclassifications during the financial year
Adjustments to purchase consideration1
Disposals during the financial year
Impairment during the financial year
Amortisation expense for the financial year
Currency translation difference arising
during the financial year
Balance at the end of the financial year
1

Goodwill
$m

Customer
and
servicing
contracts
$m

Intangible
assets with
indefinite
lives
$m

Other
identifiable
intangible
assets
$m

Total
$m

767
28
(12)
(22)
(21)
(7)
–

231
14
15
(3)
(3)
–
(41)

262
–
24
–
–
–
–

196
113
(27)
(7)
(5)
(2)
(33)

1,456
155
–
(32)
(29)
(9)
(74)

(68)
665

(27)
186

(27)
259

(28)
207

(150)
1,317

These balances relate to adjustments to purchase considerations and allocations.

In relation to businesses acquired and held for disposal, the individual business is treated as a cash generating unit. Assets
associated with strategic business acquisitions are allocated to each of the operating segments (refer to note 3 – Segment
reporting) and assessed for impairment on a regional legal entity operating group basis.
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Note 15
Intangible assets continued
The recoverable amount of goodwill is determined using the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell.
Value-in-use calculations are based upon discounting estimated post-tax cashflows at a risk-adjusted interest rate
appropriate to the cash generating unit to which the goodwill applies. The determination of both cashflows and discount
rates require the exercise of judgement. The calculations use cash flow estimations based on financial budgets and
forecasts reviewed by management. These cashflows are discounted at rates that have been determined by reference to
historical company and industry experience and publicly available data.
Fair value less costs to sell calculations are determined using an earnings multiple approach applicable to that type of
business. These have been determined by reference to historical company and industry experience and publicly available
data.

Note 16
17

Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment assets

Cash and due from financial institutions
Debt securities
Units in unit trusts
Equity securities
Total life investment contracts and other unitholder
investment assets

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

144
514
4,251
150

103
617
3,960
166

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

5,059

4,846

–

–

Investment assets are held to satisfy policy and unitholder liabilities, which are predominately investment linked.
The majority of the above assets are recoverable within 12 months of the balance date.
Income from life investment contracts and other unitholder investment assets
Premium income, investment revenue and management
fees
329
663
Life investment contract claims, reinsurance and changes
in policy liabilities
(199)
(585)
Direct fees
(47)
(34)
Total income from life investment contracts and other
unitholder investment assets (note 2)
83
44

–

–

–
–

–
–

–

–

Solvency requirements for the life investment contracts business have been met at all times during the financial year.
As at 31 March 2011, the life investment contracts business had investment assets in excess of policy holder liabilities of
$10 million (2010: $13 million).
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 17
18

Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Loans and investments without provisions for impairment
Loans and investments with provisions for impairment
Less provision for impairment
Loans and investments at recoverable amount
Total interests in associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method

1,820
1,503
(533)
970

2,990
1,533
(596)
937

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

2,790

3,927

–

–

The fair values of certain interests in material associates and joint ventures, for which there are public quotations, are below
their carrying value by $215 million (2010: $1 million).
Included within this balance is $48 million (2010: $nil) provided as security over payable to other financial institutions.
All of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.

Reconciliation of movement in the Consolidated Entity’s interests in
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method:
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Associates acquired/equity invested
Share of pre-tax profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures
Share of tax (expense)/benefit of associates and joint ventures
Dividends received/receivable from associates (note 34)
Associates disposed of
Impairment of investments in associates
Foreign exchange and other adjustments
Transferred to other asset categories
Balance at the end of the financial year

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

3,927
549
256
(77)
(290)
(224)
(69)
(22)
(1,260)
2,790

6,123
887
(329)
99
(412)
(565)
(354)
(649)
(873)
3,927

(i)
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Note 17
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method continued
(ii)

Summarised information of interests in material associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method is as follows:
Ownership interest

Name of entity
BrisConnections Unit Trusts1, a
Diversified CMBS Investments Inc2, b
Macquarie AirFinance Limited3, c
Macquarie Goodman Japan Limitedd
MAp Group4, 5, a
MGPA Limited1, d
Miclyn Express Offshore Limited1, e
New World Gaming Partners Holdings British
Columbia Limited4, f
Redford Australian Investment Trust1, a
Southern Cross Media Group1, g
1
2

3
4

5

a
b
c
d
e
f
g

Country of
incorporation

Reporting date

Australia
USA
Bermuda
Singapore
Australia
Bermuda
Bermuda

30 June
31 March
31 December
31 March
31 December
30 June
30 June

Canada
Australia
Australia

31 December
31 December
30 June

2011
%

2010
%

46

46

57
–
50
–
56
34

57
38
50
22
56
34

–
29
25

31
29
25

Significant influence arises due to the Consolidated Entity's voting power and board representation.
Voting rights for this investment are not proportional to the ownership interest. The Consolidated Entity has joint control because
neither the Consolidated Entity nor its joint investor has control in their own right.
During the period controlling interest in the entity has been acquired.
The Consolidated Entity has or had significant influence due to its fiduciary relationship as manager of these entities. During the
period significant influence was lost and the investment is now classified as an investment security available for sale.
Previously known as Macquarie Airports.
Infrastructure
Funds management and investing
Aircraft Leasing
Property development/management entity
Metals, mining and energy
Gaming infrastructure
Media, television, gaming and internet investments
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 17
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method continued
(iii) Contingent liabilities of associates and joint ventures are as follows:
Share incurred jointly with other investors
15
For which the Consolidated Entity is severally liable
8

9
16

–
–

–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(iv) Financial information of interests in associates and joint ventures are as follows:
Consolidated Entity’s share of:
Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
Profit/(loss) after tax

5,784
3,109
1,103
159

11,268
7,330
2,181
(215)

Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements
Communication equipment
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total communication equipment
Computer equipment

866
(322)
544

805
(287)
518

–
–
–

–
–
–

34
(26)
8

38
(27)
11

–
–
–

–
–
–

Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total computer equipment

288
(213)
75

386
(322)
64

–
–
–

–
–
–

Infrastructure assets
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total infrastructure assets
Total

18
(2)
16
643

13
(1)
12
605

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Assets under operating lease
Aviation
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation

4,005
(107)

937
(110)

–
–

–
–

Total aviation
Other
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total other

3,898

827

–

–

586
(120)
466

700
(232)
468

–
–
–

–
–
–

Total assets under operating lease

4,364

1,295

–

–

Total property, plant and equipment

5,007

1,900

–

–

Note 18
19

Property, plant and equipment
Furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated
Entity.
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Note 18
Property, plant and equipment continued
Reconciliation of the movement in the Consolidated Entity’s property, plant and equipment at their
written-down value:
Furniture,
fittings and
leasehold Communication
improvements
equipment
$m
$m
Balance at the beginning of the
financial year
Acquisitions
Disposals
Reclassification
Foreign exchange movements
Depreciation expense (note 2)
Balance at the end of the
financial year

Computer Infrastructure
equipment
assets
$m
$m

Total
$m

518
205
(11)
(21)
(29)
(118)

11
4
(1)
–
–
(6)

64
67
(2)
–
(4)
(50)

12
30
–
–
(26)
–

605
306
(14)
(21)
(59)
(174)

544

8

75

16

643

Included in the balance of property, plant and equipment are assets pledged as security over payables to other financial
institutions. The terms preclude these assets from being sold or being used as security for further liabilities without the
permission of the financial institution. The carrying value of assets pledged is $67 million (2010: $77 million).
Assets under operating lease
Balance at the beginning of the
financial year
Acquisitions
Disposals
Reclassification1
Foreign exchange movements
Depreciation expense
Balance at the end of the
financial year
1

Aviation
$m

Other
$m

Total
$m

827
3,966
(529)
18
(292)
(92)

468
128
(19)
17
(62)
(66)

1,295
4,094
(548)
35
(354)
(158)

3,898

466

4,364

Assets that cease to be under operating lease are transferred to inventory where expected to be realised through disposal.

Included in the balance of operating leases are assets pledged as security over payables to other financial institutions. The
terms preclude these assets from being sold or being used as security for further liabilities without permission of the
financial institution. The carrying value of assets pledged is $2,424 million (2010: $743 million).
In the year ended 31 March 2010, $1,295 million (2009: $1,999 million) of assets under operating lease were disclosed as
part of Other assets. During the year ended 31 March 2010, there were $352 million of acquisitions (2009: $484 million), $2
million of disposals (2009: $36 million), $518 million loss on combined foreign exchange movements and depreciation
(2009: $20 million) and $536 million reclassification to inventory (2009: $29 million).
The future minimum lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Assets under operating lease
Not later than one year
Later than one year, not later than five years
Later than five years
Total future minimum lease payments receivable

Consolidated Consolidated
2010
2011
$m
$m
537
1,389
356
2,282

148
378
73
599

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 19
20

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments at cost without provisions for impairment
Investments at cost with provisions for impairment
Less provisions for impairment
Investments at recoverable amount
Total investments in subsidiaries

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

10,551
16,217
(13,163)
3,054
13,605

9,727
16,758
(13,163)
3,595
13,322

The above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Company.
The material subsidiaries of the Company, based on contribution to the Consolidated Entity’s profit after income tax, the
size of the investment made by the Company or the nature of activities conducted by the subsidiary, are:
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Boston Australia Pty Limited
Delaware Management Company (United States)
Macquarie Acceptances Limited
Macquarie Agricultural Funds Management Limited
Macquarie Alternative Assets Management Limited
Macquarie Bank Limited
Macquarie Capital (USA) Inc. (United States)
Macquarie Capital Advisers Limited
Macquarie Equities Limited
Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited
Macquarie Financial Limited/Financiere Macquarie Ltee (Canada)
Macquarie Financial Products Management Limited
Macquarie Funding Holdings Inc. (United States)
Macquarie Funding Inc. (Canada)
Macquarie Funds Management Holdings Pty Limited
Macquarie Group Services Australia Pty Limited
Macquarie Holdings (USA) Inc. (United States)
Macquarie Income Investments Limited
Macquarie Infrastructure Partners Inc. (United States)
Macquarie Investment Management Limited
Macquarie Investment Services Limited
Macquarie Private Capital Management Limited
Macquarie Securities (Australia) Limited
Macquarie Securitisation Limited
Macquarie Specialised Asset Management Limited
MQ Portfolio Management Limited

Note: All entities are incorporated in Australia unless otherwise stated.

Overseas subsidiaries conduct business predominantly in their place of incorporation, unless otherwise stated.
Beneficial interest in all entities is 100 per cent.
All entities have a 31 March reporting date.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Other assets and liabilities
Tax losses
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Fixed assets
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities
Total deferred income tax assets

356
446
538
86
(181)
1,245

415
222
514
(2)
(25)
1,124

9
174
–
–
–
183

56
–
–
–
–
56

Intangible assets
Other liabilities
Financial instruments
Tax effect of reserves
Set-off of deferred tax assets
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax assets

(140)
(54)
(163)
(111)
181
(287)
958

(145)
(78)
(45)
8
25
(235)
889

–
–
–
–
–
–
183

–
–
–
–
–
–
56

Note 20
21

Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated
Entity and the Company.
Potential tax assets of approximately $79 million (2010: $130 million) attributable to tax losses carried forward by subsidiaries
have not been brought to account in the subsidiaries and in the Consolidated Entity as the Directors do not believe the
realisation of the tax assets is probable.
The principles of the balance sheet method of tax effect accounting have been adopted whereby the income tax expense for
the financial year is the tax payable on the current year's taxable income adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements and unused tax losses. Deductible temporary differences and tax losses give rise to deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax assets are not recognised unless the benefit is probable of realisation.
The deferred tax assets have been applied against deferred tax liabilities to the extent that they are expected to be realised in
the same period within the same tax paying entity.
Taxation of Financial Arrangements (TOFA)
The new tax regime for financial arrangements, TOFA, began to apply to the Australian tax consolidated group from
1 October 2010. The regime aims to align the tax and accounting recognition and measurement of financial arrangements
and their related flows. Deferred tax balances for financial instruments that existed on adoption at 1 October 2010 will
reverse over a four year period.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 21
22

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale
Non-current assets and assets of disposal group classified as held for sale
79

76

–

–

Other non-current assets

–

4

–

–

Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale1

–

47

–

–

Associates

Total non-current assets and assets of disposal
groups classified as held for sale

1

79

127

–

–

Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale

–

9

–

–

Total liabilities of disposal groups classified as held
for sale1

–

9

–

–

The balance at 31 March 2010 represents the assets and liabilities of Advanced Markets Holdings LLC.

The above non-current assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale are expected to be disposed of to other
investors within 12 months of being classified as held for sale unless events or circumstances occur that are beyond the
control of the Consolidated Entity, and the Consolidated Entity remains committed to its plan to sell the assets.
(i)

Summarised information of material associates and joint ventures classified as held for sale is as follows:
Ownership interest

Name of entity

1

a
b

Country of
incorporation

Reporting
date

2011
%

2010
%

Retirement Villages Group1, a

Australia

30 June

10

10

Soria Finance Cob

Mexico

31 December

22

–

The Consolidated Entity’s interest in this entity was reclassified from interests in associates and joint ventures to held for sale during
the year ended 31 March 2010.
Retirement homes
Infrastructure

All associates and joint ventures classified as held for sale are unlisted companies.
Voting power is equivalent to ownership interest unless otherwise stated.
(ii)

For associates and joint ventures classified as held for sale, the Consolidated Entity’s share of contingent
liabilities, is as follows:

The Consolidated Entity’s share of contingent liabilities in associates and joint ventures classified as held for sale is
$nil (2010: $nil).
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 21
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale continued
(iii) For associates and joint ventures classified as held for sale, financial information is as follows:
Consolidated Entity’s share of:
Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
Loss after tax

138
45
–
–

324
245
–
(1)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

6,327
6
1,477
7,810

8,360
43
1,524
9,927

4,451
–
–
4,451

6,922
–
–
6,922

190
344
6,002
81

2,776
–
4,590
124

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

6,617

7,490

–

–

4,500
496
472
340

3,892
287
819
434

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

5,808

5,432

–

–

41,177
41,177

42,614
42,614

4,116
4,116

3,154
3,154

Note 22
23

Due to financial institutions
OECD banks
Clearing houses1
Other
Total due to financial institutions
1

Amounts due to clearing houses are settled on the next business day.

Note 23
24

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements
Central banks
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total cash collateral on securities lent and
repurchase agreements

Note 24
25

Trading portfolio liabilities
Listed equity securities
Other government securities
Corporate securities
Commonwealth government securities
Total trading portfolio liabilities

Note 25
26

Debt issued at amortised cost
Debt issued at amortised cost1
Total debt issued at amortised cost
1

Included within this balance are amounts payable to SPE note holders of $11,679 million (2010: $14,419 million).

The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its debt during the
years reported.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

873
3,466

1,691
2,722

–
–

–
–

4,339

4,413

–

–

Company
2010
$m

Note 26
27

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Debt issued at fair value
Equity linked notes
Total other financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Reconciliation of debt issued at amortised cost and other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss by major currency:

(In Australian dollar equivalent):
United States dollars
Australian dollars
Canadian dollars
Euro
Japanese yen
South African rand
Korean won
Hong Kong dollars
Great British pounds
Singapore dollars
Others
Total by currency

18,035
14,663
7,242
2,295
1,466
1,173
247
164
135
62
34
45,516

16,847
18,428
5,789
1,654
1,350
1,565
196
386
547
177
88
47,027

3,629
405
–
–
82
–
–
–
–
–
–
4,116

2,740
414
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
3,154

The Consolidated Entity's primary sources of domestic and international debt funding are its multi-currency,
multi-jurisdictional Debt Instrument Program and domestic NCD issuance. Securities can be issued for terms varying from
one day to 30 years.

Note 27
28

Other liabilities
Due to brokers and customers
Creditors
Accrued charges and sundry provisions
Other
Total other liabilities

6,191
5,700
1,857
579
14,327

5,535
4,889
1,895
360
12,679

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity.

Note 28
29

Provisions
Provision for annual leave
Provision for long service leave
Provision for other employee entitlements
Provision for dividends
Total provisions

117
80
7
11
215

100
73
11
7
191

–
–
–
3
3

–
–
–
–
–

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity and by the Company.
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Note 29
30

Capital management strategy
The Company and Consolidated Entity’s capital management strategy is to maximise shareholder value through optimising
the level and use of capital resources, whilst also providing the flexibility to take advantage of opportunities as they may
arise.
The Consolidated Entity’s capital management objectives are to:
–
–
–
–

continue to support the Consolidated Entity’s credit rating
ensure sufficient capital resource to support the Consolidated Entity’s business and operational requirements
maintain sufficient capital to exceed externally imposed capital requirements, and
safeguard the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Consolidated Entity’s capital management strategy uses both the internal and external measures of capital. Internally,
an economic capital model (ECM) has been developed to quantify the Consolidated Entity’s aggregate level of risk.
The ECM is used in the Consolidated Entity to support business decision making, including deciding the required level
of capital, the setting of risk appetite and as a risk adjusted performance measure.
The Consolidated Entity is subject to minimum capital requirements externally imposed by APRA.
A subsidiary of the Company, MBL, is accredited by APRA to apply the Basel II Foundation Internal Ratings Based
Approach for credit risk and the Advanced Measurement Approach for operational risk.
Regulatory capital requirements are measured at three levels of consolidation within the Consolidated Entity. MBL and
certain subsidiaries which meet the APRA definition of Extended Licensed Entities are reported as Level 1. Level 2 consists
of MBL, its subsidiaries and its immediate parent less certain subsidiaries of MBL which are deconsolidated for APRA
reporting purposes. These include entities conducting insurance, funds management, non-financial operations and special
purpose vehicles. Level 3 consists of Level 2 group plus the Non-Banking Group. APRA requires ADIs to have a minimum
ratio of capital to risk weighted assets (RWAs) of 8 per cent at both Level 1 and Level 2, with at least 4 per cent of this
capital in the form of Tier 1 capital. In addition, APRA imposes ADI specific minimum capital ratios which may be higher
than these levels. Macquarie internal capital policy set by the Board requires capital floors above this regulatory required
level. Under the Non-Operating Holding Company structure, APRA has imposed minimum regulatory capital requirements
calculated as the sum of the dollar value of:
– MBL’s minimum Tier 1 capital requirement, based on a percentage of RWAs plus Tier 1 deductions using prevailing
APRA ADI Prudential Standards, and
– the non-ADI group capital requirement, using the Consolidated Entity’s ECM. Transactions internal to the Consolidated
Entity are excluded.
The overall Level 3 capital position is reported as an excess over the regulatory imposed minimum capital adequacy
requirement.
The Consolidated Entity’s Level 3 eligible capital is defined by APRA as Group Capital (ordinary equity plus reserves plus
hybrids) less regulatory adjustments required for the Banking Group, less certain reserves of the Non-Banking Group.
The Consolidated Entity has satisfied its externally imposed capital requirements at Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 throughout
the year.
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Note 30
31

Loan capital
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
In July 2008, Macquarie CPS Trust, a subsidiary of the Company issued six million Macquarie CPS at face value of
$100 each. These instruments are non-cumulative and unsecured and may be resold, mandatorily converted into
Macquarie ordinary shares (subject to certain conditions being satisfied) or redeemed on 30 June 2013. The Macquarie
CPS bears fixed-rate coupons at 11.095 per cent per annum, paid semi-annually until 30 June 2013, whereby a floating
rate will apply.
Subordinated debt
On 2 December 2010, Macquarie PMI LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, issued $US400 million of $US denominated
Preferred Membership Interests (Macquarie PMI). These instruments are non-cumulative and unsecured equity interests in
the issuer. They are redeemable at the Company’s option on any distribution date from 2 December 2015, and are nondilutive, as they will only exchange to MGL preference shares in specified circumstances, and mandatorily on 26 November
2035. The PMI bears fixed-rate coupons at 8.375 per cent per annum, paid semi-annually.
Agreements between the Consolidated Entity and the lenders provide that, in the event of liquidation, entitlement of such
lenders to repayment of the principal sum and interest thereon is and shall at all times be and remain subordinated to the
rights of all other present and future creditors of the Consolidated Entity.
The dates upon which the Consolidated Entity has committed to repay the principal sum to the lenders are as follows:
Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

37
600
10
–
306
441
308
816
386
2,904

–
600
11
239
330
516
319
–
–
2,015

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1,294
911
308
391
2,904

527
918
331
239
2,015

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Less than 12 months
30 June 2013
12 November 2014
18 September 2015
19 September 2016
6 December 2016
31 May 2017
21 September 2020
26 November 2035
Total loan capital1
Reconciliation of subordinated debt by major currency:

(In Australian dollar equivalent)
Euro
Australian dollars
Great British pounds
United States dollars
Total loan capital1
1

Balance disclosed excludes $10 million (2010: $7 million) of directly attributable costs related to the issue of Macquarie CPS and
Macquarie PMI.

The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its loan capital
during the years reported.
The carrying value of subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss at 31 March 2011 is $5 million higher
(2010: $14 million higher) than the contractual amount at maturity as credit risk and current market interest rates
are factored into the determination of fair value.
In accordance with APRA guidelines, MBL, a subsidiary, includes the applicable portion of its loan capital principal as Tier 2
capital.
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Consolidated
2011
Number of
Shares

Consolidated
2010
Number of
Shares

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Note 31
32

Contributed equity
Ordinary share capital
Opening balance of fully paid ordinary shares
On-market purchase of shares pursuant to the Macquarie Group
Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (NEDSAP) at
$39.96 per share
Allocation of shares to employees pursuant to the NEDSAP at
$39.96 per share
Macquarie Group Staff Share Acquisition Plan (MGSSAP) share
issue within the range of $33.49 and $47.99 per share

344,244,271

283,438,000

6,990

4,906

–

(3,639)

–

–

–

3,639

–

–

–

28,585

–

1

38,089
11,565

3,293,810
–

1
–

111
–

32,328

31,065

1

2

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) share issue within the range
of $36.36 and $45.45 (31 March 2010: $33.24 and $47.77)
per share

1,739,817

2,738,136

72

120

Issue of shares pursuant to an institutional private placement at
$27.00 per share on 8 May 2009

–

20,000,000

–

533

256,363

161,679

21

13

57,842

–

3

–

–

25,151,336

–

668

40,332

6,000

–

–

Issue of shares on exercise of options
Issue of shares on exercise of MEREP
Employee Share Plan (ESP) share issue at $40.52 (31 March
2010: $52.04) per share

Issue of shares on retraction of exchangeable shares at
$80.30 per share
Issue of shares on retraction of exchangeable shares with
vesting conditions at $50.80 per share
Share Purchase Plan (SPP) share issue at $26.60 per share
Issue of shares for nil cash consideration pursuant to the
retention agreements entered into with key Orion Financial Inc.
employees
Issue of shares to MEREP Trust within the range of $38.42
and $50.40 (31 March 2010: $46.60) per share

394,354

9,395,660

19

438

Transfer from Directors' Profit Share (DPS) liability on settlement
of obligation with own equity

–

–

–

180

Transfer from share based payments reserve for MEREP
awards that have vested

–

–

33

–

Transfer from share based payments reserve for employee
options that have been exercised
Closing balance of fully paid ordinary shares

–

–

–

18

346,814,961

344,244,271

7,140

6,990

As at 31 March 2011, 31,089,010 (2010: 43,545,335) options granted to employees over unissued ordinary shares had not been
exercised. For further information regarding the terms and conditions of the issue of options and shares to employees refer to
note 36 – Employee equity participation. Disclosures regarding the Company’s DRP are included in note 5 – Dividends and
distributions paid or provided for.
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Company
2011
Number of
Shares

Company
2010
Number of
Shares

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 31
Contributed equity continued
Ordinary share capital
Opening balance of fully paid ordinary shares

344,244,271

283,438,000

9,806

7,729

On-market purchase of shares pursuant to the NEDSAP at
$39.96 per share

–

(3,639)

–

–

Allocation of shares to employees pursuant to the NEDSAP at
$39.96 per share

–

3,639

–

–

MGSSAP share issue within the range of $33.49 and
$47.99 per share
Issue of shares on exercise of options
Issue of shares on exercise of MEREP
ESP share issue at $40.52 (31 March 2010: $52.04) per share
DRP share issue within the range of $36.36 and
$45.45 (31 March 2010: $33.24 and $47.77) per share
Issue of shares pursuant to an institutional private placement at
$27.00 per share on 8 May 2009
Issue of shares on retraction of exchangeable shares at
$80.30 per share
Issue of shares on retraction of exchangeable shares with vesting
conditions at $50.80 per share
SPP share issue at $26.60 per share
Issue of shares for nil cash consideration pursuant to the retention
agreements entered into with key Orion Financial Inc. employees
Issue of shares to MEREP Trust within the range of $38.42 and
$50.40 (31 March 2010: $46.60) per share

–

28,585

–

1

38,089
11,565
32,328

3,293,810
–
31,065

1
–
1

111
–
2

1,739,817

2,738,136

72

120

–

20,000,000

–

533

256,363

161,679

10

6

57,842

–

2

–

–

25,151,336

–

668

40,332

6,000

–

–

394,354

9,395,660

19

438

Transfer from DPS liability on settlement of obligation with own
equity

–

–

–

180

Transfer from share based payments reserve for MEREP awards
that have vested

–

–

33

–

Transfer from share based payments reserve for employee options
that have been exercised
Closing balance of fully paid ordinary shares

–

–

–

18

346,814,961

344,244,271

9,944

9,806
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

(731)

(443)

(726)

(438)

137

116

–

–

–

54

–

–

6

2

–

–

(21)

(13)

–

–

(3)

–

–

–

(8)

(11)

–

–

(7)

(11)

–

–

–

–

–

–

104

137

–

–

Note 31
Contributed equity continued
Treasury shares1
Exchangeable shares
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Issue of 2,036,705 exchangeable shares at $50.80 per
share, exchangeable to shares in MGL on a one-for-one
basis2, 3
Issue of 43,767 (31 March 2010: 152,472) exchangeable
shares with retention conditions at $50.80 per share,
exchangeable to shares in MGL on a one-for-one basis2, 3
Retraction of 256,363 (31 March 2010: 161,679)
exchangeable shares at $80.30 per share, exchangeable
to shares in MGL on a one-for-one basis4
Retraction of 57,842 (31 March 2010: nil) exchangeable
shares with vesting conditions at $50.80 per share,
exchangeable to shares in MGL on a one-for-one basis
Cancellation of 103,764 (31 March 2010: 142,386)
exchangeable shares at $80.30 per share
Cancellation of 410,673 (31 March 2010: 345,148)
exchangeable shares at $50.80 per share
Cancellation of nil (31 March 2010: 55,059)
exchangeable shares with retention conditions at
$50.80 per share
Total exchangeable shares at the end of the
financial year
1

2

3

4

In December 2009, the Company introduced MEREP, which grants RSUs, DSUs and PSUs to eligible staff. Under MEREP the staff
retained profit share is held in the shares of the Company by the Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan Trust (MEREP
Trust) and presented as Treasury shares. For further information regarding terms and conditions of MEREP refer to note 36 –
Employee equity participation.
The exchangeable shares were issued by a subsidiary in August 2009 as consideration for the acquisition of Tristone Capital Global
Inc. and are classified as equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. They are eligible to be
exchanged on a basis for shares in MGL (subject to staff trading restrictions) or cash at the Company’s discretion and will pay
dividends equal to MGL dividends during their legal life. The exchangeable shares must be exchanged by August 2019 and carry
no MGL voting rights.
There are also retention agreements in place with key former Tristone employees, under which new MGL shares may be allocated
within five years from the date of acquisition. As at 31 March 2011, the total number of retention options remaining is 81,884
(2010: 131,297).
The value of the exchangeable shares at reporting date includes a fair value adjustment due to an earn out mechanism.
The number of exchangeable shares exercisable by the holders will expand (to a maximum of 4 million shares) or contract, based
on the performance of the acquired business against pre-determined financial performance measures until the adjustment date
(a date between the second anniversary of closing and not later than 60 days after the second anniversary of closing).
The exchangeable shares were issued by a subsidiary in November 2007 as consideration for the acquisition of Orion Financial Inc.
and are classified as equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. They are eligible to be exchanged
on a one-for-one basis for shares in MGL (subject to staff trading restrictions) or cash at the Company’s discretion and will pay
dividends equal to MGL dividends during their legal life. The exchangeable shares will expire in November 2017 and carry no MGL
voting rights.
There are also retention agreements in place with key former Orion employees, under which new MGL shares may be allocated
within five years from the date of acquisition. As at 31 March 2011, the total number of retention options remaining is 66,668
(2010: 127,000).
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

–

–

Note 32
33

Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests
Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year

(320)

(34)

Currency translation differences arising during the
financial year, net of hedge

(500)

(286)

–

–

Balance at the end of the financial year

(820)

(320)

–

–

Available for sale reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year

126

(3)

–

–

Revaluation movement for the financial year, net of tax

437

133

–

–

Transfer to income statement for impairment
Transfer to profit on realisation
Balance at the end of the financial year

(6)

1

–

–

(175)

(5)

–

–

382

126

–

–

Share based payments reserve
544

338

359

153

Option expense for the financial year

Balance at the beginning of the financial year

32

110

–

–

MEREP expense for the financial year

246

114
–

–
32

–
110

Options issued to employees of subsidiaries (note 34)

–

MEREP issued to employees of subsidiaries (note 34)

–

–

246

114

Transfer to share capital on exercise of options

–

(18)

–

(18)

Transfer to share capital on vesting of MEREP awards

(33)

–

(33)

–

Balance at the end of the financial year

789

544

604

359

(39)

(217)

–

–

2

178

–

–

Balance at the end of the financial year

(37)

(39)

–

–

Share of reserves of interests in associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the equity method
Balance at the beginning of the financial year

Cash flow hedging reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Revaluation movement for the financial year, net of tax

(31)

(67)

–

–

Share of reserves during the financial year

27

36

–

–

Balance at the end of the financial year

(4)

(31)

–

–

310

280

604

359

4,268

3,627

2,902

2,946

Total reserves at the end of the financial year
Retained earnings
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of Macquarie
Group Limited

956

1,050

573

363

Dividends paid on ordinary share capital (note 5)

(643)

(409)

(641)

(407)

Balance at the end of the financial year

4,581

4,268

2,834

2,902
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Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

107

107

–

–

(1)

(1)

–

–

106

106

4

8

–

–

(4)

(8)

–

–

(43)

(39)

–

–

63

67

–

–

400

400

–

–

(9)

(9)

–

–

391

391

–

–

46

40

–

–
–

Consolidated
2011
$m

Note 32
Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests continued
Non-controlling interests
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities1
Proceeds on issue of Macquarie Income Preferred Securities
Less issue costs
Current year profit
Distribution provided on Macquarie Income Preferred
Securities (note 5)
Foreign currency translation reserve
Total Macquarie Income Preferred Securities
Macquarie Income Securities2
4,000,000 Macquarie Income Securities of $100 each
Less transaction costs for original placement
Total Macquarie Income Securities
Other non-controlling interests
Ordinary share capital
Foreign currency translation reserve

(12)

(13)

–

Retained earnings

40

52

–

–

Total other non-controlling interests

74

79

–

–

528

537

–

–

Total non-controlling interests
1

2

On 22 September 2004, Macquarie Capital Funding LP, a subsidiary of the Company, issued £350 million of MIPS.
MIPS – guaranteed non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities – currently pay a 6.177 per cent (2010: 6.177 per cent)
per annum semi-annual non-cumulative fixed rate distribution. They are perpetual securities and have no fixed maturity but may be
redeemed on 15 April 2020, at MGL’s discretion. If redemption is not elected on this date, the distribution rate will be reset to 2.35
per cent per annum above the then five-year benchmark sterling gilt rate. MIPS may be redeemed on each fifth anniversary
thereafter at MGL’s discretion. The first coupon was paid on 15 April 2005. Following the cancellation of £307.5 million MIPS in
September 2009, £42.5 million MIPS remain on issue.
The Macquarie Income Securities issued by MBL were listed for trading on the Australian Stock Exchange (now Australian
Securities Exchange) on 19 October 1999 and became redeemable (in whole or in part) at MBL's discretion on 19 November 2004.
Interest is paid quarterly at a floating rate of BBSW plus 1.7 per cent per annum (2010: 1.7 per cent per annum). Payment of
interest to holders is subject to certain conditions, including the profitability of MBL. They are a perpetual instrument with no
conversion rights.

These instruments are classified as equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and reflected
in the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements as a NCI, with distribution entitlements being included with NCI share of
profit after tax.
Distribution policies for these instruments are included in note 5 – Dividends and distributions paid or provided.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

Note 33
34

Notes to the statements of cash flows
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as
shown in the statements of cash flows are reconciled to related
items in the statements of financial position as follows:
Due from financial institutions1

9,667

7,940

–

–

Trading portfolio assets and debt securities2

2,656

3,833

–

–

12,323

11,773

–

–

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year
1

2

Includes cash at bank, overnight cash at bank, other loans to banks and amounts due from clearing houses as per note 1(xxi) –
Summary of significant accounting policies.
Includes certificates of deposit, bank bills, treasury notes and other short-term debt securities as per note 1(xxi) – Summary of
significant accounting policies.

Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flows
from/(used in) operating activities
Profit after income tax
Adjustments to profit after income tax:
Depreciation and amortisation
Dividends received/receivable from associates
Fair value changes on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and realised investment securities available
for sale
Gain on acquiring, disposing, and change in ownership interest
in subsidiaries and businesses held for sale
Gain on repurchase of subordinated debt
Impairment charge on financial and non-financial assets
Interest on available for sale financial assets
Net gains on sale of investment securities available for sale and
associates and joint ventures
Sale of management rights
Share based payment expense
Share of net (profits)/losses of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Change in amount due from subsidiaries under tax funding
agreement
Change in dividends receivable
Change in fees and non-interest income receivable
Change in fees and commissions payable
Change in tax balances
Change in provisions for employment entitlements
Change in loan assets
Change in loan payable to a subsidiary
Change in debtors, prepayments, accrued charges and creditors
Change in net trading portfolio assets and liabilities and net
derivative financial instruments
Change in net interest payable, amounts due to other financial
institutions, deposits and other borrowings
Change in life investment contract receivables
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

989

1,093

573

363

406
290

445
412

–
–

–
–

(234)

146

–

–

(96)
–
270
(148)

(393)
(55)
705
(288)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(377)
(14)
284

(146)
(428)
224

–
–
–

–
–
–

(179)

230

–

–

–
(50)
316
14
78
6
(1,550)
–
(292)

–
138
152
21
(87)
12
336
–
1,004

(100)
–
–
–
52
–
2,548
(512)
8

(408)
–
–
–
337
–
404
(2,551)
3

(4,862)

266

–

–

7,324
204
2,379

(8,632)
(1,114)
(5,959)

(1,516)
–
1,053

2,632
–
780
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Note 34
35

Related party information
Subsidiaries
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries principally arise from the granting of loans and the provision of
management and administration services.
All transactions with subsidiaries are in accordance with regulatory requirements, the majority of which are on commercial
terms. All transactions undertaken during the financial year with subsidiaries are eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements. Amounts due from and due to subsidiaries are presented separately in the statement of financial position of the
Company except when offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or event.
Balances arising from lending and borrowing activities between the Company and its subsidiaries are typically repayable on
demand, but may be extended on a term basis and where appropriate may be either subordinated or collateralised.
In the financial year ended 31 March 2008 the Company received a $10.1 billion intra-group loan from MBL of which $737
million (2010: $1,249 million) remained outstanding at the balance date. This facility has been repaid on
27 April 2011.
A list of material subsidiaries is set out in note 19 – Investments in subsidiaries.
The Company as the ultimate parent entity of the Macquarie Group, is the head entity of the Australian tax consolidated
group and has entered into a tax funding agreement with its eligible Australian resident subsidiaries. The terms and
conditions of this agreement are set out in note 1(vii) – Summary of significant accounting policies. During the year ended
31 March 2011, current tax liabilities of subsidiaries assumed by MGL as the head entity of the tax consolidated group
amounted to $201 million (2010: $558 million). As at 31 March 2011, the amount receivable by the Company under the tax
funding agreement with the tax consolidated entities is $294 million (2010: $194 million payable). This balance is included in
Due from subsidiaries in the Company’s separate statement of financial position.
The following income/(expense) resulted from transactions with subsidiaries during the financial year:

Interest income received/receivable (note 2)
Interest expense paid/payable (note 2)
Share based payments to employees of subsidiaries
(note 32)
Dividends and distributions (note 2)
The following balances with subsidiaries were
outstanding as at financial year end:
Amounts receivable
Amounts payable1
1

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

–
–

–
–

521
(91)

453
(93)

–
–

–
–

(278)
635

(224)
380

–
–

–
–

9,530
(1,951)

11,643
(2,357)

As described in note 1(xx) – Summary of significant accounting policies, the Company has recognised a liability as at
31 March 2011 of $189 million (2010: $91 million) for amounts received in advance as at 31 March 2011 from subsidiaries for the
MEREP offered to their employees and yet to be recognised as a share-based payment expense by the subsidiary. To the extent
that the awards vest, this amount will be retained by the Company as compensation for issuing and releasing the shares to the
subsidiary employees.

Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash. The weighted average interest rate charged on
outstanding balances receivable/payable are disclosed in note 42 – Average interest bearing assets and liabilities and
related interest.
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Note 34
Related party information continued
Associates and joint ventures
Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and its associates and joint ventures principally arise from the provision
of corporate advisory services, the granting of loans, derivative transactions and the provision of management services. All
transactions undertaken with associates and joint ventures are eliminated where they are unrealised, to the extent of
ownership interests held by the Consolidated Entity, in the consolidated income statement.
During the financial year, the following income/(expense) resulted from transactions with associates and joint ventures:

Interest income received/receivable
Fee and commission income1
Other income
Gains on sale of securities2
Dividends and distributions3 (note 17)
Brokerage and commission expense
1
2

3

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

3
452
3
19
290
(10)

6
683
3
57
412
(7)

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Fee and commission income includes all fees charged to associates.
Gains on sale of securities are shown after elimination of unrealised profits or losses calculated by reference to the Consolidated
Entity's ownership interest in the associate.
Dividends and distributions are shown as gross amounts. Under the equity method, these amounts are not taken up as income but
are recorded as a reduction of the carrying amount of the investment.

The following balances with associates and joint ventures were outstanding as at financial year end (these exclude amounts
which in substance form part of the Consolidated Entity's net investment in associates, disclosed in note 17 – Interests in
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method):

Amounts receivable
Amounts payable

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

237
(142)

325
(112)

–
–

–
–

Balances arising from lending and borrowing activities between the Consolidated Entity and its associates and joint
ventures are typically repayable on demand, but may be extended on a term basis and where appropriate may be either
subordinated or collateralised.
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Note 35
36

Key Management Personnel disclosure
Key Management Personnel
The following persons were Voting Directors of the Company during the financial years ended 31 March 2011 and
31 March 2010, unless indicated.
Executive Directors
N.W. Moore1
L.G. Cox, AO

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
(resigned 29 July 2009)

Non-Executive Directors
D.S. Clarke, AO
M.J. Hawker, AM
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone, AO
H.K. McCann, AM
J.R. Niland, AC
H.M. Nugent, AO
P.H. Warne

Non-Executive Chairman (resigned 17 March 2011)
(appointed 22 March 2010)

Non-Executive Chairman (appointed as Chairman 17 March 2011)

In addition to the Executive Directors listed above, the following persons also had authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of MGL during the past two financial years ended 31 March 2011
and 31 March 2010, unless otherwise indicated.
Executives
S.D. Allen1
T.C. Bishop1
M. Carapiet1
A.J. Downe1
G.A. Farrell1
R.S. Laidlaw1
P.J. Maher1
N.R. Minogue
W.R. Sheppard1
S. Vrcelj1
G.C. Ward1
S. Wikramanayake1
1

Group Head, Risk Management Group (appointed 28 September 2009)
Country Head, United States of America (appointed 2 July 2010)
Executive Chairman, Macquarie Capital and Macquarie Securities Group
Group Head, Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities Group
Group Head, Corporate and Asset Finance Group (appointed 2 July 2010)
Group Head, Macquarie Securities Group and Macquarie Capital
Group Head, Banking and Financial Services Group
Former Group Head, Risk Management Group (resigned 30 November 2009)
Deputy Managing Director
Head of Global Cash and Equities (appointed 2 July 2010)
Chief Financial Officer
Group Head, Macquarie Funds Group

Members of the Consolidated Entity’s Executive Committee as at 29 April 2011.

It is important to note that the Company’s Non-Executive Directors are specifically required to be categorised as
Key Management Personnel for the purposes of the disclosures in the Remuneration Report. However, the
Non-Executive Directors do not consider that they are part of ‘management’.
The remuneration arrangements for all of the persons listed above are described in Appendix 2 of the Remuneration Report,
contained in the Directors' Report on pages 77 to 128.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Key Management Personnel remuneration continued
The following tables detail the aggregate remuneration for Key Management Personnel:
Long-term
Employee Share Based
Benefits1
Payments

Short-term Employee Benefits

Restricted
profit share
$

22,162,270
21,171,591

–
–

29,793,359
25,347,015

10,137,294
5,219,357

18,985,916
14,598,152

58,916,569
45,164,524

–
–

66,750
36,950

3,208,350
2,689,202

–
–

–
–

3,208,350
2,689,202

Performance
related
remuneration
$

Executive Remuneration
2011
7,631,089
2010
4,175,424
Non-Executive Remuneration
2011
3,141,600
2010
2,652,252
1

Other
benefits
$

Total
short-term
Employee
Benefits
$

Salary and
fees (including
superannuation)
$

Shares/
PSUs/
Total
options remuneration
$
$

Includes earnings or losses on restricted profit share.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Option holdings of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following tables set out details of options held during the year for the Key Management Personnel including their related
parties, on a Consolidated Entity basis. The options are over fully paid unissued ordinary shares of Macquarie Group
Limited. Further details in relation to the MGESOP are disclosed in note 36 – Employee equity participation. There were no
options issued to Key Management Personnel during the financial years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Name and position

1
2

3
4
5

Options not
able to be
Number of
Options
exercised
options
due to
outstanding exercised
at during the performance
financial hurdles not
1 April
year
met2
20101

Number of
options
outstanding
at
Other
31 March
changes3
20114

Number of
options
vested
during the
financial
year

Number of
options
vested at
31 March
20114

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

623,501

–

(186,100)

(170,000)

267,401

–

53,333

Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop5
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell5
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj5
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

218,725
355,219
460,781
341,334
211,595
347,925
103,334
161,000
108,000
123,500
178,275

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
(156,454)
(116,000)
–
(45,000)
(34,999)
(47,000)
–
(37,833)
(26,666)

(69,750)
(24,414)
(81,207)
(50,000)
(33,500)
(52,320)
(16,667)
(50,000)
–
(30,000)
(23,000)

148,975
330,805
223,120
175,334
178,095
250,605
51,668
64,000
108,000
55,667
128,609

49,659
–
–
–
–
53,536
–
–
–
–
25,092

98,112
181,470
47,786
28,333
113,767
134,816
10,000
15,000
57,333
10,000
60,211

Or date of appointment if later.
Performance hurdles for options issued on or after 30 June 2006 and vesting at 1 July 2010 were not achieved and therefore the
options did not vest. These options were not exercisable and the related expense previously recognised on these option grants
was reversed during the financial year. The value of those options that lapsed calculated on 1 July 2010 was $nil. Such options
have been excluded from the table above.
Includes vested options lapsed during the financial year.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Bishop, Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on
1 April 2010 represents holdings at the date of appointment.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Option holdings of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010
Number of
options
outstanding
at
1 April
20091

Options
exercised
during the
financial
year

Options not
able to be
exercised
due to
performance
hurdles not
met2

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

776,634

(48,334)

(104,799)

–

Executives
S.D. Allen5
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

218,725
550,567
426,334
372,374
135,001
224,334
156,834
178,275

–
–
–
–
–
–
(13,334)
–

–
(89,786)
(56,666)
–
(18,333)
(30,000)
(20,000)
–

Former
L.G. Cox6
N.R. Minogue7

32,265
170,834

–
–

(6,081)
(23,332)

Name and position

1
2

3
4
5

6
7

Number of
options
vested
during the
financial
year

Number of
options
vested at
31 March
20104

623,501

56,668

223,333

–
–
(28,334)
(24,449)
(13,334)
(33,334)
–
–

218,725
460,781
341,334
347,925
103,334
161,000
123,500
178,275

–
40,604
16,668
70,974
8,334
16,668
10,000
36,591

90,303
128,993
78,333
133,600
26,667
65,000
40,000
58,119

(26,184)
(100,836)

–
46,666

–
11,668

–
46,666

Number of
options
outstanding
at
Other
31 March
changes3
20104

Or date of appointment if later.
Performance hurdles for options issued on or after 30 June 2006 and vesting at 1 July 2009 were not achieved and therefore the
options did not vest. These options were not exercisable and the related expense previously recognised on these option grants
were reversed in the prior year. The value of those options that lapsed calculated on 1 July 2009 was $nil. Such options have been
excluded from the table above.
Includes vested options sold under facility provided by an external party unless otherwise noted.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents
holdings at the date of appointment.
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of resignation.
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on 30 November 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings
at date of resignation.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
MEREP RSU Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following tables set out details of MEREP RSU awards held during the year for the Key Management Personnel
including their related parties, on a Consolidated Entity basis. Further details in relation to the MEREP RSU awards are
disclosed in note 36 – Employee equity participation.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011

1
2

3
4.

5

6

7

Name and position

Number
of RSU
awards
held at
1 April
20101

RSU
awards
granted
during the
financial
year2

Vested RSU
awards
withdrawn
from the
MEREP
during the
financial
year

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

466,460

105,362

–

571,822

58,567

Executives
S.D. Allen4
T.C. Bishop5, 6
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell5
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj5
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake7

113,565
159,242
34,661
80,877
60,508
126,778
88,468
108,729
104,379
92,688
69,028

40,304
–
45,715
97,961
–
71,266
36,245
21,769
–
38,313
13,605

(13,290)
(6,074)
–
–
–
(13,159)
(9,832)
(14,799)
(9,341)
(8,106)
(8,485)

140,579
153,168
80,376
178,838
60,508
184,885
114,881
115,699
95,038
122,895
74,148

–
6,002
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Number
of RSU
awards
held at
31 March
20113

Number
of RSU
awards
vested at
31 March
2011

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Summary of significant accounting policies, RSUs are granted in the financial year following the year of
the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, RSUs disclosed as granted above relate to 2010.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
At 31 March 2011, 88,406 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Mr Allen does not have a legal or beneficial interest in
the underlying shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU award held in the MEREP.
Mr Bishop, Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on
1 April 2010 represents their holdings at the date of appointment.
At 31 March 2011, 60,382 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Mr Bishop does not have a legal or beneficial interest
in the underlying shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU award held in the MEREP.
At 31 March 2011, 47,603 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Ms Wikramanayake does not have a legal or
beneficial interest in the underlying shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU award held in the
MEREP.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Number
of RSU
awards
held at
1 April
20091

RSU
awards
granted
during the
financial
year2

Vested RSU
awards
withdrawn
from the
MEREP
during the
financial
year

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

–

466,460

–

466,460

–

Executives
S.D. Allen4
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake5

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

113,565
34,661
80,877
126,778
88,468
108,729
92,688
69,028

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

113,565
34,661
80,877
126,778
88,468
108,729
92,688
69,028

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Name and position

1
2

3
4

5

Number
of RSU
awards
held at
31 March
20103

Number
of RSU
awards
vested at
31 March
2010

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Summary of significant accounting policies, RSUs are granted in the financial year following the year of
the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, RSUs disclosed as granted above relate to 2009 and
include pre-2009 in relation to transition awards.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents
holdings at the date of appointment. 88,406 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Mr Allen does not have a legal or
beneficial interest in the underlying shares, however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU held in the MEREP.
At 31 March 2010, 49,330 of these awards are held outside the MEREP and Ms Wikramanayake does not have a legal or
beneficial interest in the underlying shares however these awards have the same economic benefits as an RSU held in the MEREP.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
MEREP PSU Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following tables set out details of MEREP PSU awards held during the year for the Key Management Personnel
including their related parties, on a Consolidated Entity basis. Further details in relation to the MEREP PSU awards are
disclosed in note 36 – Employee equity participation.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011

1
2

3

Name and position

Number
of PSU
awards
held at
1 April
20101

PSU
awards
granted
during the
financial
year2

PSU
awards
exchanged
during the
financial
year

Number
of PSU
awards
held at
31 March
20113

Number
of PSU
awards
vested
during the
financial
year

Number
of PSU
awards
vested at
31 March
2011

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

38,300

108,225

–

146,525

–

–

Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

–
–
34,300
53,500
–
20,700
13,000
3,900
–
26,700
11,500

29,906
–
69,624
99,567
–
72,510
36,796
24,927
–
44,011
24,927

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

29,906
–
103,924
153,067
–
93,210
49,796
28,827
–
70,711
36,427

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Summary of significant accounting policies, PSUs are granted in the financial year following the year of
the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, PSUs disclosed as granted above relate to 2010.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
MEREP PSU Awards of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010
Number
of PSU
awards
held at
1 April
20091

PSU
awards
granted
during the
financial
year2

PSU
awards
exchanged
during the
financial
year

Number
of PSU
awards
held at
31 March
20103

Number
of PSU
awards
vested
during the
financial
year

Number
of PSU
awards
vested at
31 March
20103

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

–

38,300

–

38,300

–

–

Executives
S.D. Allen4
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
34,300
53,500
20,700
13,000
3,900
26,700
11,500

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
34,300
53,500
20,700
13,000
3,900
26,700
11,500

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Name and position

1
2

3
4

Or date of appointment if later.
As discussed in note 1(xx) – Summary of significant accounting policies, PSUs are granted in the financial year following the year of
the Company’s performance to which the grant relates. Consequently, PSUs disclosed as granted above relate to 2009.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents
holdings at the date of appointment.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel and their related parties
The following tables set out details of fully paid ordinary shares of the Company held during the financial year by Key
Management Personnel including their related parties, on a Consolidated Entity basis.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Name and position

Number
of shares
held at
1 April
20101

Shares
received on
withdrawal
from the
MEREP

Other
changes2

Number
of shares
held at
31 March
20113

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

1,245,745

–

–

1,245,745

13,485
4,103
23,198
12,000
10,122
21,176
15,821

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
2,000
–
–
–
–
–

13,485
6,103
23,198
12,000
10,122
21,176
15,821

Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop4
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell4
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj4
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

38,205
–
587,616
78,878
148,646
39,035
74,175
249,309
–
15,345
326,867

13,290
6,074
–
–
–
13,159
9,832
14,799
9,341
8,106
8,485

(13,290)
(6,074)
–
(20,779)
(16,963)
(50,329)
(75,270)
(35,925)
(9,341)
(14,515)
–

38,205
–
587,616
58,099
131,683
1,865
8,737
228,183
–
8,936
335,352

Former
D.S. Clarke5

273,717

–

(213,464)

60,253

Non-Executive Directors
H.K. McCann
M.J. Hawker
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne

1
2
3
4

5

Or date of appointment if later.
Includes on-market acquisitions and disposals.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Bishop, Mr Farrell and Mr Vrcelj were appointed to the Executive Committee on 2 July 2010. The opening balance on
1 April 2010 represents their holdings at the date of appointment.
Mr Clarke resigned from the Board on 17 March 2011. Balance at 31 March 2011 represents holdings at date of resignation.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

1
2
3
4
5

6

7
8

Name and position

Number
of shares
held at
1 April
20091

Shares
received
on exercise
of options

Other
changes2

Number
of shares
held at
31 March
20103

Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

1,197,411

48,334

–

1,245,745

Non-Executive Directors
D.S. Clarke4
M.J. Hawker5
P.M. Kirby
C.B. Livingstone
H.K. McCann
J.R. Niland
H.M. Nugent
P.H. Warne

704,914
4,103
18,996
8,980
11,359
9,559
20,613
15,821

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(431,197)
–
4,202
3,020
2,126
563
563
–

273,717
4,103
23,198
12,000
13,485
10,122
21,176
15,821

Executives
S.D. Allen6
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
W.R. Sheppard
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake

38,205
680,750
124,102
38,475
106,175
267,790
15,345
326,867

–
–
–
–
–
–
13,334
–

–
(93,134)
(45,224)
560
(32,000)
(18,481)
(13,334)
–

38,205
587,616
78,878
39,035
74,175
249,309
15,345
326,867

Former
L.G. Cox7
N.R. Minogue8

269,812
136,620

–
–

–
–

269,812
136,620

Or date of appointment if later.
Includes on-market acquisitions and disposals.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Clarke sought and was granted leave from 27 November 2008 to 30 August 2009.
Mr Hawker was appointed to the Board on 22 March 2010. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents holdings at the date
of appointment.
Mr Allen was appointed to the Executive Committee on 28 September 2009. The opening balance on 1 April 2009 represents
holdings at the date of appointment.
Mr Cox resigned from the Board on 29 July 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at date of resignation.
Mr Minogue resigned from the Executive Committee on 30 November 2009. Balance at 31 March 2010 represents holdings at
date of resignation.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties
Details of loans provided by the Consolidated Entity to Key Management Personnel and their related parties are disclosed
in the following tables:
Opening
balance at
1 April
$’000
Total for Key Management Personnel
and their related parties
Total for Key Management Personnel1
1

Interest
charged Write-downs
$’000
$’000

Closing
balance at
31 March
$’000

2011

31,691

1,290

–

5,532

2010
2011
2010

42,861
12,422
22,729

3,045
693
863

–
–
–

31,691
5,532
12,422

Number of persons included in the aggregate at 31 March 2011: 3 (2010: 5).

Loans and other financial instrument transactions are made by the Consolidated Entity in the ordinary course of business
with related parties.
Certain loans are provided under zero cost collar facilities secured over MGL shares under normal terms and conditions
consistent with other customers and employees.
Key Management Personnel including their related parties with loans above $100,000 at any time during the financial year
ended 31 March 2011 are as follows:

Name and position
Executive Directors
N.W. Moore

1
2

3
4

Balance at
1 April
20101
$’000

Interest
charged2 Write-downs
$’000
$’000

Balance at
31 March
20113
$’000

Highest
balance
during
financial
year
$’000

5,274

304

–

5,274

5,274

Executives
R.S. Laidlaw

238

14

–

238

238

Former
D.S. Clarke4

26,160

971

–

5,757

26,526

Or date of appointment if later.
All loans provided by the Consolidated Entity to Directors and Executives are made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s
length basis and are entered into under normal terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. There have
been no write-downs or allowances for doubtful debts.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Clarke resigned from the Board on 17 March 2011.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties continued
For the financial year ended 31 March 2010

Name and position
Executive Directors
N.W. Moore
Non-Executive Directors
D.S. Clarke4
Executives
R.S. Laidlaw
1
2

3
4

Write-downs
$’000

Balance at
31 March
20103
$’000

Highest
balance
during
financial
year
$’000

330

–

5,274

5,313

37,290

2,700

–

26,160

38,975

238

14

–

238

238

Balance at
1 April
20091
$’000

Interest
charged2
$’000

5,313

Or date of appointment if later.
All loans provided by the Consolidated Entity to Directors and Executives are made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s
length basis and are entered into under normal terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. There have
been no write-downs or allowances for doubtful debts.
Or date of resignation if earlier.
Mr Clarke sought and was granted leave from 27 November 2008 to 30 August 2009.
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Note 35
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued
Other transactions with Key Management Personnel and their related parties
Certain Key Management Personnel and their related parties have acquired Infrastructure Bonds and similar products from
subsidiaries within the Consolidated Entity, which have been financed with limited recourse loans and are subject to
forward sale agreements. The loan repayments and proceeds arising from the forward sale agreements are subject to a
legal right of set-off and as such are not recognised for financial reporting purposes. The only amounts recognised by the
Consolidated Entity in respect of these transactions are the annual payments from the relevant Key Management Personnel
which are brought to account as fee revenue. These transactions have been undertaken on terms and conditions
consistent with other customers and employees.

Total annual contributions from Key Management Personnel and their related parties in
respect of Infrastructure Bonds and similar products

Consolidated
2011
$’000

Consolidated
2010
$’000

13,892

10,123

The annual contributions in respect of Infrastructure Bonds and similar products relate to the following Key Management
Personnel:
Executive Directors
N.W. Moore
Non-Executive Directors
P.M. Kirby
Executives
S.D. Allen, M. Carapiet, A.J. Downe, G.A. Farrell (2011 only), R.S. Laidlaw, P.J. Maher, W.R. Sheppard, S. Vrcelj (2011 only),
G.C. Ward, S. Wikramanayake
Former Directors
L.G. Cox (2010 only), N.R. Minogue (2010 only)
The following Key Management Personnel (including related parties) have entered a zero cost collar transaction with the
Consolidated Entity and other non-related entities in respect of ordinary fully paid MGL shares. This has the effect of
acquiring cash-settled put options against movements in the MGL share price below nominated levels and disposing of the
benefit of any share price movement above the nominated level.
Transactions with the Consolidated Entity

Name and position
Executives
A.J. Downe1, 2

Former
D.S. Clarke1
1

2

Description

Number of
shares
2011

Number of
shares
2010

Matured August 2010
Matured July 2010

21,905
–

–
21,905

Matured June 2010

–

213,517

The collar and the loan reported for Mr Clarke and the collar reported for Mr Downe for the year ended 31 March 2010 were
unwound on 31 May 2010 and 1 June 2010 respectively. The shares and the loan (where applicable) were repaid on those dates.
Mr Downe entered into a zero cost collar for the period 4 June 2010 to 2 August 2010. There was no loan associated with this
collar and the shares were not sold upon maturity on 2 August 2010. Mr Downe subsequently sold these shares in August 2010.

All other transactions with Key Management Personnel (including their related parties) were conducted on an arm’s length
basis in the ordinary course of business and under normal terms and conditions for customers and employees. These
transactions were trivial or domestic in nature and consisted principally of normal personal banking and financial investment
services.
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Note 36
37

Employee equity participation
Option Plan
The Company has suspended new offers under the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP) under
remuneration arrangements which were the subject of shareholder approvals obtained at a General Meeting of the
Company in December 2009. The last grant of Options under the MGESOP was on 8 December 2009. Currently, the
Company does not expect to issue any further Options under the MGESOP.
Previously, the staff eligible to participate in the MGESOP were those of Associate Director level and above and consultants
to the Consolidated Entity. At 31 March 2011, there were 2,441 (2010: 2,821) participants of the MGESOP.
Options now on issue are all five year options over unissued ordinary fully paid shares in the Company and were granted to
individuals or the individual’s controlled Company or an entity approved under the MGESOP to hold options. The options
were issued for no consideration and were granted at prevailing market prices.
The following is a summary of options which have been granted pursuant to the MGESOP:

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
Exercised during the financial year
Lapsed during the financial year
Outstanding at the end of the financial year
Exercisable at the end of the financial year

Number of
options
2011

Weighted
average
exercise
price
2011
$

Number of
options
2010

Weighted
average
exercise
price
2010
$

43,545,335
–
(2,907,034)
(38,089)
(9,511,202)
31,089,010
18,446,554

60.94
–
57.34
30.32
63.20
60.63
63.22

51,675,990
799,000
(3,073,464)
(3,292,178)
(2,564,013)
43,545,335
16,756,527

59.57
37.16
60.84
33.63
60.69
60.94
64.90

For options exercised during the financial year the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was
$37.36 (2010: $41.30).
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the financial year was $17.10 to $94.48
(2010: $17.10 to $94.48).
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Note 36
Employee equity participation continued
Option Plan continued
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 March 2011 is 1.57 years (2010:
2.24 years). The weighted average remaining contractual life when analysed by exercise price range is:

Exercise price range $
10 – 20
20 – 30
30 – 40
40 – 50
50 – 60
60 – 70
70 – 80
80 – 90
90 – 100

Number of
options
2011

Remaining
life (years)
2011

Number of
options
2010

Remaining
life (years)
2010

24,000
279,565
484,457
374,531
13,458,653
7,679,595
8,203,057
430,688
154,464
31,089,010

2.94
2.85
2.71
2.51
2.33
0.38
1.31
1.12
1.20
1.57

29,000
320,951
667,746
623,513
15,915,168
15,724,244
9,524,147
576,768
163,798
43,545,335

3.94
3.86
3.76
2.92
3.36
0.94
2.32
1.98
2.21
2.24

There were no options issued in the financial year. The weighted average fair value of options granted during the previous
financial year was $11.30.
The market value of shares issued during the year as a result of the exercise of these options was $1 million
(2010: $136 million).
The market value of shares which would be issued from the exercise of the outstanding options at 31 March 2011 was
$1,137 million (2010: $2,058 million). No unissued shares, other than those referred to above, are under option under the
MGESOP as at the date of this report.
The options were measured at their grant dates based on their fair value and the number expected to vest. This amount is
recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods and the equity provided is treated as a capital
contribution.
Options granted vest as to one third of each tranche after the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of
allocation of the options. Subject to the MGESOP rules and the Company’s personal dealing policy, options can be
exercised after the vesting period during an options exercise period up to expiry. In individual cases, such as where an
employee leaves with the Company’s agreement towards the end of a vesting period, the Company’s Executive Committee
has the power to waive the remainder of any vesting period and allow exercise of some or all of the relevant options.
For options granted to the members of MBL and MGL’s Executive Committees, Executive Voting Directors and other
Executive Directors where the invitation to apply for the options was sent to the Executive on or after 30 June 2006,
in respect of each tranche of vested options, options will only be exercisable if the Company’s average annual return
on ordinary equity for the three previous financial years is above the 65th (Executive Committee and Executive Voting
Directors) and 50th (other Executive Directors) percentiles, of the corresponding figures for all companies in the then
S&P/ASX 100 Index, with the conditions to be examined only upon vesting.
The MGESOP rules provide that the total number of options which can be on issue at any one time is limited such that the
number of shares resulting from exercise of all unexercised options does not exceed 20 per cent of the number of the
Company’s then issued ordinary shares plus the number of shares which the Company would have to issue if all rights to
require the Company to issue shares, which the Company has then granted (including options) were then enforced or
exercised to the greatest extent permitted.
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Note 36
Employee equity participation continued
Option Plan continued
The Board has applied a second limitation on the number
of options, being effectively the same calculation as in the
MGESOP rules except that any exercised options granted
less than five years ago, where the Executive is still with
the Company, will be treated as still being unexercised.
Fully paid ordinary shares issued on the exercise of
options rank pari passu with all other fully paid ordinary
shares then on issue.
On 25 May 2000, the MBL Board approved amendments
to the Macquarie Bank Employee Share Option Plan rules
referred to as the Deferred Exercise Share Option Plan
(DESOP). Shares resulting from the exercise of options
since then have been placed under the DESOP, unless
option holders request otherwise. Unless the Company is
aware of circumstances which, in the reasonable opinion
of the Company, indicate that the relevant Executive may
have acted fraudulently, dishonestly or in a manner which
is in breach of his/her obligations to the Company or any
associated entity, then such a request will be granted.
These amendments were rolled forward into the current
MGESOP approved by the Company’s Board.
Shares acquired under DESOP cannot be sold, transferred
or disposed of for a period of six months from the date
that the shares are transferred into a participating
employee’s name and are also subject to forfeiture by an
employee in a number of circumstances including theft,
fraud, dishonesty, or defalcation in relation to affairs of the
Company or a related entity or if they carry out or fail to
carry out an act which brings the Company or an
associated entity into disrepute.
Shares held in the DESOP will be withdrawn on the earlier
of:
– an employee’s resignation from the Company or a
related company;
– upon request from the employee (after the expiration
of the non-disposal period); and
– 10 years from the date that the options were originally
granted.
Options carry no dividend or voting rights but have
standard adjustment clauses for bonus and rights issues
and reconstructions.
For the year ended 31 March 2011, compensation
expense relating to exchangeable shares, retention
securities and option plans totalled $50 million
(2010: $110 million).
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan
In December 2009, the Company’s shareholders approved
the implementation of the Macquarie Group Employee
Retained Equity Plan (MEREP) in conjunction with
remuneration arrangements. These revised arrangements
included a decrease in the portion of staff profit share paid
in cash and an increase in the portion delivered as equity,

an increase in the proportion of deferred remuneration and
cessation of new option grants under the Macquarie Group
Employee Share Option Plan. Participation in the MEREP is
currently provided to the following staff (Eligible Employees):
– Executive Directors with retained Directors’ Profit Share
(DPS) from 2009 onwards, a proportion of which was
allocated in the form of MEREP awards (Retained DPS
Awards). See the Remuneration Report for more
information on the allocation of DPS to Executive
Directors;
– Executive Directors with pre-2009 retained DPS which
they have elected to transition into the MEREP under
the new remuneration arrangements (Transition
Awards);
– staff other than Executive Directors with retained profit
share, which from 2009 is to be delivered in the form of
MEREP Awards under the new remuneration
arrangements (Retained Profit Share Awards);
– staff who are promoted to Associate Director, Division
Director or Executive Director, who receive a fixed
allocation of MEREP awards (Promotion Awards);
– new Macquarie Group staff who commence at
Associate Director, Division Director or Executive
Director level. Option grants to these staff have now
been replaced with a fixed number of MEREP awards
depending on level (New Hire Awards); and
– in limited circumstances, Macquarie staff who may
receive an equity grant instead of a remuneration or
consideration payment in cash. Current examples
include individuals who become employees of the
Company on the acquisition of their employer by a
Macquarie Group entity or who receive an additional
award at the time of joining Macquarie (also referred
to below as New Hire Awards).
For Retained Profit Share Awards representing 2010
retention, the conversion price was the volume weighted
average price from 10 May 2010 up to and including the
date of the allocation which was taken to be 30 June 2010.
That price was calculated to be $43.48 (2010: $36.36).
The number of Awards granted was calculated by
adjusting the employee’s relevant retained profit share
amount, or retained DPS, for any applicable on-costs,
dividing this amount by the applicable price outlined above,
and rounding down to the nearest whole number. The
grant of Awards to Eligible Employees working in Australia
is subject to payroll tax, calculated based on the market
value of shares on the Acquisition Date.
For most New Hire and Promotion Awards, a standard
number of Awards was offered, depending on the level at
which the employee was hired at or promoted to. In
limited cases, there are variations to these fixed amounts
for specific individuals.
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Note 36
Employee equity participation continued
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan continued
Award Types under the MEREP
Restricted Share Units (RSUs)
A RSU is a beneficial interest in a Macquarie share held on behalf of a MEREP participant by the plan trustee (Trustee). The
participant is entitled to receive dividends on the share and direct the Trustee how to exercise voting rights in the share.
The participant also has the right to request the release of the share from the Trust, subject to the vesting and forfeiture
provisions of the MEREP.
Deferred Share Units (DSUs)
A DSU represents the right to receive on exercise of the DSU either a share held in the Trust or a newly issued share (as
determined by the Company in its absolute discretion) for no cash payment, subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions
of the MEREP. A MEREP participant holding a DSU has no right or interest in any share until the DSU is exercised. The
Company may issue shares to the Trustee or procure the Trustee to acquire shares on-market for potential future
allocations to holders of DSUs. Generally DSUs will provide for cash payments in lieu of dividends paid on Company shares
before the DSU is exercised. Further, the number of shares underlying a DSU will be adjusted upon any bonus issue or
other capital reconstruction of the Company in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, so that the holder of a DSU does
not receive a benefit that holders generally of Company shares do not receive. These provisions are intended to provide the
holders of DSUs, as far as possible, with the same benefits and risks as are provided to holders of RSUs. However, holders
of DSUs will have no voting rights as to any underlying MGL shares. DSUs will only be offered in jurisdictions where legal or
tax rules make the grant of RSUs impractical, or where PSUs are structured as DSUs (see PSUs below).
Performance Share Units (PSUs)
PSUs are structured as DSUs or RSUs with performance hurdles that must be met before the underlying share or cash
equivalent (as the case may be) will be delivered. Where PSUs are structured as DSUs, holders have no right to dividend
equivalent payments before the PSUs vest. In all other respects, holders of these PSUs will have the same rights as holders
of DSUs. For 2010, the PSUs granted to the Executive Committee, including the CEO, are structured as DSUs with
performance hurdles. The rights under any future PSUs structured as RSUs will generally be the same as the rights under
RSUs, except for the PSU performance hurdles which will not apply to RSUs.
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Note 36
Employee equity participation continued
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan continued
The following is a summary of Awards which have been granted pursuant to the MEREP:

RSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Vested RSUs withdrawn from the MEREP during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
RSUs on issue at the end of the financial year
RSUs vested and not withdrawn from the MEREP at the end of the financial year

Number of
RSU Awards
2011

Number of
RSU Awards
2010

7,907,165
6,553,673
(1,029,563)
(608,135)
12,823,140
452,308

–
7,986,684
–
(79,519)
7,907,165
–

The weighted average fair value of the RSU Awards granted during the financial year was $42.59 (2010: $46.35).

DSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Exercised during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
DSUs on issue at the end of the financial year
DSUs exercisable at the end of the financial year

Number of
DSU Awards
2011

Number of
DSU Awards
2010

1,421,063
899,562
(38,545)
(171,823)
2,110,257
96,371

–
1,457,718
–
(36,655)
1,421,063
–

The weighted average fair value of the DSU Awards granted during the financial year was $42.64 (2010: $46.35).

PSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
PSUs on issue at the end of the financial year
PSUs exercisable at the end of the financial year

Number of
PSU Awards
2011

Number of
PSU Awards
2010

201,900
510,493
712,393
–

–
201,900
201,900
–

The weighted average fair value of the PSU Awards granted during the financial year was $34.63 (2010: $43.85).
The awards are measured at their grant dates based on their fair value and for each PSU the number expected to vest.
This amount is recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods and the equity provided is treated as a
capital contribution. For the year ended 31 March 2011, compensation expense relating to the MEREP totalled $256 million
(2010: $114 million).
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Note 36
Employee equity participation continued
Vesting of Retained DPS Awards
The Vesting Periods that apply to Retained DPS Awards representing 2009 and 2010 retention are set out below for all
Executive Directors:
2010 retention

First staff trading
day after1
1 July 2013
1 July 2014
1 July 2015
1 July 2016
1 July 2017
1

Portion of
Portion of
Awards
Awards
released for
released for
Designated Non-Designated
Executive
Executive
Directors
Directors
1/5th
1/3rd
th
1/5
1/3rd
th
1/5
1/3rd
–
1/5th
–
1/5th

First staff trading
day after1

2009 retention
Portion of
Awards
released for
Designated
Executive
Directors

Portion of
Awards
released for
Non-Designated
Executive
Directors

1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
1/5th

1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
1/5th

1 July 2012
1 July 2013
1 July 2014
1 July 2015
1 July 2016

Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year. If an Executive Director has been
on leave without pay (excluding leave to which the Executive Director may be eligible under local laws) for 12 months or more, the
vesting period may be extended accordingly.

Vesting of Transitioned Amounts
The Vesting Periods that apply to Transition Awards are set out below:
Portion of Awards released for
Executive Committee Other Executive Directors

First staff trading day after2

1/7th
1/7th
1/7th
1/7th
1/7th
1/7th
1/7th

1 July 2010
1 July 2011
1 July 2012
1 July 2013
1 July 2014
1 July 2015
1 July 2016
2

1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
1/5th
–
–

Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year. If an Executive Director has been
on leave without pay (excluding leave to which the Executive Director may be eligible under local laws) for 12 months or more, the
vesting period may be extended accordingly.

Vesting of 2009 and 2010 Retained Profit Share and 2009 and 2010 Promotion Awards
The Vesting Periods that apply to 2009 and 2010 Retained Profit Share and 2009 and 2010 Promotion Awards are set out
below for all Eligible Employees:
2009 Awards

2010 Awards
First staff trading day after3
1 July 2012
1 July 2013
1 July 2014
3

Portion of
Awards vested
1/3rd
1/3rd
1/3rd

First staff trading day after3
1 July 2011
1 July 2012
1 July 2013

Portion of
Awards vested
1/3rd
1/3rd
1/3rd

Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year.

In limited cases, the Application Form for 2009 and 2010 Retained Profit Share Awards and 2009 and 2010 Promotion
Awards may set out a different Vesting Period, in which case that period will be the Vesting Period for the Award.
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Note 36
Employee equity participation continued
Vesting of New Hire Awards
New Hire Awards to Eligible Employees will then vest in
three equal tranches on the first day of the first staff
trading period following the second, third and fourth
anniversary of the vesting start date.
Vesting of Performance Share Units
PSUs will only be released or become exercisable upon
the achievement of certain performance hurdles. Currently,
only members of the MGL and MBL Executive Committee
are eligible to receive PSUs. For the PSUs allocated to
Executive Committee Members in respect of the 2009 and
2010 remuneration years, two performance hurdles have
been determined and each will apply individually to 50 per
cent of the total number of PSUs awarded. These hurdles
are set out below. The BRC will periodically review the
performance hurdles, including the reference group, and
has the discretion to change the performance hurdles in
line with regulatory and remuneration trends. Any change
will be disclosed in the Consolidated Entity’s Annual
Report.
Performance Hurdle 1
50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on the relative
average annual return on ordinary equity (ROE) over the
vesting period compared to a reference group of domestic
and international financial institutions.
Vesting is on a sliding scale with 50 per cent vesting above
the 50th percentile and 100 per cent vesting at the 75th
percentile. For example, if ROE achievement is at the 60th
percentile, 70 per cent of the Award would vest. The
reference group comprises significant Australian financial
companies within the ASX100 as well as Macquarie’s
major international investment banking peers with whom
Macquarie competes and frequently compares its
performance. The reference group comprises ANZ Group,
Commonwealth Bank, National Australia Bank, Westpac,
Suncorp, Bank of America, Citigroup, Credit Suisse,
Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP Morgan, Morgan
Stanley and UBS.
Performance Hurdle 2
50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on the compound
average annual growth rate (CAGR) in earnings per share
(EPS) over the vesting period.
Awards will vest on a sliding scale with 50 per cent vesting
at EPS CAGR of 9.0 per cent and 100 per cent vesting at
EPS CAGR of 13.0 per cent. For example, if EPS CAGR
were 11 per cent, 75 per cent of the Award would vest.

Employee Share Plan
Following shareholder approval at the 1997 Annual
General Meeting, MBL introduced the Macquarie Bank
Employee Share Plan whereby each financial year, eligible
employees are offered up to $1,000 worth of fully paid
ordinary Company shares for no cash payment.
The Company has since introduced the Macquarie Group
Employee Share Plan (ESP) on the same terms.
Shares issued under the ESP cannot be sold until the
earlier of three years after issue or the time when the
participant is no longer employed by the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company. In all other respects, shares
issued rank equally with all other fully paid ordinary shares
then on issue.
The latest offer under the ESP was made during
December 2010. A total of 1,347 (2010: 1,635)
staff participated in this offer. On 25 January 2011,
the participants were each issued with 24 (2010: 19)
fully paid ordinary shares based on the offer amount
of $1,000 and the then calculated average market share
price of $40.52 (2010: $52.04), a total of 32,328 (2010:
31,065) shares were issued. The shares were issued for
no cash consideration.
Staff Share Acquisition Plan
Following shareholder approval at the 1999 Annual
General Meeting, MBL introduced the Macquarie Bank
Staff Share Acquisition Plan (MBSSAP) whereby each
financial year, Australian based Eligible Employees were
given the opportunity to nominate an amount of their pretax available profit share or future commission to purchase
fully paid ordinary Company shares on-market. The
Company has since introduced the Macquarie Group Staff
Share Acquisition Plan (MGSSAP) on the same terms. In
early 2010, the Company suspended new offers under the
MGGSAP following Australian taxation changes
implemented in late 2009 which would have significantly
limited the future participation in the plan. The Company
does not expect it will make any future allocations under
MGSSAP.
The total number of shares purchased under the MGSSAP
was limited in any financial year to 3 per cent of the
Company’s shares as at the beginning of that financial
year.
The shares allocated under the MGSSAP were either
newly issued shares or shares acquired on-market
by the MGSSAP Plan Company, at the direction of
the Company.

Under both performance hurdles, the objective is to be
examined once only, effectively at the calendar quarter
end immediately before vesting. If the condition is not met
when examined, the PSUs due to vest expire.
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Shares acquired under the MGSSAP cannot be sold,
transferred or disposed of for a period of six months
from the date that the shares are transferred into a
participating employee’s name except in special
circumstances if the employee resigns. The shares held in
the MGSSAP are also subject to forfeiture by an employee
in a number of circumstances including theft, fraud,
dishonesty, or defalcation in relation to the affairs of the
Company or a related company or if they carry out an act
or fail to do an act which brings the Company or a related
company into disrepute.
Shares held in the MGSSAP will be withdrawn on the
earlier of:
– an employee’s resignation from the Company or a
related entity;
– upon request by the employee (after the expiration of
the non-disposal period); and
– 10 years from the date that the shares are registered in
an employee’s name.
In all other respects, the shares rank equally with all other
fully paid ordinary shares then on issue.
Previously, the Eligible Employees were Australian based
permanent full-time or part-time employees or fixed term
contract employees of the Company or a related company
who either received available profit share in the relevant
year of at least $1,000 in total or allocated at least $1,000
in available commission towards the MGSSAP.
The Macquarie Bank Executive Director Share Acquisition
Plan (MBEDSAP) was a sub-plan of the MBSSAP which
was created in 2003 and was open to eligible Executive
Directors. The disposal and forfeiture restrictions in the
MBEDSAP differ to those in the MBSSAP. The Company
subsequently introduced a Macquarie Group Executive
Director Share Acquisition Plan (MGEDSAP) on the same
terms but no offers have been made under the plan.
In April 2008, a further sub-plan of the MGSSAP was
created, the Macquarie Group Executive Committee
Acquisition Plan, whereby members of the Company's
Executive Committee were required to contribute certain
proportions of their annual profit share to acquire
Company shares, which must be held for at least three
years. Further information on this is provided in the
Remuneration Report. The first offers under this sub-plan
were made in May 2008. The Company does not intend
making any further allocations under this sub-plan, as
Executive Committee members now receive the equity
component of their retained profit share under the
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan (see
above).
No offers under the MGSSAP (including the Macquarie
Group Executive Committee Acquisition Plan) were made
during the year 31 March 2011. During the year ended 31
March 2010 a total of 106 staff participated in the
MGSSAP.
In July 2009, 27,391 MGL shares were issued based
on the issue price of $33.49. In December 2009,
1,194 MGL shares were issued based on the issue
price of $47.99.

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan
Following shareholder approval at the 1999 Annual
General Meeting, MBL also introduced the Macquarie
Bank Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan
whereby each financial year certain Australian based NonExecutive Directors (NEDs) of the Macquarie Group of
companies were given the opportunity to contribute some
or all of their future pre-tax remuneration from the
Macquarie Group to acquire Macquarie Bank Limited
shares. The Company has since introduced a Macquarie
Group Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan
(NEDSAP) on the same terms. The Australian taxation
changes referred to above in respect of the MGSSAP also
apply to the NEDSAP. Accordingly, the Company has
currently suspended new offers under the NEDSAP and
does not expect to make any future allocations under the
plan.
Previously, NEDs could elect to participate in the NEDSAP
by nominating a minimum of $1,000 of their NED
remuneration per buying period to go towards the
NEDSAP. Participating NEDs could also subsequently
apply to reduce their previously nominated contribution
provided that the relevant buying period has not
commenced.
The shares were acquired at prevailing market prices.
Brokerage fees were applied to the NEDs’ account.
Shares acquired under the NEDSAP cannot be sold,
transferred or disposed of for a period of six months from
the date that the shares were transferred into a NED’s
name except in special circumstances if the NED resigns.
The shares held in the NEDSAP are also subject to
forfeiture by a NED in a number of circumstances including
theft, fraud, dishonesty, or defalcation in relation to the
affairs of the Company or a related company or if they
carry out an act or fail to do an act which brings the
Company or a related company into disrepute.
Shares held in the NEDSAP will be withdrawn on the
earlier of:
– the participant ceasing to be a NED of the Company;
– upon request by the NED (after the expiration of the
non-disposal period); and
– 10 years from the date that the shares are registered in
a NED’s name.
In all other respects, shares rank equally with all other fully
paid ordinary shares then on issue.
Shares resulting from participation in the NEDSAP may
count towards meeting the minimum shareholding
requirements of NEDs.
No offers under the NEDSAP were made during the
year ended 31 March 2011. The last offer was made
during May 2009 and one NED participated in the
NEDSAP. In June 2009, 3,639 MGL shares were
acquired on-market.
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Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

330
2
122
89
543

321
6
130
95
552

1,410
–
–
–
1,410

769
–
–
–
769

5,689
1,627
7,316
7,859

3,860
1,087
4,947
5,499

–
–
–
1,410

–
–
–
769

Note 37
38

Contingent liabilities and commitments
The following contingent liabilities and commitments
exclude derivatives.
Contingent liabilities exist in respect of:
Guarantees
Indemnities
Letters of credit
Performance related contingents
Total contingent liabilities1
Commitments exist in respect of:
Undrawn credit facilities
Forward asset purchases
Total commitments2
Total contingent liabilities and commitments
1

2

Contingent liabilities exist in respect of actual and potential claims and proceedings that arise in the conduct of the Consolidated
Entity’s business. A provision is recognised where some loss is probable and can be reliably estimated. The Consolidated Entity is
currently not engaged in any litigation or claim which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Consolidated Entity’s
business, financial condition or performance.
Total commitments also represent contingent assets. Such commitments to provide credit may convert to loans and other assets
in the ordinary course of business.

Note 38
39

Capital and other expenditure commitments
Capital and other expenditure commitments expected to be incurred:
Not later than one year
127
Later than one year and not later than five years
26
Later than five years
50
Total capital and other expenditure commitments
203

36
50
–
86

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

228
777
668
1,673

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Note 39
40

Lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total operating lease commitments

158
598
707
1,463

Operating leases relate to commercial buildings. The future lease commitments disclosed are net of any rental incentives
received.
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Note 40
41

Derivative financial instruments
Objectives of holding and issuing derivative financial instruments
The Consolidated Entity is an active price maker in derivatives on interest rates, foreign exchange, commodities and
equities. Its objective is to earn profits from the price making spread and from managing the residual exposures on hedged
positions. Proprietary position taking is a part of the Consolidated Entity’s trading activities. Risks on derivatives are
managed together with all other trading positions in the same market. All trading positions, including derivatives, are
marked to fair value daily.
The Consolidated Entity also uses derivatives to hedge banking operations and for asset and liability management. Certain
derivative transactions may qualify as cash flow, fair value or net investment in foreign operations hedges, if they meet the
appropriate strict hedge criteria outlined in note 1(xi) – Summary of significant accounting policies:
Cash flow hedges: The Consolidated Entity is exposed to volatility in future interest cash flows arising from floating rate
issued debt used to fund fixed rate asset positions. The aggregate principal balances and interest cash flows across these
portfolios form the basis for identifying the non-trading interest rate risk of the Consolidated Entity, which is hedged with
interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps.
At 31 March 2011, the fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as cash flow
hedges was $174 million negative value (2010: $86 million negative value).
During the year the Consolidated Entity recognised $nil (2010: $2 million loss) in the income statement due to hedge
ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges.
Fair value hedges: The Consolidated Entity’s fair value hedges consist of:
– interest rate swaps used to hedge against changes in the fair value of fixed rate issued debt as a result of movements in
benchmark interest rates; and
– foreign exchange forward contracts used to hedge against changes in the fair value of foreign denominated equity
instruments as a result of movements in market foreign exchange rates.
As at 31 March 2011, the fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as fair value
hedges was $486 million positive value (2010: $102 million positive value).
During the year fair value gains on the hedging instruments of $385 million have been recognised (2010: $241 million gains),
offset by $375 million (2010: $233 million losses) of losses on the hedged item.
Net investment in foreign operations hedges: The Consolidated Entity has applied net investment hedging for foreign
exchange risk arising from its non-core foreign operations.
At 31 March 2011, the fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as net
investment in foreign operations hedges was $69 million positive value (2010: $106 million positive value). During the year
the Consolidated Entity recognised $nil (2010: $nil) in the income statement due to hedge ineffectiveness on net investment
hedges.
The types of contracts which the Consolidated Entity trades and uses for hedging purposes are detailed below:
Futures: Futures contracts provide the holder with the obligation to buy a specified financial instrument or commodity at a
fixed price and fixed date in the future. Contracts may be closed early via cash settlement. Futures contracts are exchange
traded.
Forwards and forward rate agreements: Forward contracts, which resemble futures contracts, are an agreement
between two parties that a financial instrument or commodity will be traded at a fixed price and fixed date in the future.
A forward rate agreement provides for two parties to exchange interest rate differentials based on an underlying principal
amount at a fixed date in the future.
Swaps: Swap transactions provide for two parties to swap a series of cash flows in relation to an underlying principal
amount, usually to exchange a fixed interest rate for a floating interest rate. Cross-currency swaps provide a tool for two
parties to manage risk arising from movements in exchange rates.
Options: Option contracts provide the holder the right to buy or sell financial instruments or commodities at a fixed price
over an agreed period or on a fixed date. The contract does not oblige the holder to buy or sell, however the writer must
perform if the holder exercises the rights pertaining to the option.
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Note 40
Derivative financial instruments continued
The following table provides details of the Consolidated Entity’s outstanding derivatives used for trading and in some cases for hedging
purposes as at 31 March.

Interest rate contracts
Exchange traded
Forwards
Swaps
Options
Total interest rate contracts

Consolidated 2010
Notional
Asset
Liability
Net fair
amount revaluations revaluations
value
$m
$m
$m
$m

16,892
11
196,846
17,071
230,820

322
–
2,720
36
3,078

417
–
2,174
304
2,895

(95)
–
546
(268)
183

13,232
2,060
157,715
1,939
174,946

46
52
3,065
5
3,168

50
69
3,237
4
3,360

(4)
(17)
(172)
1
(192)

Foreign exchange
contracts
Forwards
Swaps
Options
Total foreign exchange
contracts

60,156
63,593
2,122

570
1,038
691

769
1,134
902

(199)
(96)
(211)

16,552
59,284
656

258
744
314

391
885
342

(133)
(141)
(28)

125,871

2,299

2,805

(506)

76,492

1,316

1,618

(302)

Equity contracts
Exchange traded
Swaps
Options
Other
Total equity contracts

58,163
7,475
59,210
–
124,848

930
288
1,428
–
2,646

1,263
292
1,508
–
3,063

(333)
(4)
(80)
–
(417)

18,189
3,173
36,350
675
58,387

186
128
994
–
1,308

187
234
856
4
1,281

(1)
(106)
138
(4)
27

114,373
83,787
22,661
16,653
237,474

1,831
6,345
2,491
2,495
13,162

1,848
5,975
2,494
2,492
12,809

(17)
370
(3)
3
353

36,045
60,804
40,764
86,168
223,781

4,142
5,174
4,141
2,312
15,769

4,446
4,851
3,826
2,324
15,447

(304)
323
315
(12)
322

719,013

21,185

21,572

(387)

533,606

21,561

21,706

(145)

Commodity contracts
Exchange traded
Forwards
Swaps
Options
Total commodity contracts
Total derivatives
contracts outstanding
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Consolidated 2011
Notional
Asset
Liability
Net fair
amount revaluations revaluations
value
$m
$m
$m
$m

Note 41
42

Financial risk management
Risk Management Group
Risk is an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s
businesses. The main risks faced by the Consolidated
Entity are market risk, equity risk, credit risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk, legal risk and compliance risk.
Responsibility for management of these risks lies with the
individual businesses giving rise to them. It is the
responsibility of the Risk Management Group (RMG) to
ensure appropriate assessment and management of these
risks.
RMG is independent of all other areas of the Consolidated
Entity. The Head of RMG, as Macquarie’s Chief Risk Officer,
is a member of the Executive Committee of MGL and MBL
and reports directly to the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer with a secondary reporting line to the
Board Risk Committee. RMG authority is required for all
material risk acceptance decisions. RMG identifies,
quantifies and assesses all material risks and sets
prudential limits. Where appropriate, these limits are
approved by the Executive Committee and the Board.

Note 41.1
Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of a counterparty failing to
complete its contractual obligations when they fall due. The
consequent loss is either the amount of the loan not repaid,
or the loss incurred in replicating a trading contract with a
new counterparty.
The responsibility for approval of credit exposures is
delegated to specific individuals by the Board of MGL.
While Operating Groups are assigned modest levels of
Credit discretions, all credit exposures above these levels
are independently assessed by RMG. Credit risk analysis is
focused on ensuring that risks have been fully identified and
that the downside risk is properly understood so that a
balanced assessment can be made of the worst outcome
against the expected rewards. After this analysis is
undertaken, limits are set for an acceptable level of
potential exposure. All limits and ratings are reviewed at
least once a year, or more frequently if necessary, to ensure
that the most current information available on
counterparties is taken into account.

All customers’ counterparty limits and exposures are
allocated an MGL rating on a 1 – 13 scale which broadly
corresponds with Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Investor
Services credit ratings. Each MGL rating is assigned a
Probability of Default estimate. Credit limits and exposures
are also allocated a Loss Given Default ratio reflecting the
estimated economic loss in the event of default occurring.
All loan assets are subject to recurring review and
assessment for possible impairment. Where there is a
deteriorating credit risk profile, the exposures are monitored
on a monthly basis through the CreditWatch report and
FICC CreditWatch report. The business remains
responsible for the management of the counterparty and of
the risk position, but RMG oversight is increased to ensure
that positions are managed for optimal outcomes. When
counterparties default, RMG and the business work
together to resolve the issues and to manage the facilities
through the impairment and provisioning process.
The Consolidated Entity’s policies to control credit risk
include avoidance of unacceptable concentrations of risk
either to any economic sector or to an individual
counterparty. Policies are in place to regulate large
exposures to single counterparties or groups of
counterparties.
The Consolidated Entity has a country risk framework
which covers the assessment of country risk and the
approval of country risk limits. Where appropriate the
country risk is covered by political risk insurance.
The balances disclosed in the credit risk tables below
exclude financial assets that are subject to risks other than
credit risk, such as equity investments, interests in
associates and joint ventures or bank notes and coins.

Credit exposures for loans are evaluated as the full face
value whereas exposures for derivatives are a function of
potential market movements. When trading gives rise to
settlement risk, this exposure is assessed as the full face
value of the settlement amount. Credit exposures which
fluctuate through the duration of the transaction are
monitored daily. These include exposures such as swaps,
forward contracts and options, which are assessed using
sophisticated valuation techniques.
To mitigate credit risk, the Consolidated Entity makes use
of margining and other forms of collateral or credit
enhancement techniques (including guarantees, letters of
credit, the purchase of credit default swaps and mortgage
insurance) where appropriate.
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk
The tables below detail the concentration of credit exposure of the Consolidated Entity’s assets to significant geographical
locations and counterparty types. The amounts shown represent the maximum credit risk of the Consolidated Entity's
assets.
=

Due from
financial
institutions
$m

Cash collateral
on securities
borrowed and
reverse
repurchase
agreements1
$m

Australia
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Australia

–
2,870
–
2,870

302
1,226
5
1,533

1,566
334
70
1,970

526
847
24,306
25,679

Asia Pacific
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Asia Pacific

–
1,283
–
1,283

3
45
1
49

614
408
69
1,091

2
320
326
648

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa

–
2,666
–
2,666

217
3,862
293
4,372

174
139
43
356

–
780
3,201
3,981

–
2,998
–
2,998
9,817

916
1,445
475
2,836
8,790

329
670
1,638
2,637
6,054

63
2,163
13,482
15,708
46,016

Americas
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Americas
Total
Total gross credit risk
1
2

Trading
Loan assets
portfolio
held at
assets2 amortised cost
$m
$m

Classified based on the exposure to the underlying security borrowed.
Included in Australia – Governments, are holdings of $2,852 million (2010: $4,496 million) issued by Australian Banks which are
subject to the Australian Government Guarantee.

The following provides detail around the active management of credit risk by the Consolidated Entity:
The Consolidated Entity enters into master netting agreements with certain counterparties to manage the credit risk where
it has trading derivatives in Macquarie Securities Group and Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities. Stock borrowing
and reverse repurchase arrangements entered into by the Consolidated Entity with external counterparties normally require
collateral in excess of 100 per cent (which is consistent with industry practice). Mortgage insurance contracts are entered
into in order to manage the credit risk around the mortgage portfolios. Other risk mitigation measures include blocked
deposits, bank guarantees and letters of credit.
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Other
assets
$m

Debt
investment
securities
available
for sale2
$m

Life
investment
contracts and
other
unitholder
investment
assets
$m

239
773
965
1,977

234
–
2,475
2,709

2,301
6,259
177
8,737

–
565
93
658

–
166
2,266
2,432

7,723
13,964
32,796
54,483

–
29
–
29

8
241
302
551

30
–
2,803
2,833

9
559
1
569

–
–
–
–

–
48
116
164

666
2,933
3,618
7,217

40
2,473
37
2,550

3
8,372
2,499
10,874

474
37
2,502
3,013

142
3,052
476
3,670

–
–
–
–

–
235
1,037
1,272

1,050
21,616
10,088
32,754

250
298
81
629
9,126

64
5,379
2,340
7,783
21,185

88
–
2,907
2,995
11,550

112
870
552
1,534
14,510

–
–
–
–
658

–
142
3,849
3,991
7,859

1,822
13,965
25,324
41,111
135,565
135,565

Other
financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
$m

Derivative
financial
instruments
– positive
values
$m

2,555
924
2,439
5,918

Credit
commitments
and
contingent
liabilities
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2011
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued

Due from
financial
institutions
$m

Cash
collateral on
securities
borrowed
and reverse
repurchase
agreements1
$m

Trading
portfolio
assets
$m

Loan assets
held at
amortised
cost
$m

Australia
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Australia

–
1,977
–
1,977

668
349
–
1,017

3,541
247
130
3,918

279
1,344
25,541
27,164

Asia Pacific
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Asia Pacific

–
1,488
–
1,488

2
316
5
323

245
33
–
278

3
215
426
644

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa

–
2,418
–
2,418

46
3,857
229
4,132

–
39
55
94

–
899
2,839
3,738

–
2,368
–
2,368
8,251

436
955
286
1,677
7,149

166
400
1,911
2,477
6,767

50
1,943
10,728
12,721
44,267

Americas
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Americas
Total
Total gross credit risk
1
2

Classified based on the exposure to the underlying security borrowed.
Included in Australia – Governments, are holdings of $4,496 million (2009: $ 1,458 million) issued by Australian Banks which are
subject to the Australian Government Guarantee.

The following provides detail around the active management of credit risk by the Consolidated Entity:
The Consolidated Entity enters into master netting agreements with certain counterparties to manage the credit risk where
it has trading derivatives in Macquarie Securities Group and Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities. Stock borrowing
and reverse repurchase arrangements entered into by the Consolidated Entity with external counterparties normally require
collateral in excess of 100 per cent (which is consistent with industry practice). Mortgage insurance contracts are entered
into in order to manage the credit risk around the mortgage portfolios. Other risk mitigation measures include blocked
deposits, bank guarantees and letters of credit.
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Other
assets
$m

Debt
investment
securities
available
for sale2
$m

Life
investment
contracts and
other
unitholder
investment
assets
$m

548
380
478
1,406

226
–
2,987
3,213

3,716
7,384
441
11,541

–
685
35
720

–
50
1
51

4
244
105
353

40
–
2,204
2,244

–
41
1
42

–
–
–
–

–
91
172
263

294
2,478
2,914
5,686

–
686
–
686

85
7,874
3,381
11,340

414
38
1,608
2,060

86
2,994
506
3,586

–
–
–
–

87
248
1,037
1,372

718
19,053
9,655
29,426

–
284
76
360
7,918

88
6,328
2,046
8,462
21,561

233
7
2,727
2,967
10,484

162
759
786
1,707
16,876

–
–
–
–
720

11
179
2,295
2,485
5,499

1,146
13,223
20,855
35,224
129,492
129,492

Other
financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
$m

Derivative
financial
instruments
– positive
values
$m

1,478
689
4,654
6,821

Credit
commitments
and
contingent
liabilities
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2010
–
10,456
98
13,153
1,281
35,547
1,379
59,156
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued

Other assets
$m

Credit
commitments
and
Due from
contingent
subsidiaries
liabilities
$m
$m

Total
$m
Company 2011

Australia
Other
Total Australia

3
3

9,529
9,529

380
380

9,912
9,912

Asia Pacific
Other
Total Asia Pacific

–
–

–
–

484
484

484
484

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Other
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa

–
–

–
–

443
443

443
443

–
–
3

1
1
9,530

103
103
1,410

104
104
10,943
10,943

96
8
104

–
11,635
11,635

–
342
342

96
11,985
12,081

Asia Pacific
Other
Total Asia Pacific

–
–

2
2

277
277

279
279

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Other
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa

–
–

1
1

138
138

139
139

–
–
104

5
5
11,643

12
12
769

17
17
12,516
12,516

Americas
Other
Total Americas
Total
Total gross credit risk
Australia
Governments
Other
Total Australia

Americas
Other
Total Americas
Total
Total gross credit risk

Company 2010
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Credit quality of financial assets
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset (based upon ultimate risk counterparty) for credit
exposures, based on the Consolidated Entity’s credit rating system.
Credit quality – Consolidated 2011
Neither past due nor impaired
Below
Investment Investment
Grade
Grade
Default
$m
$m
$m
Due from financial
institutions
Cash collateral on securities
borrowed and reverse
repurchase agreements
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Trading portfolio assets
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Loan assets held at
amortised cost
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Other financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Derivative financial
instruments – positive
values
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Other assets
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Debt investment securities
available for sale
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Life investment contracts
and other unitholder
investment assets
Financial institutions
Other
Total

Unrated
$m

Past due or
individually
impaired
$m

Total
$m
9,817

9,428

389

–

–

–

793
5,142
663

645
1,436
111

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

2,292
1,060
222

391
472
1,532

–
19
66

–
–
–

–
–
–

8,790
1,438
6,578
774
6,054
2,683
1,551
1,820

585
2,913
25,725

6
1,168
13,598

–
7
196

–
–
–

–
22
1,796

46,016
591
4,110
41,315

2,845
3,696
681

–
28
1,851

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
25

9,126
2,845
3,724
2,557

295
14,096
2,904

19
669
3,202

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

825
–
7,319

–
–
2,778

–
–
–

–
–
505

1
37
85

21,185
314
14,765
6,106
11,550
826
37
10,687

2,564
10,708
346

–
32
829

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
31

14,510
2,564
10,740
1,206

565
93

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

658
565
93
127,706

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more.
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Credit quality of financial assets continued
Credit quality – Consolidated 2010
Neither past due nor impaired
Below
Investment Investment
Grade
Grade
Default
$m
$m
$m
Due from financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities
borrowed and reverse repurchase
agreements
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Trading portfolio assets
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Derivative financial instruments –
positive values
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Other assets
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Debt investment securities
available for sale
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Life investment contracts and
other unitholder investment assets
Financial institutions
Other
Total

Past due or
individually
Unrated
impaired
$m
$m

Total
$m

8,218

33

–

–

–

8,251

924
5,422
438

228
55
72

–
–
10

–
–
–

–
–
–

3,894
623
215

58
65
1,825

–
31
56

–
–
–

–
–
–

271
3,868
25,339

2
505
11,876

–
–
161

–
–
–

59
28
2,158

7,149
1,152
5,477
520
6,767
3,952
719
2,096
44,267
332
4,401
39,534

1,478
1,709
2,606

–
–
2,081

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
44

7,918
1,478
1,709
4,731

697
14,178
4,430

28
648
1,526

–
–
27

–
–
–

–
–
27

913
–
5,871

–
–
2,895

–
–
–

–
–
566

–
45
194

21,561
725
14,826
6,010
10,484
913
45
9,526

3,964
11,122
774

–
56
932

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
28

16,876
3,964
11,178
1,734

685
35

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

720
685
35
123,993

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more.
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Credit quality of financial assets continued
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset (based upon ultimate risk counterparty) for credit
exposures, based on the Consolidated Entity’s credit rating system.
Credit quality – Company 2011
Neither past due nor impaired
Below
Investment Investment
Grade
Grade
Default
$m
$m
$m
Other assets
Other
Due from subsidiaries
Other
Total

Unrated
$m

Past due or
individually
impaired
$m

3

–

–

–

–

9,508

–

–

22

–

Total
$m
3
3
9,530
9,530
9,533

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more.
Credit quality – Company 2010
Neither past due nor impaired
Below
Investment
Investment
Grade
Grade
Default
$m
$m
$m
Other assets
Governments
Other
Due from subsidiaries
Other
Total

Unrated
$m

Past due or
individually
impaired
$m

96
–

–
8

–
–

–
–

–
–

11,607

–

–

36

–

Total
$m
104
96
8
11,643
11,643
11,747

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more.
Financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated
The table below includes the carrying value, as at the reporting date, of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or
impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

Loans assets held at amortised cost
Other

Consolidated Consolidated
2010
2011
$m
$m

Company
2011
$m

Company
2010
$m

84

–

–

56
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Ageing analysis of assets past due but not impaired and impaired assets
Past due but not impaired

Class of financial asset
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Financial institutions
Other
Other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Other
Other assets
Government
Financial institutions
Other
Debt investment securities
available for sale
Other
Total

Fair value
of
collateral
Total
held
$m
$m

Less than
30 days
$m

31 to
60 days
$m

61 to
90 days
$m

More
than
90 days
$m

–
924

–
219

–
102

–
233

22
318

22
1,796

–
2,295

–

–

–

–

25

25

20

1
36
30

–
1
34

–
–
8

–
–
1

–
–
12

1
37
85

–
35
2

–
991

–
254

–
110

–
234

31
408

31
1,997

–
2,352

Impaired
$m

Consolidated 2011

A facility is considered to be past due when a contractual payment falls overdue by one or more days. When a facility is
classified as past due, the entire facility balance after provisions is disclosed in the past due analysis.
The factors taken into consideration by the Consolidated Entity when determining whether an asset is impaired are set out
in note 1(xiii) – Summary of significant accounting policies.
Of the collateral held against past due and impaired balances for loan assets held at amortised cost, $1,265 million (2010:
$1,100 million) relates to collateral held against past due balances on residential mortgage facilities that are covered by
mortgage insurance. A mortgage insurance claim will only be made in an instance where there is an outstanding balance
on the mortgage facility after the receipt of proceeds on the disposal of the property held as security. The remaining
collateral is made up of assets held as collateral against other loan and receivable balances.
The collateral held against past due and impaired balances for other assets represents equity securities held as security
against failed trade settlements.
Repossessed collateral
In the event of customer default on facilities, the Consolidated Entity may take possession of real estate or other assets
held as security. During the year, the Consolidated Entity took possession of fixed assets and property assets with a
carrying value of $413 million (2010: $466 million). These assets are in the process of being sold.
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Note 41.1
Credit risk continued
Ageing analysis of assets past due but not impaired and impaired assets continued
Past due but not impaired

Class of financial asset
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Other
Derivative financial instruments –
positive value
Other
Other assets
Financial institutions
Other
Debt investment securities available
for sale
Other
Total

Less than
30 days
$m

31 to
60 days
$m

61 to
90 days
$m

More
than
90 days
$m

Impaired
$m

Fair value
of
collateral
Total
held
$m
$m
Consolidated 2010

24
–
1,007

33
3
219

2
–
89

–
–
317

–
25
526

59
28
2,158

48
3
2,551

–

4

4

–

36

44

–

–

–

–

–

27

27

–

38
102

–
18

–
9

–
39

7
26

45
194

36
19

–
1,171

–
277

–
104

–
356

28
675

28
2,583

27
2,684

Note 41.2
Liquidity risk
Liquidity management
The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk management framework ensures that it is able to meet its funding requirements as
they fall due under a range of market conditions.
Liquidity management is performed centrally by Group Treasury, with oversight from the Asset and Liability Committee, the
MGL Board and RMG. The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity policies are approved by the Board after endorsement by the
Asset and Liability Committee. The Asset and Liability Committee includes the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Treasurer and Operating Group Heads.
RMG provides independent prudential oversight of liquidity risk management, including the independent validation of
liquidity scenario assumptions, liquidity policies, and the required funding maturity profile.
Liquidity policy
MGL provides funding predominantly to the Non-Banking Group. As such, the MGL liquidity policy outlines the liquidity
requirements for the Non-Banking Group. The key requirement of the policy is that MGL is able to meet all of its liquidity
obligations on a daily basis and during a period of liquidity stress: a 12 month period of constrained access to funding
markets and with only a limited reduction in franchise businesses.
Reflecting the longer term nature of the Non-Banking Group asset profile, the Consolidated Entity is funded predominantly
with a mixture of capital and long term wholesale funding.
The MBL liquidity policy outlines the liquidity requirements for the Banking Group. The key requirement of the policy is that
MBL is able to meet all of its liquidity obligations on a daily basis and during a period of liquidity stress: a 12 month period
of constrained access to funding markets and with only a limited reduction in franchise businesses.
MBL is funded mainly by capital, long term liabilities and deposits.
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Note 41.2
Liquidity risk continued
Scenario analysis
Scenario analysis is central to the Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk management framework. Group Treasury
models a number of liquidity scenarios covering both market-wide crises and firm-specific crises. The objective of
this modelling is to ensure the Consolidated Entity’s ability to meet all repayment obligations under each scenario
and determine the capacity for asset growth. The modelling includes 12 month liquidity scenarios significantly
more severe than the conditions that have been experienced since August 2007.
Scenarios are run over a number of timeframes and a range of conservative assumptions are used with regard to
access to capital markets, deposit outflows, contingent funding requirements and asset sales.
Liquid asset holdings
Group Treasury maintains a portfolio of highly liquid unencumbered assets in the Consolidated Entity to ensure
adequate liquidity is available in all funding environments, including worst case conditions. The minimum liquid
asset requirement is calculated from internal scenario projections and also complies with regulatory minimum
requirements.
To determine the minimum level of liquid assets, reference is made to the expected minimum cash requirement
during a combined market-wide and firm-specific crisis scenario over a 12 month timeframe. This scenario
assumes no access to new funding sources, a significant loss of deposits and contingent funding outflows
resulting from undrawn commitments, market moves on derivatives and other margined positions. The size of the
liquid asset portfolio must always exceed the minimum cash requirement as calculated in this model.
Liquidity contingency plan
Group Treasury maintains a liquidity contingency plan. The liquidity contingency plan applies to the entire
Consolidated Entity and defines roles and responsibilities and actions to be taken in a liquidity event. This includes
identification of key information requirements and appropriate communication plans with both internal and
external parties.
Specifically, the plan details factors that may constitute a crisis, the officer responsible for enacting the
contingency management, a committee of senior executives who would be responsible for managing a crisis, the
information required to effectively manage a crisis, a public relations strategy, a high level check list of actions to
be taken, and contact lists to facilitate prompt communication with all key internal and external stakeholders. The
liquidity contingency plan is subject to regular review (at least annually) by both Group Treasury and RMG and is
submitted to the Board for approval.
Funding transfer pricing
An internal funding transfer pricing framework is in place which aims to align businesses with the overall funding
strategy of the Consolidated Entity. Under this framework the costs of long and short-term funding are charged
out, and credits are made to Operating Groups that provide long term stable funding.
Contractual undiscounted cash flows
The following tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities as at 31 March
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if
notice were given immediately. However, the Consolidated Entity expects that many customers will not request repayment
on the earliest date the Consolidated Entity could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash
flows indicated by the Consolidated Entity’s deposit retention history.
Derivatives (other than those designated in a hedging relationship) and trading portfolio liabilities are included in
the ‘less than 3 months’ column at their fair value. Liquidity risk on these items is not managed on the basis of
contractual maturity, since they are not held for settlement according to such maturity and will frequently be
settled in the short term at fair value. Derivatives designated in a hedging relationship are included according to
their contractual maturity.
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Note 41.2
Liquidity risk continued
Contractual undiscounted cash flows continued
On demand
$m

Less than
3 months
$m

3 to 12
months
$m

1 to 5
years
$m

442

374

2,669

4,627

617

8,729

3,227
–
–

3,390
5,808
20,973

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

6,617
5,808
20,973

–
–
26,642
–
–

7,485
(7,548)
5,615
6,161
11,979

2,008
(2,243)
2,781
6,665
–

3,299
(3,724)
337
26,363
–

624
(926)
14
6,290
–

13,416
(14,441)
35,389
45,479
11,979

244

1,109

1,618

1,365

84

4,420

–
–
–
30,555

5,055
33
18
60,452

–
33
800
14,331

–
695
851
33,813

–
–
1,154
7,857

5,055
761
2,823
147,008

–
–

543
7,258

–
58

–
–

–
–

543
7,316

–

7,801

58

–

–

7,859

Over 5
years
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2011
Due to financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase
agreements
Trading portfolio liabilities
Derivative financial instruments (trading)
Derivative financial instruments (hedging
relationship)
Contractual amounts payable
Contractual amounts receivable
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost1
Other liabilities2
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss
Life investment contracts and other unitholder
liabilities
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Subordinated debt
Total undiscounted cash flows
Contingent liabilities
Commitments
Total undiscounted contingent liabilities and
commitments3
1

2
3

Included in this balance are amounts payable to SPE note holders. The contractual maturity of the notes is dependent on the repayment of
the underlying loans. This has been reflected in the maturity analysis.
Excludes items that are not financial instruments and non-contractual accruals and provisions.
Cash flows on contingent liabilities and commitments are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions, and may or
may not result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless the contractual terms specify a
longer dated cash flow.
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Note 41.2
Liquidity risk continued
Contractual undiscounted cash flows continued
On
demand
$m

Less than
3 months
$m

3 to 12
months
$m

1 to 5
years
$m

Over
5 years
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2010
Due to financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase
agreements
Trading portfolio liabilities
Derivative financial instruments (trading)
Derivative financial instruments (hedging
relationship)
Contractual amounts payable
Contractual amounts receivable
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost1
Other liabilities2
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss
Life investment contracts and other unitholder
liabilities
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Subordinated debt
Total undiscounted cash flows
Contingent liabilities
Commitments
Total undiscounted contingent liabilities and
commitments3
1

2
3

329

223

2,782

5,920

1,381

10,635

798
–
–

6,648
5,432
21,140

45
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

7,491
5,432
21,140

–
–
14,739
3
–

4,399
(4,396)
5,357
6,474
10,399

3,782
(3,815)
2,334
5,494
–

4,397
(4,547)
90
31,648
–

281
(564)
–
4,972
–

12,859
(13,322)
22,520
48,591
10,399

8

1,740

1,866

697

159

4,470

–
–
–
15,877

4,864
33
8
62,321

–
33
36
12,557

–
759
212
39,176

–
–
1,487
7,716

4,864
825
1,743
137,647

–
–

552
4,842

–
105

–
–

–
–

552
4,947

–

5,394

105

–

–

5,499

Included in this balance are amounts payable to SPE note holders. The contractual maturity of the notes is dependent on the
repayment of the underlying loans. This has been reflected in the maturity analysis.
Excludes items that are not financial instruments and non-contractual accruals and provisions.
Cash flows on contingent liabilities and commitments are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions,
and may or may not result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless the contractual
terms specify a longer dated cash flow.
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Note 41.2
Liquidity risk continued
Contractual undiscounted cash flows continued
Over
5 years
$m

On
demand
$m

Less than
3 months
$m

3 to 12
months
$m

1 to 5
years
$m

Due to financial institutions
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost
Due to subsidiaries
Total undiscounted cash flows

–
–
–
1,025
1,025

243
48
62
934
1,287

2,367
–
281
–
2,648

2,204
–
2,195
–
4,399

–
–
3,346
–
3,346

4,814
48
5,884
1,959
12,705

Contingent liabilities
Total undiscounted contingent
liabilities1

–

1,410

–

–

–

1,410

–

1,410

–

–

–

1,410

Total
$m

Company 2011

Company 2010

1

Due to financial institutions
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost
Due to subsidiaries
Total undiscounted cash flows

–
–
–
1,049
1,049

–
54
12
73
139

2,328
–
187
40
2,555

5,008
–
2,268
1,343
8,619

–
–
2,167
–
2,167

7,336
54
4,634
2,505
14,529

Contingent liabilities
Total undiscounted contingent
liabilities1

–

769

–

–

–

769

–

769

–

–

–

769

Cash flows on contingent liabilities are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions, and may or may not
result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless the contractual terms specify a
longer dated cash flow.
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Note 41.3
Market risk
Market risk is the exposure to adverse changes in the value of the Consolidated Entity's trading portfolios as a result of
changes in market prices or volatility. The Consolidated Entity is exposed to the following risks in each of the major markets
in which it trades:
– foreign exchange and bullion: changes in spot and forward exchange rates and bullion prices and the volatility of
exchange rates and bullion prices;
– interest rates and debt securities: changes in the level, shape and volatility of yield curves, the basis between different
debt securities and derivatives and credit margins;
– equities: changes in the price and volatility of individual equities, equity baskets and equity indices, including the risks
arising from equity underwriting activity;
– commodities and energy: changes in the price and volatility of base metals, agricultural commodities and energy
products;
and to the correlation of market prices and rates within and across markets.
It is recognised that all trading activities contain calculated elements of risk taking. The Consolidated Entity is prepared to
accept such risks provided they are within agreed limits, independently and correctly identified, calculated and monitored
by RMG, and reported to senior management on a regular basis.
RMG monitors positions within the Consolidated Entity according to a limit structure which sets limits for all exposures in all
markets. Limits are for both individual trading desks and divisions as well as in aggregate. Trigger limits for the
Consolidated Entity as a whole ensure that if several trading book limits are being used simultaneously, the aggregate level
of risk is in line with the global risk appetite articulated in the economic capital model.
RMG sets three complementary limit structures:
– Contingent Loss Limits: worst case scenarios that shock prices and volatilities by more than has occurred historically.
Multiple scenarios are set for each market to capture the non-linearity and complexity of exposures arising from
derivatives. A wide range of assumptions about the correlations between markets is applied;
– Position Limits: volume, maturity and open position limits are set on a large number of market instruments and
securities in order to constrain concentration risk and to avoid the accumulation of risky, illiquid positions; and
– Value-at-Risk (VaR) Limits: statistical measure based on a 10-day holding period and a 99 per cent confidence level,
as stipulated by the APRA capital adequacy standard. The model is validated daily by back testing a one-day VaR
against hypothetical and actual daily trading profit or loss.
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Note 41.3
Market risk continued
Value-at-Risk (VaR) figures
The table below shows the average, maximum and minimum VaR over the year for the major markets in which the
Consolidated Entity operates. The VaR shown in the table is based on a one-day holding period. The aggregated VaR is on
a correlated basis.
2011
Average
$m

2011
Maximum
$m

2011
Minimum
$m

2010
Average
$m

2010
Maximum
$m

2010
Minimum
$m
Consolidated

Equities
Interest rates
Foreign exchange and bullion
Commodities
Aggregate

9.53
5.83
3.61
11.64
16.00

19.30
10.72
10.55
16.34
23.50

4.35
3.67
1.08
7.63
11.04

6.66
4.34
3.59
10.95
14.26

20.92
6.65
10.50
16.98
26.70

2.80
3.09
0.57
5.37
6.06

Value-at-Risk
The VaR model uses a Monte Carlo simulation to generate normally distributed price and volatility paths, based on three
years of historical data. VaR focuses on unexceptional price moves so that it does not account for losses that could occur
beyond the 99 per cent level of confidence. These factors can limit the effectiveness of VaR in predicting future price moves
when changes to future risk factors deviate from the movements expected by the above assumptions. For capital
adequacy purposes, debt-specific risk is measured using APRA’s standard method, whilst all other exposures are captured
by the VaR model. This combined approach has been approved by APRA and is subject to periodic review.
Interest rate risk
The Consolidated Entity also has exposure to non-traded interest rate risk generated by banking products such as loans
and deposits. Banking businesses have small limits to accumulate small levels of interest rate risk. Wherever possible,
these interest rate risks are transferred into the trading books of FICC and Group Treasury and managed within traded
market risk limits and are included within the VaR figures presented above. Some residual interest rate risks remain in
the banking book. These residual risks have independent limits that are monitored by RMG.
Certain interest rate derivative transactions are undertaken to economically hedge interest rate risk associated with
the MIPS. As the MIPS are classified as equity for accounting purposes and the hedge accounting requirements cannot be
met, the volatility arising from recognising these derivatives at fair value is reflected in the income statement.
Interest rate sensitivity on these derivatives is not reflected in the VaR numbers above. Indicatively, a 50 basis point
increase or decrease in interest rates would result in a decrease or increase in operating profit before income tax of
$3 million (2010: $3 million) respectively.
Other than the volatility on the derivatives described above, there are no material non-traded interest rate risks within the
Consolidated Entity.
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Note 41.3
Market risk continued
Foreign currency risk
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from transactions entered into in its normal course of
business and as a result of its investments in foreign operations. Movements in foreign currency exchange rates will result
in gains or losses in the income statement due to the revaluation of certain balances or in movements in the foreign
currency translation reserve due to the revaluation of foreign operations.
In order to manage this risk, the Consolidated Entity has a policy that non-trading foreign currency exposures are
appropriately hedged unless specifically approved by RMG, and trading foreign currency exposures remain within trading
limits set by RMG.
Forward foreign exchange contracts, or borrowings in the same currency as the exposure, are designated as hedges under
Australian Accounting Standards and offset movements on the net assets within foreign operations and are transferred to
the foreign currency translation reserve.
Responsibility for monitoring and managing foreign currency exposures arising from transactions rests with individual
businesses which will enter into internal transactions as necessary to transfer the underlying foreign exchange risk to our
trading businesses. Any residual foreign exchange risk residing in non-trading divisions is included in the internal model
capital calculation by RMG, with the exception of specific investments in core foreign operations as discussed below.
The hedging policy of the group is designed to reduce the sensitivity of the group’s regulatory capital position to foreign
currency movements. This is achieved by leaving specific investments in core foreign operations exposed to foreign
currency translation movements. The resultant change in the Australian dollar value of the foreign investment is captured in
the foreign currency translation reserve, a component of regulatory capital. This offsets the corresponding movement in the
capital requirements of these investments.
As a result of the Consolidated Entity’s foreign exchange policy, the Consolidated Entity is partially exposed to currency risk
in relation to the translation of its net investment in foreign operations to Australian dollars.
The table below indicates the sensitivity to movements in the Australian dollar rate against various foreign currencies at 31
March. The Consolidated Entity is active in various currencies globally – those with the most impact on the sensitivity
analysis below are USD, GBP, HKD and CAD.
2011
Movement in
exchange
rates
%

Sensitivity
of equity
after tax
$m

2010
Movement in
exchange
rates
%

Sensitivity
of equity
after tax
$m

Consolidated
Australian dollar
Australian dollar

+10
–10

(326.2)
398.6

+10
–10

(174.3)
213.0
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Note 41.3
Market risk continued
Equity price risk
The table below indicates the equity markets to which the Consolidated Entity had significant exposure at 31 March on its
non-trading investment portfolio excluding interests in associates and joint ventures. The effect on equity (as a result of a
change in the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 March) and the income statement due to a
reasonably possible change in equity prices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Geographic region
Listed
Australia
Asia Pacific
Europe, Middle East
and Africa
Americas
Unlisted
Listed
Australia
Asia Pacific
Europe, Middle East
and Africa
Americas
Unlisted

Movement in
equity price
%

2011
Sensitivity
of profit
before tax
$m

2010
Sensitivity
of equity
after tax
$m

Movement
in equity
price
%

Sensitivity
of profit
before tax
$m

Sensitivity
of equity
after tax
$m
Consolidated

+10
+10

3.3
–

117.6
5.1

+10
+10

2.6
–

59.5
4.5

+10
+10
+10

1.5
4.0
0.2

4.1
11.3
41.2

+10
+10
+10

0.2
3.9
0.1

1.9
4.2
27.9

–10
–10

(3.3)
–

(117.6)
(5.1)

–10
–10

(2.2)
–

(59.5)
(4.5)

–10
–10
–10

(1.5)
(3.5)
(0.2)

(4.1)
(11.3)
(41.2)

–10
–10
–10

–
(3.9)
(0.1)

(1.9)
(4.2)
(27.9)
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Consolidated 2011
Average Income/ Average
balance (expense)
rate
$m
$m
%

Consolidated 2010
Average
Average Income/
rate
balance (expense)
$m
$m
%

Note 42
43

Average interest bearing assets and liabilities and related interest
Assets
Interest bearing assets
Due from financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse
repurchase agreements
Trading portfolio assets
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss
Investment securities available for sale
Interest in associates and joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method
Total interest bearing assets
Total non-interest bearing assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities
Due to financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase
agreements
Trading portfolio liabilities
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss
Other liabilities
Loan capital
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Subordinated debt
Total interest bearing liabilities
Total non-interest bearing liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Contributed equity
Ordinary share capital
Treasury shares
Exchangeable shares
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total capital and reserves attributable to ordinary
equity holders of MGL
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

8,169

215

2.6

8,419

151

1.8

8,982
8,121
47,437

162
345
3,174

1.8
4.2
6.7

6,694
7,196
46,093

112
357
2,798

1.7
5.0
6.1

9,330
14,524

672
720

7.2
5.0

5,023
19,367

374
789

7.4
4.1

338
96,901

16
5,304

4.7

358
93,150

10
4,591

2.8

58,923

57,151

155,824

150,301

9,664

(443)

4.6

10,693

(408)

3.8

7,432
1,720
31,749
41,858

(327)
(53)
(1,190)
(1,748)

4.4
3.1
3.7
4.2

7,657
988
20,484
45,716

(352)
(46)
(600)
(1,788)

4.6
4.7
2.9
3.9

4,209
522

(124)
(2)

2.9
0.4

4,912
305

(181)
(16)

3.7
5.2

594
1,745
99,493
44,701
144,194
11,630

(67)
(75)
(4,029)

11.2
4.3

592
1,685
93,032
46,316
139,348
10,953

(67)
(53)
(3,511)

11.3
3.1

7,063
(666)
117
331
4,239

6,063
(36)
133
273
3,898

11,084
546
11,630

10,331
622
10,953
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Note 43
44

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value reflects the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Quoted prices
or rates are used to determine fair value where an active
market exists. If the market for a financial instrument is not
active, fair values are estimated using present value or
other valuation techniques, using inputs based on market
conditions prevailing on the measurement date.
The values derived from applying these techniques are
affected by the choice of valuation model used and the
underlying assumptions made regarding inputs such as
timing and amounts of future cash flows, discount rates,
credit risk, volatility and correlation.
Financial instruments measured at fair value are
categorised in their entirety, in accordance with the levels of
the fair value hierarchy as outlined below:
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The appropriate level for an instrument is determined on the
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement.
The following methods and significant assumptions have
been applied in determining the fair values of financial
instruments:
– trading portfolio assets and liabilities, financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, derivative
financial instruments and other transactions undertaken
for trading purposes are measured at fair value by
reference to quoted market prices when available (e.g.
listed securities). If quoted market prices are not available,
then fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing
models or other recognised valuation techniques;
– investment securities classified as available for sale are
measured at fair value by reference to quoted market
prices when available (e.g. listed securities). If quoted
market prices are not available, then fair values are
estimated on the basis of pricing models or other
recognised valuation techniques. Unrealised gains and
losses, excluding impairment write-downs, are recorded
in the available for sale reserve in equity until the asset is
sold, collected or otherwise disposed of;
– fair values of fixed rate loans and issued debt
classified as at fair value through profit or loss is
estimated by reference to current market rates offered on
similar loans;

– for financial instruments carried at fair value the
determination of fair value includes credit risk (i.e. the
premium over the basic interest rate). Counterparty credit
risk inherent in these instruments is factored into their
valuations via credit valuation adjustments (CVA). This
amount represents the estimated market value of
protection required to hedge credit risk from
counterparties, taking into account expected future
exposures, collateral, and netting arrangements. CVA is
determined when the market price (or parameter) is not
indicative of the credit quality of the specific counterparty.
Where financial instruments are valued using an internal
model that utilises observable market parameters,
market practice is to quote parameters equivalent to an
interbank credit rating (that is, all counterparties are
assumed to have the same credit quality). Consequently,
a CVA calculation is necessary to reflect the credit quality
of each derivative counterparty to arrive at fair value; and
– the Consolidated Entity’s own credit risk is factored into
the valuations of liabilities measured at fair value via debit
valuation adjustments (DVA). This is because credit risk
affects what the transaction price of the liability would
have been in an arm's length exchange motivated by
normal business considerations
(e.g. it affects the value at which liabilities could be
repurchased or settled, the observed market price of
quoted debt securities and the contract interest rate
offered when debt is initially raised). Consequently,
changes in the credit quality of the Consolidated Entity
are reflected in valuations where the credit risk would be
considered by market participants and excludes fully
collateralised transactions and other instruments for
which it is established market practice not to include an
entity-specific adjustment for own credit. The
methodology to determine the adjustment is consistent
with CVA and incorporates the Consolidated Entity’s
credit spread, for the term of the liability measured, as
observed through the credit default swap market.
This amount represents the estimated difference in
the market value of identical obligations.
Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair
values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by
qualified personnel independent of the area that created
them. All models are certified before they are used, and
models are calibrated periodically to test that outputs
reflect prices from observable current market transactions
in the same instrument or other available observable market
data. To the extent possible, models use only observable
market data (e.g. for over-the-counter derivatives), however
management is required to make assumptions for certain
inputs that are not supported by prices from observable
current market transactions in the same instrument, such
as, volatility and correlation.
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Note 43
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
The following methods and significant assumptions have
been applied in determining the fair values of financial
instruments which are carried at amortised cost:
– the fair values of liquid assets and other instruments
maturing within three months are approximate to their
carrying amounts. This assumption is applied to liquid
assets and the short-term elements of all other financial
assets and financial liabilities;
– the fair value of demand deposits with no fixed maturity is
approximately their carrying amount as they are short
term in nature or are payable on demand;
– the fair values of variable rate financial instruments,
including loan assets and liabilities carried at amortised
cost, cash collateral on securities borrowed/cash
collateral on securities lent and reverse
repurchase/repurchase agreements, are approximate to
their carrying amounts. The fair value of loan assets
repayable without penalty is approximated by their
carrying value;

– the fair value of fixed rate loans and debt carried at
amortised cost is estimated by reference to current
market rates offered on similar loans and the
creditworthiness of the borrower;
– the fair value of debt issued and subordinated debt is
based on market prices where available. Where market
prices are not available the fair value is based on
discounted cash flows using rates appropriate to the
term and issue and incorporates changes in the
Consolidated Entity’s own credit spread;
– substantially all of the Consolidated Entity’s
commitments to extend credit are at variable rates.
As such, there is no significant exposure to fair value
fluctuations resulting from interest rate movements
relating to these commitments; and
– in the separate financial statements of the Company,
the fair value of balances due from/to subsidiaries is
approximated by their carrying amount as the balances
are generally receivable/payable on demand.

The tables below summarise the carrying value and fair value of financial assets and liabilities held at amortised cost of the
Consolidated Entity and the Company as at 31 March 2011:
2011 Carrying
value
$m

2011
Fair
2010
value Carrying value
$m
$m

2010
Fair
value
$m
Consolidated

Assets
Due from financial institutions
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Total assets

9,817
46,016
55,833

9,817
46,059
55,876

8,251
44,267
52,518

8,251
44,486
52,737

Liabilities
Due to financial institutions
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Subordinated debt at amortised cost
Total liabilities

7,810
35,338
41,177
595
1,832
86,752

7,796
35,387
41,523
637
1,823
87,166

9,927
22,484
42,614
593
916
76,534

9,720
22,492
42,784
637
910
76,543

Assets
Due from subsidiaries
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to financial institutions
Deposits
Debt issued at amortised cost
Due to subsidiaries
Total liabilities

Company
9,530
9,530

9,530
9,530

11,643
11,643

11,643
11,643

4,451
52
4,116
1,951
10,570

4,375
52
4,186
1,989
10,602

6,922
54
3,154
2,357
12,487

6,685
54
3,352
2,425
12,516
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Note 43
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
The following table summarises the levels of the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value:
Level 1
$m
Assets
Trading portfolio assets
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments – positive values
Investment securities available for sale
Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment
assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Trading portfolio liabilities
Derivative financial instruments – negative values
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss
Total liabilities

Level 2
$m

Level 3
$m

Total
$m

Consolidated 2011
10,312
5,577
3,465
14,628

4,097
5,800
17,481
1,829

489
291
239
594

14,898
11,668
21,185
17,051

1,198
35,180

3,861
33,068

–
1,613

5,059
69,861

4,462
3,768
45
1,201
–
9,476

1,346
17,629
4,142
3,854
467
27,438

–
175
152
–
–
327

5,808
21,572
4,339
5,055
467
37,241

Consolidated 2010

Assets
Trading portfolio assets
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments – positive values
Investment securities available for sale
Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment
assets
Total assets

9,220
3,279
3,269
16,176

2,494
5,578
18,016
1,519

424
315
276
526

12,138
9,172
21,561
18,221

940
32,884

3,906
31,513

–
1,541

4,846
65,938

Liabilities
Trading portfolio liabilities
Derivative financial instruments – negative values
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss
Total liabilities

4,350
3,862
85
944
–
9,241

1,079
17,416
4,270
3,920
499
27,184

3
428
58
–
–
489

5,432
21,706
4,413
4,864
499
36,914
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Note 43
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
The following table reconciles the balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the Consolidated Entity for the financial
year ended 31 March 2011:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Purchases
Sales
Issues
Settlements
Net transfers into/out of level 3
Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in the income statement1
Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive income1
Balance at the end of the financial year
Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in the income
statement for assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year1
1

2

Trading
portfolio
assets
$m

Other financial
assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
$m

424
306
(273)
–
–
(69)
101
–
489

315
86
(34)
7
(123)
66
(26)
–
291

88

2

The Consolidated Entity employs various hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions.
Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified as Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and
unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the related realised or
unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Level 1 and/or 2.
The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis derivative financial
instruments – positive values are $239 million (2010: $276 million) and derivative financial instruments – negative values are
$175million (2010: $428 million).
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Investment
securities
available
for sale
$m

Trading
portfolio
liabilities
$m

Other financial
liabilities at
fair value through
profit or loss
$m

Derivative financial
instruments
(net replacement
values)2
$m

526
225
(89)
–
(16)
(36)
(18)
2
594

(3)
–
–
–
–
3
–
–
–

(58)
(12)
46
(15)
5
(118)
–
–
(152)

(152)
30
(98)
(59)
44
128
171
–
64

1,052
635
(448)
(67)
(90)
(26)
228
2
1,286

–

–

–

(4)

86

Total
$m
Consolidated 2011
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Note 43
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy continued
The following table reconciles the balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the Consolidated Entity for the financial
year ended 31 March 2010:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Purchases
Sales
Issues
Settlements
Net transfers into/out of Level 3
Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in the income statement1
Fair value losses recognised in other comprehensive income1
Balance at the end of the financial year
Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in the income
statement for assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year1
1

2

Trading
portfolio
assets
$m

Other financial
assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
$m

755
503
(752)
–
–
(83)
1
–
424

126
145
(14)
–
–
42
16
–
315

19

16

The Consolidated Entity employs various hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions.
Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified as Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and
unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the related realised or
unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Level 1 and/or 2.
The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis derivative financial
instruments – positive values are $276 million and derivative financial instruments – negative values are $428 million.
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Investment
securities
available
for sale
$m

Trading
portfolio
liabilities
$m

Other financial
liabilities at
fair value through
profit or loss
$m

Derivative financial
instruments
(net replacement
values)2
$m

968
211
(328)
2
(11)
(138)
(82)
(96)
526

–
(25)
27
–
–
–
(5)
–
(3)

–
(55)
–
–
–
–
(3)
–
(58)

(88)
(43)
15
(20)
31
19
(66)
–
(152)

1,761
736
(1,052)
(18)
20
(160)
(139)
(96)
1,052

(22)

(2)

(3)

(85)

(77)

Total
$m
Consolidated 2010
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Note 43
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
Significant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
During the financial year the Consolidated Entity did not have significant transfers between Level 1 and 2.
Transfers into Level 3 were due to the lack of observable valuation inputs for certain securities and investments.
Transfers out of Level 3 were principally due to valuation inputs becoming observable during the year.
Unrecognised gains
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, when the transaction price in a nonactive market is different to the fair market value from other observable current market conditions in the same instrument or
based on valuation techniques whose variables include other data from observable markets, the Consolidated Entity
recognises the difference between the transaction price and the fair value in the income statement. In cases where use is
made of data which is not observable, profit or loss is only recognised in the income statement when the inputs become
observable, or over the life of the instrument.
The table below summarises the deferral and recognition of profit or loss where a valuation technique has been applied for
which not all inputs are observable in the market:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Deferral on new transactions
Amounts recognised in the income statement during the year
Balance at the end of the financial year

Consolidated
2011
$m

Consolidated
2010
$m

38
17
(28)
27

55
25
(42)
38

Sensitivity analysis of valuations using unobservable inputs
The table below shows the sensitivity in changing assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions, for those
financial instruments for which fair values are determined in whole or in part using valuation techniques, such as discounted
cashflows, which are based on assumptions that have been determined by reference to historical company and industry
experience.
Favourable changes

Product type
Equity and equity linked products
Asset backed products
Commodity products
Credit products
Interest rate products
Total
Product type
Equity and equity linked products
Asset backed products
Commodity products
Credit products
FX products
Interest rate products
Total

Unfavourable changes

Profit
and loss
$m

Equity
$m

Profit
and loss
$m

25
16
17
3
1
62

20
13
–
–
–
33

(31)
(15)
(16)
(3)
(1)
(66)

Equity
$m

Consolidated 2011
(3)
(4)
–
–
–
(7)

Consolidated 2010
32
30
24
3
2
1
92

13
–
–
–
–
–
13

(32)
(28)
(24)
(3)
(2)
(1)
(90)

(2)
–
–
–
–
–
(2)
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Note 44
45

Audit and other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers
During the financial year, the auditor of the Company and Consolidated Entity, PwC, and its related practices earned the
following remuneration:

PwC – Australian firm
Audit and review of financial reports of the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company
Other audit-related work
Other assurance services
Total audit and other assurance services
Advisory services
Taxation
Total remuneration paid to PwC – Australian firm

Consolidated
2011
$’000

Consolidated
2010
$’000

Company
2011
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

6,309
1,311
1,527
9,147
349
444
9,940

5,963
1,201
1,478
8,642
717
535
9,894

15
–
287
302
–
–
302

14
–
564
578
–
–
578

7,718
157
430
8,305
694
3,570

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

12,569
22,463

–
302

–
578

Related practices of PwC – Australian firm (including PwC – overseas firms)
Audit and review of financial reports of the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company
7,672
Other audit-related work
72
Other assurance services
236
Total audit and other assurance services
7,980
Advisory services
79
Taxation
1,813
Total remuneration paid to related practices of
PwC – Australian firm
9,872
Total remuneration paid to PwC
19,812

Use of PwC’s services for engagements other than audit and assurance is restricted in accordance with the Company’s
Auditor Independence policy. These assignments are principally tax compliance and agreed upon assurance procedures in
relation to acquisitions.
Certain fees for advisory services are in relation to Initial Public Offerings and due diligence services for new funds.
These fees may be recovered by the Consolidated Entity upon the successful establishment of the funds.
It is the Company’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major advisory projects.
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Note 45
46

Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses
Significant entities and businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control:
– Sal. Oppenheim
On 7 April 2010, a subsidiary of the Company acquired the equity derivatives, cash equity sales and research businesses
of Sal. Oppenheim jr. & Cie.
– Macquarie AirFinance
On 1 November 2010, a subsidiary of the Company acquired an additional 62.5 per cent interest to bring its interest to
100 per cent in Macquarie AirFinance Limited, an aircraft lessor.
Other entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control during the financial year are as
follows:
CMC Railroad Inc., Innovest Kapitalanlage AG, Latitude FX Limited, Liberty Green Renewables Indiana LLC, Outplan Pty
Ltd, Presidio Partners LLC, Rismark Limited and Shinhan Macquarie Financial Advisory Co. Limited.
Aggregate details of the above entities and businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control are as follows:
2010
2011
$m
$m
Fair value of net assets acquired
Cash, other financial assets and other assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale
Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale
Non-controlling interests
Total fair value of net assets acquired1
Consideration
Cash consideration2
Deferred consideration
Extinguishment of loan asset
Fair value of previously held interest
Total consideration
Net cash flow
Cash consideration2
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Net cash inflow/(outflow)
1

2

4,833
91
2,370
5
(6,857)
(4)
(4)
434

1,191
738
16
48
(1,021)
(43)
(2)
927

231
–
–
126
357

748
125
56
–
929

(231)

(748)

1,609
1,378

439
(309)

In connection with the acquisition of Sal. Oppenheim, the business was acquired at a $59 million discount to fair value, which
included amounts received to cover expenses related to integrating the business. The actual incurred expenses have been offset
against the amount received within note 2 – Profit for the financial year.
Prior year comparatives include costs directly attributable to the acquisitions.

Included in the current year results for the Consolidated Entity is profit of $39 million and revenue of $106 million from
Macquarie AirFinance Limited since the date of acquisition. If this acquisition had taken place on 1 April 2010, the impact
on the current year results for the Consolidated Entity would have been profit of $90 million and revenue of $272 million.
The operating results of the other acquisitions did not have a material impact on the results of the Consolidated Entity.
There are no significant differences between the fair value of net assets acquired and their carrying amounts, other than
goodwill and other intangible assets as noted above. The goodwill acquired during the financial year has arisen due to the
value of the entities of businesses acquired over their individual asset values, the employees acquired as part of the
business and synergies the Consolidated Entity expects to realise from the acquisitions.
The 31 March 2010 comparatives relate principally to Blackmont Capital, Delaware Investments, Fox-Pitt Kelton Group and
Tristone Capital Global Inc., being the significant entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of
control.
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Note 45
Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses continued
Significant entities and businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to loss of control:
– Macquarie Asset Leasing Trust
On 26 November 2010, a subsidiary of the Company disposed of its 100 per cent interest in Macquarie Asset
Leasing Trust.
Other entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated during the financial year are as follows:
Advanced Markets Holdings LLC, Everest Absolute Return II Limited, Latitude FX Limited, LexMac Energy Oil & Gas,
OzForex Pty Limited, SiCURAnt InvestCo LP SPRL, Turramurra Limited, UCITS – Emerging Markets Fund, and Veracity
Asset Transformation Limited.
Aggregate details of the above entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated are as follows:

Carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed of or deconsolidated
Cash, other financial assets and other assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale
Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale
Non-controlling interests
Total carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed of or deconsolidated
Consideration
Cash consideration
Consideration received in equity
Deferred consideration
Total consideration
Net cash flow
Cash consideration
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of or deconsolidated
Net cash inflow

2011
$m

2010
$m

133
24
513
45
(441)
(40)
(9)
225

315
18
89
15
(112)
–
–
325

157
86
–
243

473
91
14
578

157

473

(65)
92

(36)
437

The 31 March 2010 comparatives relate principally to Macquarie Communications Infrastructure Management Limited,
being the significant entity disposed of.

Note 46
47

Events after the Reporting Period
There were no material events subsequent to 31 March 2011 that have not been reflected in the financial statements.
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Macquarie Group Limited
Directors’ declaration

In the Directors’ opinion:
a)

the financial statements and notes set out on
pages 139 to 249 are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) including:
(i)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards,
the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth) and
other mandatory professional reporting
requirements; and

(ii)

giving a true and fair view of the Company and
Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at
31 March 2011 and of their performance, as
represented by the results of their operations and
its cash flows, for the financial year ended on that
date; and

b)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that
Macquarie Group Limited will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable; and

c)

the financial statements also comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
International Accounting Standards Board; and

d)

the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages
77 to 128 of the Directors’ Report comply with
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001 (Cth).

The Directors have been given the declarations by the chief
executive officer and chief financial officer required by
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of
the Directors.

Kevin McCann, AM
Independent Director and
Chairman

Nicholas Moore
Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer
Sydney
29 April 2011
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Independent audit report
To the members of Macquarie Group Limited

Independent audit report

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of
Macquarie Group Limited (the Company), which comprises
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011,
and the income statement, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and
the directors’ declaration for both Macquarie Group Limited
and the Macquarie Group (the Consolidated Entity). The
Consolidated Entity comprises the Company and the
entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time
during the financial year.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In note 1, the
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements,
that the financial statements comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial report in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial report.
Our procedures include reading the other information in the
Annual Report to determine whether it contains any
material inconsistencies with the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the
independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
a)

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These
Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error.

the financial report of Macquarie Group Limited is in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth),
including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and
Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at
31 March 2011 and of their performance for the
year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth); and

b)

the financial report and notes also comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in note 1.

Liability is limited by scheme approved under Professional
Standards Legislation
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AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

the Act

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

ADI

authorised deposit-taking institution

AGM

Annual General Meeting

APRA

Australian Prudential Regulation Authority

ASIC

Australian Securities & Investments Commission

ASX

Australian Securities Exchange or ASX Limited ABN 98 008 624 691 and the market
operated by ASX Limited

ASX Recommendations

ASX Corporate Governance Council Principles & Recommendations

BAC

Board Audit Committee

Banking Group

the Banking Group comprises Banking and Financial Services Group (BFS), Corporate
and Asset Finance Group (CAF), Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities (FICC),
Macquarie Funds Group (MFG) and the trading activities of the Macquarie Securities
Group (MSG). There is also one division within the Banking Group; Real Estate Banking
Division (REB)

BBSW

Australian Financial Association’s bank-bill rate, published daily on AAP Reuters page.
The Australian equivalent of LIBOR, SIBOR etc

BCGC

Board Corporate Governance Committee

the Board

the Board of Voting Directors of Macquarie Group Limited

BREEAM Excellent

UK Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method's highest
standard of environmental performance in an office building.

BRE A+ Rating

UK Building Research Establishment’s highest rating in relation to the minimal
environmental impact of a building material

BRC

Board Remuneration Committee

CAGR

compound annual growth rate

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

CFO

Chief Financial Officer

the Company

Macquarie Group Limited

the Consolidated Entity

Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries

CO2-e t (Carbon dioxide
equivalent in tonnes)

metric measure used to compare the emissions from various greenhouse gases based
upon their global warming potential (US Environment Protection Agency)

CRO

Chief Risk Officer

CVA

credit valuation adjustments

DESOP

Deferred Exercise Share Option Plan

Directors

the Voting Directors of Macquarie Group Limited (unless the context indicates otherwise)

Dodd-Frank

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

DRP

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

DSU

Deferred Share Unit issued under the MEREP

DVA

debit valuation adjustments

ECAM

Economic Capital Adequacy Model

ECM

Economic Capital Model

Environmental Management Macquarie's internal framework of actions and targets to manage and reduce the
Plan (EMP)
environmental impact of its direct operations. The Plan covers Macquarie's
corporate offices and associated corporate activities such as travel and procurement
Equity Plan

Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan

EPS

earnings per share

ERL

Equity Risk Limit

ESP

Macquarie Group Employee Share Plan
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Executive Key
Management Personnel –
(Executive KMP)

Members of the Executive Committee of Macquarie Group Limited

FIRB

Foundation Internal Ratings Board Based Approach

FX, Forex

Foreign Exchange

IASB

International Accounting Standards Board

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

IRESS

a share market information system

IPO

Initial Public Offering

Key Management Personnel all Voting Directors and members of the Executive Committee of Macquarie Group Limited
(KMP)
Macquarie, MGL,
Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries
Macquarie Group or Group
Macquarie Bank, MBL

Macquarie Bank Limited ABN 46 008 583 542

Macquarie Board,
the Board

the Board of Voting Directors of Macquarie Group Limited

Macquarie CPS

Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities

Macquarie ordinary shares

Macquarie Group Limited fully paid ordinary shares

Malus

the discretion of the Board (from 2012) to reduce or eliminate unvested profit share
amounts where it determines that an employee's action or inaction has caused Macquarie
significant reputational harm, caused a significant or unexpected financial loss or caused
Macquarie to make a material financial restatement

MBL

Macquarie Bank Limited

MBEDSAP

Macquarie Bank Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

MBSSAP

Macquarie Bank Staff Share Acquisition Plan

MEL

Macro-Economic-Linkages

MEREP

Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan

MGEDSAP

Macquarie Group Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

MGESOP

Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan

MGL

Macquarie Group Limited ABN 94 122 169 279

MGSSAP

Macquarie Group Staff Share Acquisition Plan

MIPS

Macquarie Income Preferred Securities

MIS

Macquarie Income Securities

NCD

negotiable certi cates of deposit

NCI

non-controlling interests

NED

Non-Executive Director

NEDSAP

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Non-Banking Group

the Non-Banking Group comprises Macquarie Capital and some business activities
of MSG, MFG and FICC that use certain offshore regulated entities of the
Non-Banking Group

NOHC

non-operating holding company

NPAT

net pro t after tax

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

OTC

over-the-counter

ORMF

Operational Risk Management Framework

PSU

Performance Share Unit issued under the MEREP

PWC

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Glossary
continued

QAD

Quantitative Applications Division of RMG

RMG

Risk Management Group

ROE

return on equity

RSU

Restricted Share Unit issued under the MEREP

RWA

risk-weighted assets

S&P

Standard & Poor’s

Server Virtualisation

allows the consolidation of multiple physical servers onto a shared (virtual) server to
leverage and optimise the utilisation of hardware

SPE

Special Purpose Entity

SPP

share purchase plan

TSR

total shareholder returns

VaR

Value-at-Risk

Voting Directors

the Voting Directors of Macquarie Group Limited
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